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J INTRODUCTION 

The first settlement on Boon's Creek was in the year 1769 by 

William Bean, and that of the Watauga Old Fields was the next year, 

1770 and on by the Duggers, Honeycutt, and others. 

Early grants from North Carolina covering the site of Johnson 

City were to Robert Young, David Jobe and Jacob Hoss. 

Robert Young, of Bedford County, Virginia, was an early member 

of the Wm. company of. Colonel William Christian against the Cherokees, 

and 17.,6 bought land in the southwestern part of town and erected a 

log house which dates to about 1775, His grants covered where the 

Veterans Administration is today. 

Jacob Hoss came in 1788 from I.e.ncaster County, Penna., and took 

up land in the eastern part of the town's area. He had served in the 

Revolution in Pennsylvania. 

David Jobe, also a Revolutionary soldier having served in the 

company of Captain John Tipton from Shenandoah County, Virginia, 

came in the year 1777, and appears on the Washington County list of 

Taxables in 1779 as having five horses, two cows; 55.4.6 in money, 

and no negroes. His land was in what is now the downtown area of 

our City, reaching from Youngs, grants on the west to that of Hoss 

on the east.(~~~,~') 

As most of the first settlements were made along creeks or 

rivers, which gave them their name, ours was "Brush Creek Flats. 11 

Thus we were designated in the early nnps of Washington County -

even up to 1850, we we~e the 11 Brush Creek district." I find ape­

tition dated 1813 for a road from Dungans Ford on the Watauga to 
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the Sullivan County road, thus ma king a very good road from 

Elizabethton to Blountville, which would also be useful for the 

Brush Creek settlement going to the Salt Works in Virginia. 

David Jobe, like m&ay of his neighbors was a Baptist, and his 

name and that of Abigail, his wife, ii on the first roll of Sinking 

Creek Baptist church, his contribution being 0-1-6, only that given 

by Edmund Williams & Samuel Tipton, whb each gave 0-6-0, surpassing 

his. 

David Jobe died in 1803, . :U1testa.te while Abigail's will is. 

dated 1819. Both must lie in unmarked graves somewhere in downtown 

Johnson City. 

sz 



I commenced writing this Book on the 10th of October 1849. See Andy 

Benton's Co.se. See page 113. ** The Johnson monument page 235 •. 

Trip to Col. Mcl-!orton1 s on Piscataway Creek. In State of Mary- 4 

land, about 10 miles beyond Washington D.C. ** Seurratt 

AUTOBIOGRAPHY, or MEMOIRS of Doctor A. Jobe. 

Written by himself. 

INTRODUCTION. 

Having often been requested by relations, and intimate friends, 

to write a Biographical Sketch of my life, I rather reluctantly 

consent to do so, especially, that it may be for the perusal of my 

children, and such friends as may desire to refer to many incidents, 
,,,. 

that occured in my somewhat eventful life, and not for publication. 

In this hastily written sketch, it will be seen that I ignore 

all style, and for want of time, I satisfy myself, if not my review­

ers, to hasten on in a rather reckless manner with my details, 

makin g no effort at elegance of language, or superior diction. 

And in as much as I am not writing for the litteratti, I do not ex­

pect to be criticised. 

I was born in Carter County, Tennessee, three miles from 

Elizabethton, on the 9th day of October 1817. 
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My Father, Joshua Jobe, and my Mother, Ruth Tipton, were of {o_?..O 
~ 

Virginia stock. 'Their Fathers, David Jobe and Thom:ls Tipton moved~·. 

from Shenandoah Valley, Va., shortly before the Revolutiono.ry war.~~­

David Jobe, my Grandfather, settled on Brush Creek, in Washing-

ton County, immediately where Johnson City now stands. And some 
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of the Tiptons settled in Watauga Valley, in which Elizabethton, 

the County site of Carter was aftenwards located. And some settled 

on Buffalo Creek and Sinking Creek, and all about here. Describe 

where my Great Grandfather John Tipton settled. 

After my Father's and Mother's marriage, they resided for some 

ten years in Carter County, a part of which time my, Father was Deputy 

Sheriff of said County. 

When I was about four years old,1he bought 640 acres of fine 

land in Gades Cove, Blount County, Tennessee, and moved to it. 

I can remember leaving Carter County, and remaining first night 

at Uncle Abraham Jobes', (now Johnson City) on our way to our new 

home in Blount County; the distance was about 125 miles. 

Many of our relations, and friends alsP moved to Gades Cove; on 

account of the fertility of the soil, and the superior advanitages in 

raising stock, etc. The Cherokee Indians who had been such a terror 

to the settlement in the Watauga Valley and surrounding country, caus­

ing the settlers to live in Forts for safety, were still lingering in 

small bands, in the mountain fastnesses along the range of the Smokey 

Mountains, which lie immediately south of Gades Cove and form part 

of its boundary. 

My Father and our relatives from Carter County were among the 

first settlers in this part of Blount County; and among them was my 

Mother's Brother, Jacob Tipton, with his wife and two children; a 

Son and Daughter, Jacob and Nancy. 

All went well for a while, Indians could be seen only occasion-
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ally prowling around; but would soon leave, and get back into the deep 

mountain gorges. Game being very plentiful, my uncle was out hunt­

ing one day and had wandered farther than usual into the mountains, 

and did not return that night, and when search was made for him 
_,[!/ 

next day he YJas found in a diserted Indian camp, on his knees lean-

ing against the side of the camp, where he had been murdered by the 

Indians. They had cut off one of his fingers and fled. Lasting 

impressions can be made upon the mind at a much earlier age than 

most people think. 

I can distinctly remember hearing Rev. George Eakin preach in 

Cedes Cove when I was only six or seven years old, and can remember 

short sentences in his sermon. Here is one sentence, 11 I have but 

one son; and I would rather see him carrying the Gospel over these 

mountains than to see him sitting on the throne of England. 11 

Rev. George Eakin was an Irishman. He was an eccentric man, 

but a good man. I've heard him preach a great many times since I 

heard him in the Cove. I heard him preach in Carter and Washington 

Counties since I was married and moved ·there. 

Cedes Cove is about six miles long and three miles wide on an 

average, fr oil} my recollection of it, and completely sur11 ounded by 

mountains. 

The land when we lived there was very rich and fertile, and 

produced abundant crops of every thing that could be raised in that 

climate; but corn was the principle crop. This crop was raised to 

such extent a few years after we moved there, that I saw corn sell 

at 6¼ cents a bushel, because there was no market for it. 
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As my boyhood years advanced, I began to catch on to some of 

the artful ways of some men to gain an advantage over others; some 

by mental superiority and some by mere physical force. In illustra­

tion of this, I must detail a memorable encounter that took place · 

at my Father's home when I was about eight years old. 

Captain Jacob Tipton, a son of 11 old Revolutionary Billy 
ngerous fight 
ween Jake and cousin to my Mother, owned and lived on a farm adjoining 
~ton and 
Fathev. Fathers'. He was an intemperate man, was 

community. Nearly everyone was afraid of him, and he knew it, 

therefore., he was very overbearing and dictatorial. 

My Fathers' farm and Tiptons 1 joined. It became necessary to 

open a di t.ch through both farms to save a large wheat crop for 

each of themo It was agreed between them that Father should have 

the ditch thrown out each way by turning plough, and Tipton was 

to have his hands to throw the dirt out with shovels immediately 

after it was ploughed. Father did his work according to contract; 

but Tipton failed to perform his part of the contract. At the 

time this ditch was ma.de there was no cast moldboards - wooden 

mouldboards were used altogether. I can remember how troublesome 

it was to stop so often and clean the dirt off the wooden mould­

board. 

After waiting a reasonable time Father had the work on his 

farm done, which by contract Tipton should havo done, and when the 

ro.in came the r1atC:J1' pMsueu. ·t;l\1•ouG;h F2.thcr 1 c fnrm ovel" the fJnL:Jrnd. 



wheat, as a matter of course. So the 

territory was in a rage, and the next 

dozen of his cronies and came to Father's to show him that he had 

submit to anything ·,he wanted; as he had made others doo 

I remember my Father was sitting in the porch. I think he was 

reading the Bible. He invited them in when they came to the gate. 

They all came in and took seats, and a friendly conversation ensued. 

As this page was left unused, by my hurrying on in such a recic-

11 

less manner, I will here st~te how our family name happened to be .. ~~ 

s palled differently to what it was formerly. The name is ~poll•,~~· 

now Jobe. It was spelled formerly Job, as it is in the Bible. ~, 

I have heard my Father say a way back, as far as I can remember, 

that when he and his two brothers, Abraham and John, were all young 

men, they concluded to add the E to the name for the sake of sound. 

I am satisfied that is the true histo1•y of it. I find by re­

ferring to abstracts of titles to lands at Johnson City, most of 

which are traced back to my Grandfather, David Jobe, who originally 

· owned nearly all the lands where Johnson City proper now stands, 

his name is always found signed "David Job. 11 

In a Printing Office the three letters Job are pronounced 11 JOB 11 • 

The same letters in the Bible are pronounced Jobe. 

I, as one member of the patiecent family regret that my Father 

and his brothers added the E to the name; and it had the effect to 

alter the name. I still often leave the E off. 

This j_s written on the 7th day of February 1902, at Louisville, 

Kentucky. Postoffice address 1520 Preston Street. 



1t 
~inued 

Father did not know at that moment that they had come to do him 11 
(cont.) 

any harm. Within a few minutes, Tipton asked him to walk out in the 

corner of the yard for a private conversation - as it seemed. 

They had been talking but a. few moments until I saw Tipton 

grab Father by the throat, to choke him. Father was whittling a 

little stick with his pocket knife at the time, and he dropped his 

stick and cut Jake's throat from ear to ear, cutting to the Jugular; 

but fortunately not cutting the vein. 

My Father was of medium size, spare mado and always feeble. 

Jake was in his prime, hale and hearty - the 11Bulley 11 of the Cove, 

and weighing 200 pounds or over. He immediately threw Father down, 

and jumped on him, and would have given him an unmerciful beating, in 

the presence of the six ruffian accomplices, and they never attempted 

to prevent him. But my brave Mother, having no friend to represent 

her, ran out and gathe:ced a club and dealt him two or three blows; 

and he jumped up and kicked at her. By this time Father ran up with 

a rock in his hand and as Jake came at him hit him about the stomach, 

and he fell like a beef shot; but rose at once, vomiting. But nothing 12 
(f~-fJ-~) 

daunted, he was as bravo as Sullivan and ready for a third round. 0 

As he came at Father this time he had a large flat rock, which he 

had to throw with both hands. Father dodged his head to one side, 

or it would have split his head open. By this time Father had gotten 

a large lump of clay, that had fallen out of the kitchen chimney, it 

was nearly as hard as a brick-bat, and as his antagonist came at him, 

he hit him in the mouth, as he was cursing and threatening what he 

would do with the carcass of Father, even out daring Gililiah, when he 
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was about to encounter David. 

The dreadful lick so well aimed knocked out five teeth and split 

his upper lip to his nose, and mashed both his upper and lower gums 

in a frightful mannero He lay covered with blood from his throat and 

mouth for a few seconds; but still wanted to renew the combat. 

Father had thought of his gun by this time, and had stepped into 

the house and got one of two guns he had, and one of the men who came 

to see the whipping well done, took the gun from Father, and Father 

immediately snatched the other gun and said: "You attempt to touch 

this gun and I 1 11 shoot you. 11 111 am defending my life and my home, 13 

and you must not take another gun out of my hands. 11 

And Lewis Jones knew he dare not undertake it. Father took his 

seat in his own door with his loaded rifle across his lap; the house 

occupied for the time by Jones and Mother's house girl. As young as 

I was, it made such an impression on my mind it can never be erased. 

I can see him sitting there, as plain as I did the morning it oocur-

Ned. He seemed as calm as if nothing unusual was transpiring. 

Tipton walked to the steps, cursing and foaming, as though he 

would enter; but when Father very calmly told him, if·he put his, 

foot upon his porch, he would be a dead man, he knew he meant all of 

it; and would not risk it. 

Upto this time, these half dozen men had not raised a finger to 

prevent the sheddinig of blood, which was imminent all the time the 

fearful fight was in progress; with no one in sight nor hearing but 

themselves, the two combatants, and my Mother, and her children, too 

small to render assistance, even though a killing had been the con-

s_equence. 

7, 
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This was a shocking scene for one so young as I was to witness; 

but was an object lesson to be indelibly stamped upon my yound mind -

a kind of foreshadowing of much that would follow in my somewhat event-

ful life. It ma.de a deep impression on my mind. ((*tdt) 
Young as I was, I took in the situation, with the odds against 

Father, he being a weakly man, and his antagonist a large portly 

man, there with half a dozen picked men, who were selected to see 

the work well done, I expected to see my Father killed., or badly 

beaten up. But when the fight ended, his assailant had received all 

the wounds, and the only mark on Father was a cut with his own knife 

across his wrist when he brought it down after cutting Tipton1 s throat. 

It ended as all such attacks should end; in favor of the innocent. 

When Tipton recovered from his severe injuries he sent a friend 

to Father to ro:i.uest him to set a time for a friendly meeting half­

way between their residences, with a member of their neighbors, 

where he would make acknowledgements and promise ever afterwards 

to live in friendsh(ip). All of which· was faithfully carried out. 

I was now o.ld enough to go to school. Educational facilities 
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at that day, (say about 1825), were not very good, especiall y in ~~ 
~-io 'ilcLtiQ, 

such out of way place as Gades Cove. The school teachers could not I 

be expected to be as thoroughly educated as they are nowo 

At the first settling of the country the sturdy yeomanry had, 

as a rule, all they could do to fell the forests, clear up the lands, 

and make support for their dependent families. What schools we had 

at that day were of the most primitive order; but I believe today, 

with the experience that has come to me in a life time of 75 years, 



that the kind of instruction given to us then was better adapted to 

the wants of the people than the curriculum of studies generally 

taught now in the higher schools. 

The discipline in the primitive schools in my opinion was 

firmer, but more commonsense and reasonable, than we find in modern 

schools. At the 11old field schools" as they were called, we had no 

recess, as it is now called. It was Study from morning till noon, 

then an hour for play time, and Study from one oclock till turning 

out time. 

And teachers received less than half the tuition now paid. It 

is now common for schools to be principally distinguished for high 

tuition fees, and recess. 

Under Butler Tipton, William Davis, Arindatis Martin and others, 

wbo taught in Ca des Cove and in Tuckeleache Cova, the students a.d- 16 

vanced rapidly. My memory was good, and I made fine progress at 

these schools. 0 t if my memory was as good now. I then took a 

pride in studying; especially in being at the head of my c.lass, 

spelling by heart, and getting the prize at the close of the school, 

which I often did. 

I went to school a while in Tuckeleech Cove, and boarded with 

a Mr. Smith. (Marginal note: I went to school, taught by Arrindates 

Martin, in Tuckaleoche Cove. About six miles from our home. This 

was about the year 1825. I can remember tho name of several families 

who lived there at that time. My brother David, five years older, 

and I, boarded at Esquire Smiths'.) Then I went back to my Uncle 

Abraham Jobe 1 s in Washington County, where Johnson City now stands, 
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to go to school to J. W. F. Gates, a German Teacher, and the very 

best teacher I ever went to. I also went to school to Rev. James 

Miller• The schools in those days never lasted longer than three 

months, consequently\ we were out of school the best pa1•t of every 

year. 

My Father cleared up a considerable amount of his 64,0 acres of 

land in the cove, and raised a good deal of stock; but afton try­

ing it ten years, he got dissatisfied, because ho was so hemmed 

in by mountains, it would forever keep down tho price of farm pro­

ducts, and his growing family would have very poor educational ad-

vantages, and to add to his discouragement, a disease called the 

11 Bighead 11 got among his horses, and killed thirteen of them within 

1~~ less than two years time. He had a good many fine horses. I ~1: ~-
member it affected the horses about in the following manner; 17 

head would enlarge slowly, c>.nd the eyes would soon show it bybe­

coming watery and dim, and dire ct.ly the horse would show in his 

gait; he would be stiff, and lose nearly all the use of hislimbs. 

I distinctly remember one fine colt only six months old running 

playfully down a hill after its mother, and both forelegs broke 

close to the upper joint near the shoulder, it d1eld directly, 

and on examining we found all the bones rotten and so of others 

we examined. We tried every method to ·get rid of this disease, 

by taking out the troughs, and replacing them with new_ ones, & c,, 

but nothing would do any good. 
I 

In detailing incidents that happened and giving my recollec­

tion of things in the Cove, it must be remembered I am drawing 

Io. 



heavily on my memory, for it has been about 65 years since I left 

there; therefore, you can see how easy I could plead the Statute on 

all I eay about it. I will, however, risk a description of the 

fin0at Cave I have ever been in.: 

It is situated on the North side of the Cove, as I remember 

a 1:1.ttle up on the side of the mountain. I think after 0rrtcring 

the mouth of tho Cave, one would have to travel a.bout 200 yards 

to reach the end; where upon looking up the sky can be seen. 

And clouds flying in plain view. It resembles a long house with 

a chimney at the end. Thero is no trouble getting into it. The 

cave is a.bout as wide as a common room and a.bout as high. I 

think j_t is in two apartments. n looks as though something had 

fallen from above a.bout midway of the Cave - this obstruction is , 

to climb over, 

about the size of the first. There are a great many small rocks 

and pebbles in the cave, but the chief curiosities consist in 

unaccountable formations. One is a large muskmfullon, four or 

five feet long, and of proportional size; having ribs like a 

muskmellon and the colo1• of one just before it ripens. It is 

slick as glass, and hard as a stone. The ends are open as if 

cut to take the seeds out. Then columns run up to the top of 

the cave as if to support a building. And a table of ordinary 

height supported by legs. Smooth as glass on top and looks like 

it was set theve for speakers to address a crowd from. 

How all these things were formed must be answered by soma one 

besides me. I have a desire to re-visit the Cove, not only to see 

this Cave with its curiosities again, but to roam over many places 

//, I 
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associated with my early childhood. 
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, (·)- --~ c,'· 

.!, ~- • 

No fruit trees had been planted when we settled in the Cove, 

and for several years we had to get all the fruit we used from 

Uncle Billy Scott's, in Tuckeyleechee Cove, six miles away. It was 

two or three years before we had mills suitable to make flour; the 19 

only mills we had were little 11 Tub mills 11 to crack corn. Father built 

a mill soon after we moved there, but it was seldom 0110 saw wheat 

bread on any table there. 

Game was very plentiful; such as bear, deer, and all the small-

er animals in great abundance. We had a pet bear for several years, 

he was very large, tame and gentle. He would get loose once in a 

while, but we could always catch him and tie him again. I remember 

he got loose one night, and came in at a window to where a younger 

brother and I were sleeping. It scared us badly, but as soon as he 

drank a churn-full of buttermilk, he went out at the window, and was 

roaming around about the barn at daylight. I have heard people say a 

bear could not be hurt by bees stinging them, but its a mistake. I 

remember one Sunday, while all were at Church, except a. few of us 

little children, our bees swarmed, and settled on the body of the tree 

above where bruin was tied. He kept looking up at the big knot of bees, 

as though he would like to know what they were1. so after a while he , 
went up the tree, on a tour of inspection. He looked at them for a 

while, then he wiped them off with his nose; and the bees began to 

sting him, and he began to 11holl0r 11 , and rip and tare. He broke his 

collar at last and away he went to the woods, but returned in a few 

hours, They stung him on his breast and paws, but mostly about his 

nose and eyes. 

/~. 
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About the year 1830 the Government of the United States pur~, ~. 20 

chased from the Cherokees all their lands lying between the Hiwassee Kiifun 
l«o 3 I 

River in Tennessee, and the Chattahoochee River in the State of 

Georgia. It was to this purchase that my Father moved in the Spring 

of 1830 or 31. 

He sold his farm in the cove to James Henry, who lived on Little 

River in'Blount County. About the same time, William Henry, son of 

James Henry, married my sister, and moved into the same house that 

Father vacated when he moved to the Cherokee Nation in Georgia. - b 
'..l-t>-- 3 . 

The place we moved to in Georgia. was oa.lled the 11 Big Spring" ~ 
1 in the or Wolf-Stand, immediately on the Federal road, leading from Nashvil 
:oa Nation, ,:;'~ , 
)rgia. Tennessee to Milledgeville, Georgia. At the time we moved there, ~ 

rt~ ) 
there were but five families of white people beside ours, living in ¥, 
the Nation. John Ross, the principal Chief of tho Cherokees, then 

lived within five miles of where Chattanooga now stands; it was call­

ed 11Ross 1 s Landing 11 then, and for years afterwards. 

Lewis Ross, a brother of John Ross, was a merchant, and lived at 

the Indian Agency, now Charleston, Tennessee. He owned the Ferry where 

much travel was done crossing Hiwassee River. 'I!hose Ross' were fine 21 

looking, intelligent, well educated gentlemen. They were only about 

one-eighth Indian. They married intelligent, refined, accomplished 

women in some of the eastern cities. 

I have stayed with both these gentlemen at their homes. They 

lived in as much style, and seemed to have as many luxuries, and as 

many colored waiters as the wealthiest white families I had been ac­

quainted with. 



(Marginal note) 
After we moved back from Alabama to Georgia, we bought a farm from an 
Indian by the name of Beaver. He married Dick Taylor's daughter. I 
moved Dick Taylor's family from Georgia, over into the Tennessee part 
of the nation. 

These men, and Dick Taylor, Tom Taylor, Arch Fields, Jack Ridge, 

Boudinot, and Jack Walker, whom I became acquainted with further on, 

were all prominent Indians in the Nation, and were all Deligates to 

Congress; some of them I met in Washington in 1867. Some of them 

were halfbreeds, and some Quarteroons, but all were educated. They 

were fine specimens of humanity. In build they were straight as an 

arrow, with jet black hair, and just Indian blood enough to give them 

a ruddy complexiono 

Most all these Indians named above married white women in various 

parts of the Union. Dick Taylor married a Quarteroon, and Arch Fields 

also. I was well acquainted with both these women; they were nice pru­

dent, pure upright women, and raised their children right, and educated 

them. Joa Van was not a public man, but he was wealthy, and influent- 22 

ial. He owned one hundred and fifty negroes and a great deal of stock 

when I knew him. All the prominent Indians owned negroes, but none 

owned so many as Joe Van. 

They had a fine school at Brainard on Chickamauga; just over 

Missionary Ridge from Chattanooga. This school was kept up by Mission­

aries during the time I lived there. I know the names of the Mission­

aries then, but have forgotten them now. 

They had a Printing Press also, but I've forgotten its location. 

(Note: I think it was at Brainard.) 

The savage part of the Nation presented a great contrast to the 

characters I have named - they were generally real, ,common Indians, 

I 1f I 



and prided in being uncivilized Indians, and did not want to be any 

thing else. They had every Indian instinct and characteristic. They 

were lowdown, ignorant, and often cruel. 

The Nation was divided in sentiment about selling their country 

to the United States, and they became vindictive 

and murdered each other in a few instances. ~ I~ 3 i~fnl. 
ded I attended two Councils held at Red Clay, one in 1831, and the 23 

oils of 
okees in other in 1832. Each Council lasted six weeks. These convocations 
& 1832. 

are of the same significance to the Indian as our Congress is to us. 

They are clothed with unlimited authority. These two Councils were 

of much more importance than any ever held before on account of the 

ratification of the Treaty and sale of their country. The whole 

Nation was as one man at these "Pow Wows 11 , and they were numerously 

attended by white men from great distances in other states. 

That noble Indian Jack Walker was murdered by Foreman a full 

blooded Indian riding home from one of these councils. Walker lived 

abuut eight miles from the Agency, and he was killed not far from 

where Cleveland now stands. Walker prided in fine horses. I re­

member he had two imported stallions. At his sale one of these 

horses (Revilee) sold for $2300.00 and Bertrand brought $2700.00. 

An9ther Indian, whose name I do not now remember was with the 

cowardly Foreman, in ambush when he shot Walker off of his horse. 

Both these bad Indians made their escape; but were afterward cap­

tured and tried, but by some means,(unknown to me) condine punish-

~ 
ment never was meeted out to them. Some names of the common ~ 24 

Indians still linger in my memory, such as Bushyhead, Rattlin ~-

Goard, Otterlifter, Drowning :Bear, Crawling Snake, and 

/5, 



The Cherokee language is much harder to learn than the Creek 

language, although the Cherokees are much in advance) of the Creeks 

in civilization. I lived among tho Cherokees two years, or more, 

but was not able to a:cquire much knowledge of their language. I 

could P.nly·speak a few sentences, but I could understand a good 

deal when they did the talking. I could understand more from their 

gestures than from their words. The common Indians of all the 

tribes I have been acquainted with, to wit, the Cherokees, Creeks, 

and Chippewas, or more properly, the Ojibwas, have a great fondness 

for ball playing. 

I have attended a good many ball plays in these several nations 

and at all these ball plays there were large crowds of white people, 

and the general verdict was that there was more amusement and ox-

citement in them than in all the horse races, base balls, theatres, 

tournaments, and bullfights, they had ever seen. The biggest bal ~ 
play I ever witnessed was on Taripin Creak, between the Cherokees 

and Creeks, near the linfl dividing their Nations. This was 

I lived in the Creel< Nation, They are entirely naked while they 

play - not a stitch of clothing on them. Nothing to hinder them 

in runnine, They select o. level spot o:f i;.:.·ow::.d, e.nd clear all 

undergrowth, and rubbish off, Then they put two posts about 15 

~ 
'.J.. 25 
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feet high, and about 10 feet apart. This is done at each end of the 

ball ground, which extends about a. quarter of a mile. 

All the players now assemble ,in the cen:t,er of the grounds. 

One side runs to the east, the other to the west, and every ball 

thrown between the respective poles counts one. No player is al­

lowed to catch the ball in his hands, he must first catch it in 



his ball sticks, which are made in a peculiar manner, then he can 

drop his ball sticks, and take the ball in his hand, and run with 

it, if he can keep the other side from taking it away from him. I 

have sat on my horse and watched them play when it seemed some of 

thorn surely would be killed. (I was afraid to risk being on the 

~~.nO ... "~ 
ground, fearing they might run over. me.)j ~If-'~, 

When the ball was thrown up, hundreds of excited players would 26 

try to catch it, all being in one mass scuffling for it, after a-

while one fleet fellow v,ould be seen emerging from under the great 

mass, a.nd before his opponents would know it, he would be going for 

his poles. Then those on the other side would break after him - the 

fastest one in front. If he saw he could not catch him before he 

would throw the" ball through the poles, he would throw himself for-

ward, and catch him by the heel and throw up his hand , and the 

fellow would whirl over and over like winding blades. 

I saw an Indian's arm broken in that way; and they carried him 

out and laid him by a log and paid no more attention to him until 

the game was over. 

They will bet all they have on these games; their ponies, 

clothes, & c. 

The Indians love horse racing, shooting matches, card playing 

and drinking whiskey. Among the Cherokees this character applies 

only to the wild uneducated Indian. The cultured intelligent 

Cherokee lives like a gentleman, and has high aspirations, and 

makes better use of his opportunities than the ave1mge white man. 

For several decades the Cherokees have ma.do commendable 

strides towards civilization, and I think they ought ,to have the 
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fostering care of our government. They sacrificed a great deal in 

giving up their homes and going west, and that against the wishes of 

a majority of the tribe, and it cost the life of several of the best, 

and most intelligent Indians in the Nation. 

I have often wondered how 11 Uricle Sam" would have done, if a strong­

er power had said 11we want you to stand back a little, we like your 

country, and we own land all around you, and it suits us exactly, and 

we will give you more land out west. 11 I doubt if 11 Uncle Sam" would 

have given up without a fight. 

I omitted one feature of the Indian ball play. Immediately on 

finishing their game, while hot, and many of them foaming with sweat, 

they plunge into a pond of cold water, previously prepared, and gen­

erally it is at a large spring, dammed up so as to make a large amount 

of water, giving them ample room to bathe for half an hour. Then on 

coming out they generally commence their dance. If it is their green 

corn dance, they continue to dance till the break of day, without any 

inter.mission. Their music is made by a drum. The drum is nothing 

more than a piece of raw hide stretched tight over the head 

and the music is inade by a little Indian boy beating on the raw 

The men have long feathers in their 

ful. The Squaws or women have gourds, and Taripin shells tied to thei 

legs. They dance 11 the round dance 11 for they run round in a circle all 

night. The gourds and shel;Ls are full of dried beans, and with the 

clatter, they make the Indian men hollowing the war hoop at intervals· 
. ' 

would make one feel he was not safe among such savages. 

I never remained on the ground at these dances but one night -

that night with only half dozen white men with me. The civilized, 
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educated, good Indians did not play ball, neither did they dance. 

"This Cherokee Strip 11 , as I will call it, abounded in game when 

we first moved there, especially deer. We had rare sport killing 

deer. One way we killed them was for one to ride a horse with a bell 

on, the other to walk behind the horse, each with a loaded rifle. 

Brother David, and I would go into the woods in the early fall where 

cattle were feeding and move around near the cattle. The deer would 29 

pay no more attention to us than to the cattle. When we came near 

enough to a buck to shoot, the one on foot would step behind a tree, 

while the one on horseback would move on slowlyo 

This manuvering would give the one on the ground a good oppor­

tunity to bring down his game, and he rarely failed. We rarely had 

to go more than a mile from home to kill a buck in what was called 

running time in the fall of the year. Another way we had of killing 

deer was to build a rude hearth with flat slate rock up in a tree at 

a deer lick, (which were very plentiful in that country) then let a. 

man keep up a light with pine knots, and sit with his rifle in his lap 

ready to shoot at any memento When the deer came to the lick they would 

watch the light, and their eyes would shine, making a splendid target 

for the marksman in the tree. 

Still another way was to plant a gun at the lick in the evening 

pointing directly to a choice place where they had to pass in entering 

the lick. Then tie a string to a little bush, and stretch it across that 

spot and fasten it to the trigger of the gun, then cock the gun and 

leaveo 



Go back next morning and generally a deer would be lying there, 

or would be so badly wounded as to make it 

addition to deer, we had a great many wild turkeys. 

numerous, that in the fall of the year, it was hard 

from destroying our corn crops. We kept rifle guns 

a.munition, and it was fun for us boys to watch round the corn 

and shoot turkeys. Also grey squirrels were so numerous that they 

could not be kept out of the fields. We often said when we killed 

one, two came in its place. The fox squirrel was there also, but 

they were scarce and shy. 

I have often of late years called attention to what I think is a 

fact worthy of notice, that as a general thing family government is 

not as perfect as it was a century or half a century ago. And that 

~ paren-.ta.l authority is weakening -- the. t "young America" is reaching 

for the reins. I am sure that children now of all ages, 11 and condi­

tions of servitude", are less disposed to obedience to parents, and 

especially are they disposed to say "! can• t", when asked if they can 

do so and so. 

In illustration, I want to detail what happened in my pathway 

when I was only 14 years old, and ask boys of this age -- say my 

grandchildren, for whom this Memoir is particularly written, if they 

could have answered yes at the age of 14, as I did. About one year 

after we moved to the Indian Nation, my mother, who had always enjoyed 

good health, was taken down with drops~y, and she was the ma.in stay of 

the household. The only daughter old enough to wait on her was back 

among her relatives in Tennessee, more than 250 miles away; the balance 
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. of the children being small, I was the oldest then at home. 

Here was an emergency. We were surrounded by Indians, most of 

whom were uncivilized. There were about five white families besides 

our own in the Nation. We could hire no reliable cool<: and nurse. 

Our cindition was deplorable. 

After waiting a few days and seeing that mother was getting no 

better, father said to me one morning, 11 Abe do you think you could 

find the way to Col. Dunnahoo$ "in Monroe County, Tenn. and bring a 

colored woman he has to wait on your mother? He has a good cook 

named Jane -- an honest good woman 11 • I answered without hesitation, 

11 I cnn 11 o The distance was a hundred miles, and forty of it th:onugh 

the Indian Nation without passing a white family until I crossed the 

Hiwassee River at Calhoun. 

I had traveled the road in moving to the Nation, but I paid no 

attention to the route. I rode a safe horse, and traveled 48 miles 

that day, meeting Indians frequently along the route until I crossed 

the Hiwassee River. Then I was out of the Nation. I traveled six 

miles further and stopped for the night at Esq. Wm. Porter's in 

McMinn County. 

At supper I asked for an early breakfast, telling of my hurry on 

account of my sick mother. My horse \'/as brought out by the time I rose 

from the breakfast table. Putting on the airs of a grown man, I asked 

Esq. Porter my billo He eyed me critically and said "How much money 

have you got my little ma.n 11 • That riled me, and I hastily replied, 

11.!_ have enough to pay my bill, a.nd I want to know quick what it is". 

di/, 
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He' said, "I will charge you nothing, only to stop and stay with me as 

you return". 

That was kind in Esq. Porter, and was appreciated by me and never 

forgotten. I have observed, in passing on through a long and somewhat 

eventful life, until I have reached beyond "three score years and ten"., 

now looking back, and hastily reviewing our history as a highly favored 

people, I think I am prepared to admit, that we have in some respects 
'1J,l,_,,I 

degenerated. In my opinion, there is not as much genuine himan kind-

f~ ~ h-i ~ , 1 
ne ss, and hos pi tali ty now, e.s in former days. ~ 

It so happened that as I returned it was too early to ta,ke up for 

the night when we passed Esq. Porters, and I hastened on to reach home 

the sooner with help for my sick mother. So I saw nothing more of my 33 

friend Porter until we moved to Alabama. two years af t.erwards this 

last move was to the Creek Nation. I was then 16 years old. I was 

going to school, and my best friend and class oote was "Danford Porter", 

but I had never thought of his being one of the family I had stayed 

with in McMinn Com1ty, until I spent a night wii.th him at his home. 

At supper, I thought I could see the features in his father of the 

c'l-•" • 
man with whom I spent the first night in my memorible Journey. I said 

to myself this man's name is Porter, and so was the name of my McMinn 

friend; and so I said, 11 Wir. Porter, where did you come from when you 

moved to Alabaoo 1", and he replied "From McMinn County, Tennessee". 

I then said, 11 Do you think you ever saw me before tonight 1 11
• He 

said, "I have no recollection of ever meeting you before. I've heard 

Danford El peak of you often as his school classmate . 11 



do 

Said I, "Do you remember a boy staying with you two years ago, 

going after a colored woman to wait on his sick mother1 11 • "Yes, 11 said 

ho, "and I never will forget what he said to me next morning." 

11We11 11 , said I, "I am the chap 11 • We w01•e good friends ever after 

that, so long as I lived in Alabama. 

As this page was left through mistake as I hurried along, I win fu 34 
See Page 35 I 

t d b t th Of good D.u.c~ use i , to show the ifference e ween e language of a man 

common sense, and a Dude, a conceited fop, who wants to show offo 

The common sense mn.n rides up to a hotel and says to the ost~,ler, 

"Please take my horse out of my buggy and put him in the stable, and 

feed him well and tomorrow morning I will pay you for your kindness". 

Here is the orders of the dude: "Boy, extricate that quadruped 

from that vehicle, stabulate him, and donate him a sufficient quantity 

of nutritious alliment, and when the aurori of the morn illumines the 

eastern horhzon, I will reward you with an adequate pecuniary compen­

sation for your amicable hos pi tali ty. 11 

The Negro ran to the door and hollowed, 11Hello Massa, Dutchman 

hore 11 • 

We moved from the Cherokee Nation in Georgia to the Creek Nation 35 

1n Alabama about the year 1832 pr 3o' The distance is a.bout 100 miles. 

I can well remember the route we traveled, Leaving "Big Spring", or 

"Wolf's Stand 11 , a noted place on the old Federal road leading from· 

Nashville, Tenn. to Milledgeville, Ga., we went through New Echota, 

(New Town), situated on the Connsaugee River. This was a town where 
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several head men of the Nation lived. And near Resa~4a, where a bloody 
) 

/. 

battle was fought, in the war of the Rebelion. I remember visiting this 

town in the year 1837 v1hile I was doing business for Carter & Jones, and 

Couch & Emmerson of Jonesboro, Tenn., Collecting money for flour sold at 

Ross's landing (now Chattanooga, Tenn.), and as far down as Floronce 

and Decatur in Alabama. A few Indians then remained at New Echota, but 

the great body of them had been moved to tho Indian territory. 

Hiram Turk, an agent of the United States Government,was at New 

illchota. on the occasion of my last visit there; settling some matters 

with the Indians. 

Our enJnigrant wagons took up the lino of march from New Echota to 
l 

Alabama and the next place on our route that I remember camping, and 

which has become noted in the subsequent history of the country, is 

the junction of the Chattahoochee, and Hightower Rivers, where the 

City of Rome now stands. f-h'\,\,L.il -.'\.\,(1,y--i:, _-t--tLy·J il":,-,(r~o) '~··<-'"v l 
~~~Jl~~cLk-~ 

The lands in the Georgia part of the Cherokee Nation were drawn 

for by the heads of families in the state. It fell to the fortune of 

a very poor man, a cooper by trade, to draw the lot on which Rome was 

at first located, Of course the city has spread out and now covers 

other lots. 

'fhi s new country that we moved to was purchased from the Creeks 

by the general Government shortly afjjer the Cherokee purchase was ma.de. 

The Indians were still residing there, their reservations to ea.ch head 

o~ a. family had not been located. 
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We settled on Chockalocco Creek, in Benton County, seven miles from 
e in 
k Jacksonville, the county sea to I learn the name of the county has been 
n 

changed to Calhoun since I left there. I do not know whether or not 

this change of name was made because Thomas H. Benton and Andi,ew Jackson 

once fought a duel in Nashville, Tennessee. But it looks a little out 

of harmony for a county to be named for Benton and its county seat named 

for Jackson. 

We were highly pleased with the country. The lands were fine, the 

climate good, and good health prevailed everywhere, and the people who 

were moving into the country in great numbers were contented and happyo 

The land was very productive. The principal crops we1•e corn and 37 
\.:u 

cotton and all l<inds of vegetables fl~rished to perfection. In fa.ct, 

everything put in the ground flourished, and yielded so abundantly, that 

I have often said in comparing countries, after traveling over twenty 

states of the unipn, and living in five of them, I have never seen a 

better country -- all things considered than South Alabama. 

Nothing would have caused my father to remove from there back to 

Georgia, but for the following reasons: He had bought a preemption 

claim to 160 acres of very fine land and moved on to it. This land he 

would have entered at $1.25 per acre, and received a state grant. We 

had made considerable improvements on it, by building comfortable houses, 

and clearing up land and putting it in cultivation. When the Indians 

names were enrollod by State Authority; be bought 160 acres more ad­

joining his, from an Indian by the name of Chofee (Rabbit) who was 
I, 
intitled to a reservation. This was also very fine land, on which 
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there was an Indian town called Chofee Tall of ow, (in English Rabbit­

Town). This laid broad side to the first 160 acres he had bought, making 

320 acres of the choice land in the famous Chockallocco Valley. It was 

very rich land laid well. The magnificient stream ran centrally between 

the two farms and I do not think there were 10 acres in the who~e.320, 
~r.~·~ 

outside of What the Creek covered· that was not tibble. Di,~~,~, 

. ~--lip) J..~.).. ~J.. We were supremely happy with these surroundings. Vie had abundant \.I.A 

encouragement to work, and we all made good use of time and opportuni du~. 
ties; we had stock plenty to run the two farms, and my older brpther, 

David, five years older than myself had come from Tennessee to help 

us farm, rraking the available force in the family half a. dozen. We 

used great economy as well as industry, and perseverance. 

We raised enough corn, and oats, besides root crops to carry us 

through the year, and the remainder of our land we planted in cotton. 

We always raised more cotton than we could pick out during the winter 

and had to hire hands in the fall, and winter, to help save the crop 

of cotton; and even then we sometimes had to plough under cotton in 

the spring that we could have made a dollar a day picking it out. The 

clinnte is so mild in South Alabama, we could work early and late. 

We were generally in the field by the time we could see to work, and 

would not leave at night while we had light to wo1•k by. A good deal 

of money could be made then raising cotton, but in doing it there was 

no time to playo The price of cotton then \'las 16 to 18 cents, now it 

is 7 and Bo 

While we lived there, my father, in speaking of the South, and 
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cotton raising, often said there was money in it; but said he, 11 there 

V is no time left to enjoy i t 11 • <Afr plans are often frustrated, our 

best laid plans, costing years of thought, and careful preparation may 

be blasted, and swept away in a, day. Thero is much philosophy in the 

colored preacher's advice to his congregation, when he said, 11 My bred:ren, 

I advise you to not expect much in dis world, and you shant be dis­

appointed. 11 

TMs Indian Rabbit of whom father had bought the land and had paid 

for it, was killed at a ball play by a Cherokee about this time, and 

then it developed that his land had not been located for him by the 

proper authorities. His name had been enrolled all right, but in his 

case no evidence of location could be found. This being the fact, the 

question arose whether the widow or heirs could make title to it. 

Father bought it of the widow, also paid her for it, and took a Deed 

properly made out; having John Adrin as Interpreter; witnessed and 

acknowledged. But the land was so good, and tempting, that a company of 

speculators, said to be worth a million dollars, headed by a man by the 

name of Turnipseed, came and bought it also of the widow, and entered 

suit for possession. Father always disliked to be involved in lawsuits, 

and advised his sons to lceep out of law, if possible. He often said, 

"in lawsuits, the winner is generally looser''• And in this case he said, 

"I can't get my consent to see my children worl< hard the year round, 
1\ 

raising and marketing cotten to defend a lawsuit against such odds. 

Brother David and I wanted to remain in possession of the land, 

and defend the title, and let father come with the balance of the family 

~7. 
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up into Georgia where he had bought a place on Chickamauga. But father 

would not agree to our proposition, but sold his claim to a man by the 

nnmo of Cook, a neighbor, and put him in possession and Cook gained the 

suit against the speculators.* I have an indistinct recollection of 

traveling out of my way-when on that tiresome, hot horseback journey in 

1837 collecting money for flour sold by Carter & Jones and Crouch & 

Emerson -- going by Jacksonville, Alabama to give evidence, I think, in 

that suit, in which the title to our home in Alabama was involved. And 

I remember Jacksonville is the place where Henry King, Esq. and I separ­

ated, after having traveled horseback so many days together, Jhhrough the 

hOt sunshine and dust. ~ going still lower down in Alabama to wind up 

some old accounts; and I to follow the rivers collecting for flour sold 
J~ 

from flat boats. From my recollection of the land, and inhsncement in 

values up to the present time I would estimate that real estate today et 40 

about $25 1 000. If the wheel of fortune had in that instance turned in 

o~ favor, it would have given us a fine start, in place of keeping us 

hard pressed. 

But in the long run, it might have been no better for us. We have 

always had enough to eat and wear and my opinion is after living more 

· than 75 years, and seeing much of the world, and having a large amount 

of experimental knowledge of its business; that as a rule people can't 

have more than a reasonable competency of this worlds wealth without 

injnry to some one, or more of the family who handles it. 

I must give a little more of my recollections of Creek Indians, 

and Alabama, a country I loved so well; before I take my leave of it. 



I had learned to speak the Creek language, so I could make a trade with 

them. 

My father had some goods there and I sold them to the Indians. I 

went to school a little, but was kept pretty busy raising cotton and 

corn in the summer, and picking out cotton in the winter and selling 

goods. We found a good deal of game in the Creek Nation, and I took 

much pleasure in hunting, whenever I had time. 

These Indians were not civilized, but were savages; yet they .were 

friendly. They had no schools, and no printing press like the Cherokees, 

yet their language was easier spoken than the Cherokees. I had a turn 41 

to make acquaintances with the Indians; and was popular with them. 

They would often come to me for information and advice, al though I was so 

young. It has been nearly 60 years since I left there, but I can still 

remember some Indian names. Our nearest neighbors were Chofee, Holotta­

chopco, Chokechada, Tobesofkee, and Hillobee. * This Indian-Hillobee, 

had a fight with my uncle Sam Tipton. The Indian was in the wrong. 

Hillobee got the worst of it. After it was over, he went to Tipton 

with an interpreter and made acknowledgements, and asked pardon, which 

was granted. He then said he would always love and respect Tipton, a.pd 

in the best of humor -- laughing said, 11hereafter my name is Hillobee 

Tipton 11. 

The habits and savage life of these Indians were like other savage 

tribes, the men would not worlc. They left all manner of work to be done 

by their women, while they roamed over the forests, hunting. It is the 

chief characteristic of the Savage Nations of all times to impose upon 

the female part of their tribe. As they become civilized, they become 



more and more ashamed of themselves and by degrees begin to treat their 

mothers, wives and daughters as human beingso 

I have had ample opportunities to knoVJ a great deal about. three 

tribes, the Cherokees, the Creeks and the Chippewas (Ojibwas), and they 

are all alike as far as their savage nature goes; and that can only be 

gradually changed by civilization, and very slow progress can be made 

with the full blooded Indian; he seems as a rule to have no desire to 

be anything but a savage and even prides in it. But when the blood of 

any of the Indian tribes that. I have known bee omes mixed, and the sur­

roundings are favorable, the tendency is upward, and the savage instincts 

are soon forgotten by constant association with civilized people. I 42 

and have a rerrarkably fine illustration of this theory in one of my ~1~g~: 
1 

din p~~ ClU..N 
bors, who lives now only half mile from me in Elk Park, N. C. P.~ ls~ 

His father was a full blooded Creek Indian. I knew him well; we 

lived in the same town (Elizabethton, Tenn.) for 30 years together. He 

was brought to Elizabethton at the close of the Creek war by General 

Nathani,el Taylor when he was a li ttlo boy. General Taylor pi.eked him 

up immediately after the battle of the 11horse shoe 11
; in Alabama, and 

carried him home behind him on his horse. He named him Duffieu.d, after 

a celebrated lawyer of that name then living in Elizabethton. As he 

grew up, the name was abbreviated to "Duff 11. Years after the people 

gave him the sobriquet of 11 Brandy 11 ; I presume because he loved the 

critter as is so common with the Indian. 

When I became acquainted with Duffield at Elizabethton, after having 

known the Creeks so well in their own Nation, it was natural for me to 

want to talk to him about his people, the Creeks of Alabama, as I had 
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lived for three years among them and could talk their language to some 

extent. But I found their language was a dead letter as far as ho was 

concerned, and he could remember nothing about his people. Duffield did 

not incline to want to associate with the white people, but went with 43 

the colored people, who at that time were nearly all slaves in this part 

of the country. He became acquainted with a colored woman belonging to 

Col. John Hardin, a well-to-do farmer, living in the edge of North 

Carolina; and the result of this acquaintance was a bright intelligent 

boy they call Poter Hardin who lived in the Hardin family as a slave 

until freed by Abraham Lincoln's proclamation. Peter Hardin was esteemed 

by the family and all who know him. As to intelligence and general in­

t'ornntion ho ranks higher than the average whi to man with the same op­

portunities and surroundings. 

He is quite a business man and stands fair in this community and is 

ignored on account of 11 color and previous condition of servitude". 

nice respoctible colored woman and they "live at home and 

same houso 11 • Peter owns 600 acres of land adjoining the 

makes a good citizen. 

How true tho old saying, 

11Flosh and blood don't make tho man. 11 

25th, 1904. 

written today to Peter Hardin cop~in~ most of tho above, in 

to lotter f1•om him a few days ago. c~ st-~ . 
We were living in the Creek Nation in 1834 when tho great ast,:_tomi- 44 

,'-\ 
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1onl phenomenon occured. "The falling Dr shooting stars" or Meteoric 

Showers. 
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This strange occurranc0 scared the Indians nearly to death, and in­

deed it alarmed the white people badly. The Creeks had one habit I 

never noticed with the Cherokees and that was to bury all the personal 

effects in the same grave with the owner. 
cc__, 

As the men would not work, it was indispensibly necessary for the 

women to work or starve; for the men did not bring in game enough to 

supply the families. Tho women cultivated garden patches with 'the hoe. 

The land was so rich and fertile and easily cul tiva.ted that they could 

make a meager support from a few acres. 

They live mostly on s ofka (hominy) and wha. t wild meats the men 

bring in. The Cherokees call hominy connahany. Sofka and connahany 

are not ma.de the same way and have a different taste. 

Their women are left alone a. great deal. They all love dogs and 

they have many of them, just like the poorest class of white people 

everywhere. I have often been amused at the old squaws at their wig­

wams. I would step in and find an old squaw with half a dozen children 

and a mangy dog surroundin.g a little fire. The old woman would want the 

dog to retire to give me room and she would scold him in this manner, 

11 0. Sus. 11 The dog would pay no notice to it. She then says 11 0. Sus 

mottot 11 • He still don't move. She then would, in much anger and with 45 

great emphI-'sis on every word say, 11 0. Sus Mottet, coman asusch0a 11
• The 

·) dog would run then for dear life. 

I had better opportunities to know the ha.bi ts and characteristics 

of the Creek Indians than either of the other tribes I have mentioned. 

I lived longer among them and could speak their language better. In 

giving a truthful account of what I have seen of them in such a hurried 



manner and under great difficulties, I reluctantly pen the following; 

though I doubt if some would not question the truth of it. I will be 

very brief on this subject. 

I have often seen squaws look their childrens heads and eat the 

product of their search. She would take the vermin, one by one, and 

place them under her upper lip and when she got enough to chew, she 

would eat them. I have seen whole families eat youns bees. They would 

open a bee gum when they knew the young bees were nearly grown and take 

out honey comb, bee and all. They would boil beans in the hull till 

about half done, then take a bean and double it so the ends come to­

gether and dip it in the honey and eat honey bees and beans all together. 

I've seen little Indian boys watch wasp nests, v1hlch we1·e nurne:cuus 

around the eves of their houses, and when the old wasps left the nest, 

they would scale up and grab the nedt and eat nest, young wasps and 

all. 

These Indians would eat cattle that died of lln.lrrain; they barbecue 

and eat them. I will have occassion to speak further on of the Semi- 46 

nole Indians, who for a long time inhabited the lowlands in Florida. 

They were runaway Creeks. 

John C. Calhoun, my Joe John 
When we were first acquaint 
The worthies of the day John 
Supposed you were a Saint. 

' ttlD - s '6 
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You withstood the Champions of war 
With Madison you know 
But now you've beat the Hartford crew 
John C. Calhoun, my Joe. 

John C. Calhoun, my Joe John 
Both you and henry Clay 
Are like the boy that had the goose 
The Golden egg did lay. 
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You are both great men in the land 
But office rose too slow 
Your reckless haste has damned you both 
John C. Calhoun, my Joe. 

I cannot remember any more verses, I have forgotten them. 

(Note:) At the time we moved from Alabama to Georgia, a few counties 

on the border of Tennessee and Alabama belonged to George and Rev. 

Alexander Harris, and Rev. James Atkins were the preachers. Harris 

looked like a boy, but was an eloquent talker. Atkins could not preach 

at first, but he finally became a fine preacher. I have heard Dr. 

Alexander Harris p1•each ma.ny very fine sermons and I attended jointly 

with him in the treatment of Mrs. A. M. C. Taylor in her last illness Wv 
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In December, 1834, just after the cold Saturday, we started on our 47 

move to Walker County, Georgia where the town of Ringgold now stands, 

10 miles from 11Bis Spring 11 , where we had lived before moving to Ala­

bama, and about 20 miles from Chattanooga, and immediately on the 

Federal road lea.ding from Nashville, Tenn. to Milledgeville, Ga. 

The Cherokees had not left for their western home beyond the 

Mississippi River and, in fact, many of them peremptorily refused to 

go, as also did a great many of the Creeks. 

_And finally within the next year, the Government of the United 

States had to call for troops to put down depridations committed by 

ti 
the Indians, and to gather them up and o~vey them to their new home 

beyond the Missippi. 

Da.c.·. 
JS3f 

When the Creeks found that they had to give up their country in 

Alabarra, they broke away in large bodies. Men, women and children came 



over into Georgia, pillagin~ as they traveled. It was believed by many 

that they were trying to get to Florida to join the Seminoles in a war 

against the whites, against whom they now had great enmity for pushing 

them off their lands and wanting them to gb West. But many of them 

turned Northeast and came more than a hundred miles into the neighbor­

hood) a~ steal chickens, hogs and other things to eat, and then move 

.on to another place. They were committing so many depredations that 

the lliilitia was first called out. I was then 18 years old and did my 

first soldiering in that memorable campaign. 

County's militia. Archibald Shamblin was our 

We were P_~_:1, .i-o,f Walker _ "1\-­,,fuA.lW a.ttj_{><-U 
captain.(~~ Q,~ J 

We had only fifteen or twenty miles to rrorch before we met the 

enemyo The Indians were camped at the Methodist camp ground and were 

not expecting uso This was in Dogwood Valley, Walker County, Georgia. 

Nearly all their warriors were out hunting. They were pretty well armed. 

When we reached the encampment, the few armed men who had not gone with 

the hunting party made resistance, and some of our men doubtless would 

have been killed, if I had not been able to speak their language well 

enough to make them understand we did not intend them any harm. As soon 

as they understood me, they dropped their guns and surrendered. 

I ·was the only one in our Company who could speak a word in their 

language. In a short time, the hunters came in and surrendered and we 

had them to pack up everything they had and we started with the whole 

crowd, men, women and children, to "Ross' s Landing". Preparatory to 
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their long march to their new home in the Indian territory. There were 49 

thousands of the most ignorant and uncivilized Indians of both tribes, 
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Cherokees and Creeks, who had great aversion to going to their 11 new 

homes 11
• They hung a.bout. the borders of Alabama and Georgia, trespassing 

upon civil neighborhoods here and there until their conduct could be 

tolerated no longer. 

Information of these Indian depredations was filed at Washington, 

and General Government called into the field several regiments from 

Georgia, Tennessee and Alabama. These troops were called for in June, 

1836. General Hemphill of Georgia called for every man subject to 
\ 

military duty in Walker County to meet" him at Lafayette, the County Seat 

of Walker. 

I lacked three months of being 19 years old. General Hemphill 

mustered us awhile in an open field; he then formed us into a long line 

and rode out in front of the line and sat on his horse while he told. us 

of the emergency that called us to duty in defending our homes, reminding 

us that we must sacrifice something individually for the public good; 

that we must be willing to leave our ploughs 11 in this June-time, in the 

unfinished furrow 11 , and go to battle if need be in defense of our 

country. 

He then called for volunteers to step out 50 paces in front. I 

had ma.de up my mind to go at my country's call; so, I stepped out at 

once and it was fully twenty minutes before another man came out. I 

felt lonely during those minutes, but we raised a full captain's company 

that day of 110 men. I oould have been ma.de Captain of the Company if 

I had not been so young and inexperienced. Cf~ ~) 
t,., 

We had to start to our place of rend,ivous as soon as we could go 
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home and ma.ke some hasty preparations. When we got to camp, we were 

immediately mustered into service and placed under the immediate command 

of General Charles H. Nelson, a bravo and fearless nun, and a good 

disciplinarian. Here we had so many Soldiers from the different counties 

that they could hardly be crowded into one brigade. 

FALSE ALARM 

On the 4th of July, a few days only after we were mustered in and 

before we had drawn our arms from the Government, only a few having 

brought their rifles from home, General Nelson made a speech .to the 

soldiers, in which he told us that he had just received a dispatch by 

the hand of a courier stating that there was a large force of the enemy 

only 4 miles from us, and that we might expect an attack that night, 

and giving us some general directions. He gave orders to place out 

guards around the encampment and he sent forty picked Cavalry to be 

stationed on the public road leading in the direction of the enemy, 

with directions to fire on the approach of the Indians and come into 

camp at full speed. The army all spread blankets and laid down to get 51 

What rest a soldier is allowed to take amidst such dangers. At about 

midnight, the Cavalry men fired off their guns and came dashing into 

camp, attended with all the clatter that 40 horses feet on a hard dry 

road could m9.ke. Our officers had ordered us to form a line and lie 

flat on the ground so that the first volley of the enemy might miss pf 

1 ts rro.rk by going over us. I remember just after we had gotten in this 

position, a man by the name of Sherrod James, a member of an adjoin~ng 

company came running by me and recognizing roe said to me, "If you live 



to get home , tell my mother what death I die". He was then making for 

a swamp close by to hide. The soldiers "rung the changes 11 on him for 

this cowardly act during the campaign. 

(Insert) 
ll I 

I will here record a little incident that occurred back.-.--
1 

, · 10 
at home while I was in the army. A Federal force came ~f CV! 
by my father's, near Ringgold, Georgia, in charge of a ~ 
large number of Creek Indians they had captured on the · · v -
Georgia side, taking them to Chattanooga, and thence on 
to the Indian Nation west of the Mississippi. As the f:)'\\,1), 
Indians passed along the road by the field where my 
brothers were ploughing, a little Creek Indian boy about 
10 or 12 yea1•s old stepped out of ranks and came to the 
fence and shook hands with my brothers Issac and Samuel, 
and said,- ''Vlhere is Tip"1 They recognized him at once 
as Cituaga,son of Chofa. The family was our nearest 
neighbors in the Creek Nation for the time we lived 
there, and Tipton Jobe was about the same age and was 
this boy's playrrate. He bid them farewell and went on 
to his home in the westo 

Our company was sent to Camp Lee, in Broomtown Valley and statj_onod 52 

there. We built good substantial houses there and were well situated 

and perfectly satisfied for the valley was densely populated with well-

to-do farmers and we had everything we wanted. 

In the midst of our rejoicing on account of our fine buildings and 

good times, we were seeing in our friendly intercourse with the many 

hospitable citizens who daily visited us, we were ordered to give up all 

enjoyment of tho fruits of our labor and march back to Camp Scott on 

Coosa River. This movement was set on foot by Lt. Harry Rogers of our 

company, that he might run for Major of the Regiment. 

A number of the men said they would not obey the order. I felt at 

first like refusing to 1mrch with the regiment, knowing it was a selfish 

move on tho part of an officer to have himself promoted. But having 

recently been elected Sergeant of our Company and having access to 



officers books a.nd hnd bean roading military law and discipline and all 

about officers and soldiers duty, I found that there was as great a 

difference between the officers and their men in the time of way, as 

between a king and his subjects; and, furthermore, we had taken an 

oath to obey our superior officers. 11It was theirs to command and ours 

to obey. 11 c~~-~ ~ ~ ~ ~) 
\<., 

Notwithstanding all this, while I concluded to go on without murmor-

ing. Eleven of as good men as we had in ou1• company marched out about 

half a mile on the morning we started and there they broke ranks and 

stacked their o.rms around a tree and started for home. Captain Hodge 

Rayburne, who ought to have command of our company, had yielded it to 

First Lt., Rogers from the fact that he knew absolutely nothing abput 

military discipline, and Rogers was a very competent officer, having 

been educated at West Point. Lt. Rogers dispatched a ~~rfior to head­

quarters to report the fact of the desertion to General Nelson. 

We made a forced march that day, swimming a river that was out of 

its banks. We were all tired out and much fatigued when we went into 

camp that night. We were soon sound asleep. At about midnight we were 

aroused from our profound slumbe,r by the sound of the bugle and the 
f1 
/·· 

clatter of 40 horses feet coming down a long stretch of hard gravely 

road before reaching om• encampment. It was the cavalry from Camp 

Scott going in persui t of the eleven 11 deserters 11
• 

I had been posting myself in regard to military law and found if 

the law was enforced to the letter, these men, my neighbors, and good 
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1f~- citizens at home, must be shot abd there could be no appeal. I remem- 54 
:t'.l and 
160k. ber now, though 56 years have obliterated many other incidents from my 

~ ~~~ ct4 ~ ~ 
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mind, how intensely mournful that bugle sound was that dismal night! 

I could see, in my disturbed dreams, spectres representing these eleven 

men being brought up, tried and started to thei1• place of execution. 

They halted and made some hasty inquires of Lt. Rogers about the 
l.1, 

country and roads they would have to travel in their persui t of the 

men. Then at the sound of the bugle they galloped off. Within a few 

days after we reached headquarters at Camp Scott, this cavalry force 

returned with every one of those men in hand-cuffs. They were placed 

in a strong building made of logs and kept under guard night and day 

during the balance of the campci.:tgn. There was no intimation given out 

what would be their fate, but many of the soldiers believed they would 

be shot. 

When the time came for us to be discharged, we were all mustered 

out of service and received an honorable discharge. It has been over 

56 years since the events that I now d~scribe happened; but, as well as 

I can remember, my discharge (which is now on file at Washington, D. c.) 

rt Dis- read about as follows: 11 This is to certify that Abraham Jobe, Sergeant 55 

11 
(Od by in Capt. Hodge Rayburn's Company of Georgia Volunteers, is this day 
~rles 
~fi honorably discharged from the service of the United States, bearing 

with him the testimony of his comnnnding officer for his good conduct -~ ~~ (~~ ~ ~ --~<l 
during the Campaign. ( V,, ~) 

By order of C. H. Nelson, l'lajor General, Commanding Volunteers." 

On the same day these discharges were signed, General Nelson had 

these eleven men brought out of pt'ison and the whole brigade was brought 

up and formed in a hollow-square. In the center of this square, there 

was a big pine log with the bark off. On this log the prisoners were 



placed by the guard. I do not suppose at that awful moment a single lllBn 

in the Army knew the fate of the eleven men except General Nelson himself. 

They looked deathly pale. General Nelson in uniform with the military 

law in his hand rode on his splendid charger up in front of them. As I 

remember it, the following is about the words he used in the short 

speech he 1mde to the eleven deserters~ 

"Men, stand up." They rose and the general said, "I have just 

performed a duty to the faithful soldiers I have had the honor to command 

in this campaign by giving them all an honorable discharge, which will 

be creditable to them and their chi'ldren. And I nov, have a painful duty 

to perform touching the record of you eleven men have made in the present 

campaign, Aftar you volunttt\J agraed to go out in dafenee of your ~56 

homes, and have taken a solo~ oath to obey your superior officers .~ 

(here General Nelson read extracts from the military law in regard t · Lcdtr, 
desertion). You deliberately walked out of ranks without 

returned to your homes. You see from the extracts I have read in your 

hearing from the military law, that you have forfeited your lives, and 

I could have you all shot here today. 

But I have concluded not to have the law executed in its utmost 

rigor in this case. But while I extend this clemency to you, I must 

tell you here in the presence of all these faithful, honorable soldiers, 

that you have disgraced yourselves and your conduct in this campaign 

will tarnish the character of your children. I would not give a damn 

for a soldier who, if I commanded him, would not march with me to the 

confines of hell, and shoe himself with iron and march in. 11 

f I, 



en on 

"You may consider yourselves 11 dishonorably discharged". Go home 

and if your country should ever call again for your services, try to 

redeem yourselves from this blot that rests upon your memory • 11 

In this campaign which lasted but three months, fortunately we had 

no fighting to do; but we had a great deal of ~futy to do and 

hard marching and much of it I regarded as unnecessary. We generally 

had plenty to eat, but on one occasion we were three days and nights 

without anything to eat. This was caused by high waters cutting off our 

wagon trains that hauled· our supplies. Then after being so long without 57 

food of any kind, the first thing we got was roasting ears for the men 

and the cornstallcs for the horses. We had to use great caution in 

counting out just so many ears to each mess or the men would have killed 

themselves. 

(Marginal Note) I should have mentioned here how rigidly the 
military law was enforced in the case, of Hughes, 
the teamster, who was trying to pass the guard 
in the night with the first supplies, after 
the water fell so the wagon train could reach 
our encampment. He was stopped by the guard 
and told he could not pass without giving the 
countersign. He told him he could.not do that 
but he must pass at once with his supplies 
and started his team, and the guard thrust his 
bayonet through his thigho 

We were discharged at Camp Scott about 15 miles below Rome, Georgia 

on the Coosa River. We were discharged about one o'clock P.M. and we 

were so anxious to get home we traveled that evening and the best part 

of that night. Before we reached home, we were met by the paymaster of 

1892 the army and paid off. 
th 

Since the war of the rebellion, seeing so rro.ny 



ones 

any more sacrifice than we did for we volunteered in June, "and left our 

ploughs standing in the unfinished furrow", I have thought a just and 

generous government ought to give the few survivors of the Indian Wars 

a small moiety out of a plethoric treasury. If I were a membet of 

Congress, I would vote to do away with pension boards, thereby saving 

hundreds of thousands of dollars to go to the soldiers,, and s!3nd 'special 

detectives around to ascertain fraudulent ca.seso 

About 10 or 15 yea.rs after this service was rendered, Congress 

passed an a.ct giving us all a land warrant. Then on the 2Jth of July, 

1892, Congress passed a law giving us a pension of $8.00 a month, dating 

from its passage. 

Elk Park, N. C., Mau 25th, 18930 

I have written the foregoing pages by snatching as it were a few 

moments at different times from other and more pressing business, and 

I left this space to state what action was taken by the Commissioner 

of Pensions in my case. 

My name was put upon the pension roll on February 3rd, 1893 at 

$8.00 per month. On that day the pension office owed me $49.87 for which 

they sent me a check; and I will draw $24. 00 quarterly hereafter. Mine 

is a service pension - not an invalid pension. I do not have to prove 

any disability. 

Shortly after my return from the army, my Uncle Abraham Jobe, for 

whom I was named, wrote to me to come to Jonesboro, Tennessee to become 

a salesman in the store of Carter & Jones and remain with them long 

enough to become acquainted with all the details of the mercantile busi­

reon pass, so as to take charge of a. store he intended to establish at his 

lS'b:-~~ ~ ~ ~, ~ tv ~y--_}-r,-,,v41, 
~-\55 ~-c-.-< 0-4. (•~-'\n- ~~ ~ ~ ~ 
~~,v)-- tr 
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home seven miles from Jonesboro, where Johnson City now standso 

I entered the store about Sept. 30th, 1836. I was closely con­

fined in the store during the fall, winter and spring, as they had a 

large trade. During the spring of 1837, Carter & Jones entered into 

copartnership with Crouch & Emerson for the pm•pose of buying up all 

the flour of Washington County and shipping it to Alabama in boats-­

then the only means of transportation. In shipping this flour down 

Chuckey and the Holston Rivers, they had tho misfortune to get two 

boats stove on Chucky River. I had now to leave the store and go down 

on the river and hil·e teams and haul the flour 5 miles around the Shoals 

and reload it, and on the next tide have it shippedo 

This flour was shipped to Alabama. Most of this large lot of 

flour was sold on a credit at Ross 1 s Landing (now Chattanooga), 

G1,mters Landing, Florence, Decatur and other points. Some one had to 

be sent from the store on this long, tiresome horseback journey to 

collect these debts during the summer of 1837. This lot fell upon me. 

I started in company with Henr~r King of Washington County, who had 

business of his own in Alabama.. We left Jonesboro the day after the 

election in August. I remember we separated at Jacksonville, Alabama. 

I went across the country to Gunters Landing, made my collections, and 

then on to Florence and Decatur. I had been warned before leaving 

Jonesboro of the danger of traveling over the Sand Mountain, and so as 

not to be with out weapons for defense, I borrowed a good six shooter 

from Wm. G. Brownlow before starting and I had a large dirk knife. If 

I had known all the dangers I had to pass through, I would have re­

fused to nnke the trip. 
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The first alarm I had was the night after I left Gunters Landing 

in the evening to go to the only stopping place on the top of Sand 

Mountain, on my wo.y to Florence, Alabama. I got to the hotel about an 

hour after dark and found the hotel keeper in a dying condition from a 

fractured sfull received on the same road I had traveled just the night 60 

bef oreo This hotel keeper had gone to Gunter's Landing in company 

with a neighbor and after reaching there was soon changing $400. with a 

merchant. ,$4000 in Alabama money for Virginia money, and this murderer 

could not stand the temptation. He left before the rran with the money 

did and waylaid him on tho mountain and knocked him off his horse with 

a heavy now hoe he had bought that day and thought he had killed him, 

and took his money and fled. This wounded man was alive VJhen I left 

next morning, but there was but little hope of his recoveryo This Sand 

Mountain country was infested with robbers and murderers at that early 

day -- just after it was settled -- and it was exceedingly dangerous 

for strangers to pass through thereo 

I began now to be more on my guard after this experience. I watched 

every word and look, but I was compelled to continue my route. I could 

not turn to the right or left for there was but one way to reach my 

destination and that was for many miles right along the top of Sand 

Mountain, encountering all of its dangers. There were long stretches 

of level land on top of the mountain with only here and thero a settler. 

It would be many miles in places whero I could see no indication that 

tho country ever had boon inhabi tad. I had to travel alone. Oh, how 

lonely~ 11Every leaf was at reat, and I heard not a sound; but a wood­

pecker tapping a hollow Beech tree. 11 What a time for reflection, one 
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house 

C p~:.~ c~~ ~ ~~ ~~+7:~ ~), 
u..'-t,W\ .. ~ ~ ~~ }Y\.Q., CL,~ v~, ~ 

would sa.y; I was too badly scared for reflection a.bout that timeo 

After I had gotten off the mountain into a more densely populated 

neighborhood, I stopped about 2 P.M. to get dinner and my horse fed. 61 

r.an in During my stay for one hour, I told the farmer a.bout the hotel man's 
oloth-
roepted misfortune and his tall< and manner increased my ala.rm very much. He 
led 

was a prosperous farmer, owned a good farm and servants, but I feared 

him. I believe he wa.s a murderer and robber a.nd harbored a gang of 

these men. He a.slrnd me to stay with him a.s I returned. I believed if 

I did I would never lea.ve there alive. I felt sure that he and his 

accomplices would murder me. 

(Note.) How I am astonished at myself to find in reviewing my 
details of my collecting tour in Ala.be.ma; I turn be.ck 
where I ca.me so near being murdered and robbed, and 
give no account of my visit, collections, etc. at 
Florence, Decatur and other places in Alabama. I 
went on to these points and collected a considerable 
amount of money, which occupied my time for several 
days; one being Sunday, I remember, which wa.s spent 
at Florence. At Decatur, I saw the first Railroad 
snd steam engine. This road was made around the 
Muscle Shoals. 

As I returned, it was about dinner time. His house was some dis­

tance up a lane from the main road and rather hid from view by an 

orchard. I hoped I was not seen, but they were expecting and watbhing 

for me. I rode on roo.king a half circle to the right as I followed the 

road. I ha.d gone half mile or more when I sa.w immediately before me, 

in a straight stretch of road, a woman (as I then thought) coming meet­

ing me when I came nearer to her. I suddenly realized my danger. I 

saw I was meeting a man dressed in woman's clothes. I immediately drew 

my pistol and cocked it and held it in my right hand with my finger on 



the trigger, my bridle in my left. 

I ma.de the would-be murderer pass on my right. I had the drop on 

him and he knew it. I kept my pistol presented and turning to him, in­

tending if he rrade a motion to draw a weapon, I would put six bullets 

When I had reached tEafe di stance 
·~,L 

from him, I put spurs to my horse and galloped away. He · · to be 

into him as rapidly as I could fire. 

a crazy woman. Spittle was running down over his chin and he rrade 

motions and mumbled out something all the time he was passing, wantins 

to talk to me. I was satisfied he came from the house I had just passed. 

As I pressed on, I inquired for some route by which I could avoid pass- 62 

ing over Sand Mountain in my return trip, but could hear of none. So HviVI.Q.,, 

I pushed on as fast as I could without dinner or my horse being fed ·1,w._.~ 

until in the evening I found by turning off the road a few miles I 

could stay with Mr. Wallace, a wealthy man, and be in no danger. 

When I rode up, I found Mr. Wallace was absent but would be at 

homo that night. Mrs. Wallace told me I could stay a.nd sent a servant 

to take care of my ho1•se. She showed me to my room upstairs. I was 

tired and the weather was warm and I laid down to rest. I had not been 

there more than half an hour till she came and asked mo if I would not 

like to see some fine oochinery and witness the manufacture of cloth by 

her servants more rapidly than by the old country loom1 Of course I 

went with her. I noticed that she had changed her dress that is she 

had dressed up. I was very young then and had not traveled much. She 

was a handsome woman, about 25 years old. She showed me around all the 

Negro houses and the various kinds of work the servants were doing. I 



could not understand this strange conduct as I had never seen her before, 

and I felt alarmed. I reasoned this way; that was laying plans to have 

an excuse for her husband to kill me when he came home and found me 

there. But I could do nothing to avert the danger even if I was correct 

in my conjectures. Even if I would make an excuse to leave, I had no 

place to go; and I could do nothing better. When night came I went to 

bed earlier than my usual bedtime. 63 

When I tried to loclc my door, I found the lock broken -- this fact 

seemed to add to my conjectures. I then placed my pistol and knife 

under my pillow and laid down, but not to sleep. It would have been 

impossible for me to sleep under such surroundings as I felt I had 

that night. I laid and tossed and groaned until about 11 o'clock. 

Then I heard footsteps approaching the house and I supposed it was 

Wallace coming to kill me. Great drops of sweat covered my body when I 

distinctly heard two men enter into the hall below and go into Mrs. 

Wallace' s room. 

They remained there about half an hour, then I heard footsteps 

ascending the stairs. When they came opposite my room they stopped 

and talked in a low whisper. I laid still with my hand on my pistol, 

intending to sell my life as dearly as possible; but I determined to 

wait for some demonstration on the part of my assailants. After a 

little, one of the men gently opened the door and walked easily to the 

bureau on the opposite side of the room and opened a drawer and taking 

out some papers nade his way out, and down stairs as steal thly as he 

had entered. I was now relieved, I could breathe freely. I went to 



sleep in an hour or so and slept soundly till morningo At greakfast, 

Mr. Wallace explained his coming into my room. He was after papers to 64 

a settlement with the nan who was with him and wanted to settle 

· ht th t t t 1 · c··~~Jl.',D. n1g as · e man mus s ar very ear y next morning. 1,~ ~"'""-"1Y 

(Note) This man with Mr. Wallace was an officer and was in pur-~ ~ 
suit of a man who was fleeing from the country to avoid ~ 
paying a debt due to IV['. Wallace, and lvlr. Wallace came 1{_~ 
into my room to get papers, showing the fugitive's in-
debtedness, on which his arrest could be made. 

This case shows how important it is to be certain that he.:r,m is 

intended before we commence shooting. We cannot always be safe in 

going by appearances. I was treated very kindly by Mr. & Mrs. Wallace 

and after paying a reasonable bill, I bid them farewell and resumed my 

Journey over the memorable Sand Mountain and on to John Ross' s, five 

miles from Ross' s Landing (now Chattanooga). Mr. Ross had moved over 

on the Tennessee side preparatory to moving to the Indian territory. 

I followed on to his new home as I was compelled to see him. John Ross 

was Principal Chief of the Cherokee Nation. When I arrived at his 

house, I was informed by his wife that he was not at home but would be 

home that night and I waited his returno When he ca.mo, John Howard 

Payne was with him. Ross and Payne were fast friends and visited each 

other whenever they could rrake it convenient. Mr. Ross paid me next 

morning the money he owed for fl our and I took my lea. ve of the two 

gentlemen I found to be sociable and friendly, 

Some time afterward, I learned from the newspapers the following: 

The night after I left the Chief's house, two Federal officers came and 

arrested both Ross and Payne and took them to Milledgeville, Georiga, 

i/£/. 
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to place them in jail. (I never could learn on what charges they were 65 

arrested.) As they were all four traveling along horseback in the 

doleful dark night, in a light drizzling rain, one of the officers 

was riding by the side of Ross, the other with Payne. They were tired, 

worn out and sleepy. Payne to pass away the time, commenced singing 

"Home Sweet Home" and, of course, he could sing it as no one else could, 

and especially undel" the circumstances he was then placed. When he 

finished, the officer riding by his side was weeping and said "Who com­

posed that song1", and Payne answered "I did". The officer said, "the 

man who can compose such a song as that shall not go into Milledgeville 

jail if I can prevent it". And owing to that officers influence, both 

prisoners wel"e released at once and returned home with the officers. 

From Chief Ross I s, I came to the old Cherokee Agency at Calhoun, 

now Charleston, Tennessee and made some collections there and in that 

vicinity; and out on Ocoee River; and then started for Jonesboro 

my home "Home sweet home, there ls no place like home". When I 

arrived at Jonesboro, I was much worried and overworked by my long, hot 

horseback journey with all of its excitement, I paid over the money I 

had collected to my employers, amounting to several thousand dollars, 

and related my hair bredth escapes from murderers and robbers and re­

ceived from them their thanks and many words of encouragement, which 

did me much good, It sends a thrill of joy through the "inner man" t~ - :J.-1-.v 
know that through much labor and danger, I had rendered satisfaction.~) 

This was in 1837. The money panic of that year, which is a part of the 66 

history of the country v,ell remembered, especially by all business men, 
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·caused my Uncle to :ir•e:l;inquish the idea of going into the mercantile 

business and, therefore, I quit clerl<ing and entered school at Jones­

boro under the tuition of Robel•t McLin, an excellent man, and good 

teacher. 

SI. 

I boarded with my Uncle o.nd Aunt Gibson. Besides my cousin David 

Jobe Gibson, I had many estimable school and classmates. The school ~'6~ 1o 
~~ 

was made up of the best and most moral young men it was ever my fortun ~ a::1---

to become acquainted with. When memory carries me back to those happy ~ 
days of innocent amusement when out of school, and 

advance in our studies when in school, I l<now they 

honest endeavor to · · · ~ 

RM.111~~) 
were my happiest 

days. My Aunt Phoebe Gibson was a model of a woman; I loved her like 

a mother. She took the same interest in my welfare as she did in that 

of David, her only child. 

The moral excellence of our immediate neighborhood one mile and 

a half below Jonesboro had an excellent effect upon my conduct and 

deportment; just at an age when everyone is forming a character and 

beginning to lay the foundation for a life of happiness and usefulness, 

~ the opposite, a life of misery and disgrace, 

I will, with love and reverence, ever remember the wholesome and 

impressive advice given me by my dear Aunt Gibson who never ceased her 67 

care and kind offices as long as she lived. She was a plain out-spoken 

woman with no affectation, In a word -- she Uved to make the world 

better by reason of her living in it. The community in which she lived 

lost much when she died. 



(Note) April 17th, 1904. I want to add more to what I have 
said in regard to my dear Aunt Phoebe Gibson. I 
regard her as being the very best, the most truthful, 
most honest, unselfish, bold and determined woman I 
ever knew. And I knew her well and for a long time, 
many years. She was a Baptist in sentiment, but 
never became a member of any church. But she was the 
greatest wome.n I eve1• knew. 

Her only son, Dr. David J. Gibson, and I were raised up together. 

He was always, from childhood, a quiet inoffensive boy and greatly 

esteemed by all who knew him. He ·became a devout christian and died 

an exempliary member of the Presbyterian Church. He spent most of 

his professional life at Jonesboro; but a few years before he died, he 

moved to IDli~abethton, and did his last practice there. But few men 

enjoyed the confidence of the people where he lived to the extent Dr. 

Gibson did. Aunt Gibson was my father's sister. My dear departed 

llBY blessings rest upon her memory. 

After this slight digression, I will resume my account of my last 

school days. When I entered school, it was with a determination to do 

the very best I could with my opportunities. I was a few years older 

than my cousin David, but not so far advanced in our studies. I had 

not enjoyed many school advantages. My father had a large family, and 

he moved several times up to the time of which I now write. He was not 

a man of nnrnh iroans, yet he was a good manager and kept clear of debt. 

But being the second bo;v, I had to be kept from school always during 

crop time and often at other seasons. So I had a poor chance to acquire 68 

an education until I entered this school. Here I commenced the study 

of sciences and Latino I ma.de rapid progress in these branches, especi­

ally in Latin. My memory was excellent and my application was commendable. 



We had a debating society belonging to our school and I took great 

pride in engaging in all the debates. These debates attracted the at­

tention of the best people of the neighborhood, and many attended our 

weekly meetings. I had now just added Greek to my studies and my pur­

pose was to complete my education, if I could find means to do it, and 

fit myself for a profession as soon as possible. 

But I had not completed my second year in this fine school before 

an event happened which upset all my plans and caused me to quit school 

and relinquish all my fond hopes and dreams fanned by a laudable ambi­

tion, and accept an offer to embark in the mercantile business in the 

State of Georgia. The Cherokee Indians were all leaving their old 

homes in Georgia, that is the remnant that had lingered there., and leav­

ing a great deal of money in Georgia. 

My older brother, David, was still in Georgia and was clerking for 

a mercantile firm, who, after buying their second stock of goods, sud­

denly concluded to sell out at wholesale on very favorable terms, and 

my brother was anxious to purchase them, but was not able to do so without 

a partner. So he came to Jonesboro toss if I would enter into co­

partnership with him and buy the large 1 ot of goods. The picture he 

drew of our future financial prospects was very flattering indeed, and 

had indisputable facts to support his theory. He had been in business 

long· enough to know there was big money in it. 

I accepted his offer and borrowed the money that my Uncle Abraham 

Jobe intended investing in the business, had it not been for the money 

panic in 1837. I gave as security for this money my brother and my 
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hther, and as our business was prosperous, we paid every dollar with 

interest by the time the first note was due. I bade my friends in 
.' ,' 

a reluctant "farewell", and made my way to Georgia, in 

Fobruary, 1839. 

I regret that I have failed to keep dates as I hurried 
along in giving this sketch, and I know that apologies 
will do no good now, to say that in my old age - now 
nearly 87 - I can't be expected to make amens for what . 
I should have done earlier in life{'?o-1'1 ~ YVup~bf~ 

~ ~-~ ·~ ~ 
Tho new mercantile business of A & D Jobe. We opened our new~. 70 

business neo.r where Ringgold now stands, under the firm name of A & [J~ 4-b) 
J'obo on the 20th day of February 1839. In addition to the great ¾J. ~-

-~ -t 'f.loUl., . 
tli,Ount of money left in the country on account of the removal ofi the~-~ 

Indians, the survey of the Western & Atlantic Railroad was already ~Uf _flt,. 
9-.6. t<)cVt-

OOllllll8nced and was pushed steadily to completion. ew ~. t..if-. ~. 

As it was entirely a State road, there was no lack of money to 

Our location on this road and though we were careful to 

no,t take contracts fo1• work on the road, we were not careful enough about 

solling goods on credit to contractors. We lost money by selling to 

t4ovoro.l of them, al though our rule was to only wait a month - from 

uUnntes to estimates. 

of us would attend at the county seat (Lafayette) where con­

were paid off to get our money. Some times we got and some­

we didn1 to In those days, selling goods on a credit was the 

the day. Every merchant sold on a credit I and it was tempting 

;\for business was brisk and profits good. Our stock was full and every-
:,., .~ .1, :, < 

be making money, and we had no time to think about any­

sell all the goods we could. 



WfAl\l!JSCRIPT 
SECTION 103 9 

We did a large business. We took in a large amount of money, but 

we sold entirely too flD..lCh on a credit before we had time to see what 

we were doing. 11 We had entirely too much confidence in mankind". We 

were like nearly everybody else, we had to learn this lesson by ex­

perience. The old saying is true, 11 experience teaches a dear school, 

but fools will learn in no other 11 • 

We even sold sugar and coffee and other groceries on a credit -

often these favors were generally to those in whom we had the utmost 

confidence. In 1841, the bankrupt law was passed and n-any of the 

custoirors who owed us rushed unto its embraces with eagerness, thus 

robbing us of our dues. When they could in numerous instances have 

paid us with the fee it cost them to get through the court of bank­

ruptcy. Our intimate friend, Jesse G. Blackwell, took the benefit of 

the lav,, owing us ~~1,343. 50 besides interest. In this case, we took 

it to the Supreme Court of the United States, and we lost it there. 

This man Blackv,ell was a prominent man well thought of and mwried a 

woman with a fortune about the time the suit was tried. 

A Presbyterian preacher, after buying all the goods to supply his 

family for two yearij including groceries, rather than pay the debt, ha 

made his land over to his infant son, but we followed the case from 

court to court until he compromised the suit by selling us the farm. 72 

The n·ext bad luck we had was in this. Arter the passage of this 

infamous law, we determined to sell out and move to 'I'exas. \i/e collocted 

over seven thousand dollars, all the money we could (several thousand 

dollars) to purchase lands in Texas, and my brother went the1•e for that 



purpose and on his way, at New Orleans, learning that our paper money 

would be worthless to him in Texas, he gave seven percent in exchange 

ror gold. 

When he arrived by steamer at the City of Houston, Texas, he gave 

his money in charge of the hotal keeper to put in his safe while he 

would go out and buy a horse, saddle and bridle to explore the countryo 

He was gone two hom•s and when he asked for his money, every dollar 

was gono. He had barely enough money buckled around him to bring him 

back home. He consulted a lawyer about holding the hotel keeper respon­

sible for the money, but he advised him to not try it, saying he would 

!ail and then the hotel rrnn would arrest him for false imprisonment, 

and in the excitement, his friends would get up - it might cost him 

his life. Brother believed the lawyei• was particepts criminis in the 

transaction. This was in 1840. Then Texas was very wild and strangers 

were not very safe there with money. Of course, he did not like Texas 73 

as society was then constituted. He traveled a. little over the country 

and returned home, taking all his friends by surprise at his early 

return. 

It was agreed between us that while David VJas gone to Texas, that 

in order to save a debt of $600. due us from Fred Cox, one of our 

customers, that I would (at Mr. Cox's request) ta.lee a power of attorney 

and go to Florida. and sell a piece of land he owned there and apply the 

proceeds of the sale to the payment of our note, and pay for my trip, 

covering my expenses, etc. 

Cox delivered to me two letters, purporting to have been written 



by one Seaborn J. Hall, stating that he would give one thousand dollars, 

cash down, or twelve hundn:ed dollars in twelve months with interest from 

date for tho land. If anything was rermining after paying the note, and 

for my time, expenses, etc., I was to pay it to Cox on my return. 

I had a very hard trip as there were no railroads in Georgia then. 

I started June 15th, 1840, on horseback; but after traveling about 150 

miles, I hurt my horse's back so badly, I had to hire a sulkey for the 

re~inder of the journey. After a long, hot~ fatiguing journey through 

.swamps and hammocks, I at last reached the section in which the land 

\',was said to be located. I hunted up Mr. Dannard who it was said lmew 

more about the lands than any other citizen. I hired him to hunt up 

llir. Cox's land. After four days constant work, we found the land near 74 

the State line between Georgia and Florida, but could find no man 

answering to the name of Seaborn J. Ha11 11 • The oldest settlers in that 

country avered that no such man had eve1• been lmown there. It then 

flashed over mo that the letters I had in my pocket were forgeries and 

this was part of his scheme to rid himself of paying the money he owed 

us, He knew my brother had gone to Texas and if he could manage to 

get too out of the country; and he could sell his property at Crossraine, 

and as he had no family, he could rrake it convenient to be "Non est 

f O 1... , , 11. o ... :. , . 1, " .. ~ D ~- . -1-a.. . , 
inventus" when we returned. l~ l"-'f>'"'l,V ~J J 

The land was very level and covered so thickly with fine pine 

timber that a wagon could hardly have room to pass through it. The 

country then was sparcely settled and so much land being offered for 

sale, I could get no offer for it; so I had to turn my face homeward, 



without accompli$hing anythingo 

In roaming over the country hunting up this land, my friend, 

Dennard, showed me the spot to which he piloted the militia a few years 

before to kill and capture a band of Creek Indians who had-robbed and 

burnt a tower near to the Georgia state line. He conducted the army 

through a hammock or swamp to where they were encamped on a promontory. 

Several Indians had come down to the water and were bathing when they 

fired on them, killing several the first volley. 75 

There was a great deal of game in that country, such as deer, 

bear, raccoons, wild cats, catamounts, etc. Mr. Dennard told roo of a 

boy having been killed near him by a catamount about a year before I 

was there. The little fellow had gone alone after the milk cows in the 

evening and was caught by the animal, and before his cries could bring 

help, it had torn the boys bowels out with its claws. 

The bears were troublesome by destroying their crops of corn in 

the field in the fall. 1'he farmers killed a great many of them by 

sharpening the ends of strong sticks and driving them firmly in the 

ground with the sharp end up, inside the field where they jumped over, 

and they would light on the sharp points and the sticks would run through 

them and kill them. So not being able to sell the land, I turned my 

sorrow stricken face homeward. If I had been fortunate enough to have 

a train to bring me back as I could if it were now, I might have reached 

home without coming so near losing my life as I did by riding so far 

in the heat and dust in June and July. 

After I had returned to within about two hundred miles of home, 



· I was te.lrnn sick with fever among strangers. I had not read medicine 

then, and it was 7 miles from where I lay sick in Jaclrnon County, Georgia 

to the nearest town where I could send for a doctor• He came in the 

night and gave me soroo medicine. Next morning I was no better. I aslrnd 

him what was the matter with me and he said I had been exposed and had 

taken cold, and I would be better in a few days. I said, 11 Doctor, don't 

you think I have fever? 11 and he said 11No". He said, 11 If you are no bet-

ter in a few days, send to town and I will come to see you again". I said, 

11 No, I will not send. Go into Esq. Rogers' room and he will pay you for 
. (-~ kl-P.h..-- u.::t u..-., - R -\ 

your bill for this visit". 1- D - - - (T ~-1 76 

(Note) It was in this neighborhood I hired Mr. ITippison and buggy 
to finish the _balance of my trip after hurting my horse's 
back. 

I had read some in Dr. Gunn' s book and I hired a young man to take 

my horse and hunt the country over for Dr. Gunn' s book and on the second 

day out, he returned with the booko I laid there and read till I found 

the description of billious remittent fever, and I found my symptoms 

filled the bill exactly. I sent to town and bought the medicines Gunn 

proscribed for billious fever, and I made myself my own doctor. None of 

my neighbors knew anything about diseases or what treatment to resort to, 

but they were kind and ready at any time to come e.nd sci.t up with me and 

do all they could for me. I had a very hard and serious attack. 

Thomas Shockley, whose residence was only half a mile away, was 

particularly kind; he was with me at least every other night while I 

lay at Esq. Rogers. He came to my bedside at about midnight during the 

second weel< of my confinement and said, 11You are a very sicl<:: ITBn and 



Esq. Rogers and wife are willing to do all for you they can, but they 

are old and worked down. Would you risk being moved over to my house 

1f I will come for you tomorrow with my carriage with a bed in it 7 I 

have a wife and three grown daughters, all in good health, and they are 

able to give you the best attention. 11 I told him I would gladly go and 

thanked him for his kindness, besides paying him and his family for all 77 

they did for me. 

(Note) Thomas Shockley with his wife and three daughters did 
much for me in my long and severe spell of fever. My 
heart, with the warmest affection, has followed them to 
Texas. Old as I am now, 87, I wish I could meet them 
once more here and then again in a better world above. 
March 3rd, 1905. 

He would not hear to taking a cent. He said he did not propose 

taking me to his house to charge me for it; but he did it to save my 

life, which he feared was in great pel'il without the best of ca.re. 

Mr. Shockey came the next day with his carriage and driver and with 

every comfort that kindness could suggest, and to nalrn the drive 

smoother, he took me through his wheat field where the hands were 

harvesting, on to a comfortable room in his hospitable home. He soon 

suggested sending for Dr. Long, a friend of his who he promised me would 

give my case all the attention required, and assuring me that I would 

be better pleased with him than I was with my first doctor, whose name 

I have forgotten. 

Under Dr. Long's treatment, I soon got better and with the un­

remitting care of Mrs. Shockley and her daughters, I gradually gained 

strength enough to dit up and after a while ventured to walk out into 

the yard. 

(p () , 



I had now been confined here a month and had not written a line to 

inform thorn o.t home where I was and what was the rrntter. At this juncture, 

Mr. Horton, a neighbor fr om up the country, was passing about 10 miles 

o.wa.y, and hearing there was a man of my name being sick on another road, 

he ca.me by to see me. I begged him to not tell my people that I was 

sick, but he feared I might never get home and he told them of my condi­

tion when, he reached home. He said he deemed it his duty o 

In the meantime, my brother had returned from Texas, withouJ one 

dollar in his pocket - out of over seven thousand that he left with. 

I was s'l;Ul at Shockleys beyond the Chattahoochee River. 

While sitting one day in the yard under a beautiful shade tree 

thinking about "home sweet home 11 , and the rapidly changing events in 

life, I looked down the long lane that led to Wu•. Shockleys barn, and 

ootton gin, to the main road, and I saw someone coming in a covered 

carriage, drawn by a large sorrel horse with a white face and, al though 

a quarter of a mile away, I felt sure it was 11 Dick 11 , our trusty buggy 

hOrse, and sure enough it was, with my brother) who I thought was in 

Texas buJring lands for us to move t~ as driver. 

I was now barely able to ride out in a carriage. Brother said 

nothing to me that evening about his misadventures, but next day we 

rode out to test my strength for our return trip, and as we rode along 

I recounted to him my hardships in my trip and perils in my sickness, 

and wound up by telling him all that risk of life, hardship and suffering, 

and the money spent was all for nothing; that I had met with nothing but 

one disaster after another ever since I left home. 

~I, 
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I remember he rode on for some minutes without speaking. I have 79 

thought no one could describe his feelings during those few moments. 

Like a dream mis mind was rapidly taking in the months and yea.rs of 

toil, the care, and economy, and self denial that this money had cost 

us- that had been talrnn from us - by no fault of ours, while, in fact, 

we were exerting ourselves for our best interest and both of us risking 

our lives. And when we saw that by proper investment, notwithstanding 

om• losses by the bankrupt law, we could place ourselves in easy cir­

cumstances, than to have it swept away in a day, it was hard to bear. 

He then commenced his doleful tale a.bout the loss of his money in 

Texas, which I have named before. By the time he concluded, I being 

sick and so weak was completely overcome, and we both took a hearty cry, 

which, with the resolves we both made immediately after, did us both 

good. This was all we could hope to get out of that investment of 
(£>~ · 4 cJu,-.b011.,- · lo-,~.) 

thousands. · ·- ~~ \ ~ ~ -·""" -····--r- 'fY 
The next day or the day after, we started home. It has been over 

50 years since I left the hospitable home of Thomas Shockley and his 

dear family and if I could live 50 years more, nothing could ever blot 

from my memory their kindness and affection. Those affectionate hands 

put everything into the carriage that they thought we could possibly 

need on our trip home. Every dainty in the way of ea.ting. My clothes 

clean and nicely done up. Extra socks, handkerchiefs, etc. 

'tor (Note) DuPing the war of the rebellion, Col. Winn, whose home 
was near Thomas Shockleys, was at Elizabethton with his 
regiment just after the bridges were burned and I tried 
to find some of tho Shockleys so I could do something 
for them, but found they had moved to Texas. 

80 

~~, i. 



I had plenty of money to pay a good bill and requested Mr, Shockleys 

to rtake out a. bill but he would not hear to it a.nd I requested Mrs. 

Shockleys to ooke out a. bill with same result. When I bid her farewell, 

I roo.naged to leave $25. in bills in her hand when I shook hands with 

her - she being the last one I bid farewell. 

In crossing the Chattahoochee River on the first day of our journey, 

we had trouble which might have resulted in bad consequences. It had 

rained none where we had been, and we had no thought about the river 

being up; but seeing it was muddy, we inquired of a man whom we met if 

cu 
the river was fordible and he said it was, but we had to go down the 

river to the ford and give more time for it to rise. I traveled most 

of the time lying down on my bed in the carriage and brother did the 

driving, I told him I could sit up and drive our trusty Dick across 

the river and my brother ride my horse behind the carriage, and after 

we were over let the horse follow as before, This arrangement enabled 

him to hold the carriage if he found the river deeper than we had been 

informed. 

We had not gone more than 20 yards till we found ourselves in 

swimming water, As there was no chance to turn back, and the ford 

ranged considerably down stream, I encouraged Dick and he struck for the 

going out place and carried us across safely. The bed of· the carriage 81 

was tight as a boat and floated on the water and the horse was very 

large filling the shaves completely and was very strong, and knew just 

hOw to proceed in any emergency. So we trusted much to this valuable 

horse and persevered every day, and in about a weelc, we landed safely 
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o.t home - or more properly speaking, at our father's home - for we were 

both unrrarried. I was 23 and my brother 29. 

As soon as I recuperated a little, ·r went to see Mr. Cox, who was 

still in the country, having failed to sell his property at Crossplains 

o.s I verily believe he intended to do, and to be in parts unknown by the 

time I returned. I depicted to him the trials and dangers I had en­

countered in my long and perilous trip - all inspired by his cunning. 

I showed him a bill of my expenses and I told him that the letters he 

had given me purporting to have been written by Seaborn J. Hall were 

forgeries and that if he did not now come to time and pay me, I would 

put him in the penitentiary. He did not, nor could not, deny the 

forgery. 

He said he had nothing to pay with except his house and lot at 

Cross plains, which he had already offered to us. 11 Well, 11 I said, 

11 we will go and look at it tomorrow". Times were hard and money very 

scarce. I thought the property worth about ~~300 cash, going on the 

principle that "half a loaf is better than no bread 11
• T gave him the 

$600. note and took a deed to the property and rented it tow~. 

1/e.llory for a year and at the end of the year we sold it to Bailey for 

$1,450. Everybody said we had made a good sale but we made a great 

deal worse trade than when we bought it, for one of the Depots on the 

\Ve stern & Atlantic RR was located there, and in 8 months after we sold, 

a. New York man came there and bought the 160 acres tract on which our 

property stood, and paid forty thousand dollars for it, and the property 

we sold was estinated at tvlenty thousand. Now, what was then Crossplains 

(~~ ~~~~ ccl- D~>~.) 
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is.Dalton, Ga. with railroads running into it like spokes into the hub 

of a wagon wheel. 

I have missed making big money at several places just growing up 

on the line of railroads by the reason of my residence there just at the 

11 nick of time 11 affording me the opportunity, if I had enjoyed some ex­

perimental knowledge of such surroundings in time to strike. 

Just before the survey was made for the Western And Atlantic Rail­

road, and while I was living on the proposed line I was returning from 

down south, and stopped for dinner on the roadside in a thinly settled 

neighborhood. After dinner the man of the house asked me to walk out 

about a half mile to see a fine spring. While admiring the spring and 

lay of the land, which was level but land poor, sandy, blackjack and 

ohinquapin land he said 111 have fallen in love with your horse, I own 

160 acres of land here including this spring, I will make you a good title 

to the land, over for your horse. 11 I told him that would be a good trade 83 

if I needed the land and could do with out my horse but I could not part 

with him. If I had made the trade and held the land three or four years, 

I would have seen what was coming and could have easily become a millionare 

for that wonderful spot of earth is now a.bout the center of the city of 

Atlanta., Georgia. According to my view of those things if I had happened 

to have closed the trade, and in the windup of that big speculation I 

would have been vrorth a million. I am today ·convinced; by what time, 

travel a.nd experience have brought within my grasp, I would not today 

have seen as much pleasure and happiness as has fallen to my lot through 

all the toil, hardship, and affliction that I have passed. I am sat­

isfied it would have ruined my children in place of being a blessing to 



(' ,l· 

to them. 110h, the decititfulness of riches. 11 

This is a world of regrets. 

Nearly everybody is thinking, 11 0h, if I had only done this 01• that, 

or, if I had only let this thing or that alone. Most of us aro prepared 

to join my unknown best in the following lines. 

11 Mourn O I er the days that I have seen, 

Mourn o I er my hours from anguish free, 

And know vhatave~ I have been, 

1 Tis something better not to be. '1 

Then another of the forgotten poets says this: 

11How many ways there are to sin, 

No living mortal knows, 

Some lie in the ditch, spoil, 

Or ye can lie tumbling in the mire, 

Some, though they shun the frying pan, 

Do leap.into the fire." 

It is impossible for me to do more, in writing this short ~ - and im- 84 

porfeot sketch, than to give a. few incidents and happenings which left 

an impression on my mind, to the exclusion perhaps of hundreds of things 

of even more importance, that have escaped my memory. I write in such 

a hurry and under such uncomfortable circumstances, th'.l.t I am aware of 

mny imperfections. I am pressed for time to such an extent that I can 

write but a few moments generally, then am called away for hours and some­

times for days and even have been months that I have never attempted to 

resume writing. Unde1• such circumstances, I cannot remember what I have 



written until I review it. I can pay no attention to style. I must 

use the ~lainest and simpl{e st language I can think of to express my 

manning, Indeed, I did always abom:i.nate style. I think I can truth­

fully say "I couldn't if I would and I wouldn't if I could" o 

War Reminiscences 

I will relate one more incident connected with my Indian Experiences. 

I have mentioned before about the troubles the Government had in in-

ducing oony of the Creeks to remove to the Indian territory and after 

they had sold their homes in Alabama and received their money, some 

of them attempted to make their way through Georgia. and go to the 

Seminoles in Florida. '£he name Seminole means "runaway Creek", This 85 

influx of Cree.ks into Florida stirred up the Seminoles just like a 

grant addition of a foreign element among us Ame1°icans as has been 

demonstrated here within the last few months. 

(Note) Raising a cavalry company for Florida War under my old 
Commander, General Nelson. 

These Seminoles, with this Creek contingent from Alabama committed 

eo rmny depreda.ti ons along the line between Alabama and Georgia and 

Florida, that in 1840 the general government called out troops to hunt 

Florida hammocks and convey them to the Indian territory. 

My old commander, General C. H. Nelson, got a commission to raise 

,'·& brigade, and he sent me a commission to raise a captains company of 

Ours was to be a cavalry company. We had full. 

·1, 

to rendeyous, how to equip our men and were required 

take into the service two blood-hounds for each company. I got a 

my place in the store and went to work at once to organize 

company. I soon had a hundred stout, able bodied men; mostly young 



.men to volunteer for the service. 

Notwithstanding my instructions to buy no horses, except on con­

dition that om• company was received, several did buy horses and other 

articles of outfit for the campaign. I remember that in 1836 there was 

euoh a rush to ~et into the service that all the volunteered could not 

be received; and so it was with this brigade. When General Nelson heard 

from headquarters that it was doubtful about getting his brigade into 

service, he sent Dr. Bake1• on horseback to Washington to see the Presi-

dent (Mlrtin Van Buren) and when I heard that Dr. Baker had returned, 86 

I nnde a trip down the country to see General Nelson and spent one night 

at his home. co~~ ~) 
General Nelson told me that he could be received into service with a 

Major's command, but if he could not go in under his commission as a 

general in the same capacity he had served under before, he would not 

take sorvice at all. So he gave us all orders to disband our companies. 

So I did not get to participate in the F-lorida War. 

I came on home from General Nelson's and called my company together 

on tho Chickamauga, about where the heaviest and most sanguinary part of 

-l 
the first days fighting was done in the memorable War of the Revellion -

often called 11 the ~ days carnage on Chickamauga 11 • These grounds, 

with their hills, and streams, have an interest for me. I have traveled 

over this battleground on both Chickamauga twice since the War. It was 

here at the gap of 11 White Oal( Mountain 11, or by some called 11 Dick Taylor's 

R1dge 11 that my father settle0.}when he moved from Alabama. 



The first days fight was commenced by General Pat Cleburne immediately 

over father's house. The family had to 

house was riddled with cannon balls and 

take refuge in the cellar. The 
(f~~b1'\..J·-f~ 

minis balls. W-~ ~-dv.-u_, 

(Note) Retired from the mercantile business and commenced 
~) 

readihg medicine 

This brings me to the last chapter of my citizenship in the State 

of Georgia, and I want to In9.ke it a kind of review from the time I ac­

cepted the offer of my brother to go into the mercantile business, to 

the day I left Georgia after the dissolution of our co-partnership, 

which occurred in November, 1841. We dissolved our partnership by 

lll.ltual consent and with the most cordial and friendly and affectionate 

feelings. I can say that during the whole course of our large business, 

and through our trials and reverses and bad faith and unkindness shown 

us from both our enemies and those we had believed our friends, no hard 

thoughts had ever entered our breast toward each othero 

As I write not for publication, but for my children and grand­

children and intimate friends who have often requested me to leave for 

them some sketch of my travels; I think it important to give my opinion 

upon the influence my leaving school had upon my early life, when I 

'was forming my habits and future character. I bespeak for these lines 
•' 

reading, especially by my grandchildren, some of whom 11¥lY 

oalled to travel the same thorny path that I have had to pass over. 

It is a common thing for people in every circumstance in life to 

It was my first mistake to quit school at the critical 

into the mercantile business, not because there was no 

there was lots of money in it. But I ought to have 
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on and completed my education so successfully begun; the la.ck of 

vhioh I have felt in a hundred ways all along through my professional 88 

Ufo, I had gotten a good start in Latin & Greek and the want of a 

thorough understanding of these languages made it much harder fop one 

to study my profession, as most of the technical terms are derived 

trom those languages. 

~ The greatest loss I sustained was in. leaving my associates and 

whom I had learned to love for their moral worth and whose 

regard I have never met since. My associations with those 

JO\lllg lTl3n and pure women was making a man of me. No amount of money 

o.an pay a young man with high and noble aspirations to tear himself 

and intelligent community whose greatest pride 

character and go into a new country where all value is 

jlaoed on the almighty dollar. 

•
1 The Indians had left the country full of money, and I found in 

\brother• s store a large stock of goods, in one end of the building, 

usually found in a dry goods store; and in the 

kinds of liquors from cogniac brandy down to 

, ;t#lnes, cordials and lemon syrup. In that new country, nearly everybody 
' ' 

homed to endorse liquor selling and liquor drinking, or at least there 

to stay the tide of the great evil, If the subject 

prevailing sentiment seemed to be "Every nan was 

if any chose to drink, let him exercise his free agency. 11 

to be, in any sense "his brother's l<eeper 11
, This was a 

for me. I could not drinl, a small thimble full of brandy, 
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but they all told too I must drink some or I would have fever and ague. 

They made me an eggnog - brandy, sugar, an egg and grated nutmeg -

I could scarcely drink it at _first, but after drinking it little by 

11ttle every morning, it gave me an appetite for it at dinner and on 

further acquaintance with it, I found it was not objectionable at 

supper. It was not but a few months till I found, when riding out to 

· o.ttand to outside business, I would stop at 11Grocery 11 , as they were 

than called, to get my accustomed dram. I always preferred having a 

companion with me who also loved his d1•am. I soon found that I did not 

onjoy myself with such compo.nions as I left behind me in Tennessee; 

but I did enjoy the companionship of the more lively and witty newly 

I even thought I had foolishly been denying m3rself of 

of life by tieing myself down with these "goody, 

goody fellows" who didn't know enough of the world to enjoy good health, 

:as some of these fast young men would say. As I gave up and yielded to 

these allurements, the circle of my newly made friends increased. 

Maberry \'/hi te, a good, jovial, companionable fellow, a contractor 

& Atlantic Railroad did more to lead me a.st.ray than any- 90 

often stay with me at the store. He taught me how to 

amusement at first, then to play little simple games with 

whom he was a favorite. After a while, he would bet 

bottle of lemon syrup to make the game more interesting. This went 

an expert card player. White believed we could beat 

J'Dl two that could be pitted against us. So one night at an estimate 

t Lafayette, White came to my hotel and after much persuasion induced 
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me to become his partner and play that night against two noted gamblers 

who followed the railroad and gambled all the time. 

We played all night with varying success and in the morning when 

we con?luded to stop, they had won ~i;10. from us. White propsed that 

he and I would play one game to see who should pay the $10., and he 

beat me. I threw down the money and White said, 11 Talce it up, I will 

pay it. I want that amount of goods in your store 11 • So when we reached 

home I paid him $10. in delph ware for his hands at their shanties. I .,....__,_ 

said then and there that I was done card playing and I quit forever. 

When I review that part of my life, selling goods and debauching 

the business selling liquor, and becoming intoxicated three times dur-

ing three years, I feel that if I could call back that three yea.rs of 91 

worse than misspent time, I would have nothing to regret. The drinking 

Of liquor and bad associations led me into other .habits, and thus caused 

all the heartaches I ever had to endure. 

I often think of the great contra.ct in the opportunities young men 

have now, and my want of opportunity then. The conscience of the nation 

is a.roused on the subject of putting down that monstrous curse that is 

lea.ding the people to perdition, and they have line upon line, and 

precept upon precept. But what were my surroundings? In that new 

country - a good field for Missionaries, no one came to mo and pled 

with me to give up my business and leave my associates and go back to 

11 the friends I left behind me 11
• 

In this extremity a luminous ray of light shown upon ~' and I 

could see if I dj_d not retrace my steps, quit at ~ drinking liquor, 



cit, only that, but handling it, for this sentence kept sounding in my 
,,'., ' -----"" -
.uo, 11 Touch not, taste not, handle not the unclean thing". When I got 

:, ' 

to that, I felt that to be safe, Imust give up my late 

, ,I now began to think of what course I would take to try and re-

11The star of empire is westward" is the old idea. 

great mass of mankind moves in that direction and I have shown that 

has been turned toward the s_etting sun, but as far as the, experi­

there was nothing in that direction to give IOO encouragement. 

slnce has been confirmed in my mind, and that 

much difference in countries, all things con-

73, 

fldtred, as most people suppose. The great difference in the prosperity 92 

people, in their industry, perseverance and 
· .. ,': 

·:•nagement, and not in the country. After traveling ,oval" twenty states 

five of them, I can say that I have seen man 

to.roll in all of them, and others, with equally as good surroundings 
~<·, . 

~dv&ntages, do no good. I thought a great deal on what I should, or 

·:~,\her what I could do; and decided to, literally "retrace my steps" o •• 

and tired friends in Tennessee. 

Most men in meeting with the reverses that we had, the loss of so 

i~ money by robbery in Texas, my unsuccessful trip to Florida, and our 

1.~go losses by our debtors taking the benefit of the bankrupt law, would 

discouraged they would have given up all hope. However, we 

to be ruined by our sad misfortunes, but we were determined 

our dearly bought experience and renew our labor and energy, 

';ii~ adopt the La.tin M:1.xim - "Labor Vinci t Omnie. 11 (Labor conqulirs all 

~1 .. q~ ... ~ -~. ~ -~ <tt ~~ - - . , 
.' f~ id-- r~, ·111 t... l'v\.l\M¼<f ~ ~ -t --'l(ll-r%1 J-



My brother was a first rate business man, greatly my superior, he 

was my senior by 5 years and had more experience. In setting up the 

business of the firm of A & D Jobe when I determined to read medicine, 

I turned over everything to the senior partner; retaining as my share 

of what we calculated would remain of 11 the wreck 11 , only a piece of land 

on Chickamauga near to where Chattanooga now stands. This lot consisted 

of 40 acres of Chickamauga bottom as rich and as level as could be. In 93 

after yea.rs, I sold this land for ~~400., worth a.t this time I guess 

about $20,000. Brother settled up and paid every dollar the firm owed, 

dollar for dollar. 

As I have given an unsolicitated endorsement to my brother's quali­

fications as a business ln'ln, saying he was greatly my superior in that 

regard, it is due to truth to say that I excelled him in self control. 

He did not have the nerve to turn his back upon his oid cronies - his 

pretended friends, and call around him substantial friends who would 

111~0~ help him in his weakness and give him that moral support 

essen~ial to every young man who is subject to so many temptations as 

the young men are just entering into business. He addressed himself. 

assiduously to winding up our business, paying off the few debts we owed, 

and collecting all he could. He quit drinking in the main, but would 

occassionally get on a "tare". He did not have the willpower to quit 

square off, as I did, and denounce the traffic as a sin as I did boldly. 

He married in Georgia and after a few years moved to Arkansas. ~{ '>-~ 

I left Georgia in November, 1841, and commenced reading medicine~~)' 

with Dr. Samuel B. Cunningham at his office in Jonesboro. I 1mde com 

mendable progress from the commencement of my reading and recited once / 
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a week to Dr. Cunningham at his office. I boarded _with my Uncle A. Jobe 

7 miles from Jonesboro (Johnson City, now). There was a rush into the 

profession about that time when I began reading. There were 13 students 

at one time. We had fine facilities for becoming perfect in anatomy, 94 

for we had subjects to dissect every winter, whenever we wanted one. 

(Note) The Legislature had passed a law at Nashville against 
doctors dissecting subjects, but it was so unpopular that 
it could not be enforced. While I was reading a Negro 
was lynched at Greeneville for lcilling his rnaster. A 
crowd of us went to see him hung and brought him that 
night to Jonesboro and vie had his body there for many 
weeks dissecting night and day. Circuit Court was in 
session during the time, and Judge Lucky and the lawyers, 
at our request, came to the large brick house on Main 
Street to witness the demonstrations and explanations 
of all the parts at the close of our dissection. 

I read with Dr. Cunningham two years. The last few months I practiced 

with him. In fact, from my beginning to read, I often rode out with him 

to witness and assist him in surgical operations. He was a splendid 

surgeon and enjoyed the confidence of the profession, and of the people, 

as but few practi'tioners in the state did. 

When I was through reading and wanted a location, then came the rub. 

So nnny men had read the course and wanted a field or location in which 

to try their hand, it was hard to find a good location. To add to my 

discomfort in this trying crisis, t.he only available means I had was my 

profession, my Horse, bridle and saddle, and $2.50 cash. I held a note 

on John Stephens in Knox County for one hundred and fifty dollars in gold, 

but I had promised to pay that gold to Dr. Cunningham for my tuition. It 

is true I owned the 40 acres of land near Chattanooga, but it was not 

available at that time. 



I was obliged to find a location, and for lack of money, I could 

not go to some large town where all would be strangers; therefore, I 

was compelled to hide myself away in some little obscure vHlage and try 

to build up a practice. So I went to Burnsville, Yancey County, North 

Carolina, where I knew no one. I looked around a little - I regarded 

it as a poor chance •. I lrnew I was not in a condition to be very choicey. 95 

I made arrangements for board and returned to Jonesboro, and borrowed 

a few medical books and a small stock of medicines (there being no drug 

store in Burnsville). I put this outfit into a "carry all" with my 

saddle and saddle pockets, and started by way of the "Flag Ponds 11 to 

Burnsville, July, 1843. 

I had not been located in my quiet secluded room at the hotel a 

week until Dr. Straley, the only physician doing practice there, com­

menced his warfare against me. I could not tell why he did it for I 

was as yet getting no practice. For months I only got three calls a 

day and they were to breakfast, dinner and supper. 

I soon paid out my $2.50 for postage. Letters at that time were 

paid for at the office of delivery. Letters were 12½- cents a piece, 

mattered not what distance, and postage was never paid at the mailing 

office. I was, of course, getting in debt for my horse as well as my­

self had to eat. This state of things moved on for about three months. 

Dr. Cunningham had told me if I could barely make expenses the first 

year I would do well; but it looked like I was not going to "do the thing 

up brown". After a while, by exercising the patience of Jobe, I got a 

few calls and the families were satisfied with my practice, in spite of 
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all Dr. Straley could say about me. 

About this time, sickness began to increase in the county, and my 

calls came thick and fast uritil I had all the practice I could attend to. 

From that time till I left there, I did nearly all the practice. Straley's 

·practice fell off until he became so discouraged he sold out and moved to 

Cleveland, Tennessee. I defrayed all expenses and made ~~500. in cash the 

first year. I did a great deal of hard practice during 1843 and 1844 in 

Yancey County. This countJ::\Y was M.lly, mountainous and rough. There were~ 

a few very intelligent, well-to-do families in the bounds of my practice, 

but the irojori ty of the citizens had no experience with sickness and had 

never had occasion to employ doctors. They knew nothing about doctor 

bills and that class had peculiar views about these things. Most of them 

believed it would be right to pay a doctor for his time as you would 

expect to pay a farm hand - say, fifty or seventy-five cents a day. I 

have had through my long professional life, but li t".;le trouble with this 

class, and I want to say here that I never charged an exjiorbitant bill 

in my life; however, a few of my customers would think I did. 

I will detail one case where I had trouble in collecting a bill 

in Yancey County, North Carolina, and the outcome of it. 

George Young, living in Southtoe River, 8¼ miler::: from Burnsville, 

had eie;ht cases of fever in his family in the summe1• of 1844. His 

father-in-law, D1•. Lloyd, lived in his family. He was what is called 

a "self-rrade doctor, ~ is ~ doctor without reading",• He simply 

took up the practice without any preparation whatsoeve1•. 
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,:) I He had been treating the first two cases that occurred in the 

· family, the oldest son, about 20, and a Negro boy, about 8 or 10 years 

old. He had treated them about a month when Young's son-in-law, Jackson 

Gardner came for the burf'ying clothes for the negro, to Burnsville. 

Also to get me to go and see the other patient, John Young. When I 97 

reached there, old Dr. Lloyd had left in great rage because they had 

sent for me. I found John in a very dangerous condition. He had been 

treated too actively, had taken too much medicine, as the fever was of 

the Typhoid type, but I prescribed for him, of course, and did all I 

could for him, but I could not save him. 

Young then asked me to go out and see the colo1•ed boy, whose 

burying cloths Gardner had brought, saying he had no thought anything 

oould be done for him, but he wanted me to see him. On my return, I 

told him the boy was speechless and unconscious, but his pulse indi­

cated to me that it was barely possible that something might be done 

for him and that I believed in addition to his fever that he was full 

of worms. He told me to do all I could to save him. I went immediately 

to work with medicines and injections to expell the worms. I remained 

with him day and night until I no·t only succeeded in clearing him of 

the large number of worms, but also in restoring him to heal th. 

One after another of the family fell sick with fever until six more 

were prostrated. '.l'hey were all bad cases and protracted. I had to visit 

them often and sometimes in the night. One trip I made in day time, 

under peculiar circumstances, I will ever remember. Being urged by 

Gardner to ride fast, we rode from Burnsville to Young's, 8-z miles 

98 



crossing Crabtree Creek six times and Toe River once, in 40 minutes by 

my watch. 

When the battle was over and the smoke cleared away, I had the 

satisfaction of knowing I had dono my whole duty, though I had exposed 

myself so much I came near losing my life in a spell of fever. I had 

saved all of the eight cases except John, whose case was hopeless when 

I first saw him. Mr. Young was one of the suffers during the seige 

that lasted many weeks. He was very extravagant in praising me for my 

devotion and unremitting care to the sick. He spoke in the highest terms 

of me. He said I had stood by them in their distress and danger like a 

brother. That they were not up to waiting on the sick, that I had rede 

myself physician and nurse. Also he did not know what I would charge 

him, but if I charged him a thousand dollars, he would never grumble. 

All this I had proved by his brother and nephew on the trial - for I 

was compelled to sue him to collect one hundred dollars which ought to 

have been two hundred. Co. Woodfin, my attorney, told me if I would 

roo.ke it two hundred, if he did not get judgment for all of it, he would 

charge me no fee. No, I said $100. is my account and I will not charge 99 

any more. 

Young was so ambitious that after I had gotten judgment before a 

Justice of the Peace (Esquire James A. Ruble), he employed two lawyers 

and appealed the case from court to court until the principal, interest, 

oost and lawyers fees caused him to have to sell a Negi•o man to dis­

charge his indebtedness; that one hundred dollars would have paid at the 

start. 



On the 8th of August, 1844, I was married to Miss Sophrenia Poteet 

at her home in Burnsville, North Carolina. The Rev. Thomas Gibbs of­

fice.ting - only a few friends being invited. 

We continued to live in Burnsville till January, 1845; then we 

moved to Elizabethton, Tennessee, where I commenced to practice my 

profession and to encounter the fiercest opposition from Dr. Joe Powell 

that perhaps any young doctor ever had to endure from an old established 
q q - 11 :1... P ~~:"'-'. ~ )) 1i. P~e., ~ ~ ~ 

and popular practicioner. ~ oJ- 'i:.,.~. ~ v~~ 
~ ~ ~~v • 

I learned from experience that soroo profe~sional men can't stand 

honorable competition. I could not see, nor could his friends see, why 

he treated me so rudely and so unjustly. I had known him for several 

years. We had been friends. My relatives at Elizabethton had often 

employed him, and it was a surprise to them that he was unwilling for 

me to locate in Elizabethton. I called on him a few days after I ar- 100 

rived in Elizabethton, and, in what I wanted and expected to be a 

cordial and friendly interview, I said 11 D octor, I have located here, 

hoping to gradually grow up into an honorable practice. I expect you 

to get the leading practice, of course, as you are established here, 

but there will be times when you can't take all the calls and derrands 

and in this way, I may supply a want in the community. 

I would always be glad to call you in consultations and would feel 

proud if we always get on in our respective practices on the best of 

terms". 

His answer to this friendly introduction was about as follows: 

11Dr. Jobe, you have driven your pigs to a bad market. Dr. Rogan, my 
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Uncle Gaston Powell and myself will form a copartnership, and we can do 

all the business the people can pay for; of cour:se, 'you would get the 

kind of calls we would not want, and it would be doing us a favor, but 

it would starve you out 11 
o 

This reply did not set well on me, and I said, 11Well, Doctor, if 

that is your game, I will try lives with you. I intend to stay, and if 

you make )ilO. a day and I make but $1. , I wi 11 live as well as you and 

have more to show for it at the end of the year than you will. 11 Dr. 

Powell said, "That is strange arithmetic 11 • I said, "I know you well, 101 

Dr, Powell, With all ·your lack of attention to your profession and your 

lack of financial ability - with all your extravagance, 11 I said, "If 

you were to nake $20, a day you would spend !~40, That is your reputa-

tion", 

11 0n the other hand, I know I must use industry and practice 

economy; and I was raised to both; and it won't go hard with me. So 

will see in the end who starves out. 11 

From that on, for my first year in Elizabethton, Dr. Powell did 

everything fair and unfair to put me down and discourage me, He would 

consult me, nor recognize me in any oonner, not even speak to me in 

street or public road. Not the lee.st thing had occurred between us 

to cause all this, and it was a wonder to his friends why he treated me 

manner. He had no excuse to make. I had but little to say in 

myself against the abominable lies he would tell on me. 

He was an exceedingly plausible man, a fluent tall<er, and with all 

a very popular man with the people, and he had been in practice in 



Elizabethton more than 20 years. The most I could say when the people 

would tell me the things he would invent and tell on me was. that he was 

so glib with his tongue that he could make them believe a lie quicker 

than I could the truth. 

The sequel proved everything I told Powell in our unpleasant inter- 102 

view. While he was paying more attention to everything besides his pro­

fession, I was giving the due diligence to reviewine; my whole course 

and taking medical and surgical journals and in that way endeavoring 

to keep up with the advancement of the science; and was ready at all 

times to take a call, night or day, and it was not long before the calls 

came, as rrBny as I could do justice to, in spite of all the efforts of 

the "Triumvirate". 

Their efforts to ruin me only served to better purpose to advertise 

ma. As to Dr. Joe Powell, the head of the firm, who had inspired and 

concocted the scheme to drive me away and had, with impudent bravado, 

threatened to starve me out; he himself starved out in a few years. 

When he ate his su.pper at night, he did not know where his breakfast 

would come from. This condition continued for a short time, before 

he left between two days, giving no notice of his departure, and went to 

California. He left owing everybody he could. I hold a note on him, 
'D },,. fl~ ~ l.v'-a./4 CL- ~ 

executed to Arthur Ore dated in 1836.~~-~~~.t-6'~ 
ii, c.&+c~- .._._,o-~··-v-

I will not endeavor to recount my 11 ups and downs" in prosecuting my 

profession in Elizabethton. My wife and I were both poor, but full of 

courage and hope for the future. We determined to do the very best our 

circumstances would permit, and to merit success, if industry and economy 103 



I se~tled at Elizabethton in 18460 I attended to collecting 
rents and keeping up the farm, in paying my rent. 'l'he farm 
was out of order. There was no road up Doe River on my side. 
The fence was i mme dia te ly on the bank, and the public road 
was in the river from the lower end of the farm to the old 
Sammy Tipton house above where Aunt Susy 'l'ipton then lived 
and on up to the lane between me and Abraham Tipton, leading 
out to Gap Creek. While the fence stood on the bank of the 
river, footmen traveled inside my yard. One night return­
ins from a corn shucking at Sam Tipton' s they threw 11 Sheb 
King" down in the yard and ran off and left him. He was so 
drunk he could not get up and I knew h~ would freeze if not 
cared for. I carried him in. I found next day when sober 
that Sheb or Albert King was a boy of good mind. I per­
suaded him to stay v,ith me and quit drinking liquor. He 
stayed v,ith me several years. I paid him well and he did 
me good service. But fine.Uy he got above himself. He 
dressed too fine and I was gone from the house most of the 
time. M,y wife managed the farm. She usually had about 
half dozen hands and Albert managed the four at the back of 
the fa.rm in crop time. He would come in at 12 o'clock 
with hands a.nd horses and would keep them from their work 
4½ hours each day. When she reported to me, I turned to 
his act and settled with him and dismissed him. 

Uy bad luck, trials, and hardships in Georgia had taught roo much, 

The ma\i disappointments had taught n'fl a valuable 

be appropriately set forth in the good advice given 

preacher to his congregation when he said, 11 My bredren, 

not to expect much in dis world, and you san't be dis­

Many people go through their lives discontented and unh1,1ppy, 

sufficiency of this worlds goods to keep them from 

,vint, just because they expect too much. 

We located in a humble log cabin on the bank of Doe River on a farm 

forty-three ncres, o~~ed at the time by my Uncle Abrah~-1!_1 

adjoined the tov,n of Elizabethton, and is the land on 

have, thus far, been erected in the city, 



Co-Operative Town Company. I bought this 143 acres 

lt.nd from my uncle in about a year after I moved to Elizabethton, and 

built a large frame house on it. Land was low then. 

for the 143 acres and sold 51½ acres to Albert J. Tipton, 

being the land v1here John Tipton' s brick house and other 

stand, running back and taking Cam Hart and other lands now so 

I sold all that land for $772.50, being 15 dollars per acre, 
. "\)Ji.~~ 6\-4 a.) 

t.ook it all in lumber to build my house.+ ~ 

i'thile I was preparing the foundation for my house, my old preceptor,~ 

, Snmuol B, Cunningham 7 with whom I read medicine, stayed with me one 

ghh Next morning I showed him v1here I was fixing to sot my new house. 

Ol\1d 1 
11This is a beautiful situation, but you are going to set it 

You ought to set it east and west, in place of north and south, 

to give room for a street to correspond with that wide 

Doe River, for sometime not very far away in the futm•e, 

manufactm•ing city built up here and a broad street will 

valley. 

and Dr. Cunningham has been in his grave more 

till now, he could see his broad 

.tt (Elk Avenue) already graded and buildings going up on each side 

·1,t, verifying his prediction that I, no1• no one else believed at that 

on buHding my house right in the middle of Dr. Cunning­

street. I spent $2, 5000 in improvements right on that 

The most beautiful place I ever saw for a residence, 

Here where I spent so many years of contentment 



with my beloved wife, who had shared with me the dares of life, and our 

interesting children, all of whom had come to love our home. Old asso­

ciations - fond recollections, some sad, would come welling up in our 

bosoms when we were brought seriously to contemplate giving up such a 

heme, but we had all heard much and read a great deal about boom towns, 105 

and building up cities in a day, as it were, and we caught on to the 

excitement and moved on with the current, unti 1 we sold out to the Co­

Operative Town Company. 

And now while I write this part of my sketch at Elk Park, North 

Carolina on the 24th of April, 1893, the Company is using my old dwelling 

heuse as an office, 200 yards from its original location, to where they 

moved it. All the other improvements have been swept away and a fine 

ave~/1.e graded where they 01:,ce stood., It cost the company f~600. to move 

l~~fA~.cl-t:-~) 
it, 

After this digression, I will resum.e my brief account of my pro­

fessional life at Elizabethton, not assaying to give anything like a 

\}/ 

full history as I would, were there hastily written lines intended for 

publication. I don't write for publication, I dash down a few lines here 

and there along life I s pathway in a careless way to show where I I ve 

been, and what I've been doing - principally to show to my grandchildren 

hew busy I've been through life and to try to get them to emulate my 

example. 

For the first year after I commenced practice at Elizabethton, my 

practice was confined to Carter County, and mostly around Elizabethton; 

but in the second year, it began to extend into Washington, Sullivan, 



Unicoi and Johnson in Tennessee, and soon into Mitchell, Yancey and 

Watauga in North Carolina and in the course of years, I did some practice 

in Buncombe and Madison. 

The above counties enumerated covered a large territory, mountainous 

and undulating; all free from malaria. With ordinary care and attention 

to sanitary regulations, there could be no cause for sickness, outside of 

what will occur in any country from sudden changes of temperatures. 

This was the general outlook all over the region, just described. Yet 

we had some severe epidemics. The cause producing these epidemics was 106 

hard to appreciate. There is an essential difference between apidemic 

diseases and contagious diseases, but the majority of the people con-

found them. 

I believe there are but few contagious diseases, but a good 

epidemic diseases. Contagious disease is communicated by coming in 

contact with the person affected. An epidemic disease is caught by 

in contact with a peculiar atmosphere, impregnated with some 

substance ur,known to us, and which travels in the air; in dis­

where epidemics prevail. I think it impossible for anyone to tell 

Just what it is, or to define the cause for its being there. It is an 
I,.' 

invis\ble, impalpable, and intangible something that cannot be defined. 

is, 11The pestilence that walketh in darkness, and 

at noonday. And no one knows whence it cometh, or whither it 

I am well aware that a large number of wri tars of this fast 

think are trying to outrun the telegraph, are endeavoring 

to snow under this atmospheric cause of disease by calling doctors of 



old fogies, men who have practiced half a century and de­

voted their lives to the profession and learned by actual experience 

truths that are worth all the theories that were ever lrought forward 

since the days of the father of medicine. I hold that one absolute 

fact is worth a thousand theories. 

These late, extravagant writers attribute as the cause of nearly 

all diseases to Bacilli, or Microbes. And I see this monkeying with 

microbes threatens to become a popular hobby with many of the profession. 

I predict that it will have its run, just as did tho Brown-Seduard 

remedy, and sooner or later, those who are n9w so ext~ in its 

praise, be ashamed th;jever endorsed it~~(_"~~~~ 
I believe Small Pox is contagious, and I believe Typhoid Fever is 

not contagious, but maybe sporadic or epidemic, according to the con­

stituent elements of the air in which the disease prevails. Scarlet 

Fever is also an epidemic disease. 

Scarlet Fever prevailed in an epidemic form in portions of Carter 

County in the fall of 1846. I saw very few of these cases, in con-

h 
sequence of my making my first visit with my wife to see my fa.ter, mother 

' and other relatives in Georgia. We started just before it broke out, 

and we returned just before the disease had spent its force and was 

dying out. I was called to a few cases after my return. It commenced 

in the western part of the county and traveled east, up Watauga River 

to Doe River Cove. In this route, it traversed two important and 

.),I!., 
densl'ey populated valleys, with a large mountain range between them. 

And in its course, it scarcely left a house that it did not enter. 
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While it was prevailing on Stoney Creek and below, there was not a 

10 across the mountain five or six miles, and when it died out in this 

whole people in good heal th, it crossed over 

mountain and raged as furiously down the other valley. Proving to 

~nd that it traveled with the atmosphere, its cause was occult and 

'io h1ddon that mo one could account for its appearance o It a.ff ected 

}~Udron altogether and about one-third died. After this scourge of 

saw nothing more of that dreadful disease for 10 years, 

again in an epidemic form in 1856. In this last 

:t)1,dem1o, there were not as many cases nor did it spread over as much 
,., ' ' 

ittrr1 tory, but it vms even more malignant than before. In this last 
':c',"i'_'' i • 

two wonderful bright boys, Poteet and John~ 

, .. In malignant Scarlet Fever, I do not believe any treatment will 

I would be as willing to trust a child of mine laboring 

severe attack of malignant Scarlet Fever in the hands of a good 

nurse, with her simple "home remedies 11
, as they are called, 

C~f~; 
the best physician in tho town. ~ 
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Typhoid Fever made its appearance as an epidemic in May, 18490 \t' · 

Jhad Just returned from Transylvania University at Lexington, Kentuclcy, ") 

I had been practicing at Elizabethton 

prevailing fever with us h0.d been bilbous remi ttent 

is no doubt in my mind but what there had beennow and 

cases of 'Typhoid Fever in our midst,, but these ce,ses had 

treated as bil.l'ious remi ttent fever. Typhoid Fever 

Mt been recognized even by the oldest one. 



I had just enjoyed the advantages of the superb lectures of Pro­

fessor Elisha Bartlett, who had 20 years experience in Typhoid Fever at 

Lowell in Mass. and had also written a book on 'l'yphoid Fever, which had 

become a textbook in the medic&l colleges. Dr. G. 'l'. Magee had graduated 

at the same session I did, and we w01•e the only physicians in upper Ea.st 

Oa 
tJ 1 I 

Tennessee who had the advantages of Bartlett's lectures and thus quali- 109 

fied to treat that disease scientifically. 

When I got into my first cases, which was pretty soon after my 

return home, I recognized at once Dr. Bartletts Typhoid Fever, and, of 

.course, I adopted his mild treatment. I soon found my treatment differed 

t from that of all the otl10r practicionei•s, exoept Dr. Magee. They fol-

lowed the old routine practice with calomel, ipecac, quinine, etc., for 

thoy thought they were tr ea tine; their old enemy biJ/ious remi ttent fever. 

Some old doctors and good doctors did that. I refused to give a grain 

of calomel. I regarded the disease as commencing in the glands of pecer 

and brunner in the bov1els, and that calomel being an ,~rri tant would add 

to the inflammation and thus do more harm than good. 

I adopted the expectant plan of Bartlett and gave very little 

medicine, What I did give wao of the mildest l<ind. From the first of 

May, 1849, till the 25th of December, when I was tal<en down myself with 

the fever, I attended 107 cases of Typhoid Fever, besides all the other 

practice I was called on to do. I had to keep two horses, one to do 

resting and eating while I rode the other; which labor, exposure and 

especially loss of sleep was enough to l<ill an ordinary man. Many of 

these cases were scattered over four or five counties. Some of them 



from 30 to 40 miles from Elizabethton, yet I would rranage to see them as 

often as was necessary o I put down in .a blank b oak of 150 pages, the 

name of my patient in the worst cases, with all the symptoms, date of 

attack, treatment, and out of the 107 cases, I lost but 7. That book --r~r~ 
has served me a good purpose as a hand book of reference.t"~-~ 

Typhoid was the type of fever that_prevailed through all this 

· mountain country, when we had any fever at all for three years, but 

becoming milder in its attacks until it subsided entirelyo I have not 

seen a well marked case of Typhoid Fever in this region since 1853. I 

hear a great rrony docto1•s speak of treating Typhoid Fever around here, 

but when I inquire about the symptoms, I find they do not answer for 

Typhoid Fever, especially in its epidemic form. In some bad, protracted 

cases of billious remittent fever, I've seen them run into a debilitated 

stage simulating typhoid, but ·it le.eked many characteristics of epidemic 

I have noticed in all epidemic diseases the first cases are always 
t 
\, 

the worst ones and as the season passes on, the v~rulence of the disease 
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,t ' 
gradually subsides; and I think this change rakes place from a>\\atmospheric 

change more than any other cause. 

I had a very hard and protracted spell of this fever. I was taken 

sick and confined to my bed on the 25th of December, 1849 and did not 

get out for three months. I had been constantly in attendance on 'ryphoid 

patients from the first of May till the 25th of December - say 8 months -

and did not take it until the atmosphere became contaminated with it 

around my home, as was shovin by rrany cases occurring around me about 



the time I took it. Elizabethton was free from the epidemic until 

then. I think(that fact is E:trong proof of the non-contagious nature 
't W~ w- ~~ ~ F ~J 

of the fever. 

Dr. Ma.gee was my principal physician. He, of course, adopted the 

same treatment I had with all my cases. My constitution was good, al­

though I had taken a great deal of medicine for fevers previous to 

this. I had fever and ague for 18 months at a stretch while I lived 

in Georgia. After that, I scarcely ever missed a summer for several 111 

years that I did not have a spell of billious fever, and being of a 

billious habit, I prescribed calomel libe~ly. I have had several bad 

spells of billious fever and was compelled to take a good deal of 

calomel. Sometimes it would salivate me when I did not want to carry 

it that far, and again I would produce salivation on purpose. I have 

been salivated fourteen times in my life, and I am a living refutation 

to the often repeated charge against mercury - that is 11 if one is ever 

salivated, the constitution is ruined, the teeth fall out, and one is 

undone for life". I am 75-b- years old this month (April) and but few 

men of my age have a better constitution, none have better teeth, and 

have no false teeth. 

I think calomel is the best medicine that ever has been in use and 

can be used with benefit in a greater variety of cases than any medicine; 

but it is capable of doing harm, if it is injudiciously used. I place 

it in the front rank of all remedies. I think it has been the means of 

saving my life more than once. 



SURGERY 

I always loved surgery better than any branch of our profession. 

I think the principle reason that caused me to devote more time and 

thought to surgery was on account of my greatly esteemed precept, or 

Dr. Samuel B. Cunningham, being such a splendid surgeon. He had such 

good success, and being himself devoted to surgery. After a full course 

with him, I made arrangements and practiced with him a few months. He 

was by far the safest and best operator in East Tennessee. His surgical 

practice extended a long ways. I, therefore, enjoyed a splendid op-
__;r~,.-

p ortuni ty in that covi'ted field, and I availed myself of everything in 

that line that fell in my way, not only in surgery, but in every ~ind 

of cases to which he was called, and he always had all he could attend 

to. During the time I was with him, we amputated limbs, operation for 112 
0 

hernia, reducible and unreducible, li th~t~my, ta.king off fe!US\le breasts, 

etc. This experience in operative surgevy did me an immense amount of 

good. When I went into practice on my own account in Burnsville, where 

there were no surgeons for a long distance, I was compelled to rely on 

my own knowledge Of surgery, and I went right in with confidence in my­

self whenever c~ses presented themselves. 

A Short I\ccount of a Few Surgical Cases. 

I could write a common-size book detailing the many surgical opera­

tions I have performed in my long practice, but I will try to s~tisfy 

myself, if no one else, by describing very briefly only a few out of the 

mo.ny which I have performed. 

I owed it to the profession to have stopped my practice long enough 



years ago, when Professor Briggs of Nashville, Tennessee wrote me that 

he would like me to send him a statement of all the operations I had ,,.-J/ 

performed up to that date, that he v1as writing a book, combining the 

surgery of Tennessee and wanted my cases to go in it. I should have 

responded to the call, but I was too busy then and I never wrote a 

line. Aside from being busy, I always obj ectel to v1ri t~.,ng for :publi-
~ D~ ~ . 

cation, and do not now write for publication. 

After I had been practicing a few years at Elizabethton, and vfuile 

Dr. Powell was persecuting me, chance brought us together professionallu, 

and somewhat unexpectedly; and it was such a case as to require both of . 

us; to lay down, for a time at least, our past differences, and exercise 

our best skill for the relief of suffering huma.ni ty. An excellent 

Christian Iren (David Garland), 75 years old and living about midway 

between Elizabethton, Tennessee and Burnsville, North Carolina had been 

suffering for a week with strangulated hernia. I was, at the time, at 

Burnsville Court and Dr. Powell was at Elizabethton. Vie both were sent 

for without the knowledge of the other and met there at night. Next 

morning, we operated. We found twelve inches of the bowel mortified, 113 

and as black as ones hat. We cut off the mortified portion of the 

bowel, and sewed the end to the hole we had made to get to the bowel -

thus making an artificial anus. The old man had an excellent consti tu-

and the wound healed rapidly, and in this condition, he lived five 

and died with fever at the age .of 800 

Dr. Powell and I rode home at Elizabethton together finding that 

had done a good work, and R. Powell treated me better after that than 

93, 



he ever had before. Dr. H. I. Berry, then a student of Dr. Powell, was 

with us in the operation. 

(Note) David Garland was named for David Jobe, 
They thought a great deal of each other 
each other often. 

my grandfa the1•. 
and visited 

c~~) 
On the 10th of October, 1849, Elijah Bunton accidentally hit his 

brother, Andy, on the head with a 2½ pound rock, and he fell as dead 

as a beef, and lay frothing at the mouth and in an unconscious state 

until l!11ijah rode 25 miles for me, and I rode there in the night. Next 

morning, I took 30 pieces of bone from the left pereita.l and frontal 

bones. This was an interesting case in several respects. He had never 

spoken from 4 P. M. to 8 Ii. M. next morning. When I had taken out the 

first bone, with the trepan, and with the elevator raised the mass of 

fractured bones, which were pressing heavily on the brain, he opened 

his eyes and said hastily, "What are you doing?". That was the first 

wo1·d he had uttered since the injury, and from that on through the 

operation, he was conscious. I carefully removed all the fractured 

bones, and felt with my finger under the edge of the sound bone, so as 

to not leave any spiculs of bone, which somet:i.mes penetrates the brain. 

As the fracture was extensive, I had to talce several stitches in 

dressing the large wound. I had some· trouble to keep down inflammation, 

.. but he recovered in a reasonabl13 length of time, and is now living near 

where he received his injury in Johnson County, enjoying good health, 

now 44 years after the injury. 

As a singular coincidence, I will here relate what happened in 

1862 ( during the v,ar). Joe Dugger was raking straw away from a 



ground hay threshing machine. ('!'his occurpance took place in Johnson 

County, 'rennessee, within ten steps of where Andy Bunton had his skull 

brol<en with the rock). While Dugger was ralcing and rrachine ru1ming at 

full speed, a tooth flew out of the cylindel' and hit him in the center 114 

of the forehead, breaking the skull and penetratins the brain, leaving 

enouf'.,h of the tooth out for a bystander to catch hold of it and pull it 

out. 

The war was very hot at that time in East Tennes·see, and non-com-

1. 

bat'tants did not feel very safe in traveling about; therefore, it was 

hard to secure the services of a doctor. They called in Dr. Smithpater, 

the nearest doctor, VJhile the doctor was \'/ell read and a clever nen, 

he was rarely sober. On this occasion, he was barely able to ride there. 

'fo show how incompetent a drunk man is to practice surgery, it is only 

necessary to say he attended this poor sufferer six days and never found 

out that his skull was fractured. He did not even probe it, saying, 

11 T don't believe the skull is fractured, but if it is, it will get well 11
, 

At the end of the six days, they sent for me. I found him nearly ready 

to die. I was alarmed for his safety. Here vms an extensive fracture, 

with inflammation already set up in the lacerated membranes surrounding 

the brain, and brains ozzing out at the opening, where the tooth entered. 

The war had been going on long enough to prevent us from having a 

full supply of medicines, therefore, I had no chloroform. I had to 

operate without chloroform or ether. He did not bear it well. I was 

compelled to let him 1~est frequently during the operation. I finally 

aucceeded in removing 17 pieces of bone and dressed the wound as usual 



with stitches and adhesive plaster, being careful to leave free exit 

for the escape of the matter, as the healing process went slowly on. 

I had, of course, to counteract inflannnation by internal treatment as 

well as local. He had a rather slow recovery; is now, however, well and 

a prosperous farmer, living on the same place where he came near to los­

ing his lifeo (The old noted and popular Billy Bunton farm.) 

I am only going to give a few cases of prephaning out of the great 

number I have performed and what history I do give is done under the 

most unf~vorsble surroundings. 

Case of Issac Martin, (Colored) 

This was Dr. Pierce's case. Isaac Martin was a hand st Cranberry 

mines. He was knocked down on Monday morning with a heavy piece of 

seasoned wood (maple) 5 feet long and larger than a rmn's arm, by another 

stout Negro. He lay unconscious and speechless, without eating a mouth­

full or drinking a drop from Monday morning till Saturday evening. Dr. 

Pierce, his physician, said he would die, but said his skull was not 

fractured. When I was called in by the colored people Saturday evening, 

I found his skull badly fractured. I told them it had been done so long 

tho chances to save him by an operation were greatly lessened; but as 

they insisted on my doing all I could for him, I asked Dr. Pierce if he 

would assist me and ho said he would. So I telegraphed for my instru­

ments and operated next day. On my cutting down and exposing the bone, I 

found a fracture 5½ inches long, extending from the frontal to the middle 

of the occipital bone on tho left side of his head. 

Immediately on removing the pressure made upon the brain by the 
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fractured bones, he spoke for the first time in a week. I have forgotten 

the number of pieces I removed. I had to leave at once on the train for 

Elizabethton, and I left the patient for 36 hours in the hands of Dro 

Pierce, but it was such an extreme case, I felt uneasy about the result 

of the operation and a great deal depended upon the after treatment 0 

Dr. Pierce had told me he had never had any experience in surgery and 

knew nothing about it. After I left, he told the crowd who rem9,ined 

the following, which he said was his prediction - said he, 11 Dr. Jobe 

had as well to have come here with an ax in place of his surgical in­

struments and knocked this Nigger in the head, as to have taken those 

bones out - he has to die, if he was the last Nigger on earth. 11 

I returned next day and attended closely to the after treatment 

and in less than a month, I had him out at his work earning a dollar 

a day to support his family. I did this for nothing, as I did a great 

doal of my practice at Cranberry. This colored man stepped up to me 

at Johnson City the other day, and pulled off his hat and said 11You 

done that, you saved my life". 

Amputations 

The first amputation I ever took part in was to assist Dr. Cunning­

ham in taking off Mr. Sal ts leg above the knee, in Washington County, 

Tennessee in 1842. Dr. Cunningham, seeing how interested I was in 

surgery, always gave me extra advantages, and on this occasion, entrusted 

me with the duty of taking up and tieing the arteries. I well rememger, 

on tnis occasion, when he severed the femeral artery, (the turniquet not 

being quite tight enough), the blood spurted into my rnot.tlh. I could taste 
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1 t, hot and salty, and 1 t .~id not (;jfect me in the lea.st. This was my 

first handling of that ind~spensible surgical instrument called the 

tenaculum, which I have used and have used so often since. This opera-

tion was a success. 

During my reading and afterwards during the months I practiced with 

my preceptor, I assisted him in 1n9,ny operations, amputations of arms, 

legs, etc. Amputations at the shoulder joing and hip joint are diffi­

cult operations. We amputated Mrs. Shields ar.m at the shoulder joint 

at Jonesboro about the year 1842 or 1843. 

Joe Stuarts case. In the summer of 1858, 

I will here relate one amputation out of the 1n9,ny I might record, 

that was full of interest to me, then comparatively a young surgeon. 

I was spending the summer with my family at Burns?:orth Carolina, on 

account of my bad health. I was so bad off, I had to give up my prac­

tice. We had spent the summer of 1857 in Georgia at the Cherokee 

Springs. While at Burnsville, Joe Stuart, about 21 years old, got his 

foot terribly crushed between the master wheel and traveler in a 

threshing ma.chine. Dr. Crumley, then a young physician in practice at 

Burnsville, was called in, and believing he could save the foot, bound 
I 

it up and attended him six days. The weather was very warm (1st. August, 

1858). He became alarmed and sent for me. When he took the dressing 117 

off, I could smell the gangreenous odor and saw from its appearance 

every evidence of incipient mortification. To add to the horror of the 

case, there were at least my double hand full of maggots at work in the 

wound. I told the doctor his patient would die certain and very soon 



if his leg was not immediately amputated. He asked me to amputate. I 

told him I would. I had no instruments with me except my pocket case 

instruments. We sent 7 miles into the country for Dr. Whittington to 

come with his tourniquet. I went to a shoemaker and got his knife and 

to a carpenter and got histenent saw, and we placed him on a table in 

the yard. By the time we were ready to operate, the news had spread 

from town into the country, and there were more than 200 persons, men, 

women and children congregated to witness the operation. They were on 

the housetops, the windows, doors, on fences and in the streets. Most 

of them expected to see the young man die under the operation. 

We administered chloroform and I never· have seen it set so well. 

He never moved a muscle during the whole operation. If I had been 

operating on the dead subject, I could not have operated in a shorter 

time. Two gentlemen held their watches and both reported that I was 

only five minutes from the time I made the first incision until the 

dressings were all on and I ordered him removed into the house and put 
-f 

to bed. I amputated about three inches above the ankle joing. I re-

nninod in town and visited him every day until he recovered, which was 

in a reasonable time. I charged nothing for this wo:rk, as Mrs. Stuart 

was left a widow in humble ci:rcumstanceso This was in August, 1858. 

Now (May, 1898), Joe Stuart is living near to Bakersville, Mitchell 

County, North Carolina, in good health, and is getting around on his 

crutches pretty well. I saw this man in Elk Park, October 20th, 1893 -

sound and well and moving round very well. 

I am compelled to leave off a report of any more of the great 118 



number of amputations I've performed to give room for other kinds of 

operating. 

Tumors. 

_Under this head, I want to speak of malignant and nonmalignant 

tumors. The nonmalignant tumors never return after being properly 
(l 

'11,1_., . ./ 

experpated; but the scirrows, or malignant tumor will return and kill, 

it doesn't matter what you do. What are called steotomotous, or fatty 

tumors, nearly always get well if carefully operated upon. I have been 

generally successful in operating upon tumors, but I want to report one 

here in which I was not successful. 

In the year 1861, Nancy Fair of Carter County, had eight tumors 

on her head, breast and shoulders which, I believed, were rmlignant 

and I so told her and her friends. As they were growing rapidly, she 

insisted that I should take them out. She said if the operation was 

not successful, it would not rob her of many days, for she felt that 

they were killing her by inches. She said she would assume all 

responsibility. I got a half dozen other doctors to join me in this 

operation, including a student who was then reading with me. We rode 

six miles into the countryo We gave her chloroform which acted well,. 

and we had taken out three of the tumors from her head and were taking 

out the fourth one, which dipped down between the collar bone and 

shoulder blades, in dissecting it out there was considerable hemmorhage. 

The operator could not see very well and in using the necessary traction 

to bring the tumor up, though done with the greatest ease, it brought 

the subelavian vein up in the way of the knife and it was accidentally 
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cut; and it being a large vein, and no chance to get at it, she bled 119 

to death in two minutes. This was in the presence of seven doctors -

all willing to do their whole duty. If forty of the best doctors in 

the land had been present, the case would have had the same ending. 

One more unsuccessful case. Mother of Senator Pritchard of North 

Carolina. About the year 1871. Mrs. Pritchard and her little son 

George, (both at that time strangers to me) came from an adjoining 

county to get me to cut Mrs. Pritchard's breast Off. I had them to 

light and stay with me and on examination of her breast next morning, 

I frankly told her that it was my opian her disease was cancerous and, 

if I was right in my diagnosis, it would do no good to take her breast 

off. She replied that I might be mistaken in its character, and in that 

event, the operation would be a successo If it really was cancer, it 

would be only death, and to let it alone would be death very soon. So 

I consented to operate. She went to her sister• s in the neighborhood 

and took treatment for a week to prepare her system for the operation. 

I wrote to Washington County for my son-in~law, Dr. E. E. Hunter, 

to come and assist me in the operation and in the pr esenco of the local 

physician and some of the people in the neighborhood, we took the breast 

off. We all carefully examined the huge ma111J1a.ry gland after its re­

moval, and we were all well convinced it was ms.lignant and the operation 

would not prove a success. She recovered from the operation so as to be 

taken home in about a week and for 8 or 9 months, she believed she would 

have no return of it, but at the end of that time, it began to pain her 

and to grow. She returned to me to beg me to take it out again and that 
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I was satisfied it was cancerous. She argued that I might have failed 120 

to get it all out and she wanted me to cut it out again, and so desperately 

she pled, I could not refuse her request and I took it out down to the 

ribs a second time. 

This operation was more deceptive than the first. She was for 

more than a year clear of pain and no appearance could be seen of a 

return of the disease. She moved into North Carolina, and for a while 

counted herself fortunate in having a successf~l second operation per­

formed. But finally it commenced growing and paining her, and it 11went 
i,- Q__~--:' \,\'\.~ (wL 

1n a go.llop 11 , until she succumbed to its ravageso '¼ ~ -t-,.~--c~,...:;{-. 

This was cancer. I do not believe a genuine cancer ever was cured, 

altpough we have thousands of cancer doctors who say they can cure them. 

I can. cure what they~ cancer. Fortunately for suffering humanity, 

cancer is a very rare disease. I do not believe now after practicing 

and surgery.for half a century that more than one case in a 

thousand that is called cancer is really cancer. It is common through­

out the various sections I have had the honor to practice in,.for every 

that doesn't yield readily to treatment to be dubbed at 

name cancer. There are a f aw doctors who will pi tel1 in 

cLtroat these cases and make a reputation for curing cancer when there 

really no cancer. 

I charged $25. for the first operation, but nothing for 
the second. 

Dr. January as a cancer doctor. 

January of Murfeesboro, Tennessee (I believe a 

\1st preacher) lnllde a great reputation for curing cancer. He established 

JO~ 



of patients from all parts of the United States. When my health became 

so bad in 1857, I had to give up my profession, so I went with my family 121 

to my fathers in Georgia, and we spent the summer at the Cherokee Springs 

nearby. I soon recovered so I could travel on the trains and I wanted to 

. nnke a trip to Nashville in September to buy Ocoee money at 25¢ per cent 

discount in the great money panic in 1857 

As I passed Murfeesboro, I thought I would like to satisfy myself 

in regard to the conflicting reports about Dr. January's success in 

treatment of cancer. Reasoning this way - if Oro January knows more 

about cancer than the balance of us, and can cure that heretofore in­

curable disease, I want to know it, in order to do him justice, and 

also that I may ~~fit by the same knowledge, and be the means of dif­

fusing the blessing to imny more of the afflicted of the human family. 

I stopped off and spent a day going through the different wards of 

the large hospital. I was afforded every facility I could ask to inform 

myself of the value of the treatment. There were hundreds of patients 

~1<&51-
there taking treatment, and in s IJWmng up my conclusions when I left { I ffi8 

there, it amounted about to this. Out of the hundreds there under 

treatment, I thought there were seven who had cancer and from what I 

could glean from them they were no better than when they entered the 

institution. All of the others were improving and a goodly number were 

about ready to leave cured. But they never had cancer. 

Isaac P. Tipton of Carter County, my neighbor and kindsman, was 

one of those cured and left for home a few days before I visited the 



hospital. He never had showed his cancer to l'!E; if he had I would have 

cured him and saved him some money. 

I have often been astonished at the credulity of the people, and 

wondeved why they were so easily imposed upon and generally by uneducated 

ignorant men. 

Dr. Cox of Virginia, as a Cancer Doctor 

Dr. Cox of Virgini~ frequently came down into the border counties 

of East Tennessee and Western North Carolina about the time I finished 

my course of reading with Dr. Cunningham at Jonesboro. This old man 

was clever as far as I knew, but he was uneducated and very ignorant. 

He had picked up a little knowledge about the treatment of old sores, 

etc, and had the faculty of making people believe that nearly all in­

·dolen~ sores were cancerous. t( "DA-~~ 1)~) 

It was through my Uncle Abraham Jobe that I became acquainted with ~-------
Dr. Cox. I had just finished my course and such a large number had 

recently entered the profession that it was hard for a young doctor to 

find a location, My uncle thought if I would add what Dr. Cox knew to 

my regular course, it would only help me in getting a good location. 

Dr. Cox had been successful in arresting dry mortification in Mr. 

Clark's feet and that circumstance gave uncle confidence in him - as 

two doctors in the county had t~eated him and failed to do him any 

good. Uncle introduced me to him at Clarks and brought Cox home with 

us. In our interview, I told Cox I had no confidence in his theory 

about cancer. He invited me to ride with him on his circuit to see 

his patients, through two or three counties in the edge of North 

/09-

122 



Carolina, and he would show me a well marked case of cancero Also, I 

could see him apply his treatment and then he said, "You will no longer 

be a doubting Thomas 11 • I was not quite ready to start out to find a 

location so I concluded to go with him. We rode about three days and 

found no case he was willing to call cancer, until we returned to 

Carter County, Tennessee. He thought he found one on old Johnnie 

Saylor, whom I had known from my boyhoodo Mr. Saylor had a 11 ttle 

blue lump about the size. of a buck shot on his nose. I asked Mr. 

Saylor how long it had been on his nose and he said about 18 years. 

Said I, "Did it ever give you any painl 11 • He said, "No, I never 

know it is there only when I put my fingers on it". "Do you intend to 123 

have anything done for it by way of treatroontl", I asked. "No, I've 

never doctored any, nor do I intend to while it reimins as inoffensive 

always has been", he said. Said I, "That is exactly what I would 

advise you to do. Let it alone and my opinion is, Mr. Saylor, if 

somehting else doesn't kill you, r.PU may die with old age without that 

little bloodwart hurting you". My friend Saylor, with whom I had 

dealings for years after I located at Elizabethton, died years ago, 

at a good old age - but during his long life, he never suffered a 

moroont with the little wart that Oro Cox would call a cancer. 

Mrs. Dugger's Case of Cancer. 

Whese cases are detailed here, more for soma intimate professional 

triends who may chance to see them, than any interest I expect my im­

mediate family to take in them, unless in the future some of them may 
' ' 

become doctors; in that case, I would expect them to want to know my 

opinion and my theory on these questions. 
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I was for years William C. Duggers famiJy physician, while he was 

a citizen of Carter County, Tennessee, before he moved to the west. On 

one of my visits to his family, he asked me to go with him half mile 

down the river to see his mother and tell him what I thought of her ca.seo 

After examining her, I frankly told him she had cancer, and that I could 

not cure cancer, nor did I believe anyone else could. So I did not 

prescribe for her. 

In about a year, or less time perpaps, I was called to see another 

one of his family, and he requested me to go again to see his mother. 

I found the cancer on her face was healed up. She looked at me very 

''lft,} 
qui~i.cally and said, "What do you think now? Dr. Cox has cured my 

cancer", and I said, "I think just what I did when I saw you before. 

I thought you had cancer, and I think so still, and if I am correct 124 

in my diagnosis, I think it will break out again and kill you. This 
,\ 

is e. mere truce and not a cure. Within a year, it did break out 

a.fresh and went in a gallop until it killed hero 
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Diagnosis 

The best trait in a doctor to insure success, lies in his careful 

investigation of his case - let him always adopt the motto of Davie 

Crockett. "First find out you~ right, ~ ~ ~. 11 In order to 

make a deep impression on the students on the importance of a correct 

diagnosis, Prof. Bowling told his class the ~allowing good joke on. 

. .1,(w,K. ~J~ I \\\.u. P~---~ ~J himself. ~ ·- V v, ---1 

He established himself in his office, in his Kentucky town, and 

hung out his sign, which read thus: 1'1V. K. Bowling, M.D., Physician 

and Surgeon." He sat dovm with a book to read and wait for a call, 

and the first caller was a young fellow about 18 years old, riding a 

poor filly with flax mane and tail, and the boy's white hair was sticking 

out a large hole in the top of his hat. He had no coat and his pants 

came only half way down his legs, his bare feet were in stirrups 

fastened to ropes. In this kelter he drew up his toe reins and called 

the doctor out and said, 11 Be you Dr. Bowling, M.D. ? 11 Dr. Bowling answered 

in the affirmative. 11Well, come and see this" at the same time talcing 

his foot out of the stirrup and pushing it towards the doctor. He took 

hold of it and examined it a little, found it was hot and red and looked 

smartly inflamed. Said the youngster, 1f\Vhat do you think is the matter 

with it?" The doctor said, 11 I think it is Erysipelas." 11Erv hell 11 ~-' 
said he, 111:Thy, that's a wasp sting. 11 "Goodbye, Dr. w. K. Bowling, M.D., 

Physician and Surgeon. rt 

W. H. Kite I s Case 

This case should have been reported under the head of non-malignant 
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tumors, but I have had no chance to take time or consult method, but 

have had to be content to snatch a few moments occasionally from my 

close confinement with my daughter-in-law, who has been at death's door 

for 4 months, and is still dangerously ill. 

Ham Kite was a citizen of Johnson county, Tennessee. He had a very 

large steotometous or fatty tumor, located on the right side of his neck, 

and extending to the point of his shoulder and covering the clavicle to 

the chin in front, and to the clavicle vertebra behind, covering the 

whole of the carotid arteries and their branches. The tumor was very 

large, fully half as large as his head. This was an extremely dangerous 

operation, from the size of the tumor, and its location involving so 

many arteries. There were 3 large arteries, each one with 11 branches, 

would be 36, making it a very dangerous location for an operation of 

that magnitude. 

But the question was, what should be done? The tumor was increasing 

in size and already pressing on the organs of respiration so he could 

not lie down, but had to get what sleep he could sitting up. It was, as 

he expressed it, 11 to rish the operation or die. 11 He was anxious for the 

operation to be performed, and for that purpose he had consulted 25 

doctors in and around the surrounding towns, and he said all, without 

exception, had told him that the location of the tumor precluded the 

possibility of taking it out ,rithout killing him. 

When he came to consult me in regard to it, I t\i.old him that the 

operation would be attended with a great deal of danger, but that I 

believed, if he could stand the operation without the use of chloroform, 

by using extra care, I could very carefully dissect it out and save his 

life. I told him I could not consent to give him chlorofor,n for two reasons. 
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First, because it would be unsafe to keep him under its influence 126 

long enough to take the tumor out, and another reason was, I knew 

consumption was in his family (2 of his brothers and sisters had died 

with it) and we are warned not to use it in such cases. He said h[ K~ 
·c~ 

could stand it, and said he, 11 1 know I can't live long this way and.,~) 

if you will operate, I will take all the risks. 11 I consented to operate 

and sent him home with medicines arrl directions to prepare him for the 

operation, but I confess I never suffered so much uneasiness about all 

the operations I ever performed as I did about Kite 1 s. While he was 

under preparatory treatment, I would go to bed at night and sleep till 

midnight, and wake up and the first thought that entered my mind was 

Kite I s case. I would sleep no more that night, and that continued until 

I operated. 

I was almost ready to decline to operate sometimes, but I could 

not get rid of the impression that the operation would be a success. 

When I wrote to Kite appointing a day for the operation, I wrote 

to my son-in-law, Dr. E. E. Hunter, then living in Washington county, 

to come to assist me. A great many things conspired to discourage me 

and, if possible, make me give it up. The case was much talked of all 

over the country by the profession and by the people, and the sentiment, 

as far as I could learn, was all one way - against performing the operation. 

The day before the operation Kite's family physician (Dr. Crosswhite) 

visited Kite and told him not to risk the operation, that it was obliged 

to kill him. Kite 1s brother, Washington, also visited him, he said for 

the last time. He said, 11 1 can't be here tomorrow to see you die, I 

now bid you a last farewell. 11 This was trying on Kite I s nerves, but he 

overcame it all, saying to them, 111 am availing myself of the last 

chance I may be saved. It will not carry me off much sooner than 127 



to go anyhow. 

court week at Elizabethton, April 6th, 1873, when Dr. Hunter 

As we rode out of town by a group of men in the street, 

say, "There goes Dr. Jobe to kill Kite. 11 Dr. Hunte{~ . 

• t.{14.{>,, 
) stayed with Kite that night. When the people began assembling~.) 

morning, ( there was a large crowd attended) Mrs. Kite called me 

room where she sat with her little 2 year old daughter, 

and she said to me, 11 Now doctor, if you can 1t tell me 

there is no danger in this operation, I can't consent 

I replied very firmly, 11Mrs ~ Kite I can I t do that, I 

Jrankly stated to everyone that there is a great deal of danger in 

under the knife. I can only say that I 

the greatest care possible, and I believe 

success of the operation. All 

something, and in dangerous cases like the present 

most emminent surgeons lose patients. If I am 

11sful today, my victory will do me a great deal of good, but if I 

ruin my reputation as a surgeon. I have 

, in a manner, staked my reputation as a surgeon on the issue of 

it was impossible to take the 

out and not kill the patient, and I have consented, under all this 

ated evidence, to try and save him in the face of all that 

If he should die you will have a great many things said 

surgeon, and so you may have the worst that can be said. 

tell you that I have had the misfortune to see one of my patients 

of 7 doctors and, if there had been 

been the sarne. 11 
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Mrs. Kite reached up and, taking her sunbonnet and her little 

daughter, she went out of hearing until the operation was over. 

// I 

I operated on a table out doors, with his arms pinioned under the 128 

table, but it was necessary to have his hands held by a man on each 

side of the table. I, therefore, called for two volunteers to come 

forward and hold his hands, but the big crowd swayed off for some distance 

and all wore countenances as serious as if at the burial of a near friend, 

but after a little while Hazelwood and Smith came out and took the 

position assigned them on either side of the table. My courage never 

failed me at the commencement of an operation, but in this instance I 

found it quite impossible for me to get self-possessed for several 

minutes. Having to deal with such a mesh of blood vessels, and the great 

danger of cutting one of the 3 carotid arteries, which might have bled 

him to death in spite of all we could do, was calculated to make us all 

feel nervous. There were several doctors present to witness the perform-

ance of so serious and dangerous an operation, and render what assistance 

they could. 

I presume that on that occasion I felt a good deal like a soldier 

feels when he first goes into a battle, his nervousness and trembling is 

all at the commencement, but he soon gets his hand in, when he sees 

blood, and begins to realize what he has to do. 

It was a very difficult, dangerous, and bloody operation, requiring 

patience, perseverance and skill. 

I was compelled to cut 9 arteries, or rather branches of the carotid 

I operated with great care, did not suffer myself to get 

excited, but took proper amount of tirae for every detail of the whole 

work and never quit it until I was done. Dr. Hunter took up, and tied 



the arteries as fast as they were cut. The wound was then neatly 

dressed by proper amount of stitches, and strips of adhesive plaster, 

and the healing process was so perfect as to leave comparatively a 

small scar, for so large a tumor. The operation was performed in 

Johnson County, Tennessee, on the 7th day of April, 1873. Kite is 

living now the 7th day of May 189J, just 20 years and one month from 

' time of operation, only 3 miles from Elk Park, North Carolina, where 

I reside. No return of tumor, and his general health as good as a 

man 1s dares to be, to draw a pension. 

Kite 1 s Useless Trip to Washington 

Kite was a Federal soldier in the late war, and was an applicant 

. for pension when I operated on him, and when he recovered from the 

· operation he would go to Washington for furtherance of his claim. I 

told him he could do no good by going, but he would go. The Department 

sent him before a pension board in the city. One of the 3 was an old 

In examining him, this old man found where I had taken out 

the tumor, and said, 11When was this tumor taken out, and who performed 

such a serious, and important operation? 11 When Kite told him where it 

was done and when and by whom, the old surgeon said to the other two, 

"Is it not strange that a doctor living away out in the mountains of 

Tennessee could perform such an operation as that? 11 

I would think strange if we doctors of East Tennessee could not 

perform all operations that haveever come before us, just as scientifi­

. cally as he, or any city surgeon. 

Boney Tumors. Mrs. Jenkins I Case 

Shortly after the close of the war, I performed a novel operation 

Johnson county. This operation consisted of the 

I I;) 

129 



removal of a boney tumor from her head, identical in size, shape, and 

in every particular just like a ram 1s horn. It was 5½ inches long, 

and curved inward. It was exactly the color of a ram's horn, and had 

rough ridges on it. After it was removed it could not be told f.rom a 

ram I s horn. It was firmly attached to the outer table at the cranium, 130 

on the side of her head about where the frontal and perietal bones join. 

Mrs. Jenkins was about 60 years old. She recovered very rapidly, and 

there has been no return of the growth. 

Forwant of time and space, I must close ·my surgical cases, although 

I might report many more, some of which would be interesting, especially 

to young surgeons who love that branch of their profession, but I must 

hasten on to give a very short account of a few of the many things which 

took place under my ovm observation during the War of the Rebellion. 

This was popularly called a Civil War, but I think it was a Secessional 

War. 

The war actually commenced on the 13th of April 1861, at the fall 

of Ft. Sumpter at Charleston, s.c., and continued 4 years, with varying 

success, attended with great loss of life and treasure on both sides -

all of which might have been saved, if prudent council had been heeded 

I espoused the cause of the Union very early, when the war 

clouds first began to rise. Although born and reared in the South, I 

could see nothing but disaster in secession. This early alliance with 

the Union sentiment of East Tennessee made me a marked man during the 

war, and finally culminated in forcing me to exile myself from my family 

and going North before the close of the cruel war. I could not have 

remained at home as long as I did, if I had not been a practicing physician. 

The Union sentiment was very strong in the, then 31, counties in East 
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Tennessee. The February election, 1861, showed a very feeble vote 

(Rebel) in East Tennessee, and in the whole state we defeated secession 

by a majority of 65 thousand votes. When the state voted out by the 131 

large Rebel vo·te in June, East Tennessee still stood square for the 

Union, but were overcome by Middle and West Tennessee. When the 11 tug 

of War" came, East Tennessee sent 28 thousand soldiers into the Federal 

Army, although every road and gap was guarded to prevent them from 

getting through the mountains into Kentucky. 

This was a time which tried men's souls. Good, honorable, upright 

men differed in sentiment. Men looked at the question precipitated 

upon them from different standpoints, therefore, they came to different 

conclusions, and all believed they were patriotic. The fact that the 

Union men were very greatly in the majority in East Tennessee caused 

us more trouble and placed us in more danger from the Rebel Army than 

any other section of the South. Taking into account the topography of 

the country, the lay of the mountains and our close proximity to Kentucky, 

which at the beginning of the war was full of Federal soldiers,.it was 

natural for Union men to believe we would soon be relieved by the advance 

of the Union Army into East Tennessee !:9_ stay. We thought of nothing 

else day and night. Many of us believed the true policy of the Federals 

the great number of idle soldiers in Kentucky in constructing 

a railroad from Kentucky through Cumberland Gap into East Tennessee which 

enabled the Army to have a base of supplies in East Tennessee 

and thus cut the Southern Confederacy in two and, as we believed, 

brought the war to a close within the first year. 

But other councils prevailed, and in this way the great bulk of the 

I • loyal people of the South were left to uncertain fate. I confess I was 
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much disappointed at what I called mismanagement of military affairs 1CJ.; 

at Washington. In place of doing what they should have done, and had~ 

an inviting chance to do, they conceived a plan to hamper the Rebels 132 

by burning all the railroad bridges between Chattanooga and Bristol. 

I did not approve of it from the first intimation I had of the scheme. 

I had an undefinable presentation that it would be a failure as a war 

measure, and the consequences of the failure would be more direful to 

us as Union men than they had calculated. / ~ 
.l~~ 

I told the man having control of burnipg the Carter and the Um.on (~ 

Bridges, that I believed 11if Sherman's Army failed to come to our rescue 

that Union men would be hung for your work tonight. 11 And t,hat all the 

Urtlon men in the South, especially in East Tennessee, would be in much 

greater peril than ever before. He said, "you were a Union man before 

I espoused the cause, your argument is good and you may save the Carter 

Bridge if you wish to. 11 I lo st no t,ime in getting to the bridge, 6 

miles off. It was guarded by 12.5 cavalry. I found the man at once, 

who was to have the torch applied to it, at 8 o'clock that night. We 

secreted ourselves in an out house for our interview, so as not to be 

seen by the soldiers, and I soon convinced him that the bridge ought 

not to be burned. As I returned home I met Union men going on to help 

burn the bridge. When I eA-plained to them it was not to be burned, they 

turned their course and went on and helped burn the Union Bridge. This 

was on the 8th of November 1861. The next day about 1000 Union men, 

citizens of Carter, Johnson, Washington and Sullivan counties, assembled 

in Elizabethton preparatory to marching towards Cumberland Gap to meet 

General Sherman. This number was increased from day to day until within a 

//$ 

week, the little army amounted to about 12 or 15 hundred. About one 133 



third of this army of the little rebellion against the big rebellion 

were indifferently armed with ri~les, shot guns and pistols which they 

picked up in great haste, on leaving homj, without time to say g~odb?~ 
r Ru~ 1t.. ~ ~~ ~<'v ,t.c.J__, ~-J to anyone • \_.. - -- - · \ 

;,i,,-

Here was the first demonstration I ever had of what a turbulti-nt, 

unorganized mass of people will at·bempt to do under excitement. It 

was impossible for the more level headed and older citizens to keep 

the crowd from attempting to whip the Rebel Cavalry at Carter Depot 

and capture their arms, etc. They immediately started on for that 

purpose, after they had gotten over Watauga River at Taylor's Ford, 

and in spite of the advance pickets of the Rebels, I rode round and 

got into the road in front of them and succeeded in stopping them for 

a parley. I persuaded them to fall back to Taylor's barn, and organize. 

(At this time they had absolu-bely no organization.) They organized 

that evening, and went into camp at the large barn, and were attacked 

by the Rebels from Carter's Depot about 12 o'clock that night. Very 

little damage was done. One man slightly, and one horse seriously, 

wounded, and the Rebels retreated to Carter Depot, Several Union men 

received bullets through their clothes and hats. This battle was 

made memorable on account of so many of the valiant Union men, so 

. full of fight, running a·b ·bhe first fire. The Cavalry, as well as the 

Infantry, in considerable numbers "did not stand on the order of their 

going. 11 The fugitives all returned the next morning. This little 

army was organized into a big regiment, with all officers from colonels 

down - Quartermasters and all. The army had ·bo live off of the willing 

Union men who had means. When called upon we gave our keys to our 

graineries, smoke houses, etc., to the Quartermaster. After camping at 
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Clarke Spring one night, we moved back to Elizabethton, then to Camp 

Hyder in Doe River Cove, there we remained about one week. During 

all this time we had abundant supplies, but it was a week of great 

suspense, not knowing what would become of us, after we lost all hope 

of General Sherman coming to our relief. I could not feel safe to 

/1'7 

remain at home, and was, therefore, compelled to remain with the army 134 

although I did not approve of the movement that had brought it into 

,&,i 
existance. 

At the end of a week our army was driven from its position by 

,General Leadbetter, who moved up from Johnson City with a pretty large 

force, and some artillery. He took several of our Union men prisoners, 

some of whom were afterwards released, but a few were taken to Nashville, 

Su 
A very large numbei ,f ~. 

retreated into the mountains, and for about 6 weeks were fed by goo ~ 

~·Union friendS who carried supplies to them stealthily, principally~~· 

and were finally put into the Confederate army. 

llev, N, G, Taylor was one. My health was so bad I could notL- ~~j 
a house during the night. After looking at all the 

chances, I returned home and took refuge in my cellar, where I remained 

night and day for the longest 6 weeks ever I spent on earth. 

It would of its self take a volume to recount all the incidents 

six weeks and what I suffered in mind and 

• This really was the beginning of the war with us and 0! such 

I could hear the Rebel soldiers hunting for me, and inquiring 

immediately above me, and for several days heard 

their hanging men for bridge burning, until they had hung 5 ( to wit: 

, Hanches, Haun, and two of the Harmons.) I felt sure if they caught 

ithey would hang me for what they called 11 Complicity in bridge burning. 11 



that, knowing the bridges were to be burned, and not reporting it to 

the Confederate authorities. They hung one of the Harmons merely for 

giving supper to men who burnt bridges. They were so much prejudiced 

against me because, as they said, I was an original Union man and had 

II? 

helped to mould union sentiment in my county, and at that time they 135 
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would have given me no quarter. ~ ~. J '6 lol) 

During my self-imposed imprisonment, I had all the attention and 

kindness, that a devoted wife could give. I had sufficient bedding 

to keep me warm and comfortable, but here in this lonely, dismal, and 

dark place, I had to remain for six long weeks, and during the most 

dangerous part of it, I could only learn what was going on outside, 

by what my dear wife could tell me; often in whispers, or undertone, 

being heard on the outside by eavesdroppers. I was afraid 

to even let Union men know where I was hid; everybody outside my own 

family believed I was in the mountains somehwere between Elizabethton 

To add to the horrors of my situation, my health was 

I had been suffering for a long time with neuralgia in my 

head to such an extent I had to give up my practice, in the main, for 

years and at this time it was about at its worst. Life was no pleasure 

Sometimes I suffered so I did not want to live. When I think 

over what mental anguish I suffered day and night under that house, and 

all the news I could get was delivered in hasty sentences, and all about 

the ravages of war, and this one and that one of my acquaintances having 

been killed, and especially when I was told of the 5 Union men being 

. hung; no wonder that I prayed to die. Not that I was a bridge burner, 

no, not by any means - for I had opposed burning the bridges strenuously; 

but because war means to kill and mo st of those engaged in it do not 

stand on the manner of doing i to 
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I never failed to define my position~ all subjects, and that 

alone, accounts for my being a marked man among the leading Confederates 

in my locality. I denounced secession from the beginning, both publicly 

and privately. 

The horrors of war could have been more severe, if it had not been 

judicially tempered by personal friendship on both sides, when the~ 

had it in their power to show kindness and favor. Two of my person~~ 

friends, though Confederates, managed to set me at liberty, and not 

send me as a Political Prisoner (to wit) Nat. M. Taylor and General 

Robert B. Vance. Nat guarded me from Elizabethton in the night to 

General Vance 1s headquarters at Johnson City, where he gave me papers 

which protected me from those bloodthirsty vampires who sought to send 

me a:way. Vance was a colonel then, but he outranked the other fellows. 

I was about to start on a dangerous journey through North and South 

Carolina to reach my old home in Georgia where I had relatives and 

friends still living, who I knew would give me protection. 

A great many incidents happened during the war; that while 

they would be interesting, especially to East Tennesseeans, time will 

not permit me to mention here. Most of the history of that time, if 

written would be a sad recital, and was calculated to make partisans 

on either side of the controversy take a more solemn view of the 

surroundings, than they did at the commencement. We felt the war more 

severely in East Tennessee than any part of the South. Upper East 

Tennessee was held during the whole 4 years alternately, first by one 

side, then by the other, which in several ways made it hard for both. 

Then we had bush whackers, bummers and camp followers. These men had 

no principals. They did not care who whipped. They had no patriotism. 

136 
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They did not know one day, which flag they would prefer to follow 

tomorrow. These men gave much trouble during the war, and some of 137 

them have done more since the war. Bush whackers (17) in number t~ 

Bob and Eb Tipton out of bed one night, and shot Bob and left himJ~4~ 
dead at the back of his Father's farm, and took Eb into the mount~~ 

. }luJ. ~ 
and kept him there under guard for nearly a week. A Rebel regiment ' 

came in next day and in order to have Eb returned, the Colonel of 

the regiment (Winn of Georgia) placed the names of 5 Union men on the 

11 dead list" as they called it. That was to say, if Eb was nqt brought 

back to his Father I s by 12 o I clock Saturday night, then 5 men were to 

be shot Sunday morning, and my name was at the head of the list •. _________ ,. ___________ .---~-------~ ~~--. ------....--........ .. ,~ --~-~~------
Albert J. Tipton and La:wson W. Hampton, being on the list went with 

me, as soon as we were notified, to try to find him and return him 

at the peril of our lives. We had nothing to do with his abduction, 

and therefore could not know anything of his whereabouts, but with much 

perseverance and the help of a woman we found after we got to the 

mountains, we succeeded in finding where he was and the woman stole him 

away and brought him to us and we had him at his home by midnight 

Saturday night. 

When I went through to the Federal Army long after this, two of 

the bush whackers who had joined the army told me that at the time o f 

our hunting for Tipton, a third man who did not know me, was sitting 

nth them in the laurel by the roadside as I passed and he had his 

just about to shoot when they whispered to him not 

a doctor going to see John Whitehead who had fever, 

just been supplied before with rations. Judge H. c. 

on the list, but I have forgotten the _other name. 



Such was t,he excitement at the time we all believed that if we 

had failed to bring Tipton in according to our orders, that all 5 of 

been shot on Sunday. But how innocent we were 1 The 

leading Rebels had a spit,e at Un~on men who had taken an early and 

. active part in moulding public opinion, on 'What the people of East 

Tennessee ought to do in regard to Secession, therefore, I came in 

!or my part of every thing that was said or done, that was in any way 

· construed against th<=,- succ~s pf the Confe~erate, cause 'Whether I was 
{~ ~- t...~ (.~ ~ J-~ ~ ~-0-u.-.v 

guilty or innocent. J...~; ILlA-4, 11.-.i. ~ -f.t tit., :'.}"~ ~ 
~ Fa. l<otiii;) 

After I was arrested and taken before Major Stringfield as a 

Political Prisoner, and tried and acquitted, the Leaders were not 

satisfied--that if the bad element of them; they still hounded me. 

And when that bad man, Captain Duvall was made Provo-Marshall at Eliz­

man above all others 'Who had been clothed With authority 

same man who had sent men out to the back of my farm, 

down like dogs, Without the form of a trial. This 

138 

was the man they placed in coI!ll11Blld hereo Shortly after he was installed 

my personal friend, Isaac H. Brown called me to one side and 

confidentially, 11You and Lige Simerly had better get away 

from here, I heard my uvo Brothers in law tell Duvall yesterday, if he 

could get you and SiIDIOOrly away, he would have no trouble in manageing 

things to suit him. 11 It was then about 10 o 1 clock A.Mo Col. Simerly 

over 11 • 

We had a very hasty consultation, the result of which was, 

day light neJCt mornj_ng to · make our way to the Federal army 

ll·t,hrough the lines 11 1has we called it, until 11 the cruel war 

In this hasty flight, we managed to take with us 122 people, com-

/~ I 



children- all from Union families o Some were 

join the army and to die in defiance of 

Most of them composed whole familfos, who in- 139 

d to make their future home in the West. Some traveled on horse-,, .. ' 

, , some :in wagons, and some on foot. As we moved on our cavjlcade 

Banners, for we had two men with us 

Banner. And we were as rtterrible as an army with Banners. 11 We 

,through to the Federal army safely with the loss of but one man, 

· a had to leave sick at Warrensburg, and two horses taken from us 

When we arrived at Knoxville, many 
->;·~ .. 

,,tho Federal soldiers, with whom we were well acquainted flocked around 
;:,'•'c'' 

the Confederate l:lnes, and among them 

· 2 Capta:ins from Yancey Coo N. C. who I saw volunteer into the Con­

after the fall of Ft. Sumptero They were both 

companies, and held the same position with the 

gave me notice to leave 

e in 11 double quick", only because I wa.s a Union man. When 

n gave me such a cordial handshake, and seemed so glad to see 

~•aid to them, "Gentlemen, which army do you like the best- the 

You have tried botho ?11 This was in the 

of 50 or more Federal soldiers, who did not know until then 

semen had ever been in the Southern arroyo 

• Simerley and I remained away from the Confederacy, until the 

I spent a portion of my time at Knoxville, and a while 

Cincinnati, Ohio, where I bought a stock of goods 

Jobe & Simerley, 

only the most meager sketch of the many incidents of 
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these war t:iJnes; most of them oopleasant, but occasionally something 

would occur that was pleasant, and laughable. This to us, as we plodded 

our way through the war, was like an "Oasis in the Desert 11 o I was com­

pelled to pass through many dangers during the war, but fortunately I 

YlB.S delivered from all of them, without t~ec~OSS, of life 0~ lim~~ 

had to sacrifice a good deal of property. --1/ ~ ~ r 
A funny episode occured to me upon General Burnsides second advent 

into East Tennessee. I had not heard that the Federals were coming, 140 

and was returning from a visit to old Jacob Range •. When I was within 

two miles of home, a colored man met me and told me I had best run rpy 

horse out into a thicket in their field, where I could hide him from 

the Rebel soldiers, as there was a large number of them, Colo. Folks 

Cavalry up in toYm, and they were taking all the horses they could find; 

even dismounting ladies, and as mine was extra fine they were certain to 

take h:i.mo General Burnside was advancing with a heavy force and that 

fact was hurrying Col. Folk auto I remained in the thicket 3 hours by 

rrr,r watch, and the same darkie came and told me I could safely go home, 

the 11Rebels II had all gone down to their encampment. I had gone only 

half a mile until I saw I was meeting a dozen of them under command of 

a Capta.in. I felt certain they would take my horse, bridle and saddle. 

I noticed that they were all about half drunk. The Captain in charge 

commanded me in a sharp tone, 11Hal t, Sir. 11 He rode up on ll\V right, and 

said, 11Are you a Union man, like all the men I find up here in this 

damned town, 11 I said, 11Yes, Sir, I am a Union man, but I read in my 

Bible, 11 that it is alwa.ys rj_ght to submit to the powers that be 11 , and 

I am trying to do it with· the best grace I can. 11 He waved his hand, and 

said in a pleasant, and intensely satisfied manner, 11You can ride on 
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Sir, it is hard to dismount a Minister. 11 

I had seen a great deal of evil done by liquor during the war, but 

this was the first time I had seen it turn its guns the other way, and 

actually do good. This Captain happened to be a jolly good fellow, and 

he was just drunk enough to feel rich, and he loved everybody. 

The war ended in April 1865. Just about 4 years from its comrre~n~~ 

rnent at the fall of Ft. Sumpter. :My son then was about 16 years old 1,- iL. 

'Who had gone to Georgia late in the war to keep out of the army as t Wa>v 

part of Georgia was held by the Federals, came home with me, as soon as 

'\'18 found it was safe to do so. We found everything changed by the 

ravages of a 4 years war. The country was overrun, and devastated by 

both armies, and the citizens of every political opinion had to pay 

tribute to Caesar: willing or unwillingo We had to submit to being 

robbed repeatedly. After having more trouble and expense than we had 

been accustomed to, in raising crops in time of peace, I have more than 

once had to see foraging parties of Rebels drive up to my corn fields 

and without speaking to me drive in and load their wagons; and return 

the next day until half my crop had disappeared; and they would go into 

nzy- pasture fields, and drive out my choice cattle, and go into my smoke 

house, and take 1/10 of what meat, lard and etc. they could find. And 

never offer a dollar in remuneration for it. 

As soon as I returned home, I hastened to settle with Tilda and 

Isaac, two colored people, I had bought as slaves. I· bought Tilda some 

years before the War, and I bought Isaac during the War - near its 

commencement. I bought Tilda to keep her from being sold to a Negro 

trader, who would have taken her further South to a cotton country, 

and she said she would rather die than go, and the ref ore, she asked 
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me to buy her. And long after this she asked me to buy her step father. 

The morning after I returned I called them in, and made about the 

following talk to them. 11Now Isaac and Tilda you are free as I am. I 

no more exercise ownership over you. I am now going to pay you in 142 

greenback, for what time you have served me, since Mr. Lincoln's pro-

10:" t' . d c ima ion was issue • Then if you want to still live with me you can 

. do so, and I will promise to treat you just as I have always treated 

I will clothe you and feed you, and you may work just as you 

please, with no task master over you - just as you lmow you always have 

you lived with me, and be cared for, and nursed when 

The same as any of the balance of my family - the same asbI al-
(~ r CU\ ~- ~ /J.A ~ ~ I 

treated you, not even giving you a cross word.~:~~~ 

But if you prefer going away as most of the colored people are 

doing I have not a word to say against it. 11 Isaac said he wanted to 

move to himself, he wanted to go into the confectionary business. 

Tilda said if she ever left our family while she lived, it would be 

because we wanted her to do soo She said she had been perfectly satis­

fied with her home, ever since I bought her., She remained with us, 

mostly with our daughter Hattie Taylor after she married, until poor 

Tilda 1s death, which occurred suddenly on 13th of March 18910 I re­

turned home in April 1865. I left Knoxville the morning that President 

assasinated at night. I soon resumed my practice as far as 

health would permit. I continued on doing a small amount of 

both in medicine and surgery until March 1866. When I re­

ceived the appointment of Special Agent of the Post Office Department 

with headquarters at Raleigh, N. C. My main object in applying to 

President Andrew Johnson (direct) for this position was it would afford 
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me an opportunity to travel a great deal, a.nd see if the rapid change 

of climate, water, scenery, die-t, and associations would not produce a 

revolution in my system, that all the treatment for years, from the best 

doctors I could find, both at home and in the cities had failed to do, 143 

and especially I wanted to take a sea voyage, believing that. would aid ~ 
~tH~hwtl 

some in my recovery. I felt encouraged that President Johnson would~~ 

give me some such position, lmowing that my health was much enfeebled, P. ID,b. 

also that I had suffered by reason of the Rebellion. And presumed a 

good deal upon the personal friendship tha·t had always existed betwee 

us, when we differed in politics before the War, and our more intimate 

relations ever since the commencement of the War. I always esteemed 

him on account of his talents, but al ways· voted against him on account 

of his politics, up to the War, which brought us together as Union men. 

I had no trouble in getting the appointment althoue;h a good man was 

displaced to make room for me. 

My district was North and South Carolina. I received my Commission 

· in March 1866, and went immediately to my headquarters at Raleigh. I 

found postal affairs as well as every thing else greatly demoralizedo 

The legislature of North Carolina soon convened, and I learned from 

the members, from all parts of the State, that no trouble was more 

seriously felt throughtoul°than the great wan-t of mail facilities, there­

I had no trouble in securing their earnest co-operation, as well as 

of Gov. Jonathan Worth in obtaining increased mail facili·ties. 

Western North Carolina seemed to be most neglected, indeed from Asheville 

to the Georgia line, had neither Post Offices nor mail routes. Among 

many other daily reports which came to me, describing the utter destitu­

tion in regard to mail facilities in the West; Mr. Kemp P. Battle a 



prominent state official, informed me, that a few days before we had 

the interview he was compelled ·to pay a man forty dollars to carry an. 
~~B~ -~~ -~.e..--1ti 

important letter to Murphey, on horseback~.~
11 
~-~ wiLf.-. o...., ~ 
~ d-M/J~.-1.~ ~~ 

I told him to go to his office, and write me a letter statingt 

these facts, and I would enclose it in one I would -write to the Depart 

ment asking to be authorized to go clear through the western counties, 

temporary contracts for carrying the mails, and also appoint 

My suggestion met with the approval of the Department and 

I made this trip; as far as Asheville on horse back, and 144 

from there in a buggyo In order to make this trip I came by home to 

get my own horse; and right here, I want to make a digression, to 

chronicle an encomium passed upon me at the Department by Col. Cochran, 

,. through whose hands all the money came to each, and every Special Agent 
,c:, :' 

He said to me, after General Grant 1s election to 

Presidency - 11Dr. there are 14 applicants for your position now in 

city, moving every stone to displace you. 11 Said I, 11What charges 

do they make against me? 11 11Well, they say you don 1t go on trips away 

from the lines of the railroads • 11 I said I go at all times when I am 

notified that there is anything connected with my duties requiring 

attention; but said he, 11Most of them go if they hear of a frolic, and 

they have a chance to have what they flippantly call a good time. And 

their horse, and buggy hire is charged up to ·the_ Department in their 

necessary item in mail service. 11 He continued -

"I can say this for you Dr. You have received a less amount of money 

from this Department for the services rendered, and time you have 

than any one of the 40 Special Agents belonging to the L'epart-

/~ 7 



As proof of the correctness of Colo Cochrans statement, I take 

occasion to say here, that I very properly might have charged a dollar 

a day for my own horse, but did not charge anythingo I visited nearly 

all the counties in Western North Carolina, I was authorized to appoint 

women as Postmasters, because but few of the men could take the test 

oath. I appointed nearly all women, and had the satisfaction after­

wards, to know that as a rule they succeeded as well as men. All the 

work I did on this trip was ratified by the Department at Washington. 

A Strange Incident. 

When I finished my work at Murphey in Cherokee coW1ty, North 

Carolina, it was my intention to go to the nearest railroad point, 

Walhalla, South Carolina and send my horse home, by railroad and I 

intended returning to Raleigh by way of Charleston, South Carolina. 

The night before, I intended starting next morning, I went to bed at 

iey hotel at the usual hour, and slept soundly until about midnight. 

awoke, something troubled me. When I realized that I was wide 

all my thoughts centered on home, I felt a kind of presentment 

that something dreadful had happened back at my home at Elizabethton, 

of my family was dangerously sick, or some awful accident had 

It had been less than two -weeks since I left them. I had 

heard nothing from then since I left, but I could not shake the agoniz­

ine feeling off; and I concluded to cross the mountains that lie be­

t,roen Murphey, North Carolina and Loudon, Tennessee and put my horse on 

. the freight train on the East Tennessee, Virginia and Georgia road, and 

talce the first passenger train and reach home as soon as steam could 

This was just after the close of the war, and the mountaine­

... ous regions were a hiding place for murderers, robbers, bush whackers, 

. etc. and a man had been killed on this mountain a few days before I 
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started from Murphey, but I run all this risk, and came on to Loudon, 

and traveled a little in the night first day, and a little before day 

the second in order to reach the railroad in time for a certain train. 

And I reached home a little after night on the second day, to find my 

little son dying. He passed away the second day after my arrival home. 

I returned to my headquarters at Raleigh as soon as possible. I 

soon made the acquaintance of the best, and most influential men of 

the State, as well as, army officers, all of whom showed me kindness, 

and favors as occasion offeredo The memory of President Johnson will 

always be dear to me. I never was as much mistaken in any man as I 

was in him. When I first became acquainted with him in 1837. When he 

was a Democrat and I was a Whig and on till the War, I could not help 

, looking on him with distrust from the extravagant abuse heaped upon him 

But when the War clouds began to spread over the 

country it brought us together, and when I became well and intimately 146 

acquainted with him, I soon found he was not the man he was reported 

to be---that is a man who would, as his enemies said, 11Sink the Nation, 

.if by doing so he could be promoted. 11 I found him to be a true patriot -

,that every interest was to sacrificed, if it was in conflict with the 

true interests of the people. His doctrine was "the greatest good to~ , PJu.4 
the greatest number. 11 His veto message of the second Freedmans Beaure~\~ 

-~ 
b:lll--saying 11i t could give the President too much power 11 was proof tha~ ~'--L 

&e..ciL 
he was not selfish and ambitious. He was a far better man than Parson 

He continued to be my friend as long as he lived, 

}and shov,ied his steadfast friendship, and confidence in me, by calling ~ 

alone to his bedside, in his l~t illness, which took him from time to 
- Q,A,'.,()'1-~t,u 
ternity. He had an appe~ctic stroke, and would have had a second one 
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in a few minutes, if I had not resorted to prompt, and heroic treatment 

lv}{ 
to prevent it. He soon became par~lfvzed in one side. I could see no 

prospect for his recovery from the time I first saw him, and at once 

notified the farn:i.ly of the danger, and suggested that they telegraph 

to Greenville for his family physician (Dr. Broyles) but he objected; 

but finally at the end of two days they did telegraph and Dr. Broyles ~~ 
and Taylor came just in time to see him die, only a few hours before ~ 

he died, which was on the 3rd day after the attack. I remained With 

him almost constantly day and night, up to Within 6 hours of his death, 

and left then only to visit another close friend and relative, who was 

thought to be in about as much danger, but who finally recovered. 

I was much astonished at the reporters, who on hearing of the 

death, hastened to gather the facts connected With his 147 

coming to 11 Carter Depot", the nearest station on E. Virginia 

and Georgia railroad 6 miles from where he died (at his daughters Mrs. 

they received information from parties who had merely 

died from paralysis, and they contented themselves to 

their report to their several newspapers upon the uncertain rumor 
>0 

they never came to Mrs. Stovers, where he died ntr to Elizabethton., 

miles away, to ask me what disease he died with. 
J,, (:'.,-

aj>pop;ect17 strokeo Some enterprising photographer 
' 

t so far as to present to the world a picture of the death bed scene, 

my picture as the attending physician, and members of the family, 

Several persons have told me they saw them in Europe, but I never 

of them being offered for sale in this country. 

/there were no death bed scene picutres taken at Mrs. Stovers­

\should have been. I regretted afterwards that I had not had it. 
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done; as I could have telegraphed to Nat W. Taylor then at Glade 

Springs, Virginia and he could have been on the ground in a few hours, 

with his instruments and every thing prepared, and would have executed 

the work in artistic style. 

I wiLl now revert to my very hasty data il of my duties as Special 

Agent of Post Office Department. I remained in office from March 1866 

until May 1869. When I resigned on account of my very bad health-­

mainly brought about by my long trip to the Chippewa Nation, and, una­

voidable exposure in discharging my duties there. I was confined to 

and most of the time in bed, at Raleigh, for months under the 

) ' ~ 

Exciting incident at the Mills House)~~= ' S.C... ' 

Crle of the many important duties I had to perform, was to collect the 

dues to the Department. A few days before I would start on my rounds 

on.my collecting tour I sent out to all Post Master 1s on all the rail-

roads a printed notice for Post Master I s to meet me, on the arrival of 148 

a certain train, with the exact amount due to the Department. I had 

in my pocket to hand out,, after inserting the amount 

and the conductor would wait on me till I gave him the signal to starto 

I had made my tour of the two States except Charleston, South Carolina 

and a few minor of fices on my return to Raleigh. My train took me into 

Charleston at midnight. Some public occasion had brought a large crowd 

.to Charleston and my hotel, the "Mills House" was crowded and I was put 

I carried my money in a fob buckled around me, placed . 

it under my pillow, with my pistol. It was one o 1 clock by the time I 

I lmew, I had to be . in a hurry next morning 

to collect dues of the city Post Master and catch my train which left 
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early in the morningo I was alarmed next morning to hear the breakfast 

bell while I was yet in bed. I hastened to dress and wash and hurry 

dovm to breakfast. I met the Post Master by my side at the table, and 

told him what a hurry I was in, so I might get to the train. We both 

ate about half a breakfast and took a street car and was soon counting 

the money at the Post Office, when to my great consternation I found 

I had left my money and pistol under my pillow at the hotel. I lost 

no time running to the hotel, did not wait for the street car. I was 

nearly out of breath when I reached my room, and found the chambermaid 

making up my bed. I said 11 Did you find my money under the pillow" ? 

She said 11Yes, it is on the mantle. 11 I looked, and found it all righto 

I hastily handed her a five dollar bill, and said, 11 I give you that for 

/3,A 

being an honest woman. 11 I never felt so alarmed in my life as I did 149 

from the moment I missed my money, until I found it. I felt that it 

would ruin me, if I never recovered it, and I could see very plainly 

that there were many more chances against me than for me. I do not 

· remember what amount 

. been nearly all over 

of money I had, but it was considerable. I had 

\R~L~.~ 
the two states. '-' ~ ~ \~ .~. · 

I had given a ver-iJ large bond with Governor Holden, and several 

others as security, and I believed if I never recovered the money, 

some would be ready to say I had sent it off, and had invested in 

I had kno-vm then to say of others who I always thought were 

I made my home at Raleigh during the "notorious re construc­

tion period. 11 And witnessed the planning and sch~ming of the Bummers, 

and S callawags. This e xperience did not increase my con­

!idence in, and respect for the average politician. A true Patriotic 

Statesman is a great blessing to any Nation; but the common place 



hunter, the selfish demagogue is a curse to any people. What a 

spectacle was presented to the world when the Vampires commenced 

dividing out the offices both State and Federal. 

As a rule the worst element of the North had hurried to the South 

at the end of the War, many of them for no other purpose than to get 

into office as Congress had passed what was called the Iron Clad, or 

The effect of this was to prevent every man who had done 

to the Confederacy from holding office. This law caused 

the Southern States to be unrepresented in Congress for several years 

There was no man of any party who was a citizen of the 

could take the required oath except myself. I 150 

had resided in East Tennessee during the war up to its close, when 

it became unsafe for me to remain longer on account of my out spoken 

Union sentiment, I had to go North and remain until the end of the 

War. In th~s emergency I was offered the Republican nomination for 

Congress in the Raleigh District; and Major Foot a fine speaker pro­

posed to me, if I would accept the nomination, he would canvass the 

District for me, and I might continue in my office as Special Agent 

Post Office Department until I had the certificate of election in my 

pocket. --Saying "A nomination means an election, as things stand in 

this Districto 11 11As a majority of the white people are disfranchised, 

and all the blacks are enfranchised and will all vote the Republican 

is a one sided business see 11 • And to add to your chances of 

you are one of the original pannel of Union men, and are from 

East Tennessee and have had your residence here long enough to entitle 

you to a seat in Congress o 11 

As near as I can remember my reply was about as follows. 11This 
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proposition, I admit is tempting, it would give rue an honorable and 

lucrative position. I could serve two years Yihich would make my pay 

ten thousand dollars, without re-election, and as I was raised to 

economy I would save my money. But I can 1t accept the nomination; but 

I tender to you and your friends my sincere thanks for your friendship 

and good w.i.11, but I cannot accept the nomination from a Republican 151 

convention. I am a Union man to the core, but I am not a Republican. 11 

I never had the vanity to believe, if I had accepted the nomina­

tion and gone to Congress, that I would have distinguished myself; but 

I must be permitted to say I think I would have returned to my consti­

tuents with a better record than Col. John w. Dewes, the man they did 

He was expelled from Congress for selling a cadetship. This man, 

Col. Dewese, was a col. in the Federal army from the state of Ohio, and 

was not a citizen of Raleigh, and was not really entitled to a seat in 
\ ~ .I'll :Jl, cU..L :±,, 

Congress from the Raleigh District.~ D. . . ) 
-~.<:-nJ-. 

I was compelled to differ in opinion from a large majority of the 

Looking at our condition at the end of the War from my 

I thought the War was waged; that life, and treasure were 

sacrificed, to prevent to Union of these States from being destroyed. 
·;;: 

_The Secessionists, headed by Jefferson Davis, said 11V[e will di~lve the 

tates, and then organize a confederacy in the South. 11 The Unionists 

a,aid, "No, you can't do any such thing, you have no such constitutional 

dismember the Union. 11 I sympathized with the latter view. 

greatest conflict, in many respects, that the world had ever 

tnessed, was ended, and the rank, and fUe of the Union forces, and 

good citizens were anxious for peace, not only in word, but in 

ct - and were honestly desirtous to forget as soon as possible that 



we had been at War: Just then the politicians came upon the scene, and 

presented a new question to the people of the South - 11Reconstruction 11 • 

Said these politicians--we must reconstruct the Southern States. Thus 152 
{;!)--

admitting that the South had succeed.~in taking their states out of the 

Uniono Having all the power, both civil and military, they went to 

work, and 11~ them ~·" And in doing so, in my opinion, in some 

of the States they altered the bases, and fundamental principles of the 

State governments, and in this way these extreme Union men displeased, 

a very large number of more conservative Union men throughout the 

believe it is due more to that class of men than to any 

other for the great political revolution that has swept over the Union 

. in the last few years--dri ving from power the strongest party that 

ever has entrenche.d itself in power, since the foundation of our gov-
I )«. . -~ I t.A ___ J -

ernment. ·1 ~ ~ ~ v ~....-V-Yr I 

I will not occupy much space, here to give my opinion of govern­

as I never was a politician, and am only a humble citi-

.zen; but every citizen ought to have an opinion, and ought to express 

it, freely, and not have to go to some politician to ask him how he 

vote. It is often said, 11We ha.ve the best government int he 

This I think is subject to some limitationss I think the 

government for many years, and especially since the War, 

been to make the 11rich richer, and the poor poorer, 11 and this is 

and finances. The 31,000 million-

s who ovm more than one half of the wealth of the Nation, obtained 

forti.mes, or a great deal of it by buying United States 

the dollar, and these bonds should have 

n redeemed in greenback currency; but to favor the few, and oppress 
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the many, Congress passed a law making them readableAonly in goldo From 153 

1865-1868 that question was much agitated throughout the country. Gen-

eral Grant was elected President in 1868. I heard his inaugural address 

4th March 1869. I was standing close to a gr-oup of millionaires, at the 

conclusion of the address, they clapt their hands, and one of them said, 

"llow we are safe, our bonds will be paid in gold. 11 

This condition of things, if continued, I think will bring trouble. 

Anything that oppresses the masses of the people, causes unrest and 

dissatisfaction. If the majority of the people could own United States 

bonds, and have them redeemed in gold at the option of the holder, after 

having drawn the interest on them semi-annually, as long as they chose ·~.,,_, 
' to do so, all would be well, but that is far from being the fact. ~ 

1 

Competed Wi. th the above, the Trouble brought on the business trans-;rk 

action of the whole people by the abominable trusts and combines 

can see how the masses are handicapped in every way. Then above 

: and overshadowing any of these dire calamities is the great 11Mogul 11 , 

Divested of all its multitudinous ramifications 

attending to its sale, as a beverage, its resultant demoralization, 

homicides, and slow deaths, with irum3nse sums paid out by 

the people yearly on account of the nefarious traffic - to say nothing 

or these, and look at the frightful amount of money, every year handed 

over the counters of the two hundred and forty thousand saloons in the 

amounting in the whole to twelve hrmdred millions of 

Just think of ito And yet we have no remedy for this 

Because the State governments, and the United States 

vernment legalize the sale of liquor by license; and thus stand 

ectly in the way of the citizens prohibiting its sale. I am satis-
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fied that the sc.rnt:i.ment of a majority of the voters in the United 

States is in favor of dispensing with the saloon; but it is the 154 

power and popularity of the United States government and the joint 
I 
ii' 

influence of the ·states influence, that still perpetuate the trafic. 



I think it is only a question of time when the saloons will be 

abolished by law. I think it is plain to be seen, by any one of mod­

erate discrimination, that the people~ put down the saloons, or 

the saloons will put the people down. 

A great many good men say, I would vote to prohibit the manufac­

ture and sale of liquor as a beverage, if I thought there was any 

chance to succeed. There is an immense amount of moral cowardice in 

the world. It is hard to get the majority of the people to post 

themselves in regard to the real sentiments of the Masses. 

The Prohibition Party is the only one that has probed the senti­

the core. That Party has spent more time and money in the 

years investigating the question, and. getting~ the information 

available, and it sums up this way. 

In the general election in 1888, there were cast for President, 

eleven millions, three hundred and ninety two thousand, three hundred 

and eighty two votes. And of this number, there were six millions, 

~ sentiment, in favor of prohibition, Not that many votes, but the 

that many votes, in favor of doing.without the saloon, 

"if it could be done, without hurting my party". So many real good 

· men are afraid of being called cranks. Many of the best men who ever 

cranks and fanatics. St. Paul, with all the 

Apostles, Martin Luther, John Wesley, Christopher Columbus, Proff. 

great ariny of their co-laborers in science, and in the 

called cranks, and even our Savior -was called a fanatic. 

And the denunciation of that day was actuated by the same spirit, 
},; 

of men, as those who adopt it, and apply it 

in this enlightened day. A great battle is being waged in every 
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civilized, or semi-civilized community. Some of the contestants are 

governed only by political ambitions, some by notoriety, but the 

. greatest number, by love of money. On one side. On the 

contending for conscience o Who shall have the 

Upon the occasion of one of my visits to Washington 

::::i~~ 
~ff". l~.) on o 1c1a 15$ 

I was sent for by the Secretary of the Interior, Mr. Brovming, 

heard that I had in early life resided among the Indians, 

a good deal in regard to their habits, character, etc. 

such a man to visit the Chippiwa Indians at their 

new reservations in the extreme northern part of :Minnesota. 

He had sent Maj. Paddock, a Kansas man, a few months before on 

mission but he became so alarmed at the reports of the dangers 

that would attend the work, he went no further than the Indian Agency 

on the frontier, and returned to Washington without accomplishing any 

thing. 

Mro Browning laid before me a voluminous correspondence he had 

ytlth the local Indian Agent, Joel B. Bassett, and many letters from 

prominent citizens of Minnesota, setting forth the dangers of an 

Indian war on the borders • 

A dissolute band of Indians at Leech Lake had waylayed and ass­

the principal Chief of the Nation, 11 Hole in the Day, 11 and 

ready to go on the 11w~ ~. 11 After reading carefully 

this correspondence, Mr. Browning asked me if I was willing to risk 

the Mission. I told him I thought it would be somewhat hazardous but, 

as I was anxious to see the country, if the Post Office department 

would grant me leave of absence until I could make the trip, I would 



I made application at the Post Office department innnediately, for 

leave s>f absence and leave was granted for me for two months. 

I received a Commission from Turr. Brovming, Secretary of the Intet.ior, 

as Special Ager_it of Indian Affairs and left ·washington on the 2nd day 
il~ "ib ~ ~ )t~ iv-. ~ . ~ 

of Sept. 1868. · 0:1, ~ } (f 
b ~- ~6 

Col. N. G. Taylor, then _Commissioner of Indian Affairs, together 

Taylor, Miss Sue Gillespie and Jas. P. 'l'aylor, accompanied 

Chippewa Agency--these friends left me on the border of the 

nation and returned through Michigan to visit some other tribe of Indians. 

We had spent several days at the Agency and in its neighborhood, 

and other points, and the Commissioner held one council 

I can well remember but cannot properly describe, 

ithe feeling when Col. Taylor and I separated at 11Little Falls Minnesota. 11 

We all took dinner together at the hotel at Little Falls. After 

hurry to start. Col. Taylor and party going 

to Michigan and I, with about 30 men, to plunge into the forest beyond 

When I clasped his hand to bid him, what seemed to us perhaps a 

t farewell, he said, 11 lilly friend, I would rather you would turn back 

From what other people tell us here on the border, this is 

undertaking you are about to enter into and I fear 

e consequences that may attend it. 11 n'tr reply was, 11 I never put my 

d to the plow and look back 11 , and thus we parted. 

I had just handed him a letter for him to mail when he reached 

Post Office, addressed to my beloved wife. It was short for I had 

t. a few minutes time in which to write. 'rhe following is about the 

I remember of that letter, after so many years of 

1'fiJ 



"Little Falls, Minnesota, Sept. 16th, 1868. 

J\!iy Dear Wife -

In a few m:inutes I will cross the Nrl.ssissippi and enter into the wil­

derness and wilds of the savage Ojibway Nation. I send this by Col. 

Taylor, to be mailed when he reaches the nearest Post Office, on his 

way to Michigan, This is the last letter I can send you for weeks as 

I will be beyond civilization. I will take all the care I can of my­

self in every way. I feel that I will be permitted, through a kind 

Providence, to return to my home and to my family in safety, but if 

any thing should happen to prevent my return, you can find a deposit 

of several hundred dollars--I do not remember just what amt. in the 

First National Bank at Raleigh, N. c. This I forgot to tell you of. 

Farewell, 

Very affectionately, Your Husband. 11 

I did, however, have an opportunity to send another letter in about 

157 

two weeks after, written on birch bark, I sent it by an Indian Courier, 

hundreds of miles, and he carried it safe through and it was mailed, 

time it was received in Elizabethton, ~d also one written 

my son, Dudley, was received at Raleigh, N. c. 

I was loathe to give up the companionship of my life long friend, 

Nat G. Taylor, especially when we both had misgivjngs, as to our 

er meeting again in this lower world. 

I had been furnished with an order from the War Department at 

30 soldiers under a Commissioned Officer to travel 

th me through the nation as a body guard. These soldiers were de­

eq by Gen, Terry from Fort Abercrombie , 

-
/<fl 
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This command was ordered to meet me at Rice River. I had with 

me, quite a cavalcade. Maj. Joel B. Bassett, the local Indian agent, 

and I traveled in a fine buggy drawn by 2 of the finest mules I ever 

rode behind. We had 14 wagons loaded with supplies of goods for the 

Indians and a few hacks and buggies and 3 0 men. We also had with us , 

3 Ministers of the Gospel--Rev. Mr. Madox, Methodist, Rev. :W.ir. Edward 

T. Niell, Presbyterian, and Bishop John Ireland of the Roman Catholic 

Church. And Dr. H. Pennyman, who was to reside among the Indians, 

and doctor them when his services were called for. Also we had with 

'{\'\ 
· us, Nir. I. c. Rc3.i\sey of St. Paul, brother of Gov. Ramsey and l'lir. Wm. 

· Tomlison, an Englishman, who was making the trip for pleasure and his 

health and to see the country. 

Our long journey through this vast savage territory, unknown to 

~ . ~-
.civilized men until compar\tively a few years ago, was full of inri-

. dents, but in writing only a short sketch, I cannot mention but a 

few and having taken very meager notes in my Diary, and so many years 

business, labor, toil and affliction having elapsed, I 

cannot be expected to enter into a detailed account of the many happ­

enings and sights seen in so long a trip--every day full of
1 

even~s 

that would furnish interesting matter for a trenchant pen.~~ 
i).C..,j J 

A few of the incidents in my travels through the Chippewa Nation. 

I write this on the 25th day of August, 1893, and must say, as 

excuse for the want of a little method, that I am satisfied that 

been a time found in the whole course of my 

been so unfavorable for me to do this 

very long and serious affliction in our 

ly, of which I will say more hereafter. 

; ; 



I should, in the preced~ing pages, said we .left Washington on the 

2nd of Sept. 1868, and came direct to Chicago, where we met Bishop Whipple, 

who was taking considerable interest in troubles between the Government 

and the Indians. We had an interview with the Bishop at 'Washington 

and he requested us to wait for him at Chicago and he would go on with 

us to the agency. 

We-(that is, Rev. N. Go Taylor, Ivirs. Taylor, Miss Gillespie, J.P. 

Taylor and myself), remained at Chicago J½ days. We then proceeded 

on our journey by way of Milwalkie, Prarie De Cheine, crossing the 

Mississip:pi River at Magriger, then on through Iowa to St. Paul, the 

Capitol of Minnesota. Prarie De Chiene was the home of Jefferson Davis, 

the President of the Southern Confederacy for 8 years, being stationed 

for the time, by the Government of the United States. We remained at 159 

Paul, and for this whole distance, the lands are very fine. On 

the 9th of Sept., we went by invitation, JO miles on the St. Paul and 

Pacific R. Ro to a place called Big T:iJnber. Here we see the finest of 

lands and timber. It is hard to ever estimate it. On the 10th, we 

went by invitation, on an excursion and picnic to White Bear Lake, 12 

Lake Superior and Michigan R. E. 

The people were very kind to us and treated us with consideration 

especially Dr. Stuart, the City Post Master, and his 

Mr. Terry. On 11th, Maj. Joel B. Bassett and I leave 

~}. Antoney for St. Cloud on train and arrived there at 7 P. M. This ~· 
is. the fartherest point we could reach by railroad. St. Cloud has about 

thousand inhabitants. Two Stage lines run out from here dai:J_y, one 

\•·Crow Wing and the other to Soc-Center. 

From St. Cloud, Maj. Bassett and I traveled in a fine buggy, drmm 
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by 2 superb mules, furnished us by the Government. We left St. Cloud 

at 30 minutes after 8 in the morning, and arrived at the Agency, a 

distance of 65 miles, just after dark and stopped an hour and a half 

for dinner. 

Geno Sanborn and Lady, Mrs. Taylor, Miss Gillespie and Jaso P. 

Taylor arrived at dark. It is now 15th of Sept. It rained all night 

and is raining at evening on 15th.· The people here count this the 

equinoxial storm but in our country, we always have it close«.- to the 

22nd. Maj. Bassett and 6 or 7 others of our party started this mor­

ning to the Pembina payment. Pembina means high bush cranberry. It 

It rained on is avmy up within 80 miles of the British possessions. 

the 17th when we started to White Earth Reservation. 
cd-

The waters in '5¾-.Pa.u.Q 

all the streams are so swollen we were compelled to go 
-~j 

by Swan River · 

and cross the Mississippi, to avoid Crow Wing and other streamso 

I want to mention here as I see it in my Diary, that Minnesota 

has 2½ millions acres of school lands, as good as an average and all 

that has been sold brought ~p6 an acre and 1½ millions dollars besides. 
hi:t__ 

I now resume my account of my travels on to White Earth to hold~~ 160 

• my first Council with Indians. After crossing the Mississippi at 1{~ 

Little Falls, we stayed the first night at Mr. Wortmans in Morris 

county. The next day we pushed on over some good and some bad road­

traveling considerably after night to reach Osakis _on Osalds Lake­

we could not have gotten there if we had not had the good fortune to 

procure a light. 

On much of our route, we had a great deal of trouble in getting 

the loaded wagons and our buggies and hacks over deep marshes, whereas 

. if we had gone through the 11turf 11 , as it is called, the horses and 

' 



mules and wagons would have mired up, and we could not have got them 

out. 

Our teamsters were provided with long cables and they understood 

all about ·transporting Indian supplies over these palludes or marshes. 

They would fasten these huge, long ropes to a wagon, then a sufficient 

nwnber of men would cross on the turf and pull the wagon over, putting 

planks under the wheels in the softest places. Then repeating and 

maneuvering until the wagons and other vehicles was over and pull the 

mules and hors es over in the same way, laying them on their side o 

Sometimes we would be detained 3 or 4 hours at such places, but 

have the pa$ience of Job. Every one of us ( and we mrrnbered 

· 30 or 40) kept in a perfect good humo-fr. All seemed to realize from 

the start, that we would have fatigue, trials and troubles in that long 

journey through a savage, waste, hovrl:ing wilderness. Every day of our 

march with its exciting :incidents were pretty much the same. We had 

both for man and beast and were fortunate in having 

one of the best cooks, in the person, _Mr. Smith. He was a splendid 

cook and always ch~erful and happy. I do not think we ever ate a meal 161 

while we were on our journey without cranberries in some shape and 

Smith knew just hovr to serve them. While he would be getting dinner, 

the teams eating, some of the men would frequently take a short hunt 

around the encampment as game was plentiful. One day our men fell in 

hunters and they had jus·t found one of their men, who 

had strayed off and become lost and he became so bewildered and alarmed 

when he could not find the camp, he was nearly crazy. He was sure he 

would be killed by the Indians and this thought so preyed on his mind, 

he had written his own obituary and pinned it on his coato It read 



th\s ... wayi>_ 1~J~ Smith, ki;I;,led _by the Indians, Sept. 2~th, 1868. 11 

~ ~ ~. D-r-~ ~ iici, u) ~ . 
When we reached the Leaf Mountains, we stopped o rest and take 

our dinner and while our friend, Smith, was prepar:ing our meal, several 

of us, :including the Ministers, went to the highest Pinnacle, where, 

vd.th magnifying glasses, we could see nearly all over the state and 

Minnesota is ~ ~ large stateo Minnesota is distinguished for its 

great number of Lakes. I th:ink that an over estimate but looking 

from the top of Leaf Mounta:ins that day--over such a vast territory, 

the lakes seemed innumerable, "mixed and mingled11 with land, some small 

large. It was :indeed a grand sight, one never to be for-

The 11Leaf MolUltains are called the backbone of the World. 11 Here 

is the great division of the waters. All the waters on this side of 

rllll into the Mississippi River and then on to the Gul,f 

pf Mexico, and on the other side, the waters all run into Hudsons Bay. 

Extract from my Diary of 20th of Sept., 1868. 1rwe are now at 

>Brandon. When we get 20 miles farther, the waters rllll into the 

Ottertail river, which make the Red River of the north, .which empties 

into Hudsons Bayo 11 

I cannot point out just where we struck the noted Santa Fe Trail, 

but I know we followed it a long distance with one wheel of our vehicles 162 

in the trail and the other :in the grass. Vfuile following this cele-

brated trail, we met a great many wagons, sometimes as many as 40 or 

Frequently one driver would have 3 or 4 teams llllder 

He would manage them by talking to them and cracking 

certain way that they would understand. 

First frost was on the 15th of Sept. It did not hurt much. 



People here report that 700 bushels Irish potatoes have been raised 

here to the acre and 400 is a common crop. Cabbage is a splendid 

vegetable here and squash, 60 lbs. I could buy 400 acres of land 

around Brandon, good house and stables for $.5000. Could pay for it 
I ~t~ ~ w:J:l. ~ i-* ~ 

in sale of lotso·~ G~-.! ~
1 

'J.-41:l. ~.) 

11 22nd- We are now 9 miles above Ottertail, encamped in a hail storm. 11 

Majo Bassett and I arrived at White Earth(Lake)Reservation at 

, 5 P. M., 23rd Sept., after traveling nearly all day in a snow storm. 

It had been hard for the sun to cross the equinoxial line this year. 

I was quite chilly when I got out of the buggy. We were received by 

the Chiefs and headmen with demonstrations of friendship and treated 

· courteously. 

The names of the Chiefs at this town of about one thousand are: 

·· Meunedo Wa, Wanbona Cut, Esconnut Cut, Nebonesto Rung, Sacossega, 

I held a Council with the Indians every day for 4 days. A council 

is conducted in the following manner, when they are friendly and 

intend to compliment the agent with a dance o Their warriors are all 

and each one has a feather in his hair for 

man he has killed-and some on this occasion had as many 

Each warrior had a gun, hatchet, knife, bow and arrow, a 

heavy stick or something with which he could kill a man. They were 

,all drawn up in a large 

~ter and the principle 

ring, completely surrounding me and nzy- inter-
,, 

Chief and his Drummer Boy. My inter~eter on 

occasion was Paul Boleao, a hall breed. He was an intelligent 163 

Jellow and it being the first council, and he now knowing that I had not 

known anything about Indians, whispered to me and told me to not mind 

/'/7 



their demonstrations. Let them show ever so many signs that they in­

tended to put me to death and not to be afraid, that they would do me 
C ~ tv ~~ Wo.>i... D~ --e .. ~ ~-J Mh~m. - I--,,----· l 7 

At the tap of the drwn, by the little boy, the warriors commenced 

running around in the big circle singing and, when they completed the 

circle, they would hollow the war whoop--then round and round, again 

and again. Presently one soldier, perhaps with a gun, would fasten 

his eye on me as he ran round and directly he would jump out of the 

ring and make his circuit nearer to me, with his gun presented as though 

to shoot and, after making all the demonstrations he wanted to, he would 

jwnp back in line and another would put a scowl on his face and, perhaps 

come out with a sword uplifted as if he intended to kill me the next 

they had all the fun they wanted, then they 

were ready to know what I had to say about my Government; and what 

message their Great Father had sent to them by me, etc. 

Their Great Father is the President of the United States. The 

Council then commenced by the old Chief stepping in front of me and 

'IT!!/ interpeter, Bolean, and commencing his speech in Chippewa. When 

· he had spoken as long as he thought the interpeter could remember, he 

stopped to let the interpeter tell me in English, what he had said. 

Then I answered the Chief's speech and these speeches went on 

until all the questions at issue were fully discussed. They had a 

great many complaints to make against the Government and greatly mis­

construed the Treaty Stipulations. I took pains in reading and ex­

from printed copies of the Treaty, just what they were en­

titled to and succeeded in satisfying them that designing white men 

.had misrepresented the Treaty. I convinced them that the Government 

!</<( ,' 
' l 
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would carry out, in good faith, every stipulation of the Treaty. 

The Indians generally are making more demands of the Government 

than could or should be complied with. I think annuities paid to them,. 
(~;_\.I""' 

every year has a demoralizing effect, not only on the Indian but not icily 

on the bummers along the border. Depending on the money and goods 

paid to them every year, keeps the Indians from hunting as much as they 
i~.-~ 

· would otherwise do. They rely too much on the annuities. 4~ ~, 1.;. 
<4t.J.. ri4'4.. c.wv JU~ "" 

After holding the first Council at White Earth, I found that the)<\ ([. 

soldiers would be a menace to the Indians and place me really in morer 1 

4anger, than I would be without themo I told the Indians, in n:w second 

talk with them, what I thought about it. I told them I would send the 

soldiers back to Fort Abercrombie, if they would send an escort of 

their mm warriors with me through the country and promise me protec-

tion, while I was in their nation. 

When this proposition was presented to them through Paul Boleao, 

I could see from their looks and ominous grunts, that it was heartily 

approved and when the old Chief replied, he said, 11 Our Great Father 

the head11 , when says; send war men back. We 

have been talking about it. Our friendly agent comes here and talks 

good to us and says he means us no harmo Our Great Father at Wash­

ington means us no harm. Then why have soldiers? We have no soldiers. 

peace. We say to the agent we glad to send our men with 

send soldiers back, and we promise not a hair of head 

shall be hurt while he stay in our nation. 11 

This Indian Chief meant all he said and truly represented his 

).)and of a thou.sand Indians at White Earth but, nevertheless, as we 

I crune near being killed by the band of Indians at Leech 



Lake(the last place I visited) and only escaped by leaving in the 165 

night, assisted by my friends and soldiers stationed there, under 

command of Col. Bush. 

Wir. Tomlison and I remained at White Earth Lake until the Pay 

Party, under Maj. J. B. Bassett went to Pembinau to pay the Indians 

at that point their annuities of goods and money. 

We intended to go on to Leech Lake by what is called portages; 

that is across lakes, then carry the light birch bark canoe from lake 

to lake--thus cutting off fully one half the distance, but on trying 

the canoes at the mill, on the end of the lake, where we intended to 

embark on this dangerous voyage, we found the canoes were too small 

'l-and not at all safe. So we gave it out and waited p~iently until 

Maj. Bassett returned from Pembinau. 

Then we returned by the circuitous route to the Chippewa Agency, 

then on to Leech·Lake. 

Before leaving off my account of my talks and dealings with the 

Indians at White Earth Lake, it would be proper to state more in de­

tail, what were the issues between the Indians and the Government. 

The Indians charged that the supplies furnished by agents of the 

Government, both in goods and in what they eat were of an inferior 

kind, and that the lands cleared and ploughed for cultivation did not 

amount to the number of acres agreed upon in the Treaty; therefore, I 

had to measure all the lands that had been ploµghed for them at their 

new reservations and count all the houses, that had been built for 

their occupancy; and had to go to the Commissary Department and examine 

the flour, meal, meat, etc., etc. I found a little flour slightly 

injured by being transported long distances in rainy weather and some 
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Every thing else seemed in fair shape. 

I had learned enough about Indian character during nzy- 6 years resi-

dence, when I was quite young, among the Indians ( Cherokees and the Creeks ) 166 

to know these Chippewas would expect some present from me on this occasion, 

so when I had held my last Council with this band, I told them I wanted 

to talk a while to them on subjects not com1ected with the public 

service. 

I told them I had ordered 3 barrels of flour to be issued to them 

from the Commissary--I told them I did this in lieu of giving them 

whiskey as had been done in many instances, to their great injuryo 

Now, said I, "I want to make you a plain talk for your own good, 

because yoµ have treated me kindly and you have, by your conduct sillce 

I 1ve been among you, made a good impression on my mind, and you have 

inspired me with a hope that you illtend to(at least some _of you intepd_. 
-~ j ~ ,:i. .. ~ -~-e ... K_ "t: ~ ~, 

to) try to become a civilized people. ~ ~ ~ ~-

I would love to encourage you ill your efforts, since you have told 

me, it is your desire to improve ill your manner of life and try ~o 
I 

iJJn\utate white people ill performing all the duties of life, but it is 

my duty to be plaill with you. It is impossible for you to improve 

until you become illdustrious. ~ must treat your women better­

nothing ~ the characteristic ~ savage life ~ ~ ~ bad ~­

~ £! your ~- and daughters. 

)Then I went out the other day to see your fine, steam,saw mill, 

furnished by the Government to saw lumber for your houses, I met one 

of your men, his wif e--the poor woman had a very heavy sack of rice 

straped on her shoulders, and then her baby on top of that, and her 

husband walking along with a gun on his shouldero 



And this morning I saw 4 of our young women come into tovm, each 

one dragging a load of long heavy poles on their hips like oxen, to 

make fires for you lazy men to smoke your pipes a.round. You have told 

me you want to be like white people but, that statement is contrasted 

to your every day li.feo If you really wanted to be like the white 167 

man, you would put on pants, coats, vests, etc., and quit going about 

with a blanlmt around you, holding. f~~ound you with one hand, while 
~.'t~ ~~·~~~ 

you ho.ld your pipe with the othero ~ y-<"' ~ (\..,~,) 

The industrious white man dresses so as to have nothing to impede 

the use of his hands and he goes to work at what ever will pay him best. 

He cuts off his hair and keeps it out of his way. As a rule,you Indian 

men never cut your hair, but plait it and let it grow and hang down 

your backs until it reaches to the ground, by the time you are middle 

aged men. All this is a mark of savage life, and is not praise worthy. 

I would be glad to see it otherwise but, in looking around since I 1ve 

I 1ve seen but one Indian man trying to imtnitate the white 

is said to be training his children, both 

girls and boys to work and also dress like white people--that man is 

11llinne do Wah", your Chief, who is now present to hear my words of 

commendation. It was on account of these virtues and the good report 

I have heard of him, that I singled him out from your other chief men, 

and made him a present of my fine fancy walking cane, which I brought 

with me from Washington and, which I valued so highly·o 

I wish we had all of your Ojibway tribe with us here to day. I 

,rould take pleasure in giving them all a "plain talk11 --good advice, 

them goodo From a residence of six years among dif­

I think I understand their wants, and I think I am 



competent to advise them, and I lmow I have interest enough in their 

to tell them the trutho 

It is too common with Government Agents, when holding Comcils 

Indians, (as I have witnessed in my early life at Councils in 

Cherokee and Creek Nations) to try to gain their favor by flattery. 

I think an Indian appreciates the truth as much as a white man and 

loves to hear it, but alas, the white man has so many temptations to 

hide the truth from the more ignorant Indian. I do not want you to 168 

think hard of me for pointing out your faults to you. We all do wrong, 

it matters not what our condition in life, and the best evidence of 

aman 1s friendship is for him to tell us of our faults, if it is done 

in the proper spirit and at the right time. 

I wish to notify you of one more mistake you are making and then 

I will close. 

Your Great Father, through his agents, has constructed a good 

.•. many homes for your families; these homes would make you warm and 

comfortable during the long cold winters, to an extent you have never · 

felt comfort before, if you would move into themo I have gone around 

and counted them and examined them so I can ma_ke my report to your 

Great Father, when I get back to Washington, and let him know your 

exact situation, for he has an interest in your welfare. But after 

finding that the houses had been built according to the Treaty stip­

ulations,; they are ~ standing idle; not one occupied; and all pf your 

families living in wigwams, just as your Fathers and Grandfathers lived 

a century ago. .And if I were to return here a year from now, I would 

expect to f:ind your elegant houses standing unoccupied, as they are 

today. 'This conduct of yours is not in the direction of civilization. 11 
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When I was done with my talk, all the Indians cheered me. And 

then, Wambona Cut, one of their Chiefs, rose and made me the following 

speech, as reported by Paul F. Boleao, my interpreter at this point: 

11 0ur Great Father's Agent, who has come so far to talk to us, has 

spoken the truth and we want to thank him for what he has told us. He 169 

need not be afraid we get mad at him for telling us the truth. We 

of ten despise white man that tells us smooth things, when we know he 

don 1t care for us. We Y4sh al], Agents would de~l with honestly ~ 
tt~~;a•u.J_,,~~~ SC I ~(~ • 

and tell us no lies o 11 ~ fr,J,.Ji. ~ ~ ~ ii; ~~ _) 

11We will send our soldiers to meet you at Leech Lake, as we 

promised, and go with you to White Oak Paint and anywhere you want to 

go through our nation. And when you are done visiting our tovms and 

holding Councils with our people, and go back to your own people, we 

want you to write us a long letter, and give us more good advice. Send 

the letter to Mro Wright, your interpreter at Leech Lake, who has 

taught school among us for more than 20 years; he will read it to us. 

We wish you good luck and a safe journey home. 11 

I then bid them farewell at Vfuite Earth by shakj_ng hands cord­

ially with the Chiefs and bowing to the warriors and squaws that were 

present. 

While remaining at the Government Steam Saw Nd.11, waiting for the 

return of Maj. Bassett from the Pembina payment, after we found it 

unsafe to go to Leech Lake by canoes rowed on lakes by Indians, I had 

trouble with Dr. Penniman, who got his face frightfully cut by falling 

on a very sharp snago He was a large fleshy man with large face and 

the cut was a terrible one. He bled profuselyo I left him, when I 

started to Leech Lake, improving. 



~troubles~ d_angers ~ Leech Lake. 

Maj. Joel B. Bassett and I traveled from the Agency to Leech Lake 

alone in ourfine out fit. We failed to reach there the first day. 

Yfe had to camp out alone, 15 miles on this side of the Lake • From 

the unsettled condition of the Indians at Leech Lake, we did not feel 

entirely secure, especially as Charles A. Ruffler had gone up there 

the day before to prejudice the Indians against the Government all he 

could, and especially against Majo Bassett, who had supplanted him 

(Ruffer) in the appointment of Local Indian Agent. 

We reached Leech Lake at 10 o'clock next morning and found this 

wild and turbulent band of Indians in no mood to be reasoned with. 

We were well aware of this unsettled state of mind, from meeting the 

day before with Couriers sent to meet us and demand qf us presents for 
(G.,.J..'V\.,(>-w"'tcl-fu 

killing of their Principal Chief, "Hole in the Day. 11 ~~· 
f i -ivj) 

In place of hiding away to keep from being arrested en e c 
Lake. 
there, they boasted of having killed their chief and wanted me to 

appoint another Chief to rule over them. 

I was compelled to manage this dissolute band with great circum­

spection and caution. If I had rashly gone to work and exercised all 

the powers vested in me as Agent of the Government, in ca.rrying out 

and defending the Treaty Stipulation; we would have had to battle 

right there • 

My previous knowledge of Indian affairs and weighing well their 

character, served me well in this emergency. I had 3 days to spare 

after I reached Leech Lake before the day set for holding the Council 

with these wild Indians and I made choice of that interim to hold a 

Council with Iµdians at White Oak Point, on the Mississippi River, 
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l50 miles from Leech Lake. I therefore, spent no time in handling words 

through my new interpreter, Mro Wright, with these bad Indians, but Llk._ ~ 
pressed into service a steam boat belonging to 11 Uncle Sam11 , but being~ 

~ 
used to transport supplies for the Indians on the Mississippi River ~,-Ro~ 

1tu.:,. h>-.,:._;,, j, <~ 

and large lakes. In this boat, we sailed over the big waves of Leech ~J' 
Lake 10 miles that evening and camped on the bank of the Great Miss-

issippi River. We were afraid to risk riding the waves on Leech Lake 

in a canoe., so we carried it :in the steam boat with us from the town 

to where we camped on the river. The next morning, very early, we 171 

started in our 4 fathoms canoeo It was like all their canoes, ma.de· 

of birch bark. It was 20 feet long, and about 4½ feet across in the 

middleo We had :in it, besides Maj. Bassett and myself, Mr. Wright 

(my interpreter) and 4 Indians, who were detailed from White Earth to 

accompany me through all my travels through the Nation, in place of 

the soldiers I had sent back to Abercrombieo 

Our whole cargo consisted of 7 men, our provisions, cooking utensils, 

our camp equipage, 3 shot guns, an ax and a box of tobacco o 

The birch bark of -which these canoes are ma.de, has 20 or more 

layers as fine as the finest paper on which bank notes are printed, 

and the ribs are made of cottonwood, which is very light, and the 

is so light, that one can pick it up with one hand and 

carry it up on shore and turn it bottom upwards, and build a fire in 

front, and spread dovm our blankets, cover with our buffalo robes and 

sleep soundly till morning. Same as if we were at our house in a 

comfortable bed. 

The canoe was so light, it rode the waters like an egg shell. 

Indians did the rowing and the other two sat in front, each with 



a shot gun, and killed more wild ducks than we could eat. 

We traveled on an average about 6 miles an hour. We were now 

about fifty miles below I.._~~..§1:..J!s.K~., which is the head of the Mississ­

ippi River. I was greatly surprised to find the country so near the 

head of the Mississippi River so level. We could scarcely tell which 

way the water was running. The water spreads out in many places 

covering hundreds of acres and in some, even thousands of acres. 

In such places the water is usually shallow, even some times from 

a foot to 4 or 5 feet. Here are the enormous rice fields. When the 

rice gets ripe, the Indians will leave home by families and camp out 

for weeks, gathering wild rice. They go into where the rice grows 

in canoes and bend the rice over into the canoe and thrash it off, till 

the canoe is full; then go to shore and take it out, put it in a hole 

previously dug ou·t, having the rice in a blanket or sheet and tramp 

it out. Then they clean it by making wind with a sheet, as our fathers 

did before the old wind mill was invented. In this way, they get 

rice enough to supply their families. The balance of their living, 

outside of vegetables, they get by the chaseo 

A great many vegetables grow. to perfection there. People told me 

that, as much as seven hundred bushels of irish potatoes had often 
'V ~~: A ~ ~ n'\.I ~ 

been raised there to the acre o - ~~.) 

After holding a Council with the Indians at White Oak Point, we 

returned to Leech Lake the fourth morning aj'ter leaving. In many places 

, the Whole face of the Mississippi is covered with large tall rank reeds. 

we had to follow the way ploµghed through this immense 

wilderness of reeds by the steam boat. 'When we would emerge from this 

wilderness, out into the open expanse of water where no reeds grow, we 

/ e;; 7 
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would find the river covered with wild ducks o Then the Indians in the 

front of the canoe would let off their guns and keep right on through 

, the dead and wounded ducks, 
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and we would pick up a few of them, and when meal time came we 

would go out to a favorable place on the shore, build up a fire and 

cook what we wanted, and leave the most of them at the campfire. 

When the canoe would II spring a leak11 , the S..ndians would strike for 

the bank and take it out and turn it up and soon stop the leaks with 

cement they carried with them for the purpose. 

We had an arrangement for the steam boat to meet us where it 

left us, to take us back over the Lake; for we were unwilling to 

risk our lives on so large a Lake with the waves and white caps run­

ning so high. We reached where we left the boat sometime before 

night, and concluded to proceed along the end of the lake a few 

miles to a high point of land on the end of the lake where we would 

prefer to camp. I was persuaded to consent to this because Major 

Bassett and .Mr. Wright knew the country. But when we had proceeded 

a little way; the waves were becoming so high and the white caps 

were becoming so dangerous, it alarmed me very much. When we were 

in what is called the 11 trough11 the wave on either side, and before us 

would look like mountains, and directly we would mount the wave, 

then we would be looking down into the trough.--it looked like a 

hollow or basin. 

I became so alarmed, I made them turn to the shore and let me 

off. When we came near the shore, the waves ceased, and the water 

became so shallow, one of the Indians jumped out and motioned me 

to get on his back, which I did, and he carried me out as quickly 

and safely as a horse could. The canoe with all living humanity, left 

me alone in a dark dense timber on the shore, to travel alone for 

4 miles to the Promontory where we had agreed to camp and wait till 

morning for the steam boat. 

/5? 
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I was at no time out of sight of my friends, yet I felt lonely, 

if not a little afraid. I had not gone far, until I looked ahead, 

along the lake, and about a mile ahead of me, I saw a black object 

come from the timber and go down to the lake to drink. I believed 

it .was a bear. I watched it go back into the timber. When I got 

to the place I found by the tracks that it was a wild pony. We 

camped on the shore and waited for the boat next morning until we 

were out of patience, and could wait no longer on account of that 

being the day I had appointed 

Indians, and we were 10 miles 

to hold a council with the Leech Lake 
t ·o-wv~ t~ -+~ 

away. ib ~ 01-v ~ •. 

We concluded to start in our 4 fathoms canoe, as the wind had 

not started the waves. The lake was smooth and calm, not a ripple on 

the surface. We hoped we could hurry up the indians and be able to 

reach the town, before the wind would start the waves in motion. So 

we put out, but in about half an hour the waves commenced running. 

We were then a long way from land in any direction. We did not know 174 

what to do. I trusted some to Bassett and Wright on account of their 

superior knowledge about how to manage our frail craft, and especially 

the lndians as they seemed to understand all the manipulations JI.. • i... ~ O 
( ~ ~ J'-J..'~ 

. necessary to keep on top of the treacherous waves. ~ ~ ~) 

Such a time as this makes thoughts run rapidly through the 

mind. We were indeed in great peril. I trusted more in this emer­

gency to the Super-ruling Providence that watches over us from the 

"Cradle to the grave, than in all human power. We were all much 

I thought of my far from home. 

I was at the head of the Father of Waters, several thousand miles 

from home - ·my native Southland - should I never see my dear family 

Should I soon be buried in that deep lake? And no friend left 
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to report my entombment? These were thoughts running rapidly 

through my disturbed mind. 

But presently we saw the steam boat; plainer and plainer did it 

appear, as our frail barlc would run upon the crest of the wave, but 

we could see that its course would take it far to our right. Evidently 

the boatman llad not sighted us, and they were not expecting us to 

break camp until they reached there. We tried every device to attract 

Sound reaches farther on water than on ha4; I had 

fired several shots and the lndians shot with their guns. 

their attention. 

a revolver and I 

At last when about opposite to us but a considerable distance off, 

we were rejoiced to see the boat turn toward us. They hastily came 

along side of us, and with ropes took us and our canoe on board, and 

turned about, and carried us to the town in safety. The place is 

enclosed, and the gate is kept locked constantly, night andday, and 

holds about one thousand of the worst ~ndians in the Chippewa Nation. 

Dr. Barnard keeps a good hotel, and there are about a dozen families 

of white people in the tmvn, and 30 u. s. Soldiers stationed there 

/~/ 

under the command of Col, Bush. On my return here I found, as I e~ected, 175 
~~ 

Charles A. Ru:ffee with about 50 of his understrikers ready for any ~· ~~ 
0/ • 

emergency. This in itself forboded trouble for I had been notified~ H.~ 
A () ,. er 

by the best men I could find ever since I entered the nation, that ~ 
~~~-

Ruffee could control the 

that he had inspired all 

entire band of ,2.ndians at this point, and 

the trouble with the indians, and made them 

dissatisfied with the new reservations, and wanted them to annul the 

last treaty made'with the Government. 

All this, because he, Ruffee, had been removed from the position 

of Local Agent for these ~ndians and Bassett put in his place. 



I felt undecided wha~ to do; knowing the temper of these Indians 

after being harangued by Ruffee the night before, (who as I learned 

from my interpreter, Wright) had told them, when I came back 11 treat 

him roughly11 , said he, 11 spit in his face, and if he don I t re sent that, 

then kill a Government ox, and divide him among your warriors, then 

he will call out the troops, and you can soon put 30 soldiers through. 11 

This talk was plain treason against the Government that I was 

representing; but what could I do7 

I knew there were such odds against us, I must do nothing rashly, 

but must proceed cautiously. We had, in complying with the treaty 

stipulations to pay this band fourteen thousand dollars in goods, and 

t¥en thousand dollars in green backs that day, and the goods and money 

were ready, and I had copies of the treaty with me. I hastily called 

my friends together at the hotel for consultation. We all agreed it 

was best to go on with the council, in the most friendly manner possible, 

and to keep our temper, even at the expense of bearing direct insult, 

for we had no other way left us. We were surrounded by an armed mob, 

and we knew it. Ruffee and his 50 henchmen were all armed, and they 

alone outnumbered the soldiers. Then there were, on a reasonable esti-
~~~~ 

mate, 250 Indians armed, out of a thousand present.~~~~ 
. f. 176 

I instructed Mr. Wright to announce to the Indians that we would 

go into council immediately. The Indians responded at once by drawing 

their warriors into a hollowed square with their Chief, the interpreter 

and myself in the center. 

The Chief on this occasion was a young man - a self constituted 

Chief. One of the murderers of the principal Chief, 11Holinday11 , and 

it could easily have been proven that his object in assassinating 



11Hole in the Day" was to become Chief himself. His ferocious appear­

ance betrayed his bad and murderous character. His first speech was 

a terrible indictment against the Government, couched in the bitterest 

language he could master; with many threats of vengeance, if he could 

not have the things to go just as he wanted them. Among other impudent 

things he said, he gave utterance to the following, 11 The Government 

owes us heap money, and it must be paid today, and we won't take no 

paper money, we will have gold or we will have blood. 11 While he stood 

there speaking, and his body trembling with rage, and every linement 

of his savage countenance indicating that he wanted to provoke a battle, 

Charles A. Ruffee was standing about 50 yars behind us, with 50 willing 

tools, made up of white bummers, and half breeds on the border, who 

were willing to do his bidding. He sent one of these to push his way 

into the council. When he got in, he said to my interpreter, 11 Tell 

that Indian to say what he pleases here today and he shan 1t be hurt. 11 

After a while of raving, and more abuse of the Government, the 

Indian allowed the interpreter to tell me what he had said. Then it 

became my time to speak. I did so, first, by reading carefully the 

treaty, and explaining the points at issue, in a calm and dignified way, 

I made it a point to have my talk to be in great contrast with the 

Indian I s speech in toine and temper but I took care not to back down an 

inch in any question in the controversy. He contended a long time for 

gold, but I finally reasoned him out of it by showing him that I received 

a salary from the Government and that I had never demanded gold and 

no officer of the Government had ever demanded gold in payment; but 

were always ready to take green back. He finally agreed to receive it, 

and we paid him ten thousand dollars in green backs, and fourteen 

thousand dollars in goods.(;}~ ~-w7~ 
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I left there with the impression, from all I could learn, that 

Ruffee and his crowd would get more than half of what was paid to 

them before they left. 

After the council was over, and every thing having been settled 

more quietly than Ruffee wan-bed it to, he asked me to walk out a little 
(~ 

way and sit down and talk awhile. I walked out with him. ~ i 
He asked me what impression had been made on my mi~1 

to the trouble with the Chippewas, after traveling over the Nation, 

and holding councils with the Indians at all their towns? and what 

would be the tenor of my report when I returned to Washington? saying 

that he sometimes went to Washington and had taken positions there and 

he was particularly desirous of knowing if I held in my possession any 

damaging testimony from Minnesota men in regard to his public acts, 

.since he had been in public service. 

I frankly told him that I had affidavits, which were sworn to, 

that reflected upon his reputation and tended to make him responsible 

for the uprising about to be inaugurated throughout the Nation. I 

told him I had a certificate from Mr. Mott that he (Ruffee) had offered 

liaj. Paddock, who had been sent on this mission before me, ten thousand 

to Washington, and make a report that would cause 

turned out of the Indian Agency and he (Ruffee) 

While talking so freely with Ruffee, I had 

time to weigh the effect of my words, and what they might influence 

at bad man to do~ Pk.v 1J 'a~~~ ~78 

But, after we separated, and while walking on to the hotel where 

friends were, I had time to mentally renew our conversation. I then 

at once what interest he might have in preventing me, or my report 



I was alarmed for my safety, before I reached the hotel, and 

more alarmed, when I told my friends what had happened, and saw at once 

that they all, including my interpreter, Mr. Wright, believed I was in 

great danger. We commenced devising means at once for my escape from 

this furious band of Indians, over whom Ruffee had complete control. 

We fell upon this plan; that I would send Mr. Wright round to have a 

talk with the Indians at once and, incidentally, while talking about 

the council that day, mention that I was going next day with the pay 

, party to Red Lake. 

While he was engaged at that, Mr. Wilson, a trusty soldier, was 

detailed to go with me to the Agency, a distance of 75 miles. We 

prepared at once for the trip, which was made in my fine buggy drawn 

by the same excellent span of mules Maj. Bassett and I had driven all 

through the Nation. We were let pass through the gate next morning 

at 3:00 o'clock while the Indians, Ruffee and his henchmen were all 

sound asleep and by the time they awoke in the morning, we were 11 out 

~ the ~, 11 and onto a smooth level prairie, and we made such good 

· speed that we arrived at the Agency by dark. 

We came to 11 Crow Wing", next morning, in time for me to take 

the stage for St. Cloud the head of the railroad, where I remained 

long enough to interview some parties in regard to the troubles, and 

controversy between the Indians and Governmental authorities, then I 

pushed for Washington without another stop-over. 

When I was fairly released from the great excitement and danger 

I had passed through, and could calmly look back and· see it all, I 

felt thankful that I had escaped with my life. I had great reason 

to believe that my life was in danger. 



I had to endure physical, as well as mental, suffering. I had 

been so exposed to the most sudden change in the weather on my trip 

from White Earth to the Agency the week before that I had ever 

witnessed, and it had effected me so as to disable me from speaking 

above a whisper, for a whole week, and during that time I had to 

travel 300 miles, and hold two councils with the Indians. 

Before leaving off my account of my administration of Indian 
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in Minnesota--by way of giving some of my views of the character, 

etc., of Indians generally, I will here quote from my notebook, 

carried in my pocket during my long trip. 

"Chippewa Nation, Mississippi Agency, September 15th, 1868. 11 

I find a growing discontent, and ill feeling between the Indians 

been moved to White Earth Reservation, and those who refuse 

their old homes at Gull Lake and Mill Lake. This dissatis-

I think, became more pronounced and caused more trouble, unless 

the Government interferes and compels the Mill Lack Indians to remove 

to their new reservations, according to the stipulations of the Treaty. 

This enmity may ripen into hostilities, if some interference is 

not resorted to by the Government. 

This same sort of difficulty occurred in the treaty and removal 

Georgia and Tennessee, running through the years 

to 1836. Though very young at that time I was an eye 

of the trouble in those trying times. I attended 

eir councils for years and finally in 1838, I made part of the U. s. 

y, charged with the duty of enforcing the stipulations of the treaty, 

gathering up the wandering bands, and having them taken to the Indian 

they now reside. Some of the Cherokees were satisfied 



with the sale of their lands, I think about half of them - these were 

generally the most intelligent ones. But the masses of them were 
~~w-i.Uc~ 

bitterly opposed to leaving their old homes.~~~~ 
(~ ~--a )0 

These factions became so embittered against each othl3'r that it 

finally culminated in the assassination of several of the more intel­

lectual Indians, among them that good man, Jack Walicer, whose death 

I deplored very much, al though I was then so young. I had become very 

much a·ttached to Walker and his clever wife. These murderers were 

full blooded Indians, ignorant and cruel. From my knowledge of the 

Indian character, based upon a residence of 6 years among the Cherokees 

and Creeks, both Indians (Nations) more advanced in civilization than 

these Chippewas, I am led to believe our Government committed an error 

in removing the Chippewas from around the present Agency--for the follow­

ing reasons, in part. 

First, the main body of these Indians never will become an agri­

cultural people. A very few may, but the great majority will ever live 

by the chase. It is their nature, and I think it will be impossible 

to induce them to give it up. 

The country around Gull Lake and Mill Lack, where a portion of 

them still linger, is but little adapted to agricultural products, but 

it is an excellent game country, abounding in bear, deer and the smaller 

kinds of game, while the Lakes are filled with fine fish. Their new 

reservation at White Earth Lake is eminently an agricultural region. 

There cannot be found in the whole state 36 square miles of better lands 

with better adaptation for raising all the crops suited to this climate. 

And here there is less game of all kinds than on the old hunting grounds. 
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Secondly, there are many reasons for believing that within a 

few years, the progressive, adventurous white man will make encroach­

ments upon this Indian border, (as they have done) and seeing their 

fine lands.with so many advantages, they will not lack for arguments 

to the authorities that it would be best, both for the Indians and 

whites, that they be pushed still farther West, as they are not making 

use of their fine lands. 11 

In closing the details of my travels on this dangerous mission, 

which included about 825 miles in the wilds of the Nation, after crossing 

the Mississippi River, I must try to give a brief description of soIIB 

extraordinary curiotsi ties ~een at Leech Lake and on the Mississippi · 
(_U\.L. ~ R.~ Wcul-L cJ--~ ~) 

River at Pocagemie Falls. 

After starting to cross the great Leech Lake in the steam boat, 

heretofore mentioned, the first thing which arrested my attention was 

a great rock wall, lining the shore to our left. The wall looked to 

be about 10 feet above the waters, and how far under the water we 

could not tell. The wall stood perpendicular, one rock upon another, 

like it had beep built by hand, and fine workmanship. The rocks were 

of a very dark color, smooth surfaced and square shaped, like hewn 

timber, but of different sizes and lengths. 

I asked Mr. Wright, who had lived in that country over 20 years, 

what this meant? He said, 11 that is the question propounded by all 

travelers over this lake. 11 He then gave me his theory to account for 

this mysterious wall. In about these words. 11Leech Lake is 10 miles 

long and 5 miles wide. It holds in its bed a vast number of smooth 

rocks of different sizes and lengths, like you see in the wall. In 

the winter the ice is from 4 to 5 feet thick. When it breaks up in 
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the Spring into large boulders, and the wind lashes the lake into 

great fury, the waves tending from the center to the shore, and these 

huge boulders turn up on their edges, dipping down to the bottom and 

getting behind these rocks, and the great force of the wave carries 

it to the shore and when the wave recedes it leaves the rock, or rocks, 

and subsequent waves bring their rocks and force them up on one another, 

like battering rams, until the wall is formed just as you see it. 11 

By the force of the waves, from the center to the circumference 182 

of lakes, makes the elevation round lakes resembling so much the earth 

works thrown up by soldiers making breast works in the time of war. 

A beautiful illustration of this is seen above Pocagrunie Falls, on 

the Mississippi River. As we traveled down the river for 150 miles, 

the country was so flat and level, in traveling on the bosom of the 

river, one can scarcely tell which way the water is moving. At Poca-

gamie Falls the whole waters of the Mississippi passed through a narrow 

chasm only 80 feet wide. It is believed with much reason, that 11 0noe 

upon a time" a hug!( rock held a sheet of water covering a space 150 

miles long and So miles wide, above these falls, for there is an eleva~ 

tion several feet high all round this space, just like earth works 

throvm up in time of war. 

It is believed that this immense rock held the water, bottled up 

as it were, making it some 30 feet higher at the falls than it is novf, 

the water gradually falling over the 80 feet of rock, until in the 

course of time this massive rock gave way, allowing the vast amount 

of water to flood the Mississippi Valley. 

This great expanse of water receded from this periphery, as marked 

out by the elevation, and ever since that the waters of the upper 

Mississippi have been confined to, comparatively, a narrow channel. 



In the latter part of the Summer and early Fall, the river gets low, 

and greatly interferes with steam boat navigation, Boats fail to reach 

points as high up as would make it profitabl~
1 
in carrying on the expen-
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V' ;}f'-t, ~ P~ ra.LOA 
sive commerce of the great Mississippi Valley. 1nvifi. ~-/~~ iti.. 

-~,J>l-,~l!J..~,Afv-4~~ 
This is a great drawback to the pros}erity of 6ne of the mos~~±~. 

productive countries on the continent. Many millions of dollars have 

been appropriated by the Congress of the United States besides all that 

individual effort could do, to prevent the annual floods from washing 
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away and utterly destroying one of the richest vallie·s· in the world. 

But in spite of all efforts to stay the tide, the devastation 

still goes on from year to year, 

I had traveled some on steam boats, where navigation had been very 

much improved by locks and dams, as is done on the Kentucky River 

between Frankfort and the mouth of that river, and while considering 

the situation at Pocagamie Falls, I thought, if Congress could be induced 

,P,'(J'i' 
to send competent engineers to Pocagamie Falls and tnr:oughly investigate 

the matter, and if they made a favorable report, then appropriate a 

sufficient sum of money to build a monster dam so as to cause it to 

rise and spread out and cover the many thousands of acres originally 

covered by the waters before the primitive dam gave way. This dam 

should be constructed upon such a scale that it could not give way and 

so arranged that the water could be held or let out at will, so as to 

make the flow much more uniform and thus preventing such floods, at 

certain seasons and always have a reserve to let out at very dry 

seasons to improve navigation. 

When I returned to Washington, I called on 4 members of Congress 

. with whom I was acquainted, and submitted my plan to them. They all 

approved of it and said it looked feasible, but I have never heard from 



I am now done with my short, hurried and imperfect detail of my 

mission to Chippewa Indians. But I can't bid them a final adieu until 

I compare their language with that of the Cherokees, and Creeks with 

which I was much more familiaro 

The Chippewas (or Ojibwas) are much more Savage than other of the 

other tribes, but notwithstanding this fact their language is more 

grammatical in its construction than either of the others, and according 

to Mr. Wright, my interpreter, who has resided among them as a school 184 

teacher for more than 20 years, the language of the Chippewas is superior 

in its grammatical construction than our own. Mr. Wright understands 

their language perfectly. In illustrating this subject, Mr. Wright gave 

me the following sentence to parse: 11 John told Jim his father was dead. 11 

Now, said Mr. Wright, 1~fuose father is meant in this sentence? John's 

father or Jim I s father? You don I t know whose father is meant. 11 Then 

he gave me the same sentence in Chippewa and the interpretation,. and it 

was easy to tell whose father was meant. 

I returned to Washington from my long and very dangerous trip on 

the 20th of October 1868 and ~Pf9.t 4 days in making out my report to 
'¼_ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ J.1-~ 

the Department of the Interior. w.. 1fat ~~A~ •• ~ ,. ~ 1. 1111.1 

·~ili ~ '™4~·~ ~ ~~~ 
Up to this time, I did not know the amount I would be paid for this 

On handing 

in my report, I was paid one thousand and fifty seven do 

two months service. 

I then resumed my position as Special Agent in the Post Office 

Department as before, and came by Elizabethton to visit my family who 

were anxiously looking for me. 

/7/ 



After resting a few days at home and leaving the presents given 

me by the Indian Chiefs, I hastened to my headquarters at Raleigh, 

lmovfing that much correspondence touching my official business had 

accumulated there. 

During the month of November and all the Winter months, as well 

as Spring, I was compelled to travel, and of necessity to expose myself 

more than at any time since I had been in office, on account of my 

absence for the two months I had spent in Indian Service. Quite a number 

/ 7?-

of depredation cases had come in and many were urging that parties should 185 

be arrested when I could locate them, and had to travel a good deal in 

the night, and much ~fit off of railroads in stages, buggies, etc. 

In my work as Special Agent of the P.O.D., I was not limited by 

state lines, but my district was North and South Carolina and I had 

'much travel in both states in this emergency. 

I had been eArposed in that cold, rigorous climate in Minnesota, 

especially from the 7th of October when the weather changed so suddenly, 

until I left there on the 16th. The effects of this exposure mainly fell 

upon my throat which finally ulcerated, causing me much pain and suffering. 

I would be compelled to stop several times and lay up until it 

would improve a little so I could resume my work again. I had to remain 

a week at Fayetteville with my good friend George Lander, where I was 

waited on as carefully as if at home. At last I had to stop all work 

· and call in Mr. McKee. I was then boarding with Maj. Foot, at Raleigh. 

Here I suffered more than I can tell, for weeks. I then saw I was 

compelled to quit my business and go home. I bid Raleigh a final adieu 

on 1st of May 1869 and crune by way of Weldon, Petersburg, Lynchburg and 

Bristol, at great risk of my life and sent up my resignation to talce 

effect on 19th May, 1869. 



The Department did not send me notice of its acceptance for about 

a month. 

I had a very hard time with my throat. In fact it never has gotten 

well. I am now (September 21, 1893) suffering with it. 

I did not recover so I could leave my room for months. When I did 
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recover I was somewhat undecided what business to engage in. I did not 186 

feel like resuming the practice of my profession. I had done an immense 

practice for many years and I exposed myself a great deal and found by 

a reference to my books, that a majority of my patrons were either 

unable or unwilling to pay me. This fact did not encourage me to make 

more bills to be left on my books unpaid - to keep company with ten 

thousand dollars already on the books for which I am satisfied I never 

will collect a dollar. (~~n, 
One of My Mistakes in Business ¥ ~ ~ 

·~._) 

When I was forced to resign my office of Special Agent, P.O.D. on 

account of my extreme bad heal th, and had so far recovered that I could 

post up my books, I found after paying my current expenses and replen­

ishing the waste and destruction of household goods by reason of the 

war, I had about four thousand dollars. How to invest this money so as 

to make something, was the question. After consulting several persons, 

I finally decided to go into the tanning, shoe and boot manufacturing 

business. I did not stop to consider that I knew nothing about conducting 

that particular branch of business, neither did I· talce time to think what 

the great demoralization, in labor brought about by the war we had just 

passed through, and especially the change that necessarily had taken place 

in the tanning business by the armies having destroyed all the cattle in 

the South, which would make hides high priced and hard to secure. 



All these things and marry more equally as unpleasant had to be 

learned· after I embarked in the business. Then it was too late to 

profit by it. 

About midsummer in 1869 I commenced constructing my buildings 187 

and sinking my vats on my own premises at Elizabethton. 

I went to great pains and expense in constructing buildings and 

sinking vats, etc. The boot and shoe shop was a large 2 story building. 

The lower story was used for finishing rooms and upper story for shoe 

and boot shop. The bark house was very large. I had 24 vats besides 

the pool and bates, etc. I had plenty of water conveyed from the Doe 

River, but rain water, being softer water, and, therefore, superior for 

tanning to either limestone or freestone, I had two large tanks constructed 

capable of holding two thousand gallons of water each, and had all the 

buildings spouted with tin so as to catch all the water falling onto the 

several buildings and convey it into these tanks. Then from the tanks, 

the rain water was conveyed into every vat. 

About the time I was fairly ready to commence tanning, my son, who 

had just returned from Raleigh, wanted to go to Texas to get into busi­

ness, and I had found hides hard to get here. I, therefore, furnished 

him money to buy hides, both in Arkansas and Texas. He bought some in 

Arkansas as he went on, then purchased a good many in Texas during the 

years he remained there. 

My books will show that dry trimmed hides on an average, cost ire 

20¢ per pound during the 7 years I was in the business and I could buy 

thousands of dry hides here now, both in Tennessee and Western North 

Carolina, at 5¢ per pound, 4 times as cheap as I had to pay, and all kinds 

of leather is selling nearly as high as when I unfortunately was in the 

business. 



Then I had to pay my shoes and boot makers big war prices for work. 

I paid from $2.50 to $3.00 for making fine boots, I furnishing all 

material and, other work in proportion. 

When I review the past and press of work during that 7 years, I 

can I t see how I as caped being entirely broken up. Of Course it injured 
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me financially and nothing save me from complete wreck but my indomitable 188 

perseverance, industry and economy - aided in a wonderful degree by my 

11better half". If I had taken her advice, and wound up the business 

much sooner, I would have saved a great deal of money and a considerable 

amount of worry. . 

But as the say~t6i:"I was heels over head in business. 11 and could 

not see how I could let go. An iron may l~ so hot one can 1t let go of it. 

To add to my discomfiture, just at this time Thomas S. Folsom returned 

from California and proposed to go into partnership with me. I agreed to 

take him in as an equal partner, on his paying into the concern, at ~, 

$1500.00-and $500.00 for rent of yard and one half of what it cost me to 

board hands. He paid in ~pl300.00 only, and failed to pay the rent and 

also board of hands, all of which fell on me. 

In place of meeting his obligations promptly according to his written 

contract, he soon commenced drawing out upon orders from time to time, 

until he had drawn nearly every dollar out he had put in, and I was com­

pelled to call on him for a settlement. I had superintended the business 

in person from the beginning, and, if I got him to atten~ to business for 

few days when I had to be absent, he was credited for his time at 

same rate I was getting. 

I told him that unless he paid in what money he promised to, we 

would have to dissolve our partnership and because his $1300.00 only, 

paid into as big a business and involving as much money paid out as he 



I had expended, did not make him a fortune, it made him my enemy for 

life. The partnership continued 4 years. I continued the business 

alone for 3 years more. 

At ½his writing (Elk Park, N. c., Sept. 22nd, 1893) there is a 

shoe shop within 200 Jd£nSof where my old one stood at Elizabethton, 

making 300 pairs of shoes a day. The proprietors, Messrs. Jordan and 

Graham, are making money where I lost money because they manufacture,,~ 
(~ ~ w;J,,.., 

by machinery and I made my shoes and boots by hand. ~ J<n:. ! ~) 
'/~-

It would be both unpleasant and unprofitable to recite the many 

trials and hardships I had to undergo in carrying on my ever pressing 

business, on account of labor being so demoralized by reason·of the war. 

No one who did not have personal knowledge of the unreliability of 

labor at the close of the war can have any conception of it. I paid my 
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hands, both in the tan yard as well as in the shoe and boot· shop, promptly 

and mostly in cash, especially at the commencement of the business. I 

paid hands in the shop by the piece and in the yard by the day, and no 

Saturday night found me owing them any wages, but often they were my 

debtors. 

First and last, during the 7 years I was compelled to change hands 

often and I had quite a number of hands, both black and white, and it was 

rare that I had a hand that did not damage me in some way - especially the 

last few years while I trusted others to boss the concern while I was away 

building 11 The Reems Creek Woolen Mills", at '\lfoaverville, North Carolina. 

I must relate one sore trial out of many I might mention, then I 

will dismiss this unpleasant recital. 

While Isaac Click was my head worlanan in the tanyard, and a better 

workman and more industrious man I never had in the yard, since I could 

· trust h:im to take the oversight of all the work when he could be kept 



there, but his home was in an adjoining county and he would absent him­

self from his work, when there was no necessity for it. He worked for 

me a little over a year - say 14 months - and in that time he lost 

93 days (working). He never could leave without injuring the business 

and he knew it and he cared nothing for it.c~~)u-

When he finally concluded to leave for good, he selected a time 

when he knew I had no one to take his place, and also had reasons to 

believe, and did believe, that it would be utterly impossible for me 

to hunt up a hand to do all the work that he knew must be done at once, 

or lose a large lot of hides. 

Mr. Click came up and ate his breakfast as usual, leaving his hat 

and coat at the yard. I went down shortly after to see how he was 

getting on working the hides out of the bait, which I was.so uneasy 

about. I saw Mr. C. was not there and his hat and coat were gone, 

and I knew that was the last of Mr. Click. 

No one could be procured at Elizabethton to save the hides. What 

should I do? I went to Johnson City and boarded the train and went 

as far as Greeneville, stopping at every place where there was the lease 

chance to get a hand and failed everyw-here •. On my return I went on 

to Bristol. Failing there, I came home and went horse back to see 

Cordell in the upper end of Crab Orchard, near the North 

· Carolina line, failing here as Mr. Cordell had hides in the same 

.. condition. 

I got home just at night, put my tired horse in the stable, ate 

rrry supper, procured lamps and went t'? the tan yard and pulled off my 

coat, rolled up my sleeves and went to work, and worked and sweated 

till nearly daylight, but I had the satisfaction of knowing that my 

energy had saved my hides. 

)77 
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(Note: about this time Io/ave Chancler the Darkie good advice) 

During all the 7 years that I was devoting my time mostly to other 

things, outside of my profession. Still I could not wholely give it 

up, when pressed by old friends in whose families I had practiced for 

many years. I would yield to their importunities and do some practice 
~~ 

and in chronic cases and more especially in surgical cases~~ .._\ W~ 
·~ - 1'316-) 

In 1875 I left my farm in the hands of my wife. She attended to 

that department and managed the farm better than I could, and I went 

to Weaverville, N. C. and built a woolen mill on Reems Creek, called 

the 11Reems Creek Woolen Mills. 11 

I had lost hope in making my tannery and shoe and boot shop a 

paying institution. I was wanting to wind it up. So I left John A. 

Riddle in charge, while I was building and running the Reems Creek 

factory. 

The Reems Creek Woolen Mills were owned and operated by a 

joint stock company. The stock was owned by A. Jobe, E. D. Jobe, 
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and K. F. Snyder. We made a success of building up a good and popular 

custom, woolen factory. After I completed the buildings and placed 

machinery in it, and got every thing in regular order and all started, 

I cmvassed several counties, with samples of our goods, so as to 

induce the people to increase the nwnber and quantity of their sheep. 

In this way, I built up a considerable business. I run the fac­

tory after its completion two years, then I had to give it up on 

account of my very bad health and my son, E. D. Jobe, one of the 

mmers, took my place as manager temporarily, as I had also doneo As 

our business and our citizenship were in Tennessee, we both sold out 

pretty soon to parties living at Weavervtllle and, in that neighborhood, 

and they have been running it successfully ever since. This woolen 

mill is elligible located and surrounded by counties whose inhabitants 

are generally well to do people. It is located only 7 miles east 

of Asheville, the largest and most prosperous and wealthy towns in 
( ~ ~ ~.-,~~ 1'Y\..L. + ~ 

western North Carolina. aA ' · ,) 

I was compelled to resign my position as Superintendant of the 

t.Reems Creek woolen mills on account of my extreme bad health. I kept 

my office in one end of the factory and slept there, and when I was 

taken sick and my case became so bad, I called in 3 doctors, but they 

did not realize how bad I really was until the noise of the looms and 

, other machinery had so destroyed my hearing, that I have never recovered 

from it to this day, although I have it treated repeatedly. I am novT 

· very hard of hearing. This is a greater misfortune than any one can 

conceive of, who never had defective hearing. It puts me to great dis­

advantage among strangers, who do not know I am hard of hearing. When 

I quit the tanning business, I had quite an amount of debts against 
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people for transactions covering so many years. A large amount of 

these were judgments, notes and acts against insolvent parties, yet 

many of them could have been collected by proper perserverance and 

management. But I could never find time to stop every thing and ride 

round and see how many of these debts I could collect. 

I never was a good collector. Some men could have collected the 

large bulk of these debts, but I had indulged them too long. The 

older a debt becomes, the le~s the debtor feels like paying it~~ 

rule. Even most men, who are good for their debts, are in a measure 

so. 

I ought to have known better for I had the benefit of an early 

and sad experience of selling goods in Georgia on a credit, I was 

too candid, and confess that I lacked something in my makeup of being 

a business man. I could not say no often enough to men asking for 

credit~ I know now that the hundreds, who know they owe my just debts, 

amounting in the aggregate to over ten thousand dollars, are not as 

good friends to me as they would be if I had denied them cr~dita That 

disposition followed me through nearly half a century, in the prac- 193 

tice of medicine. I could not refuse to go to see the sick,.though 

I knew I would never be paid for it. 

Oh 1 How often I have gone when I was as bad off as the patient 

I went to see. 

The several books which I have used to keep accounts in don't show 

the amount of practice I've done--for where I did charity practice, 

I made no account of it. 

I continued to farm and do a little practice, especially in surgery, 

until the East Tenn. and Western North C. railroad was finished to Cranbercyo 

/<?'cJ 
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I moved my family to Elk Park on the first train coming through. 

13th of June, 1881. We moved into a railroad shantie on 

Esq. Ellis' land, near Ellis' residence. Shortly after that, I bought 

6 acres of Esq. Ellis above the railroad cuto It then being a part 

of the old bri'er field and running to the top of the ridge and back 

to the railroad. 

The same is now lmown as the Nat Taylor property. On this pro­

perty, there is a fine mineral spring. I at once commenced building 

on my property and immediately bought 3 more lots for my 3 married 

daughters, where the hotel is, I bought for Emma Miller; Where the 

Watuaga Houseis, I bought for Mollie Hunter; and where the Lo M. Banner 

residence is, I bought for Hattie Taylor; and so we began to turn the 

brier field into a town site. 

We soon wanted a Post Office here and I, having been special 

agent at the Post Office Dept. for several years; those interested 
t 

in the establishment of the Office requested me <to correspoo/ with 

the Dept. at Washington. I soon found many obsti.cles thrown in my 
/ 

I was satisfied that Cranberry did not want a business place to 

grow up there and compete with Cranberry in the sale of goods, etc., 

but I kept hammering away until I got the officeo I had Lo M. Banner 

·· appointed the first Post Master. Since then we have had as P. Masters; 

Wm. Co Walsh, Henry C. Norman and now John F. Davis. The office had 

been established about 10 years and has been a money order office 

yearso The office has always been well managed and is a great 
{, 1-b \1 ,,.t O .• (\ ~ ~ \ 

help to the peopleo ·~~ . .J 

Elk Park, notwithstanding its humble beginnings, has become a 

place of considerable importance. Many millions of feet of lumber 
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have been shipped from here. It is the greatest lwnber depot on the 

E~, T. and W. N. Co railroad; besides the great amount of lumber of all 

kinds, the shipments of ivy roots, tan bark, etc., etc., has been 

irmnense. Elk Park is also becom:ing a great sunnner resort and with a 

little capital invested, could be made one of the most popular watering 

places in the south. The mineral water on the Taylor place here is 

unsurpassed. The chemist, who analyzed the water says the combina­

tion is the best he has ever seen. 

Parties who have spent the summers here for several years are 

much pleased with the water, and invalids who have used the water· 
"\ I~-~ , C 

after it was shipped to them was much benefited by it. 

After running my steam saw mill here for 7 years, I found I had 

injured my health and my pocket to such an extent, I sold rrry saw mill 

to Nat G. McFarland and sold my property at Elk Park to Nat W. Taylor 

and moved back to Elizabethton. 

One more reference to the hateful lumber business, then I want 

to forget ito 

When I first thought of going into the lumber business, I very 

naturally looked at the quotations of prices in the various marketso 

I re~ied on these quotations-supposing the approximated truth_but I 

was wonderfully deceived. 

These quotations are published and controlled by lumber buyers 

and commission merchants in the cities, and they quote lwnber at 

fictitious prices to induce large shipments. When the lumber is 

shipped, it is too late to repair the damage to the shipper. This lum­

ber is on the yard and it must be sold for just what it will bring. 

I soon found, to my s?rrow, that there was no confidence to be 
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put in Commission Men, ~ ~ rule. When they receive your lumber or 

a:n:y thing else you may send them, they then have every thing in their , C "\.ua..u:r C' .._. ' • ·_J O _.,, __ ~ -, ..:...... ~ ~~ j 
own hands o °15' ~,~~~ ----

In prosecuting the various kinds of business, in which I have 

been engaged during rrry somewhat active life, I have had--what I would 

call a pretty fair experience with Commission Meno 

Running through several years, I shipped the following products 

to different cities. :rey- first experience was in shipping wheat to 

Richmond, Vao It was a few years beforethe war. I was selling my 

wheat at a dollar a bushel at my barn at Elizabethton, which was 

satsfactory to me, but my brother 
fl-~~) 

at olinsons D9ot·,l\~rsuaded me to 

in law, who was then selling goods 

haul it to Richmond and get $1.60 

for it. I waited a good while before I received my, money, and coun­

ting out Commission, freight, storage, etc., etc., I got 43 cents a 

bushel for it, for my share. 

Then I shipped staves from my timber land 3 miles from Elizabethton; 

I shipped these staves to Norfolk, Va. White oak staves were worth 

a big price, 'and all others were called Red Oak and were much lower. 

Mine were of fine White Oak and would have yielded me ~~75.00 clear 

profit on the car load, had I got justice but when my returns come, 

my staves were nearly all counted as ~ Oak, and counting up cost of 

mald.ng the staves and hauling 6 miles to Depot, and a fair price for 

my white oak trees, it failed to pay oi:t by ~p50.00 a car ·loado 

Then, since the war, I shipped a large amount of leather in the 

rough to Baltimore and other cities. And for S years of unceasing 

toil, I shipped lumber of various kinds and I think I can safely say 

that in all my dealings, for many years, I never struck but one Comm­

ission Man, who did the square things with me, and I wa,nt to make 

/13 
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honarable mention of him here, and inscribe his name here, so it may 

be cherished by my friends, who may chance to reid ;::se pages so 

hastily written under the greatest difficultieso ~ ~~ 
His honorable name is: ROBERT C. LOWRY of New Yorko 

A great deal of money has been made by buying and selling lumbei 

'· but I think very little ever has been made by manufacturing lumbero 

It is the man who carries the measuring sticl{, and hollows, cull, cull, 

cull, who makes the money. When I look back on my life at the Park, 

It seems like a dream. How sad it is to review ones life, even from 
/', 
\I>' 

a wo~dly standpoint, and see how we have made mistakes and lost golden 

opportunities. If we had gone into the goods business with the same 

capital we invested in the lumber business, we could have ~ade money 

and made it without half the labor and vexation that attended our 

lumber trade. 

Although it was my purpose not to let my profession interfere 

with my duties in pressing my lumber business, yet I was coaxed, 

~ged and pressed into a considerable number of cases and every time 

I left my business and visited the sick, It was ah injury to my busi­

ness and in most instances, did not pay me one dollar. It just seemed 

it was impossible to deny them, when they came with such plaintive tales. 

I have on my books about $Soo.oo for practice done in those 

S years, and in all of it, I will be surprised if I receive even $20. 

Note: From page 103-

This boy, or yeoman, about lS years of age was totally destitute. 

He had nothing, no place to stayo His mother was a handsome woman, 

but unchaste, had no character. She lived with her 2 daughters in a 

hut to themselves. Next morning I found that Albert was sober--the 



first time I had ever seen him sober. I found him a very sensible 

boy. I needed just such a boy to work rrry garden, go to mill, etc., etc. 

He wanted to leave, 

if no longer--

11 No 11 , I told him, he must stay with me that day, 
~~~cd­

S.ee page 206. ~ ~ A:i.f .T~. 
Many of us have, for years, believed that sooner or later a 

- manufacturing city would be built up in the Watauga Valley, and we 

have been working to that point. About 1889 and 1890 Col. Ben E. Talbott 

came here and took a good many options around Elizabethton. He paid 

out some money for these options o They run from 60 to 90 days gener­

ally--some over that. But he let all of them run out and then renewed 

them or most or them, and then let them run out again-owing-he said-

to the stringency in the money market. He expected to get capitalists 

to join him in building up a large enterprise here. 

He took.an option on rrry back lands beyond the railroad at $200 

and gave ~t,50 for the option. He took an option on Ruthie and 

12 acres-(the old homestead) at fifteen hundred dollars an 

acre, making ~~18,000. He worked hard and spent a great deal of money 

trying to float the thing. But he was unable to obtain the money 

enterprise. 

Those who optioned their land to him(bore) waited with him pa­

time, hoping he would succeed, for they saw he was 

~ very liberal man and giving very high prices for their lands. 

They gave him cheerfully all the moral support they could and 

SOil):) of them endorsed for him in bank for large sums. He came often 

o see about his interests, but failed so often to bring any thing 

th him except promises that, finally one after another was compelled 

give up all hope of his ever being able to do any thing to relieve 
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them. i ~C'..t.~~ ln..u-v\.... ~. 

In the mean time, say-about Oct. 1891, the Co-Operative Town.Coo 

commenced taldng options or deeds placed in EscrOYf. When they had 

secured 5, 268 acres, they located the town .here o This produced great 

excitement throughout the countryo There has been great conflict 

going on between the Coo and Talbott about certain lands; some of it 

has passed through the courts. Nearly all has been decided against 

Talbott. He has suits in the courts at Elizabethton yet. His failure 198 

to find capital to carry out his plans at Elizabethton must have cost 

him many thousands of dollars and I can see no possible way for him 

to ever recover a dollar of it. He had an opportunity several times 

to have made a good thing of it, but he wanted too much of it to come 

to B. E. Talbott. 

Even after the Co-Operative Town Co. got a hold there, I~ he 

could have turned over his interests he held in certain lands to the 

Co., by way of a compromise, and it would have brought him out with 

something over a hundred thousand dollars profits, counting every 

thing by his own estimates. 

I know this, because, while the great excitement was up with the 

people, and some reckless ones were threatening to mob him, he was 

persistently standing in the way of accomplishing so great a thing 

for the whole valley, many of the more indiscreet citizens became 

so unreasonable, that it seemed that Talbott's life was in 

··. dangero He had rented and was then living in my house(the Gov. Taylor 

property). Every effort had been made to get a compromise. For days 

I 
and weeks, nothing was talked aboutFxcept this overshadowing trouble 

and every body was interestedo Even women and children were excited 



and many talked of blood shed. Talbott and his friends kept pretty 

closely housed. H. T. Cook, then manager of the Town Co. and Col. 

Talbott were not on speaking terms and the condition of the contro­

versy was such as to absolutely require an :interview :in person or by 

proxy. 

In this emergency Mr. Cook requested me to go at once to Talbott 

with a message embodding a proposition, and it was by reason of that 

proposition that I~, that Talbott could have emerged from the 

11wrangle II with one hundred thous and o 

The Town Co. located the town and surveyed their lands and paid 
v,J 

10 per cent on all the p~uchases and have taken possession of them. 

They mapped out their lands and are now (189 ) occupy:ing my old 

homestead as their officeo This land, 11 acres, ~ theY; ~ it !!!, 

~ ~, measured out nearly 12 acreso They bought· this from Ruth 

and Sallie for $9,000.00o 

Col. Talbott had bought the John Tipton land at public sale, 

giving thirty five thousand dollars for it, pay:ing over eight thousand 

down and giving Dr. Hunter and several others of our citizens, as 

security for the balanceo 

There was much uneasiness felt in regard to the unsettled condi­

tion of things while the troubles between Talbott and the Tovm Co. 

continued. And there was hard work through many weary days and nights 

to effect a compromise. 

It finally culminated by the land being sold on the 25th and 26th 

of January by order of the Chancery Court. It brought ~~39,500oOO, 

this being principal, -interest and cost and the sale was confirmed. 

Hattie Go Taylor owns about S acres, between my Taylor property 
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and the companys land conveyed to Co. by Ruthie and Sallie Jobeo 

Hattie offered this land to Cook at about the same he paid for the 

other land as well located but he refused the off er, and she did no-t 

care. 

She layed off a broad street from the bridge to the railroad and 

called it Hattie Avenueo This suited the plan of the town and every­

thing, so far as Hattie's land is concerned, goes on harmoniously with 

the towno She has sold some lots to Judge Dungan and he has erected 

some fine build:ings on them, which is a great improvement to that 

part of tovm o 

Hattie also gave a street across her lot at a po:int, where the 

Coo wanted, to run Sycamore Street. 

Not long after the Co. located the Town Site at Elizabethton, 

they made a big preparation for a grand jubilee. The day was set for­

and was extremely advertized and very elabor­

ate preparations were made :in every conceivable way to entertain a 

big crowd. Every thing was done that could be done, by being liberal 

and labor. 

They had a f:ine band of mu.sic from Knoxville and every kind of 

amusements that would lend interest to the occasion. They had fire-

vrorks at night and firing of cannon. Many distinguished names were 200 

booked for speeches. Among those who did speak were, Senator Harris, 

Hans borough. 

They all made f:ine speeches and were much applauded and great 

, enthusiam animated the immense crowd of citizens and strangers, from 

the country, celebrating the first Annual Meeting of the 

stockholders of the Co-Operative Coo 



The speaking took palce at my old homestead. The large yard 

reaching clear to Doe River, was densely packed with ladies and gentle­

men, and the house was crammed full, up stairs and down, then those 

who could not get room to hear the speeches, reached a long distance, 

both above and below the dwelling. The speakers stood upon a platform 
~ ~ ~- 4:t a:t--.L. l •. 0 h .. A • -I:, ... _:_.. ,>--A 

in front of the verandao {f r~._, ,- ------. \ 
On the second day of this great meeting, the stockholders repaired 

to the Court House, to transact the business of the Co., to elect 

officers, etc. and to hear reports from President Porter and others • 

.After this routine business had been harmoniously consumated, the 

sale of the lots commenced and quite a number were sold, and they all 

sold at astonishing high prices. Some choice lots in the principal 

streets and popular avenues, 25 x 115, sold for from $800 to ~~1200. 

I !mew these prices were entirely too high, and that such prices could 

not be maintained. 

And the sequel proved it. Lots every where have been declining, 

until it is impossible to sell a town lot at any price, since this-­

the severest money panic the country has had to bear since the faun-
. \ I. ii--tt I b:J, \\_.,. 0' • ~ 
dation of the government. o/ ·o O ·~ • 

On the 4th of July, following, we had another rousing good time 

and most excellent speaking by Robt. P. Porter and Henry Wattersono 

It was not intended to have any political significance, as one was a 

and the other a Democrat. A majority of the crovrd were 

Republicans, but Watterson was the orator of the day by common consent. 

His speech was a crowning effort and he was cheered to the echo 

by the vast crowd, irrespe.ctive of Party. His subject was 11 The ~ 

He made no allusion to politics ~xcept on one sentence, 



which was couched pretty nearly in these words. 11 My countrymen, when 

you examine the position of the two great parties of this Nation, you 

will find very little difference really between them. The great 

tussel between them is narrowed dovm to this-who shall hold the offices? 

But let me tell you rrry fellorr citizens, the hope of the Nation depends 

upon how you manage and settle the moral questions of the day • 11 

This great and good sentiment was vociferously cheered by the 

entire crowd, both man and women, by clapping of hands and rising to 

their feet and many exclaiming 11 good, good. 11 

I was within 10 feet of the speaker and could not help feeling, 

as he so eloquently ended the sentence, that if he had permitted me 

to dictate the words of that sentence, I would not have altered it. 

It so fully expressed in the fullest sense my sentiments, but I thought 

at once in reference to the loud acclaim from the people in its favor: 

ho11r soon will the acts of a majority of you show your inconsistency? 

I thought, how will the majority of these voters act when they 

come to the management and settlement of these moral questions of 

,lh.ich the speaker talked so fluently? And then continued thinking­

how will ~ the speaker himself demean himself at the polls, where 

the citizen has the most power to strike a telling blow for the free- 202 

dom of his countrymen or to bind them in chains. I could not help 

asking myself how will our eloquent friend act in the management of 

these moral questions of the day? 

'!Will he have the manhood and independence to vote as he talks? 

Or will he vote his party ticket, which is always pledged to aid the 

moral issues. 11 

It is the vote that counts. It is not the sentiment so much as 



At this celebration they had many kinds of amusement, I can't rrtm­

ember them all. One, however, I can't well forget from the fact that 

a sad accident attended it. This was by the use of dynamite. Mr. Wolf, 

one of the Co. employees, got his right hand torn by an explosion so 

that I had to amputate the arm just above the wrist. He has entirely 

recovered and is still with the Co. and has married since. 

Notwithstanding the hard times, a considerable amount of improve­

ment has been made to start up a manufacturing town. We have a shoe 

factory, furniture factory, rope and twine factory, plaining mills, 

woolen mills, s a:yv mills, flouring 111?-lls, brick plants, etc. , etc. 
l~~ ~ ~~ ~ ~J 

The company has erected quite a number of tenement houses for 

hands. and several handsome residences have been put up by individual 

citizens. Mr. Cook put up 10 fine houses for residences and business 

houses. These houses were lmown as the Cook Block. They were situated 

on Elk Avenue in the most central and most popular parts of the town. 

These houses had only been completed a short time and about half of 

them were occupied, when on Thursday morning at 3 o I clock, July 13th, 

1893, a fire alarm was given and it was found one of these houses 

(which were all joined together) was on fire, and when the people 

assembled to help extinguish the flames, they found no way to fight 

Not even buckets on hand. 

They saved nearly all the furniture, etc., belonging to the 

occupying ~he houses, except quite an amount of drugs be­

longing to J. D. Reynolds, who occupied one of the houses, but he saved 

It was with much hard work that the News Office 

occupied by Mr. Underwood, was saved. Only a few months before this, . 
the company's office (once rrry home) was destroyed by fire. These 

Ir I 

203 



buildings were all standing on the property once owned by meo There 

were also two other houses burned with rrry homestead. The whole amount 

of the property destroyed by fire was worth about 25 or 30 thousand 

dollars in cash. It was partly covered by insurance. It is gener­

ally believed that both those fires were caused by smoking cigars 

in the buildings after night. 

I happened to be at Elizabethton when both fires occurred and 

saw them burn, and I am satisfied that cigars caused the great con­

flagration both t:iJnes. And yet, I do not believe it will stop the 

sale of one cigar at Elizabethton or elsewhere. 

I now write at Elk Park, Noc., October 4th, 1893. 

In my judgement the offices of the Co-Operative Town Co. made 

a great mistake in purchasing such a large amount of lands. If they 

had bought about one thousand acres, in place of over 5 thousand acres 

in the valley, besides thousands of acres of mountain lands and immed­

iately commenced improving with the money paid for surplus lands, it 

would have been better for the company in my opinion. 

But, norwithstanding the bad management, and the great drawback 

on account of the unprecedented money panic, they are moving on fairly 

well with improvement, etc. 

The Company is building a lexge brick structure to be known as 

an of~ice, store house, etco The wall is more than half up and work 

progressing nicely, and there are now about a dozen new buildings being 

constructed by individuals, some for residences, and others for busi­

ness houses o 

REPORT OF :MRS. E. D. JOBE 1S C_i\SE. 

In many respects this case is one of the most important, as well 
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as the severest and of the longest duration of any I ever attended 

where recovery followeda 
I 

Her health had been bad for about 15 years. Her main disease 

being Torpor, and congestion of the liver---running occasionally into 

inflammationo During.these years, I had repeatedly treated her for 

this trouble, which yielded rapidly and she would soon be up and 

reswne duties in her family. 

On the 4th of January, 1893., she gave birth to a daughter, after 

having gone 2 or 3 weeks beyond her time. She was now --- years old. 

She had borne 9 children before this one. Her general health being 

far from good, she had a hard labor. 

On the 2nd day at night, she suddenly had 3 hard chills after 

l which fever rose to 1032 and her pulse ran up to 120 in the minuteo 

She also had a pain and tenderness over the abdomena Coupled with these 

symptoms, she had severe hemmorroids, with much pain in her back and 

limbs. I telegraphed immediately for Dr Is. Hunter and Miller. They 

came on the same train in a severe sno-w storm. 

I had used Aconite as a sedative, which had reduced the fever 

some before they arrived, but the pain and swelling in her left limb 

was increasing. Showing unmistakable signs of Phlegmasia Dolens. 

This tendency to milk leg had attended her on several of her previous 

confinements. 

I had profuounced her fever to be of the puerpural type, but the 

severity of the other symptoms so marked the case, that the other Dr 1s. 

differed with me and believed the fever could be soon overcome. 

But the sequel proved I was correct in n:w diagnosis. Her case 

the most stubborn and unyielding and altogether the most complicated., 

I ever met within rrry 50 years practice. Here we had a diseased liver 
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of 16 years standing, kidney disease, hemorroids, phlegmasis dolens, 

and childbed fever, all in one system at the saine time. And each one 205 

of these diseased organs seemed to be contending for the mastery, and 

to make its symptoms more prominent than any other. 

When we would assiduously address treat:roont to combat one group 

of symptoms, and continue it until success crowned our efforts, at 

once we would find the disease in other organs increasing in virulence. 

This discouraging condition of things continued without hope 

of permanent improvement six months. 

I remained with this unfortunate and sorely afflicted woman con­

stantly, during this long siege. Dr. Miller and Dro Hunter came when 

consultation was deemed advisable. The patient and doctors were 

completely worn out. If she had not possessed more courage and fort­

itude than usually falls to the lot of mortals, she must have died • 
. 

I have never witnessed' such fortutild.e in anyoneo Her suffering was 

beyond description. 

And to have it continue day and night, in one form or another, 

for 6 long months - and such months. 1rwho can describe the dread-

ful months of January, Feb. March and April of 1893? In ~Park, !'I.!.._£0 

Throughout Jan. and half of Feb., we had a snow averaging from 10 to 

12 inches on level ground and where it drifted, it would average 2 or 

3 feet, and much was drifted as the wind was high during most of 

the winter and extremely cold. I never passed through such a cold 

disagreeable winter o I 1ve seen few colder days, but not a worse 

I can remember 11 the cold Saturday on 1834. 11 I had a thermo­

rooter during this sickness but little time to examine it. I noticed 

it several times when it stood 10, 15 and 17 below zero at Elk Park. 

But some time it was reported at 20 to 26 at Jonesboro, Johnson City 



and Bristol. We had two hospitals for our own family at the Park, 

one at E. D. Jobes, with himself and wife as patients, and the other 

at Nt. W. Taylors house, occupied by my family with Hattie Taylor and 

Sallie Jobe as patients, until April 2nd, when they started to New York 

to be treated. During the whole winter, while Eva was apparently at 206 

death's door, Dudley was suffering with asthma and a dreadful cough 

attended by very copious expectoration, with blood often in the matter 

expectorated. Iey- wife and I waited on all of these patients. E,'va 

gave no milk for the baby on account of the fever and consequently, 

it had to be raised by hand. This imposed another trouble, put we met 

them all. 'l'he baby never drew it I s mother I s breast, but is now, this 

4th of Oct., a beautiful, smart and healthy child, and good as she is 

And her mother has so far recovered that she can do a consi­

amount of sewing and can limp over the house on the lame leg, 

never can be well again. She has come to this stage of im­

provement by very slow stages. Her pulse has never returned to its 

normal standard. It is most of the time now above a hµ.ndred in the 

When she was at her worst, it ran up to 130 and J.40. She 

had a dreadful bieling in the lower part of her abdomen in left side. 

It was opened and run a great deal and a long timeo 

From page Interview with Boy continued from 196. 

After breakfast he made me a promise that he would quit drinking 

entirely and set at once to work for me and be governed by me an~my 

wife entirely, which he did. He did better than we had any ideas he 

would and obeyed us in everything for several years. I do not remem­

ber how many, 4 or S. He dressed up in broadcloth and was a fine 

look:ing gentleman. But when nry business called me away from home so 



nearly all the time while I was having the woolen mills constructed 

at Weaverville, North Carolina, and my little vtlfe had to trust him 

to 1nanage the hands in running the farm, and he neglected the business 

from time to time and got much worse. I returned home just when they 

were moving into our new house, and found that he had gotten to re­

maining with 4 hands at dinner time 4 hours at the back of t,he house. 

I paid him off in full that evening and told him never to come back 

any moreo 



The Great Money Panic 

This is the 6th of October 1893. Congress has been in extra 

session and has been since the 7th of August and it looks like they 

are no nearer a settlement of the silver question than when the 

sessions commenced. 

The speeches on both sides have been exactly of the character 

I looked for. It has been crimenation and recrimenation between the 

Republicans and Democrats from the beginning. The burden of the 

Republican argument has been: - 11 You Democrats are to blame for 

this money panic, and all the financial troubles we are having. 

If we were still in power, everything would be moving on like clock 

work. 11 

Then a Democrat would come at him, after this fashion. 11It 

is all cha~ble to the Republican party, it is the out growth of 

the laws placed upon the statute, by your Republican administration. 

We Democrats have not passed a single law. It is all the effects 

of your own legislation. 11 

When asked what relief Congress would give the people, I said 

none - said I, they couldn't, if they would, and they wouldn't, if 

they could. 11 This is what I said before Congress convened and I 

have no reason today to take it back. 

The bill before the Senate is to repeal what they call the 

Sherman Law. That law compels the Secretary of the Treasury to 

purchase 4,500,000 ounces silver per month. The friends of silver 

are opposed to unconditional repeal, because they see in that the 

demonetization of silver and the establishment of a Gold Standard. 

They are willing to vote for repeal, if some legislation is coupled 
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with it, giving silver a place as a debt paying factor among the 

other monies of our country. 

But the repealers say, No., we must have it unconditional. 

I do not believe they can repeal it with some conditions, although 

they have Cleveland in favor of repeal. I think unconditional repeal 

would send silver out of sight and it would constitute such a large 

bulk of the circulating medium of the South and West, it would be ruin 

to both sections. 

We scarcely can see any gold in circulation here. Our currency is 

silver and silver certificates and a little green back currency. 

I think it was unfortunate that Mr. Cleveland accepted the nomination 

on the Chicago platform. The Democratic Party was as nearly united 

in favor of free silver coinage as any plank in the platform, but 

Mr. Cleveland has been able to carry a large following with him against 

silver and a great many of them in order to be on good terms with 

the President, have become ver-y- bitter against their old friends, and 

I predict it will culminate in breaking up the Democratic Party, if 

their vindictive course is persisted in. 

I have heard much praise of late years heaped upon our present 

financial system, but I think it is defective in several particulars. 

I think all money we use should be coined by the government 

and paper money printed by some authority and be kept at a parity, 

by making each kind of money, whether it be gold, silver or paper 

money, a legal tender for all debts, public and private, and the 

Government to be bound to redeem all of its issues. Let the amount 

issued be regulated to suit the legitimate demands of trade and to 

be increased with the increase of population. 
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('htc.~ P~) 
I have a very distinct recollection of four money panics, 

since I 1ve been on 11 the stage of action", the first was in 1837, which 

was the year after m;x- service in the Federal Army, in the Indian War. 

But in all four of them there was nothing to compare with this one 

of 1893. 

The whole hardship is felt by the debtor class, and the poor. 

The rich and creditor class, see an easier time than when times 

are good and money plenty. Now money is scarce and everything to 

sell is low, so it won't pay to produce it. Wheat is down to 50¢ 

a bushel, and everything in proportion. Horses that cost ·$100.00 

12 months ago' are selling for ~P25.00 and $30000. Milk cows worth 

$25.00 to 4~50.00 are selling for ~p8.00 to· ~~10.00. Town lots that 

2 years ago sold a.t Johnson City for ~~800.00 to $900.00, can be 
ii 7t .k). 0 j,',;-t;:...... J 

bought today for from $100.00 to ~pl25,00 dollarso ~,-------------· ..... 

I will wind up what I 1ve got to say about this Financial 

question by making a prediction, provided Congress - that is to say -

the Senate should carry the unconditional repeal bill - (for the 

House has already at the dictation of the President, passed it). 

In case the repeal bill is passed, and no provision made to save 

silver as a circulating medium, there will be a commercial al-

liance formed between the southern and western states and New Mexico. 

This alliance will withdraw their trade from northern and eastern 

cities and ultimately all the imports for them will come direct 

to southern and western ports, such as New Orleans, Valasco, San 
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Then as far as the true :interests and harmony of the Nation is 

concerned; the Silver question is nearly as big as the Slavery question 

was before the Rebellion • .And all this could have been settled amica­

bly, if it had not been for the greed of the Gold Barons, and the 

great power of money. And so could the War of the Rebellion been a­

voided, if it had not been for the unscrupulous Politicians. 

How unfortunate it is for the country, that often the unholy 

ambition of the worst element of parties gets :in the lead and then the 

calm, conservative element is powerlesso 

It seems to me that the word Patriotism is worn out. It has lost 

its mea.n:ing. 11It is a back number"• It is party first, and country 

after. The old definition of the word was, 110ur countriJ first". The 

tangled condition the demigogical Politicians of the old parties have 

gotten the country :into reminds me of an anecdote Andrew Johnson told 

in a speech at Elizabethton about 45 years ago-illustrating an awful 

trouble one of his neighbors consulted him about. In describing his 

utter despair, his neighbor said, 11Mr. Johnson, I don't lmow what to 

do. I 1ve turned it every way, and I~m sometimes :in favor of doing it 
~ 

this way, and :in a minute, I am for do:ing it the other way. That is, 

I will. and I won•t, I can and I can •t. I'll be damed if I do, and I 

will be damned if I don1 t 11 • 

The prognostications of Ex Senator J. J. Ingalls, of Kansas, :in 210 

regard to times, present and future, are more gloomy than any I've 
~ 

seen. In an interview with a reporter for the New York World, he is 

reported thus. The article is too long to quote: But after graphi­

cally describing the destitute condition of hundreds of thousands· 'Who 



alr:eady out of employment., especially in the West; he goes on to 

"from all the street corners in Denver, the pi-t/eous cry goes up 

for bread; and from Wall Stree~ the cry goes up for Gold. When this 

panicy conditions meet in the great Mississippi Valley, then there will 

be Anarchy and revolution 11 • 

I have been waiting to see what the Senate would do with the 

Silver question. This is 30th of October. The indications point to 

the unconditional repeal of the purchasing clause of the Sherman Act. 

I presume from late telegrams that the Senate is voting on the bill, and 

givlng the last finishing touch, as far as the money power through cor­

rupt Politicians can go. But before the question can be f\tJJ.y settled, 

I think the great body of the people must be heard fromo This Congress 

has heard from the Bankers, Boards of Trade, Manufacturers, Trusts, 

Combines, Millionaires, Stock Exchange, etc. But the great body of tll:3 

people, the Farmers, 'Mechanics and laborers of all kinds, are as a rule 

not heard from, and when they spealc out, I think their verdict will be 

quite different from that of a majority of Congresso .And we should 

remember that under our form of Government 11all power is inherent in 

the people"• 

If I were in Congress, I would not vote for the free coinage of 211 

all the Silver bullion of the world, but I would vote to coin all the 

output of Silver in the United States, and I would never sanction the 

giving up of the 11 dollar of our fathers 11 • The two metals should be 

coined by the Government for the Government_,. and not for individuals, 

and no discrim:i.nation made between the metals, and in that way the 

parity could be maintained. 



I have read a good many able speeches, made in this extra session 

of Congress, both in the house and in the Senate, but the best, most 

farreaching and unanswerable speech was made in the house, on the 18t4 

day of August, by Joseph c. Sibley, of Pennsylvania, in favor of 

Silver, as a legal tender money. 

This speech was the ablest, the boldest and altogether the most 

truthful of the conspiracy, on the part of the great money power to 

covertly decoy the .American people :into a snare and fasten a gold 

standard on them, before they knew it. When Mr. Seyd came over from 

England in 1873 and induced Congress to demonetize Silver, by a bribe 

of five hundred thousand dollars in gold, there were but three or four 

members ~ what they were do:ing-so Mr. Blaine, Mr. Vorhees and other 

members sa;y, as quoted by Mr. Sibley, from the Congressional Record. 
~ 

,I l 
See what ~rimenaJ. negligence there was and yet the country has 

to stand all this_. Mr. Sibley shows that when this crime was com­

mitted in 1873, cotton was selling at 22 cents, now it sells for 7 & 

8. Wheat sold for :IP..20 and now 5h¢. Corn has fallen 26 cents on the 

bushel. The loss to farmers annuaJJ.y on these articles amount to 

n:ine hundred and ten millions each year. AD. on account of demoneti­

zing Silver. 

(October 2, 1903-I regret very much to see, by reading papers, 

that Mr. Joseph c. Sibley has gone back on himself completely.) 

I must again make the best apology I can for not taking more 212 

pains with this sketch. I wanted to spend more time and thought on 

it, but I have been E.,Ompelled, by force of circumstances, to spend 

rrcr time, as well a.s ntv thought away from this work; if I have any 
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friends.left after me, who have interest enough in my mem:>ry to read 

my short account of a long and busy lil'e, they are ~ requested to 

pass over rcy many imperfections without criticism and but little 

censure, as I could assure them that I would have taken more pride in 

present:ing something for their perusal much more to my taste if my 

surroundings had been favorable, 

Itr hurry and want of system have caused me to leave out many 

little things as I galloped along, which I will here group under the 

name 11Miscellaneous 11 , as it being appropriate as a:ny I can think of 

just at this moment. 

I should have given in its proper place a short account of my 

trials with one of my route agents, while I was a Special Agent of the 
} p~ ~- ~.L..-:rit .. Lr..-.- ~ ~j,, 

Post Office Department. a· -r~-~ I y. - -r• 

Mr. Parks, ari honorably discharged Federal Soldier, had the run 

from Charlotte, N. c., to Columbia, s. c. He was an intelligent, edu­

cated man and every way qualified for the work, if he had not been 

addicted to drinld.ng. But, when I went over his line a time or two, 

I found he was drinld.ng so much and maldng so many mistakes :in distri­

buting the mails and neglect:ing so much of his duties, I had to tell 

him plainly I would have to have a new man in his place if he did not 

do better. He quit dr.inldng for a short time, but returned to it :in 

a short time, The postmasters were sending me so many compla:ints 

against him, I wrote to Second Assistant Postmaster General, enclosjng 

some of these letterso But I found it would be hard work to get him 

removed, because he was an Ex-United S·tates Soldiero So, I concluded 

I would go to Wash:ington and show to :Mro McLel~n how important it was 213 



to get rid of him, as I believed it was impossible to reform him. I 

found Mr. McLelan was very much in his favor, he 11was poor and had a 

wife to support and had made a good soldier". And I failed to :induce 

him to disn:d.ss him, so I had to return without accomplishing anyth:ing. 

I went to Charlotte to see Parks, hoping to make such a state­

ment to him that he would see his i-lhole future would depend on his 

giv:ing up liq_uor. He made me promises, as is connnon :in such cases, 

only to be broken. When I had stood it as long as I could, I went a­

gain to Washington. When I had entered Col. McLelJ.~ns room and had 

shaken hands with h:iJn, I laid nzy- hat away and said to him, 11Col. I 1ve 
,.. 

come to stay with you until you disnrl.ss Parks. I can't stand him arry 

longer 11. He is a disgrace to the service and must be turned off 11 • 

.After a few inquiries about him, he gave me papers dismissmg him and 

an appointment for another man who I asked to be appointed. I crune 

direct from Washington to Charlotte. and met Parks,• train com:i.ng in from 
,.. 

Columbia. Postmaster Frazier was so glad I had gotten Parks discharged, 

he rushed up to him in the dark and said, 11 Dr., Jobe is here and he has 

your discharge in his pocket". I did not :iJ.1tend to let him lmow about 

it unt:iJ. he had delivered his registered packages at the Post Office • 

. He has his arms full of registered packages. When he learned he was 

discharged, he managed to escape from the crowd in the dark and made 

his way with the packages and hid them between the ceiling and weather­

boarding of the house he lived :in, so it was with difficulty we couJd 

get them out, after he told us where they were after his arrest, and 

three of them were never recovered. 

Now came the ha11 dest part of the trial on me. There could be no 

j: 
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doubt of his being guilty of a penitentiary offence. Therefore, his 

wife, an intelligent, educated woman, with all the affection of a 

broken hearted wife, crone into :my room with a friend to introduce 

her. After pleading with me in behalf of her erring husband, and 214 

asking me to write a letter to the department in his favor, she 

dropped upon her lmees and prayed and wept so ernestly, that al-

though I lmew her husband was guilty, yet for her sake I did write and 

get her husband released. I did this in part from the fact that he 

was under the influence of liquor when he left with the packages • 

But in the case of Leander Todd, I could find no miftigations~ 

I went to Salem and got the United States Marshall to go with me in 

an all day 1 s rain over to the Yadkin River;:i and arrest Leander Ao 

Todd for opening and rifling registered packages repeatedly, as he 

was Deputy Postmaster. I had him on trial two days and convicted 

him and brought him to Winston and placed him in jail until Federal 

Court :in Raleigh. Then he was brought t,o Raleigh and convicted and 

sent t,o the penitentiary at ,ilbany, New York, for three years. 

11Lussus Naturs 11 • (Freak of Natureo) 

I have seen a great many marks on children and have heard much 

comment on it by the people in the fifty years I have been engaged 

in the practice of medicine and surgeryo I· have also read a great 

deal on the subject in medical works• 

I believe impressable females, from frights, or from sight,s, mai 

And I will record the two following cases, which 

crune under my own observation, in support of this doctrine. 

About the year 1844, while I practiced at Burnsville, N. c., I 

saw a case of. hair lip in a small child., and received the following 

it from the father and mother, both respectable and t,ruth-



The husband returned from a squirrel hunt, with a live Squirrel, 

which he had stunned by sending a bullet so close to its head, it 

burned the hair off. When he came to the door he called his wife to 215 

see the 11pet11 • While she stood in the door looking at it, the 

Squirrel turned and bit the man and he hastily threw it hard upon the 

ground, and put, the heel of his boot on its head and as it was dying, 

as she looked at it, the upper lip of the Squirrel puckered up in a 

peculiar way, and when her baby was born, its upper lip looked exactly 

like the Squirrels did that morning. Delicate and impressible women 

shouJ.d guard against seeing aJJ. such sights as these I have named. 

Esq. John Cable of Carter Count,y, Tenn. Only ten or twelve 

ndles from where I now live, has a little daughter now about eight, 

years old. I have seen her ofteno Before the girl was born, James 

Wagner, a near neighbor, had a troublesome dog which kept prowling 

. around Cable1 s house evecy night until his depredations became un­

bearableo So, Esq. Cable at last set a large strong steel trap for 

the dogo When he stepped into it, it snapped his left fore leg off 

about midway between the foot and shoulder. 

The dog kept coming and whinning around Mr. Cables, with his 

leg off all the time it was get,ting well. He kept mald.ng a plaintive 

cry all the time and when Mrs.· Cable 1 s baby was born, it had no left 

fore arm. Its left arm was laclci.ng from the elbow down, and it 

wbinned in place of ccying for months, and then gradually got to 

· cry:lng l:iJ<:e other children. 

What a pity Esq. Cable had not shot the man's dog in place of 

trapping for him. Especially when at the vecy time this happened, 

there were at least a million of dogs that ought to have been ld.lled 

in Tennessee aloneo I am for sheep, against, dogs. I have been 

keeping house for half a cent,ucy and three-fourths of that time., I 



was not· the owner of a dog nor allowed one to come on the premiseso 

As a rule, a family can do better without one than with one. St:l.11 

we see some frunilies own four or five dogs, and but little else, and 

often the dogs are so poor they have to lean aga:inst something to bark. 

Daniel Boone 

Veechdale, Kentucky, September 4, 1901. I f:ind a great many Boones in 216 · 

Kentucky. 

Daniel Boone, a vecy e."'draorclinacy man, was one of the first 

settlers in this countcy, if indeed he could be called a settler a·t 

all--for he roamed abou·t from place to placeo He was generally with­

out any local habitationo He was the greatest hunter ever known in 

this countr,J. He was born on the Yadkin River in North Carolina, and 

died on the Ohio River, in Kentucky, after travel:ing and hun-t:,:ing over 

all the terri tocy between these points; when the whole countcy was 

inhabited by Indians and was liable at any time to be killed by the 

savages, and did make hairbreadth escapes from them on many occasionso 

He lived mostly on wild meats, ldlled by his own gun. There are 

streams, towns and countries named for him throughou·t the countcy. 

I have visited a noted Beech Tree on Boone I s Creek about, seven miles 

from Johnson City, Tennessee. 

This tree is noted from the fact that Boone ldlled a Bear :in i to 

I made my visit there in company wl th several others, about the year 

Boone was uneducated, as is proven by the advertisement he left 

on the bark of the Beech Tree, which can still be read, where he 
-.J 

awkardly cut it on the bark as follows: 



11D. Boone cilled a Bar in this tree - 1760 11 • 

Fred Cox, of Dalton, Georgia 

On page 81 I give a brief account of how a citizen _of Georgia 

treated me :in 18400 I want to relate here wha·t happene.d to me forty­

eight years after that. I made an arrangement :in Elizabethton, Tenn., 

in 1888 to meet Mr. Loftus, a Boston man, at R:inggold, Ga. Mr. 

Loftus was spending some months with his family at Dalton. After 

getting through our business at Ringgold, we made an arrangement, to 

start from Dalton together on our return to Elizabethton on a cert,a:in 

day; but owing to a change of schedule on the E.T. Virginia and 

Georgia R.R., he had left just before my train arrived, so I had to 

wait some hours for a traino I spent most of that time with the 

. depot agen-t where I would take the train. F-.inding him to be a 

genial and companionable man, I. was tell:ing him about my living in 

that country, while the Cherokees lived there, and about my .brother 

and myself staying all night, with a Cherokee by the name of 

~om~ Be,ar11 , who lived on the exact spot of groun~we were then 

on-that was when I was only fourteen years old. The next day after 

staying with the Indian, we drove three big fat hogs home that our 

father had bought from Drover. They had driven out. I had just 

commenced telling this depot agent abou·t, my selling a lot there in 

Dalton, when the place was called Cross Plains, and I had not yet 

learned his name, and I would doubtless have soon told him of whom 

I bought the lot, and about the forged letters but he told me about 

his father being one of the first settlers of Dalton, and then I 
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asked his name and found he was a son of Fred Cox, of whom I bought 

the lot. 

His father was then living in Dalton. He sent out at once 

after him, bu't, nzy- train started before he could be found. I 

would have been glad to have met him, after so many years of sepa­

ration, but I doubt if he would have felt free and eaey. 

I.am glad I did not tell his son the whole story of his at­

tempt to defraud me, A. & D. ~obe out of 600.00 besides nzy- heavy 

expenses in that long trip with exposure that caine near causing 

nw deatho 

Don of Blount County Tennessee 

(I wish I could have met with this case after I becaine a 

surgeon. I believe I could have operated on him and made him a 

perfect mano) 

A singular freak of nature 

I remember when a boy, living then in Cades Cove, Blount 

County Tennessee, often passing by where a man lived by the naine 

of "Don", (I never knew his given naine.) He lived on the road, 

half wa:y between Cades Cove and Maryville. 

This man seemed to have ordinary health and was of medium 

size, and had all the organs of a well developed man, except he had 

no Anus. He never had any natural action from his bowelso 

He would eat hearty and digestion would seem to go on as in 

completely finished and healthy men; and within about three hours 

~r three and one-half hours, he would throw up, and recover immedi­

ately and be ready with a good appetite for the next mealo 
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What he would eject from his stomach smelled bacD.y, and evi­

dently was the surplus after digestion had taken place and ought 

to have passed off the other way, if there had been any eJd:li. In 

this case, the nutriment of· the food had been changed mto chime, 

then :into chile, and taken up by ·!;he lactials and gone to support 

the system--while the effect and useless substances, fmding no 

outlet and being a foreign body, had to be thrown off by the 

stomach. This man was about thirti,1 years old when I left, that 

country and I do not know how long he lived aft,erwards. 

And another s:i.ngu..lar thmg is that about the time I knew Ton, 

nzy- father owned a fine healthy hog, that had two fundiments, and we 

boys called him 11 Don11. 

I presume nobody can take the same interest in these things 

that doctors do. 

Chrisley Simerleys Case-A very dangerous case. 219 

/ill incident which occurred dur.ing the War of the Rebellion in 

Carter County about the year 1863 or 1864 which I fai.led to record 

in its proper place. 

Christley Simerley, an :industrious union man, who thus far had 

kept out of both armies, was quiet,ly sitt:ing talking to his 11best 

girl11 at her fathers, unconscious of hav-.ing an enemy in the world; 

when aJJ. of a sudden some unknown person shot hi.TJ1 through the w:i.ndow 

by which they were sitting. The baU entered Simerley beh:ind the 

right ear, and pass:ing through the ear, thence through the right 

cheel( bone and roof of mouth and through the left cheek bone, and 

passed into Miss Matherley 1s mouth--pa.ssing between the teeth of 



upper and under jaw bone, through the muscles, between the corner of 

the mouth and right ear, and she spit the bullet out :into her hand. 

I was sent for immediately, but I refused to_go that cl.ark 

night into a neighborhood where men were being shot and women, too, 
..... 

without provocution; but I promised to go at day light ... -which I did. 

On examination I found Miss Matherley hurt but little. The 

strangely, not even hurt her tongue. 

Mr. Simerley was hurt badly--so·rnuch so his recovery was 

doubtful. 'l'b.e cou.rse of the ball was through such vital parts as 

lif.e in great peril. His breathing was very difficult 

It was necessary to remove him home about three or 

four miles, which we proceeded to do innnediately. This brought him 

'llithln two miles of town where I could see ai'ter him. His Lady Love 

ould come with him to wait upon him, as they were engaged to be 

ied. He recovered in due time and they were married and have 

de a good liv:ing, and are now living at Shell Creek on a good farm, 

paid for and happy and contented. 

The Little warf of Elle Park, N. c. 

I see it stated in a Chicago paper that the smallest man in 

e world died a few days ago. His weight is given at seventy-five 

els. We can beat that right here :in Elk Park, in the person of 

E. Philips, who weighs only sixty-seven pounds. He 

. born in Ashe County, North Carol:ina, is thirty-three years old; 

been married six years; his wife weighs one hundred thirty pounds. 

have two children. He is a shoemaker by trade• He has some 

and write, and seems to be ordinarily :intelligen-t. 

Jcllluary 1885 

Still, under the heading of miscellaneous, I want to record 
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some of rrzy- views in regard to the unrest and confusion among the 

people of the whole union--this great tangle is not confined to 

any section, it is wide spread. The direful effects are felt in 

every State in the Union. 

I mean, the failure to enforce law. 

The enforcement of the Crim:lnal Law has become to be a thing 

of the past. There are so many loop holes, so many legal techni­

calities and so many lawyers competing for fees. And when a case 

reaches the courts, the lawyers quibble over intricate law points., 

which Astute Lawyer has placed upon the Statute Books, until the 

juries of the country generally can be led away from the truth by 

a plausible advocate and justice is defeated. 

This has been going on for fifty years and getting worse year 

by year. It aJJ. proceed~ :in rrzy- opinion on account of the officers 

courting popula~ity. 

Note:- A mistake to say we are a law and order people. We 

fail to enforce the law and our country will suffer for it sooner or 

later, is nzy- op:Lri..ion. 

By favoring the vicious element, these sworn officers can make 

friends the next, election, as the law breakers are generally :in the 

majority and the ambitious office seeker is not slow to see his chance 

to strengthen him.self. 

Fifty years ago if a man was convicted of steal:ing, he was 

sentenced in North Carolina to receive thirty-nine lashes on his bare 

back. I have seen this mock punishment inflicted by the Sherii'f at -
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Burnsville, North Carolina, several t:imes and abating the disgrace, 

the whipping amo1111ted to nothing. It was a complete travesty of 

justice--not a mark left on the back and the culprit would embrace 

the sheriff and thank him; and perhaps, inwardly rejoice that some 

opportunity might offer for him to steal something more before the 

sheriff's t:ime expired. 
r 

Since that time, I have seen men tried for murder, have heard 

the testimony and satisfied it was sufficient to convict him of 

murder in the fi1•st degi·ee, and yet, after many days of investigation 

and much of the people1s money be:ing spenii trying to meet out 

justice to the criminal, a verdict would be brought in 11Acquitting 

the Defenclmlt 11 , or sending him to the penitentiary for a few years 

and then :in a short time his friends would get up a petition to the 

Governor for his pardon, and in rdne caSE;lS out of ten, it would be 

granted. These petitioners lose all sympahty for the poor man who 

had lost his lj_fe and for his heartbroken wife and orphan children, 

and hasten to the relief of the murderer who has taken the life of 

his fellow man without the least provocation. I rejoice that I 

have always had the courage of rrry convictions and never have signed 

a petition unless I knew the facts would justify me. The law does -
not punish men through revenge but as a terror to evil doers, and 

not enfoi·cirtg the law ·is the cause of the resort to 1inch law all 

over the countryG 

Tak:ing options on Iron Property for Chicago Company. 

In March 1887 Messrs. Teegarden and Finney crone here frCl11 

Chicago, representing a company of Jews,reported to be worth ten 

I'· 
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miJ.J.ion of dollars. These men satisfied me that they could draw on 

them for thirty thousand dollars to begin operation in this country. 

They examined Cranberry Mines and looked around a little and seemed 

to be well satisfied with the outloolc. I had spent a month in 

Nashville, during Janual"J and February, and they had also spent two 

or three weelcs there at the same time or just after I left there, 

but we did not meet there. They heard of me there and learned that I 

lived near Cranberry, so they crone do~m from Cranberry to see me at 

Elle Park. 

We had a long talk about developing Iron Mines and e·t;c. I 

had taken three options in nw o-wn county. They communicated freely 

:in regard to their plans, and etc, and said they thought it would be 

best to take up options in :my name as I had already commenced and 

turn them over to them on the Register's Boolcs of each countyo 

So we went to Johnson City the next day to enter into 

writingso I was to commence at once, and push the work as rapidly 

as the weather would permit. I was to be governed by my own judge­

ment in regard to everything and report to them at Chicago once a 

week or oftener, if I found it necessary. 

I was to receive for my services ten dollars a ili\y- and all 

necessary expenses. I started out on the 14th of March and I pressed 

forwards as rapidly as I could, so as to exandne the country as 

closezy as I ought to and took options in Carter and Johnson in 

Tennessee, in Watauga and Mitchell in North Carolina. 

(~ ~ ~N ~ r~~ ~ Co,) 
In executing this work, I exarn:i.ned and traveled over long 

stretches of country where I found nothingo A great deal of the 
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vork was done :in very bad weather in March and April. Corn crops 

Vere a failure :in the mounta:ins :in 1886. It was ver:y hard to 
;·, ' 

find food for my horse--and my surround:ings required me sometimes 

, t-0 start at day light with a few ears of corn for my horse :in my 

·• saddle pockets, and lunch for my d:inner, and not get back out of 

.1 the mountains to where I could stay till. dark and often after dark. 

After making one trip covering a week or ten days, I would 

come home and rest awhile. Then go on another for perhaps twice 

I did my last work :in the last of June, 1887, :in 

l'd.tchell County, most of it around Bakersville. 

Teegarden and F:inney commenced work on some of these options 

and dur:ing that summer and fall they paid out in Carter 

Tennessee and Watauga County, North Carol:ina, about twenty 

I have often said I did not lmow what a portion 

Watauga County would have done for bread that tight summer, if 

it had not been for the money paid out· by Teegarden and F:inney o 

Their purpose was, as soon as they found ore in pa.y:ing 

tities, to build a railroad from the East Tennessee-Virg:inia 

R, to their ntlnes. They found good ore on Elk in the upper end 

Carter County and it satisfied them :in quantity, and went with 

op to the County Court and got a proposition submitted to the 

ters to talce sixty thousar1d dollars :in the road. The canvass was 

Many were opposed to it at the start.but :in the great 

of the canvass the opposition was overcome9 and the 

position carried by a handsome majority. The night the returns 

came in there was quite a Jti.bilee in Town, I remember I had 



been out to visit a patient and returned just after night, and it 224 

was pret,ty dark and the Cannon was being fired so rapidly, the 

big flash of the powder scared my horse. So, it was dangerous. 

I think Teegarden and Finney 11n.1st ha,ve spent many hundred 

dollars in that election alone. It was proved that they had 

"hollowed before they were out of the woods 11 o When they wrote to 

the Compariy that was bac};::i.ng them -with money to send on their 

expert mineralologist, and he came and examined the mine, he re ... 

ported to them tha-t; 11there was not enough ore in sight to justify 

them :in constructing a railroad11 • So the whole speculation had to 

collapse because these Jews withdrew from Teegarden and Finney, and 

they had no money to go on with it and had to sell out for what 

they could get and that, of course, a.mounted to a ve1;/ small part 

of what they had pa.id out. 

But they had regularly met all the drafts I had made on them, 

and paid me in full for all my services and did it cheerfuJ.ly. 

In writing hastily this short sketch of rny travels through 

these rugged mountai.i."1s br:in~s to my memory an L'l'lcident that 

happened on a spur of the Roan Mounta:in close to where the State 

1:ine runs, divlctine Tennessee from North Carolina. 

I had found some fine magnetic ore at a certain place. I 

had a guide with me and to give my horse a chance to graze while I 

was making my investigations, I turned him loose and left him, (as 

he was perfectly gentle), some half a mile before we reached the 

place. We were gone about two hours and when we returned we could 

see noth:ing of my large fine roan horse. We looked and tracked 
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around for some time. We were away below a great spur of the Ma-

jestic Roan, on the North Carolina side; the towering peak above 

us must have been a thousand or fifteen hundred feet above us, and 

as nearly perpendicular, and after nearly despair:ing of finding him, . 

I looked up and almost straight up on that pinnacle, and there 

stood my horse, looking down on me. I wished ·t;hen for Nat Taylor 

with his instruments to take a view of the mountain with the horse 

standing so near the brinlc of the precipice that it looked if he 

stepped one step further, he would fall on me. 

Notw·lthstanding Teegarden and F:inney paid out about twenty 

thousand dollars in our country and was no drawback to the country; 

yet many of our people have not yet quit abusing them, and the same 

class are abusing Col. Ben E. Talbott, because he did not succeed 

in floating the big enterprise he commenced at Elizabethton just 

before the Co-ope1~ative Town Company came there. He tried very 

hard to make a success of it, but the fates seemed to be against 

him and he lost a considerable a.mount of: money that he will never 

be able to recover. 

He pa.id Hrs. Nanc-J Johnson five thousand dollars on her land 

and now she has the land back and the money too. He paid Larey 

0 1Brien the same amount and Larey now owns the land and the money 

also. 

I believe he paid ten thousand on the John Tipton land, and 

lost tll--bcsides what, he paid for options to divers parties. 

He took options on r,zy- land beyond the railroad at ~~200.00 

per acre, forty-five and one-half acres, but he gave me only 



~~50.00 for the option and he failed to take the land as he did all 

the balance. I feel sorry for the man, but it was his own fault. 

He had too much confidence in his judgemen-t,. 

JEjust,ic~ 

My start in life was an humble one. 

I have detailed in these pages some of my conflicts with 

poverty and what we call bad luck generally, and here I want to 

briefly state a big unexpected injustice done to-my wife :in Winding 

up the affairs of her stepfather, John w. Garland. My w:Lfel s 

father, (James H. Poteet), died in Missouri leav:ing a widow and two 

children, a son and a daughter. 

They were left with some property- but the expense of mov:ing 

them back to North Carolina exhausted the biggest part of it. By 

good management and industry Mrs. Poteet educat,ed her children. 

Within a few years after she returned to North Carolina she married 

John w. Garland, a prominent, citizen of Yancey County. He was· 

clerk of the County Court for many years and represented the county 

:in the St,ate Legislature and was elected to the convention in 1861 

as a Union Man. 

Mr. Garland was a safe and good trader and was the owner of 

a large amount of realestate besides several slaves. 

Mr. Garland was a very clever and popular mano They had no 

children. When Saphronia and I were married on the 8th of August, 

1841.i, their family consisted of Mr. and Mrso Garland and her two 

children and servants. After we were married, we made ou.:r home 

there for a few monthso We then moved to Elizabethton, Tennesseeo 
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He was so successful in his land speculations, I was anxious to 

learn how he could proceed so smoothly, and finish up a trade with 

so few words; that I told him if he would instruct me how to 

proceed and accomplish the same end, I would give him a hundred 

dollarso 

He said he could tell me in five m:inutes and would not charge 227 

me anything. He said, 11when you want, to buy a.nything--land, a 

horse, a cow or ~hing, say nothing abou·t, it. If you talk about 

it, others will step in before you, if they have the least chance, 

even if they have no interest in it only to defeat you in your trade 11 • 

11Never approach your man and do as most men do, tell him you 

have come to make a trade with h:i.m.11 • 

11You can always manage, so the subject will come up accidentallz. 

And when you get to talking, be sure and let him do most of the 

talking and you ·t,ry to be 1.U1.concerned, and when he makes a propo­

sition you are willing to entertain, accept it at once; and draw Ul?, 

the writj.ng, }hen ru1.£1 .. ~Ji.e,r.!,., for very often if it is put off even 

till the next, day., the terms will be changed to suit him better, ~ 

reme~e_r .e,.v,eFY,,)j_;J1e itj.._s done1 it,,suits y_;ou lessn. This was gocx:1 

advice and I remembered it in after years. About ten yea.rs after I 

settled in Elizabethton, the Great Copper Speculation was inaugurated 

in Virginia. I was drawn into it, by friends in various sections of 

the country, especially nzy- brother, John, then a citizen of Georgia. 

There were nineteen of us and the enterprise was a vast one. }tr 

brother was agent for the Company with headquarters at HDJ.sville, 

Virginia. We bought large interests in Carroll, Floyd, Patrick and 



Grayson, in Virginia, and also property in North Carolina. 

Nearly everybody was excited about, Copper. It was the topic 

discussed constantly in hotels, on railroad trains and everywhere. 

Mr. Garland was very anxious to invest in Copper property in 

Virginia. He had offered me his home fann adjoining the tovm. 

property at Burnsville for one-half my interest in our Copper 

property in Virginia, but I refused to make the swap, unless he 

would first go to Virginia and see the lands. So we started to ex­

amine it and after traveling about half of the distance, the weather 

was so hot and the trip so fatigujng, he proposed returning and 

make the trade without seeing the landso I agreed to it and we 

went on to Burnsville and drew up the Deeds. I had possession of 

the land for twelve yearso In the meant:i.Jne 11 the bottom fell ou·!; 

of the Copper Specula·bion 11 , and I thought it hurt him to lmow that 

was the first land trade he ever had made, in which he got the 

worst of the bargain. So to cause him to feel better over it, I 

proposed to deed the land back to him without consideration and 

did so-believing that some day that and much more would come back 

to Saphronia and her heirs, as Mr. Garland had no legal heirs, and 

especially as he had told me more than once that 11Saphronia1 s 
,.. 

mother helped me to make what I have and I intend her and her heirs 

to have part of it 11 • 

Note: I did nearly all the practice.in Nr. Garland1 s family, 
,... 

and for many years both in North Carol:ina and after he removed to 

Tennessee, and never charged any fee for any part of it. If it 

had been paid for, it would have amounted to a considerable amounto 



Notwithstanding all of this, before he died, he willed even:, 

th=!-llg to John Wesley Higgjns, an illegitimate son. His wife died 

several years before he died. He was a cripple and an invalid for 

several years. His residence was in an adjoining county over 

twenty miles from me and I could not see him oft.en, and when I did 

I never mentioned his business affairs; but he had told me he had 

made his Will and that something was left to Saphronia, but :in his 

last deys he was surrounded by such :influences as to cause him to 

revoke his former Will and make another; cutt:ing her out of every­

thing. She did not get to see him for a long time before his 

death. She loved her stepfather' ... -she always called him 11pappa 11 

:in such indearing way that strangers would think he was her father, 

and he was much attached to her. Nore for this attachment than 

any other, I would have been proud that he had been allowed to leave 

her something that she could remember him by. 

South Carolina, Nullification, :in Verse--by a Negro. 

When memory carries me back to my life among the Indians, and 

my Campaign in the Federal Aruzy- in 1836, I can remember songs, or 

parts of songs, sung by Allen Campbell, one of our regiment, arourrl 

the camp fires of dark:and lonesome nights. I will here repeat all 

I can remember of an old negro song, discribing the Nations troubles 

about Nullification in 1832 or about that time. 

11You lmow Uncle Samboy, I lmow him prime, 

He come ober de frog pan, away in ole time. 

Bull John been he dady, so hear people say, 

But he bin got so crabi t, Uncle Sam run away. 

So de pan he cross ober to lib in dis land, 

He hab notion to marry, so give Gall he han1 o 
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Dis couple keep house, and hab children plenty, 

I count him one time, I blebe ober twenty. 

Dese children lib :in friendship, all be of one mine, 

Cept one tarnal huzza, her nrune Caroline. 

She lib in cl.c-iy place, whore da raise such big tater, 

Mong dem great pon, where da kech Alligator. 

Dis gal she git sassy, she bin so much mess, 

She for ever, and for ternall she keep such a fuss, 

You can't go out meeting, mong nice combergation, 

But you1se sure to be rupted, by Nulberfication. 

At de forfe of July, sometime :in last May, 

When people all assembled to celebrate dat day, 

While many be joicing case he get mancipat:Lon, 

Some ternal fool wou1d holler for nulberficat:Lon. 

She will stand up in public and she t 11 cuss and she' 11 drun. 

And right ai'ore public, she 111 abuse Uncle Sam. 

If she keep on dat way and she hab six or eight, 

Ole Harry can't keep em from brake up de S·tate. 11 

I have just come across some of nzy- old papers conta:ining memo- 230 

rand.a, :in regard to nzy- administration of Indian ai'fairs :in the 

Chippewa Nation :in 1868, which show to some extent the mysterio~ 

monoy is made off of the Government by unscroupulous 

The following is a sample account. 

11Daniel s. Mooers a/c December 16, 1867. 

--



To hauling from St. Cloud to Leech Lake at ~~2 .50 per hundred. 

To do from St. Cloud to tho agency at $1.25. per hundred. 

1'.Jnountine to ~~l, 626 .12 

The actual an:o~_9E, books at a~~.!:1.9l ~ek.?Efr·90 
.22 - Here was paid 

more than the hauling came to, even at his big figures. 

N. F. Clark -

11Gets 34 37 /100 per ration for 734 Indians at White Oak Point. 

For six months His first voucher was· 

His second voucher was 

His third voucher was 

18,920068 

22,957010 

4,288.68 

As evidence that it is destructive to the interest, both of the 

Government and Indians alike, it is only necessary to re.fer to the cm­

tract Bassett made with Oscar Taylor of St. Cloud for transportation 

:in 1867 at 2 .16 per h1.mdred for one h1.mdred mileso 

The above contract was made to the lowest bidder. 

:tvh~. Taylor failed to give bond and Major Bassett at once made ar­

rangements to have it done for 1.80. 

Another change should be made. Supplies should not be bought for 

the Indians for a whole year at a time. This rule causes the Goverm11ent 

to pay more exhorbitant prices, and the Indians should be moved in 

closer proximity to each other. 11 Ft. Ripley should be moved" o 

Elk Park, North Carolina - Jan. 9, 1894 

I have today burned up several pages of notes or memoranda taken 

du.ring my stay in Chippewa Nation, investigating Indian affairs. 
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These notes have been mislaid for years and while they have I)lUch 

bearing and would shed light on many of the issues then discussed, I 

destroy them because I have hurried over these incidents, or most of 

them in the preceeding pages and could not now make these memoranda 

fit in--so I have to leave out much of what I did in those days of hard-

ship trial and danger. 

Dr. A. Jobe 

Tuar Friend, 

Niss Pru.dens' Conµnendation 
' 

Elk Park., narch 29., 1894 

I thank you heartily for the privilege of reading these notes. It 

a rich treat, to anyone, even a stranger. Such delightful 

reaclingl I finished it in two sittings. I feel as though my knowledge 

· of this section was greatly :increased. 

The portion of the deepest interest to me is the account of your 

experience as a Union Man. I shall have to tell it to 111V northern 

friends. 

I hope that this eventful life., the stor'IJ of which is told so 

simply and so well., will be yet !mown to the world by the publishing 

of these notes. 

Very truJ.y yours, 

E. c. Pruden 

Miss Pru.den's home is in Minnesota. She has spent most of her time 

for several years building up free schools in the South, one of these 
::.:., 

schools is hers ·at Elk Park. Miss Pruden has done a good work here and 

She has not only had a large free school ta,ught, here, 



but she has given a great deal to the poor. She is sixty-two years old. 

She is a good christian lady, finely educated and very intelligent. I 

wish we had more like her. 

My Sea Voyage from ¥.10rehead City 

My general health being so bad during most of the time, I was in 

the services of the U. S. A. as Special Agent of the Post Office De­

partment. I was a.nr..ious to take a Sea Voyage -to see if the seasiclmess 

would not in some rrwsterious way brjng about a kind of revolution in my 

whole' system. 

So while the Legislature was in session at Raleigh, several of the 

members and others who wanted to join me, we went to Morehead City and 

there engaged two sail vessels to take us ·bo some island away out at 

Sea. '(The name of the island has escaped nzy- memory.) 

We star·bed from Morehead Ci·by early in the mornmg. We sailed on 

smoothly for the first hour or two but the waves soon began to swell 

and beat upon the vessels ·so severely, most of us wished ourselves back 

I was in the rear vessel, the other one was out of our 

sight ahead of us. The crew as well as the passengers were becooong so 

wch frightened that it alarmed the captain. 

Mr. Wilson, an old member from Burke County, sat not far from me 

was wet from head to foot with spray from the waves as they dashed over 

our frail back, his hair dripping and Mr. Hicks from Clay County sat 

He was a pious young man and he leaned over and said to 

e in a very earnest tone, 11 Dr. If I ever live to put my foot on terra 

it11 • 

It required two hands constantly at work to bail the water out as 

ast as it came ino When we got in sight of the island and began to 
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hope we would soon land and be out of danger, directly on top of a 

wave we were brought in speaking distance of our other host, re­

turning. The captain told us he could not land and we turned and crone 

back with him to the nearest point of land where vessels could entero 

Here we lancled and went speed:iJ.y to a house in sight and built up a 

good fire and warmed and dried ourselves. 

When the gale blew over on the evening we returned to Beaufort 233 

and spent the night and t~ back to Morehead City next day. 

In our voyage we passed a vessel and near it were three or four 

men out in the Sea.· They had fallen overboard. I expected to see our 

·captain stop and offer them some assistance but he paid no more at-
'V 

tention to them tnen he would to many dogs. 

I run satisfied that a seafaring life is a hard lifeo 

How true the old proverb. 

11Man 1s inhumanity to man has made countless millions mourn 11 • 

As we hasten on through this checkered life, we see so much that 

is abhorrent to the better feelings and which forces us to believe that 

truth in its simplicity has but few advocates. We often th:inlc of the 

trite say:ing--11A Lie will travel a leaeu,e, while ·truth is getting his 

trousers on"• 

But we are glad to remember what Bryant says about the f:inal out-

come of truth. It reads this way. 

11Truth crushed to earth, shall rise again, 

The eternal years of God are hers, 

While error, wounded, writhes in pain, 

.And dies among her worshippers 11 • 

Willinm Cullen Bryant 



Proposition to make bi~ PEP~ 

A proposition to malce big money without tak-.ing into consideration 234 · 

.. the principles involved in ito 

During the time I was a Special Agent PoO.D., I traveled from 

Washington to East Tennessee wit,h a very in-Gelligent and well educated 

gentleman, who after becoming well acquainted with me, and on learning 

• that I had been for years Presiden-G Johnson I s daugh-!;er 1 s (Mrs. Stover) 

family physician and that President Johnson and I had been 12,ersonal 

--- for twenty-five years-this man became ver.J conununicative-

traveling throue}1 from Lynchburg in a long winter night in a 

He showed me how he had made a great, deal of money by posting. 

to how the cat would jwnp11 , --in 

competitorso 

He said, 11Now if through your friend, Mrs. Stover, you can find 

out the principle movements of the Adrn:inistration on the Chessboard--

8\lCh important things as I will ask you in Cipher, and your answer to 

can malce all the money we would both need in a long 

I will give you half of it and the sum would amount to so 

;l\Uch each month it would make your head swim11 • 

I told him at once I could not do it. I said, 11Money made that 

would not stick, it is not right. 11 o I said, 11Andy Johnson wou.ld 

the next day 11 o This declaration terminated 

e. discussion on that subj ecto This interview learned me something 

had not !mown before; that is, in this boasted, highly civilized 

highly christj,anized country, a great many highly educated men 

fortune without giving a thought about. 

accomplish it. 



The Johnson Monument 

At the beginning of this imperfect sketch, I gave notice that 

I would ignore all method and style, bu·t I have to confess that I 

have gone beyond wha·!; I int,ended and have in many ways bec~e so 

careless and indifferent that I do not lmow how to apologize for it. 

The Johnson Monument at Raleigh, N. c • 
.. , . .-

By reviewing what I have so hurridly written, I find I failed to 

mention the monument to the· memory of President Johnson I s father in 

the proper place. So, I will hastily inscribe a few lines here, 

showing the part I took in it and etc. 

No one unacquainted with the war and its results can appreciate 

the demoralization and the ut,ter confusion which then reigned every 

where in the South just after the close of the war. 

There was a great rush from the North and from the West to 

Raleigh--strangers coming on every train, and as Andrew Johnson was 

then President of the United States and had first seen the light, of 

day in the city of Raleigh, it was natural that they should want to 

the house he was born in and also to visit his father 1s grave. 
~ 

When I was located at Raleigh as Special Agent of the Post 

Office Department and being an East Tennessean and a personal and 

friend of the President, the people at the hotels and all 

city soon got to referring strangers to me for infor­

mation in regard to the President, his history and etc. I toolc 

pleasure in conducting these strangers around and imparting to them 

; all the lllfonnation I could gather. In visiting the old log house 

:!n which he was born, so many of them wou_1d split off small pieces 

to carry away and the house was pretty nearly destroyed during the 

irst year after I went there. 
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And when I went with them to the grave of his father, I found . 236 

it without a stone as large as my hand to mark his last resting 

place. Having been an old line Whig before the war and always 

vot:lng agains·G .Andrew Johnson, I was much prejudiced against him 

until the war brought us together as union meno I had read much 

in Whig papers about Johnson being of such low origin--that his 

people were not only poor, but mean and dishonest, I took pains to 

satisfy 1izy-self abou·G these conflicting stories. I found that they 

stood about as fair with their neighbors as other men, in the same 

humble walks of life. 

His father Jacob Johnson had for years been teller in the Bank 

of Raleigh and held this position when he died. 

He lost his life in the following manner. Mr. Henderson, a 

friend of Mr. Johnson, and several other gentlemen were out a few 

miles from Raleigh fishing. Jacob Johnson was on shore and saw 

Mr. Henderson fall from the boat and was struggling to keep from 

drowning--not being able to swim. Mr. Johnson at the risk of his 

own life, swam to him and saved his life, but in doing so he ex­

posed himself, that he never recovered from it, but died of the 

exposure. 

When I saw the condition of his grave, I conceived a plan for 

erecting a plain monument, of native North Carolina granite, to be 

placed over his grave, inasmuch as Andrew Johnson, a North 

Carolinian, had recen·Gly been placed in the highest office in the 

gift of the people. I !mew there were enough of us, who had been 

appointed to good paying positions by the President, if half of 



them would chip in a nice little subscription, we could erect the 

monUlnent and never feel it. 

I wrote to the President what I had thought of doing and told 

him that I did not want him to take any part in it, but if the pro- 237 

ject met his approval, he could indicate it by writing me a suit-

able epitaph to be placed upon the monumento He very soon sent me 

the :inscription, giv:ing the date of his father 1 s birth and death 
-

(both of which I have forgotten), and closing with this sentence, 

11He lost his life in saving _the life of his friend 11 • (~ 

When I received this I wrote a subscription and headed it with 

a liberal swn and I carried it around and I soon had the amount that 

Mr. K:ing, the contractor, said it would cost. He went at once to 

work and it was not long until he could appo:int a day to unveil the 

monument. 

In the meantime I had kept the President posted in regard to 

the progress with the monument and he had accepted my invitation 

to visit hi_s old home at Raleigh and be present with several 

members of his Cabinet at the unveiling of the mon1.llnento 

I had gotten on fairl,y weLl with all that pertained to this 

delicate matter made delicate by Congress fighting the President-­

this fact made him enemies and not a few of them were showing their 

hand in Raleigho I could plainly see that anything that was at .. 

tempted to be done favorable to him, or even recognizing him as 

the Chief Executive of the Nation, was not to be received with 

favor. The Legislative and Judicial Departments of the Government 

were pitted aga:inst the Executive and they were unable to muster 
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tan :Immense munber of friendso I believed the President was right 

so today". 

To carry out my 11:Monumental" enterprise under these dis­

e-0uraging circ~nstances was the 11tu_g_ of war 11 • This was the 11 cruci-
'V( ~ ~ ,,,_,,1,:; ·v;,;,.J- -t:- R~ ~ ir-

ca1 moment 11 • 0- ·-~-- ~ ~.Q.. .) 

I wanted an appropriation made by the City Council to defray 

expenses of the Presidential Party and to make them guests of 

· the city while they remained with us. I 't;ried to secure the services 

of some pro:m:inent citizens of Raleigh, who might have influence with 

of the Council, to go before them at ·t;heir next meeting 

and lay the mat·t;er before them, bu·t; I could not find no one willing 

I lmew their objections as well as if they had told meo 238 

afraid it would not be a popular movement. Here was an 

I had invited ·t;he party to come and they had accepted 

(to come and no arrangements to pay ~xpenses would never do. 

From a school boy, I was always so timid and so easily em­

<barrassed, it scared me into tr{:mbling to attempt to speak in 
'. 

·:public, but I had no other recourse than to go before the City 

,;Council rr.crself at its next meeting and make the best speech I could 
'\:< Jn favor of the appropriation, and I succeeded in getting it passed. 
·, 

hth d~y of June 1867 as the day to unveil the 

I then went to Dr. Hawkins, President of the ·Raleigh & Gaston 

special train to meet the party at 

state line on the 3rd of June and bring them to 



I went with this train and on the 11.th the monument. was un-
.:L/ 

veiled and stands over the rema:i.ns of Jacob Johnson at the Cemetry 

in Raleigh. The usual ceremori..ies were gone tlJ.rouc..11 T.-i th .'md 

everything passed off in fine style o 

On the arrival of the party at the depot at Raleigh on the Jrd 

there was a very large·concourse of people assembled and the 

President made them a short speech, and then with music and ba.ri.ners 

the large procession passed• through the principal streets to the 

Yarborough House where the President was again called on and made a 

speech. The next day, 5th of Jvne, we attended the Connnencement at 

Chapel Hill. 

The professors and students met us at the outskirts of the town 

where there were speeches made by Mr. Seward, Mr. Randall and Mr. 

Johnsono 'Ihese speeches were made more'. than 26 years ago but I can 

· distinctly remember the substance of a few sentences m President 239 

Johnson's advice to the students. I do not pretend to quote his 

words, but the mean:ine was something like this. 

11 To you young men who are seeking :information, fiting your-­

selves to become useful citizens in your day and generation, I 

would love to give you a word of encouragement to press on for what 

: you are struggling for is well worth havmg. It is what I have felt 

•·· the need of all my life. If any of you are· poor, I would earnestly 

advise you not to look upon that as a misfortune--for in mar.iy 

. instances it proves to be an advantage to throw a young man upon 

'his own resources, rather than to give him a part of a fortune to 

begin with 11 • 



"I do not intend to illustrate this, by reference to nry own 

historiJ, but I cannot refrain from sa:ying fo~ your encouragement, 

that just L~2 years a.go I walked along this street, hunting me a 

western home. I was without house and home and without an education 

or friends, and all I owned on earth was the clothes I carried in a 

lmapsack on my back and 10 and 6 pence in nw pocket" o 

Then the students cheered h:iJn and I wept a little for the re­

cital of his sad historiJ, so life like, touched my heart. 

1520 Preston Street 

LouisvilJ.e, Kyo, April 9, 1902 

We are still at Louisvilleo We are talki.ng and writing about 

starting to our old home in Tennessee. We have made a much longer 

visit here than we expectedo We have been here over 6 month~ arr1 

now do no:t. lmow just when we will leave here. We have enjoyed our 

stay here very much, although the weather has been cold and bad most 

'of the winter, but we have comfortable quarters and did not suffer. 

Today it is warmer and looks like springo The balance of the April 

days have been cold and windy o 

Signs of degeneration in the hmnan race--physically, intellectu- 240 

I do not believe our great men as they are termed are equal, all 

considered, to those on.the stages of action, even 50 and 75 

ago, without mentioning and comparing such Statesmen as Henry 

Daniel. Webster and Calhotm and Benton with Sherman and 



McKinley and Cleveland and Stephenson. 

And where are the lawyers to compare with James R. Dodge on the 

one hand and Hillsrn.ru1, Swain and Dewes on the other--3.ll North 

Carolina. lawyers? 

Below I will give the sparring they had at one of their Western 

North Carolina Courts •. 

James R. fudge on one side of an :important suit and Hillsman, 

Swain and Dewes on the ot,hero As Dodge was concluding his long and 

able argument; Dewes, who was to follow him for the other side, left 

on the table the following epitaph on an attorney: 

11Here lies James R. Dodge, 

Who dodged all good, 

And dodged a.ll evil, 

But after dodging all he could, 

He could not dodge the Devilo 11 

On sitting down at the table Dodge read the above lines and 

hastily drew a piece of pa.per to him and wrote the following epitaph 

on three attorneys: 

11Here lies a Hillsman and a Swain, 

Let tJ1eir lot no man choose, 

They lived in sin and died in pa.in, 

.And the Devil got his dues 11 • 

Legislature of South Carolina 2/Js negroes. 

In speaking of reconstruction, while I was Special Agent of the 

Post Office Department with headquarters at Raleigh, N. c., I should 

have shovm what a change was suddenly ma.de in the great body of the 



law malrnrs in the Southern States and what effect it had all over 

southo 

It was worse I think in the State of South Carolina than any 

other state. When the negroes· were enfranchised and made · eligible 

to hold office-this made them very bold and impudent, especially 

where they were in a large majority as they were in South Carolina • 
• J 

The ihrthcr South, the more ignorant the negro seemed to be and the 

more ignorant, the more impudent, as a rule. 

I visited the Capitol, at Columbia, with Postmaster Janney to 

Witness what I never had seen before, to witness a State Legislature 

two-thirds of its members in each house negroes--

not intelligent educated colored men, but most of them common, 

cotton field and cotton hands and some of them very bad 

. 11niggers 11 • 

Following is an illustration of what some of them were capable 

Quite a number of these new law makers boarded with some 

discreputable colored women in the suburbs of the city; one evening 

. llhen the train arrived from Augusta, a Route Agent had some packages 

ho wanted to deliver to parties living a little beyond where these 

\·omen lived and Mr. Smith, the principal clerk in the Post Office, 

<kindly proposed ·t,o show him the way, as he was going to his suppero 

··_'While they were passing these houses, "the Legislators" ran out with 

. pistols in their hands to shoot them, and seejng they were about to 

·,·, 
/Bhoot, the Rou.15:..Agent ran but Mr. Smith said to them, 11we mean no 

)hann, you know me, I hand out mail to you at the Post Office every 



day. We are going to deliver packages just beyond here 11 • 11 01 you are 242 

liars., you have come around here to run us away from our women". And 

young Snti.th saw one of them was about. to shoot him and he threw him-

self down into a gulley that had been washed out by the side of the 

walk., and this was big Burley negro who waJJrnd up and shot him like 

he was a dog and ldJJ..ed him. This young man, about 19 years old., was 

the only support of a widowed mother who had her house and all she 

01-med burned up the night General Sherman's Ar:nw burned the city of 

Columbia., amounting to 1.,485 houses. 

I happened in Coltunbia when this nmrderer was tried and saw him 

acquitted for this foul unprovolrnd murder. The I'-:Ieltons were his 

attorneys. These men did all they could., .fair ai.-id unfair., to clear 

this negro who they lmew was guilty of a foul unprovoked murder and 

an outraged connmmity had to submit to it. 

Operation on Esquire Johnson., Chairman County Court. 

I overlooked an :i.mporta.-it operation I performed on the cha±rman 

of the Court of Johnson County years ago, had half a dozen steato­

on his head. One was about as large as my fist or a 

'little larger while others were about half as large or larger than 

'Ihey had been slowly increasing in size for a long 

while, but gave him but little trouble until I extracted them., as he 

· could stand them no longer. He had been con.fined at his home about 

7 miles .from (Taylorsville)., now Mountain City. He heard that I was 

in the city and sent for me., as he said I had performed several 

successfuJJ.y in his neighborhood. 



I rode out next day in company with several friends who 

wished to see the operation performed--for at that time--50 

years ago very few operations had been perfomod in that countyo 

On examination of the tumors, I found there was no malignency 

about them and I proceeded at once to take them out. The 

operation required time and care, but was done withou·l; any 

accident. After the operation, we ate a good dinner and Esqo 

Johnson paid me my bill-~~8.00-a.nd we returned to town. The 

Squire recovered in a few days, so as to ride to town, and his 

most intimate friends did not lmow him. He looked so much better 

after the tumors were taken off. 

(I write this at Louisville, Ky., February 25, 1902). 

Fort Sumpter after its fall on 13th of April, 1861 

Elk Park, N. c., Ma.rch 1, 1894. I see by hastily review­

ing what I have so carelessly and hastily written, that I've 

failed to say anything about my visit to 11The Ruins of Fort 

Sumpter11 , in company with George Nason, Postmaster at New Berne, 

North Carolina. Mro Nason had accompanied me on a long tour of 

inspection of the Post Offices in the State of South Carolina and 

we arrl ved in Charleston on a very hot day (17th July), 1869 o We 

put up at the Mills House and after being neatly shaved at a 

Barber Shop and taking a bath, we chartered the 11Yacht Elenor" 

and started to Fort Sumpter. We had great trouble in reaching 

there, on account of contrary winds. Ft. Su.rnpter--or what was 

once Ft. Sumpter--is 4-1/2 miles from the City of Charleston 

243 



---------------------------------------··-

and we were two hours in reaching thereo We passed Castle Pinclmey., 

Ft. Ripley and saw Ft,. Noultrie on Sullivans Island to our left, 

and Morris and James 1 Island to ou:r. right. 

We could see nothing on the island where Ft. Sumpter once 

stood but a pile of ru:ins. This was one of the most notible places 

at one ti.me in the United States. The great War of the Rebellion 

commenced by the Rebels firinr:; on Ft. Sumpter on the 13th of April, 

1861. It was defended by Col • .Anderson with a small force. The 

Confederates kept up the bombardment until the fort was demolished. 244 
Destruction and death in the family of William Shell on ac-

count of liquor. 

I have read many tragic and thrilling accounts in portrayal 

of the evils of the liquor traffic; but none more heart rending 

than what I will here relate, which came under my mm observation 

at Elizabethton., Tennessee., in the fa.iiri..ly of Willia.in Shell, Sro, 

who was then and is still a citizen of that town. 

I will premise what I have to relate by stat:ing that Mr. Shell 

is a man of strong common sense--much above the average. He had 

half dozen sons, one of two grown--all drank liquor, and often to 

excess. 

About 30 years ago a misunderstanding arose between the boys 

and some other young man of the town., and a considerable amount of 

sharp words passed bet-ween them. Shortly after this they, with 

many others, were at a corn shucking where liquor flowed freely. 

As they returned to town and near to Shell's house, they got 



into a fight which resuJ:t.ed in the death of George Shell, oldest 

son of Willi.am Shell, and came near being the end of William Shell 

also. I was sen-t, for irnmediately. I had only a quarter of a 

mile to goo When I reached there, George was breathing his last, 

wit.h his throat cut from ear to ear., 

I turned immediately to his father who wa.s ly-lng on the 

floor with friends around hira. He was stabbed dangerously in two 

or three places and was bleeding :internally so profusely that it 

told so on his pulseo I could scarcely feel it at the wrist. 

From all symptoms, I did not believe he could live more than twenty 

or thirty m:inutes and I notified him of his condition and I said, 

11If you want to talk to your wife, or anyone else, you must be 

quick about it, for you have but a few minutes to live". 

He drew a long breath and said, 11turn me over, 11 and we did 

so gently, keeping him in that position for hours--for by the 

time the mjnutes were out, in which I had e2..1Ject,ed him to die, I 

found reaction taking place. His pulse began to return and I 245 

encouraged h:'Lm not to move o I placed a guard over him with in-

structions to not let anyone talk to him, nor to let him use the 

least exertion. 

}'tr theory of his recovery is this--in turn:ing hin1 over, some 

nru.scle was drawn over the bleeding orif ace and keeping him exactly 

· :In the same position, it acted as well as if, my finger had been 

pressing on the orafice all the time we kept him in that posi tiono 

As he had a first rate constitutioh, it enabled the extravisated 

blood to be absorbed and carried out of the systema 

! 



He fmally recovered and has enjoyed fairly good health 

ever since and is today at the advanced age of 75 years., as well 

and hearty as a man of that age could ·expect to be. 

Then.in about the year 1889 I went on the same tra:in with 

this same William Shell 1 s son, (Tor,1), to Jobnson City. We ar­

rived there at 4 P. M. I put up at my brothers. Tom went 

immediately to a saloon, where he soon got drunk, and about dark 

he got into the track of the E. T. Virginia and Georgia R. Ro, 

and the east bound train ran over him and mutilated him worse 

than I have ever seen anyone before or since. I went, to see 

him that night, as did several other doctors. Both legs were 

cut off above the ankles, only holding by ligaments; one broken 

in two other places above and below the lmee. The other thigh 

was broken and his hip out of place. We took him home to 

Elizabethton next morning, where I amputated both limbs and did 

everytMng possible for him for two weeks, when he was relieved 

of his suffering. I had expected him to die every day. 

How he continued to live so long could only be attributed to 

his excellent constitution. Five voters are yet left in that 

·family, and at each return:ing election they all come up re­

gularly and deposit their ballots in the box in favor of con­

tinu:ing the liquor traffic; and they are all men of good common 

sense. 

How long must these things continuel 

Elk Park, North Carolina - May 2, 1894 
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(D~~~ttu,~) 
The widespread dissatisfied condition of the masses is to 

me alarming. It undoubtecD.y forbodes some direful evil, soon to 

fall upon us as a nation. Are these troubles sent upon us to 

humble us? As a free and independent people, I fear we have not 

lived up to our great opportunities. My op:inion is that if the 

fundament,al principles place·c1 in our Constitution had been 

strictly adhered to, the people of tho United States today would 

have been the happiest and best contented and most prosperous 

of any part of the worldo 11All power is adherent in the people 11 o 

What glorious cleclarationt And ·what balm it should be to any 

wound. We are more than ever reminded o.f the sacred words. 11 Is 

there no balin in Gillead, is there no physician there 11 ? The 

balm is here, imbedded :iJ.1 the fundamental law of our land, but 

the physic:La:ns have departed, 

The politicians have ignored the people and have bound them 

with such fetters, it seems they can't get loose. 

The Signs of the_ Times indicat,e that a revolution is con­

fronting t~s..!. What the outcome may be we cannot tell. The common 

weal of industrial arnw mrnlbering many thousands a.11 over the 

country are moving towards Washington. Gen. Coxey is in the city 

with his arm;'{o It looks like a very foolish movement, yet it may 

be tl10 beg:i..nning of the great Har between labor and capi taJ., which 

has been threatened for years o 

I have lost all confidence in the average poli ticiano When 

ou:r. Government was established, our Revolutionary .Ancestors were 



patriotic and could be relied upon in any emergency but as a rule 

our leaders are selfish and corrupt to an extent that is alarming 

to the well wishers of the Republic. Many of them can be bought 

for price1 

Elk Park., North Carolina August 17, 1894 

After the longest and most turbulent session ever held, the 

Congress, a few days ago, passed what they call the 11Wilson Tariff 

Bill11 • But it is the Wilson Bill with six hundred amendments which 

so mutilates it, and chanees it that its friends won 1t recognize it. 

A majority of tho people, I think, hope the passage of the bill 

(while it is not satisfactory for anybody) will settle th:ines for 

awhile, and that business will begin to pick up in many localities, 

notwithstanding the great divergent interest of the people, which 

overweanine interest. is, to my mind, clearly based upon our over 

wrought political and speculative feeling, rather than for the 

pretended advancement of the good of the countryo 

I wish to insert a few lines here, expressive of my opinion in 

regard to our troubles, outside of our political affairs. The 

following thoughts came to my mind day before yesterday and I 

hastened to write them down with pencil, occupying but two minuteso 

As the people of the United States became more and more 

prosperous for the last several decades, they also became more ex­

travagent. and full of speculation. As a general rule, they were 

not content to let well enough alone--especially has this been so. 

since the war. This spirit of specula·t.ion swept over the country, 

infecting all classes, more or less. 
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Millions were investing in booming town sites, within the last 
·~:.~· . 

t'wo years, and in various other impractible speculations. The 

love of money ran riot over the whole land and but few escaped its 

banefuJ. :influenceo 

It never will be possible to tell the enorrnous amount of money 

spent on account of the world1s fair at Chicago--counting the prepa­

ration in money, time, hotel and railroad expenses, etc. It is 

often est:l.mated to have cost the people of the United States alom, 

not less than one billion dollars. 

Then add to the foregoing items, the vast a.mount of twenty­

four hundred millions of dollars, handed over the counters, of 

two hundred and forty thousand saloons in the United States in the 

last two years. And then to lmow these immense muns of money never 

done one dimes worth of good to our country and might as weL1 have 

been thrown into the sea. It makes us hold our breath in a.rnu.sement 

at the stupidity 11of the most enligh_tep_e.d Nation on the Ea~". 

If all these vast sums of money, so foolishly spent, could be 

gathered up now and properly managed by competent men for the im­

provement of mora.1s and ge..neral upbuilding of aL1 interests doing 

"the greatest ~o,od t.o the greatest numb.~:£_11 , it would start in 

motion a.ll the wheels of every factory of all kinds in the whole 

colL11try and give work at fair remunerative prices to all the 

hundreds of thousands of people now unemployed, both men and women. 
jJ 

And build a school house in evey Civil District in the United 

States and hire competent teachers for 50 years to come; and E-Y::. 

~1e bieely cu~s to .E:_.V!.D.:.~~a.£.Cl..2£.._"1:,he_~~ .. 
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Then the disheartoned and downtrod masses would take courage and 

would soon be willing to hear the Gospel and the Churche!3 would 
' 

begin to prosper and genuine Christianity would rapidly spread all 

over the land. 

When all the min..i..sters of every name and order shall become 

emancipated and throw off their yoke of bondage to the old license 

parties and determine to "declare the whole Council of God 11 , then 

we will be in sight of victory. o, for a motto over every pulpit 

in the land. 11Have the courage of yom1 convictions". 

The War of the Rebellion is Epitome". 

How careless I have been in pem1ing this imperfect sketch. I 

f:iJJ.d I have left out any notice of an occurrence which I should 

have made a more important part of the history of Temrnssoe than 

has ever been written and that is the unsuccessful attempt to es­

tablish the State of 11Fra.nlcland11 or (Franlclin) by John Sevier, 

ai'terwards for twelve, years, Governor of Temrnssee. 

This attempt culminated in a battle between my great grand­

father, John Tipton and· John Sevie\b This battle was the War of 

Rebellion in 11epitome 11 • (See .Andrew Johnson's home speech in the 

Senate of the u. s. in 1860). This battle was fought at the tmn 

home of Tipton, about 1-1/2 miles south of where Johnson City now 

stands on the 28th day of February 1788. 

I will here give a~ short oral history of tho ba.:t.tle and 

what caused it, gathered from old men a.nd women who dist:inctly re-
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membered all facts they detailed. ey Uncle Abraham Jobe was one (Y~., ·'if"'11,v--J-;\\A,~~nta,, 
G -J.,1...~t:J.~_,,_ h ... 

'r, b ' \ 
l (., .. ,,,_,,.,,,.._,.,, \\.,_ ;.-' n) 

' < <L (f" ,J ,,, 
of my informantso He was abou·t 50 years old when he told me all 



abou·!; the batt,le. He lived only about, a mile from Tiptons and heard 

the guns plainl.y. I am 77 now but, was about 18 or 20 when he told 

me these things. .Another one of the old people I talked to about 

this battle was old Aunt Susan Tipton, wife of Uncle Sarruny Tipton, 

who was the oldest son of Col. John Tipton, who fought the memorable 

battle with Gov. Sevier. 

Uncle Samnzy- Tipton owned the land on which Elizabethton stands 

and a considerable amount adjacent thereto o This land came to 

"Uncle Sa.nnny Tipton" in the_ division of the lands of rrzy- grea-t, grand­

father Tipton. I have heard old people of that time say that 11 01d 

Col. John Tipton", at one time, in the hasty sett.ling of the Watauga 

Valley, owned nearly all the land from two miles up Tue River above 

Elizabethton to the mouth of Buffaloe, where little Joe Tipton once 

lived on the hill overlooking Watauea Point,-\ ~ 
Col. John Tipton was one of the prominent men who first settled 250 

in Watauga Valley. He was ar1 Indian fighter as was also his 

~entagonist Sevier; and they were both valliant soldiers at the 

battle of Kings Mountain, where the tide of the Revolution turned 

in favor of America, which for months before had been one series 

of disasters to the few patriots who were defending their homes 

against the invasions of the British. But when Eerguson fell at 

Kings Mountain, it put new l:U.'e into the Spartan bands., 

Col. Tipton 1s sons were Sanmel, Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, Jonathan, 

William, Thomas and John. Some of them were in the Battle of Kings 

Mountain and one was killed at 11Sto Clairs Defeat". 

Col. Tipton was a great lover of fine horses. He brought 

several imported horses with him from Shenandoah Valley, Virginia., 



the 11Irish Gray 11 and Diomeads 11 • The fastest horse ever lmown :in this 

country was Tipton I s 11old Irish Gray 11 • I can remember only 5 of my 

great grandfathers sons, Isaac, Jonathan, William, John and Thomas, 

who was my mother's father. Isaac never marr-led, he owned a f:ine 

body of land several hundred acres below Elizabethton. Jonathan 

married a Miss Williams and settled in Blount County. In after 

years, I became acqua:inted with two of his sons, Gas-well & Quincy. 

William, better lmm-m as (Revolutionary Billy) lived and died on 

Little River near the 1:ine of Knox and Blount CounUes, He was~­

the Naval Service in the War of the Revolution and was so badl;y; ~ 

wounded in a battle on the sea that the commanding officer ordere. 251 
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him thrown overboard as the surgeons decided there were no hope o· 

recovery i.D his case, but a comrade from his own countI"'J, by the 

name of Whitson, begged for h:iJn to be kept upon the ship for two 

days, and if no better, then to be thrown into the watery grave. 

At the end of two days they had some hopes for him and the surgeons 

came again to his side and he was saved and lived to an old age. 

I remember seeing him at church on Little River shortly before he 

died. 

Before clos:ing my imperfect acoount of the part my maternal 

grandfather took in public affairs :in the first sett,l:ing of the now 

famous Watauga Valley, I. must make it a little more perfect by 

hastily tellinr3 the cause of the battle between Tipton and Sevier • 

.L\nd also tell of Tipton1s famous ride from Knoxville home, 108 

miles in one clay, withc:rnt changing horses. 
----· 

On page 249 I say the battle between Tipton and Sevier was the 



, 1788 

11vfar of the Rebellion in ep:i.tome 11 , for Sevier, without authority 

from either the State of North Carolina, or the United States, 

divided that portion of what was then North Carolina, 11West of 

the l"'Jountains II into counties and appointed ( or elected) the neces-
;p;r ··---- • --

sary officers to carry on a State Government and nar.1ed it Franklin, 

(or Frankland) and put the machinery in motion by sendine; out his 

sheriffs to collect taxes to carry on his governmentf~ 
~-r ~ • l=:...4-, ?--'6 :> I '7 i?% 

When the sheriff came to 1ey grandfather, who was a big tax-

payer, he refused to pay--saying 11I am a citizen of North Carolina 

and will pay taxes to the authority of that state 11 • The sheriff 

reported to Sevier, who lived in one of the lower counties, that 

Tipton refused to pey taxes 2nd encouraged others no-t, to pay, and 

Sevier raised an army and commenced marching on Tipton to coerce 

him into obedience. Tipton, with what friends lived near 

to him, f ortec1 in the 11Tipton house 11-:r:i.aldng port holes to 

through and sent couriers to his friends at a distance who 

hastened to his assistance, and fortunately reached there just 

in time to join the little brave band in the house the moment 

they were emerging from the house after being fired upon by 

·Sevier 1 s men. 

It snowed very rapidly---so a man cotq_d not be seen 50 yards 

off, as they approached the house. This continued but a few 

minutes and stopped all at once. Then, the firing commenced. 

The first gun fired was at a woman who had been sent out of the 

house to the spring after water and that brought on the general 

engagement. 



The fight:ing cont:inued but for a few m:inutes after Tipton 

and his men rushed out and joined Pembertons Regiment. A few 

were killed and several wounded on both sides• A great many of 

Sevie1· 1s men were taken prisoners, including Sevier and his two 

sons. Sevier was sent under guard to Morganton and delivered to 

the authorities of North Caroljna. Court was in session there. 

Another.version is that his friends rescued him before he reached 

Morganton, by Dr. Crosby 1 s ir..fluence. 

So ended the State of Frcll1klin and the State of Tennessee 

was admitted into the Union in June, 1796 covering the same 

terrifortJ after it was ceded to the United States. 

Not 11:rzy grandfather 1s hat", but my grandfather1s ride. Col. 
~ 

John Tipton continued living in the same historic house for many 

years after this memorable battle was fought an.cl his remains lie 

buried there. Dur:ing these years a mc1r1 rode up to his gate and 

asked for to buy 1/2 p:int of whiskey, say:ing he was sick. 

Grandfather told him he had none for sale, but as he was sick he 

would give him a glass of liquor, and he placed it on the table 253 

before him. He ch-ank it an.cl laid the price of it on the t.able 

and rode off and got a warrant against him for sell:ing him a 

half pint of whiskey, and obtained judgement against him. He ap­

peaJ.ed it from court to. court until it was finally decided against 

him in the Supreme Court at Knoxville. The fine, costs, lawyers 

fees, etco, amounted to one thousand dollars. He paid this big 

amount i11 gold at· daylight at his hotel in Knoxville and reached 



home at dark--riding the same horse 11 Pm111ch 11 , the whole route 

108 miles :in one day. The next morn:ing in place of f:ind:ing 

him dead, (as might have been expected), 011 turning him out of 

the stable he was as playful as a colt just being from the 

pasture. Horses were horses :in those days. 

The youngest son of Col. John Tipton was John, who :inheri­

ted the noted home of his father and owned it. duri11g his li.f etime. 

He represented Washington County in the State Legislature several 

sessions ancl was a competitor of John Blair more than once for a 

seat in Congress, but as I remember, was defeated by a small 

majority. He was elected to the State Senate several times and 

was speaker of the Senate in 1834, and durir1g the session he 

died and was buried at Nashville. 

I insert the above incident :iJ.1 regard to the lawsuit about 

the sale of whiskey to show that the question of the liquor 

traffic in politics was there more than one hundred years ago, 

and the two old parties talk about i-t. now as though it was just 

now being introduced. With them, it is an:yth:ing to keep the 

people from agitatine the question. 

I was going to school at Nelson's Camp Ground, where 
,.. 

Johnson City now stands and board:ing at Uncle Abraham Jobe•s 
,.. 

dui•ing the last canvass between Uncle John Tipton and. John Blairo 

I remember his tald.ng dinner 1·rl th us one day and on his being 254 

introduced to my brother John ancl myself, as his relatives from 

Blount County. He remarked that rrzy- brotJ1er wa.s closer alci.n to 

him than I was because his name was John, 

The last time I saw him was in Jonesboro j_n 1834, the day he 



was elected to the State Senate for the last time. 

I have often had occasion to speak of the imperfect and 

meager histor.t of Tennessee, Especially is t,he history of East 

Tennessee unsatisfactory and here is where the most exciting 

incidents occurred, This section furnished some.of the noblest 

and bravest men--true patriots and heroes, Men were less selfish 

in those days, 

I think it due to the memory of nzy- kinsman:, Col, John Tipton 

·to relate here an incident that happened in the Legislature of 

Tennessee, while Col, Tipton was a member, as told to me by nzy­

Uncle Abraham Jobe and other reliable old men of that period, 

During the session a United States Senator was to be elected 

an.cl it became lmown dur:mg the ballotinc: that neither of the 

contestants could be elected; and in look:mg around for a 11Dark 

Horse", a sui'ficient number of members centered on Col, Tipton 

as their choice and signed a paper requesting him to aJJ.ow his 

name to be put in nomination, Col. Tipton looked over the names 

calling him to the high and ~ honorable position, sat dmm 

and wrote them a polite note thanldng them in fitting terms 

for their Id.ndness, etc., but declined to accept the position, 

because he had been sent to the Legislature for a certain 

purpose and believlng whoever might come to fill his place 

might fail to accomplish the desired Legislation., he could not 

' msert his post at such a critical timeo 

Where would we find a politician who would refuse such an 

offer in these corrupt days? 

We have in·itten history and oral history, I have heard 255 
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(Rwut ~ ckal ~ ~ ~~ ~ ~t) 
during nw boyhood a great deal of 1.U1wri tten history of East 

Tennessee that Has very int.erestine to me. I do no-t, refer here 

to e}.'travagent 211d 111u·eliable reports, withou·t, regard to their 

foundation, but that kind that waG vouched for and that came in 

and was con:firraed by facts. I learned a great deal from my 

father, mother ::md from nzy- erandfathe1· and grandmother Tipton. I 

can 1t remember nn1ch about JDJr grandparents on my father's side., My 
~ 

father was born Septembe1.· 15, 1785 and died Hay 8, 1868, a3383-8-2. 

Jvzy- mother was born August 27, 1791 and died Hay 26, 1864, age . 
9.~-~ 

73-5)-m. They both died in Georgia and wore buried thereo i:BL;... ~ c;i-

Elk Park, August 3, 1895 ~~ p. ,~ 
. . m. b. ,er s..,. J 

Of 8 brothers, at last acco1.U1ts I have only 2 left--Jolm and 

Jacob, both living in Texas. 6 are dead--David, Isaac, Samuel, 

Washington, Jefferson and Tipton. If any of my sisters are dead, 

I have not heard of it. I heard from my oldest sister (Emaline 

Wheeler) a few days ago. She is well, at the age of 83. 

I am 77 and Saphronia is 69. He have been married over 50 

years. How much we owe to a merciful providence for protracting 

our lives to such a good old age, to see our children all come 

to maturity and settled in life. 

But I am made sad tonight, while watching over my dear wife, 

as she lies sui'fer:ing from a fall she got just after dark night 

before last 1st of April, which I feared wouJ.cl prove fatal. The 

injury is in her right hip and leg. I sent for Dr. Lane an:l we 

feared all night that the neck of the femer was broken. She 

sui'fered such excrutiating pain, we could not examine her thoro­

ughly., Yesterday morning we hoped the great pain was :in the 



sciatic nerve. I sent to Elizabethton for Dro Hunter and he confirrned 

our diagnosis. She is now resting well as we could expect but I 

can 1t help feeling amdous about hero 

April 6th - Have given up my practice, am in constant attendance 256 

on my wife, d.a;y· and night, as she has to be moved often and that with 

greatest care. 

Jtme 6, 1895 - It is now over two months since the sad accident 

and my wife is so far recovered t.hat she can walk over the house with­

out her crutches ano. has ventm•ed to ·walk into the garden several 

times. 

June 6, 1895 - Hav:i.ng a little more time now, not being so over­

whelmed with family cares and c1nxieties, I will from time time to 

add a little to rrry short sketch of my busy life. 

November 27, 1896 - On the morning of the 6th of Jw1e, (the date 

given above) the slcy was clear, the air was balmy; all our surround­

ings seemed more encouraging than usual, but in less than 24 hours 

our yo1.U1gest claughter, Sallie Gibson I s son was born. From that 

doleful night for six nonths, the darkness and gloom of death were 

spread over that house o One night at any hour of the night we pass 

along the st.re et and see :Erom one to four lamps bm'ning. 

The extra care and watchfuJJ1ess was divided between the mother 

and the child for mruiy weeks and when the mother 1s condition im­

proved, that of the child's was protracted for six months·. 

and everyone who saw him had no idea he could live. He was 

more trouble than any 40 children I have ever seeno This same 

· little boy, David J. Gibson, (named for his grandfather, Dr. Gibson,) 

is now 17 months old and is fat and saucy and rapidly developing, 



both in body and in mind. He is the· idol of our family. Durll1g 

his sickness he became so emaciated, he was literally and truly 

sld.n and bone. His lmee:J and other joints looked so large that 

his legs and other limbs looked like pipe stems •. All was done 

for him tha·t money,care and close attention could do. Aft,er 

exhausting all available means near home, we sent repeatedly 

to New York, st. Louis and other cities for remedies highly re-

commended by physicians and friends. 257 

For years I had indulged and hoped that when age began 

to creep on me, if my life through the dispensation of Provi­

dence should be spared, I would retire from al"!tive life--si t 

down at :my ~ase and together with my worthy wife, we would en­

joy our medita·tions together, but it seems that accumulations of 

cai·es have been increased wi·th the lapse of years. 

There are 8 in our family here and 15 at Elizabethton, 

count:i.ng children and grm1dchildren and one great grandchild and 

12 at J ohnnon City, making 35 and for the last 2 years, I have 

been kept pretty bus<J rtuming back and forth between these 

points, if not always to see the sick, it would be to attend to 

other ma.t·ters-the most of it to Dudleys at Johnson City. For 

these recited reasons, I have been unable to give any time to 

writing this sketch. I have not been able, for want of time, to 

answer letters from regular correspondents• I am clue a letter 

to my brother, Dr. John Jobe of Gonzales, Texas, and one overdue 

to cousin Sarah Ao Gibson, of Gin San Corheso 



Perhaps it migh'l; be as well to leave out a:ny reference to 

an episode in life's uncertain journey, but I Will briefly allude 

to it here, hoping it may be the means of warning to all who may 

read these l:ines to steer clear of ownj.ne and running a steam 

Saw Mill. There is no business that I have personal lmowledge 

of that brings a man into contact with so many and often im­

possible men, and it is of itself a delusive business. The mill 

man is compelled to be too much in the power of commission men 

in the cities and :in all my dealings with them for about. 5 years, 

I never found but. one who I could trust. I was in partnership 

w-lth nw son, E. D. Jobe, under the firm name of A. Jobe and Son. 

E. Do Jobe and H. w. Snyder, under the firm name of Jobe and 

Snyder, boug..ht a large double mill and took the contract to 

furnish gross ties for the E.T.&W.N.Co Railroad from Johnson City 

to Cranberry-at the time the road was be:ing finished, sa:y 1881-­

they made purchases of timber lands all along the l:ine from 

Johnson City to Cranberry, especially from Hampton to Elk Park, 

North Carolina. They paid :in advance for timber in many 

instances :in order to get a bargain, lmowing the price would :in­

crease as the road progressed to a finish, especially was this 

so in the purchase made of .Alfred Johnson., of whom they bought 

a large tract of timber. Johnson allowed them to go onto his 

lands having the most inferior timber and finish saw:ing it .up 

without any objection, but when they wanted to move the mill 

onto the land with the fine timber, he refused to let them move 
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onto it, because the railroad had enhanced the price of the 

timber, although he acknowledged he had received a part of the 

money for that ident:Lcal timbero Suit was brought against 

Johnson for the th1ber in Chancery Court and after litigation 

in that court for 3 years,the chancellor, on a mere techni­

cality, decreed against Jobe and Snyder,. They appealed to the 

Supreme Court and after much dela;r, it was decided in favor of 

~Tobe and Snyder, and not withstanding this decision and the 

fact that Alfred Johnson was abundru.1tly responsible, having a 

large real estate besides personal property, the Clerk of the 

Supreme Court issued an execution against Jobe and Snyder for 

:jp54.50 costs, which a.mount I paid ·l;o the clerk (Reeves), and 

Jobe and Snyder paid in lawyers fees ~~200.00 to St,. John and 

Taylor at Bristol who, though called on separately, often could 

not put me in a way to recover any part of this judgement against 

Johnson. Yet we are told the Court House is the Temple of 

Justice. 

Now I will take another case, a great deal was in its op ... 

pression, connected ru.so with the hateful lumber business, which 

for fraud and downright robery, has no equal as far as my :Lni'ar -

mation exl;ends in the written history of the country from the 

time our Republic was fonaecl to the presen-l; time. 

I am admonished to put these things on record from some 

of the things which were developed in the years tha-1; this 

iniquity was adroitly kept in abeyance that E. D. Jobe and 

everybody else might die or forget everything and not be able 

I
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to make any defence. 259 

This was a Suit of Ejectment brought by the United States 

Court at Asheville, N. Co, by 

George w. Brown 

Berry Norris 

J.E. Storey 

H. D. Gwin 

J.E. Puirler 

Mrs. Mary Caru1on 

Jacob Evans 

R,. E. G-.ceer 

Thf"lglrt M. Lowry 

vs 

William M. Lewis 

William Snyder 

E. D. Jobe 

c. A. Grubb 

J. R. Gilder 

James H. Hardin 

William Hardin 

A. Jobe and others 

Dwight Mo Lowery, of Philadelphia, acting as attorney for 

Brosson sold land on the waters of Elk in the corner of Watauga 

County, Norijh Carolina, to the Tenn.-Va. and N. Co Steel and 

Iron Co., and tra.~sferred his. claim in this suit to Coi. Jo Co 

Hasldll, President and Manager of the said company. The nature 

of the summons that served on some of the above names was to 

.get off the companies land or show cause for remaining on the 

lru1d at Asheville at the next regular tern. This summons was re­

turned on the 30th of September, 1887. 

The parties above who were Slllmnoned regarded it as so trivial 

a matter they pa.i.d no attention to it, and did not attend court in 

person nor by attorney and several were not summoned. I know I 

was not sununoned. I was a non resident at the time I moved from 

Elk Park to Elizabethton on the 11th of April, 1887. E. D. Jobe 
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remained at Elk Park but knew nothing of any suit against him 

at Asheville of any kind, although McDade Hampton, Agent for 

the aforesaid St,eel & Iron Co., and Tom Love, Attorney for said 

company, ca.me around repeatedly for the purpose of compromising 

1ti.th all the parties named above, e:x:cept E. D. Jobe, and did com­

promise with them, or most of them, and in these visits meeting 

with said Jobe, often they never named to him that th0"'J had any 

claim against him, nor did they name it to anyone, as far as we 260 

have been able to learn. This clandestine work went on for 7 

or 8 years, so that every element of defense might be removed 

when they made an attempt, to collect tliis fraudulent judgement 

obtained in August; 1888 in the absence of defendant or attorney 

for $500.00 and costs of all 16, although most of them had been 

compromised before judgement was taken, and even their at-

torney's fees were charged to Jobe--that is, fees to the 

companies attorneys. 

This ~~500.00 judgement was allowed as damage to their lands. 

There was no merit in this suit, even if summons had been serve:l 

for it was susceptible of proof that Jobe and Snyder 1s mill was 

not on their land and that not a tree was molested by Jobeo 

George w. Brmm & E. D. Jobe called on Sol. Hensley, the 

Deputy Marshall to try and convince him that while he had 

swnmoned nearly all of the above list, that he had failed to 

swnmons E. D. Jobe a.~d A. Jobe. Hensley told them it had been 

so long that he could not exactly remember about whether he had 

served the process on E. Do Jobe, but thought he had, but he 

I' 
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lmew he dicl not SUlllloons Dr. Jobe. E. D. Jobe got, an injunction 

against sell:ing his property but the facts seemed to be against 

him and the judgement was confirmed with the additional cost. 

Dur:iJJ.g the impending of the injunction Hampton and Love 

came to Elk Park and offered to compromise the suit for ;:~400.00, 

but, lmO"wing that Jobe clj_d not honestly owe one dollar of it, he 

refused to compromise. It would have been money saved if he had 

done it, as the Jciuel shows. Col. Haskell said alJ. through the 

case that he did not want to collect money if it was not honest,~­

due his comp.my. When Col. Haskell returned from a trip to the 

mountains, I hastened to Bristol and had a pleasant interview with 261 

him. I sta:t,ed to hirn all the facts concerned with the case. I 

showed him clea.rly what injustice wouJ.d be done to nzy- son if the 

amount of the judgement was allowed to be collected. I told him 

it all depended now on him--that he had rrzy- son completely in 

his power. Col. Haskell believed I had given him a t,rue account 

covering the whole case. He at once put his typewriter to write 

to Moore & Moore, his attorneys at Ashev.i.lle, tell:ing them that 

I was present and giv:Lng them r,zy- version of the matter and telling 

them that he was in favor of having a review· of the case before 

one of the judges, in Chambers, and to let the case stand as it 

was until this was done. I then offered to compromise for the 

i~4oo.oo, 1-mich Hampton and Love had offered, and to pay mat 

cost had accrued on t,he injunction suit. 

He said he would ascertain wha:j; cost would be :incurred on 



the review and if it would be considerable, he would then con­

sider my propositiono I waited about 10 or 15 days, expecting 

to hear from him, but did not and soon afterward my son rs 

attorney wrote that 11oore and Moore had placed the execution 

in the.hands of the Marshall. 

I then went to Asheville ( as Dudley counVfi.ot leave home) 

to see what could be done in this dire cala;,!;i-t;y;. I found every­

thing was turned. over to these cormorants, the money hungry 

attorneys. The whole runotmt of the judgemen-t;, interest and cost 

amounted to about nine htmdred dollars in r01m.d numbers, and 

every dollar of it as unjust as ever was trung from the pocket 

by a high way man, but nothing could be done but settle it in 

some way or see DucUey 1 s property sacrificed. On the 7th of 

October, 1895 I made Moore and Moore the proposition I had made 

to Haskell--they telegraphed to Haskell and he said ~~500 .oo and 

costs--so nothing could be done but settle that way. That saved 

the interest, which amounted to about ::i21io.oo. I agreed to pay 

~~330.37 as my part of the unjust and dishones-1:, judgement within 

10 days and ~~165.oo, with interest in 3 months, and ~pl65.00 in 262 

6 months, with interest, and whatever the Marshalls cost may 

be on the execution :in his hands at the time this agreement was 

made. 

Now in conclusion I want to say that I bh111e these 

attorneys more for this outrage than I do the company for whom 

they were worldng, especiaJ.ly do I blame and condem Thomas Love, 

who I think inspired the whole matter of keeping it a profound 



secret for all these yearso 

Note: Outragious and fraudulent judgement vs E. D. Jobe, 

the like of which in all of its enormity canlt be found in the 

jurisprudence of all the state. Judge Dick was an old superan-
)J:...-

nuated, incompetant judge and allowed Tom Love and Moore & Moore 

to have their own wa;y in the absence of any attorney on the 

other sideo 

Elk Park, AprD. 27, 1897 

One disaster and misfortune, following each other in quick 

succession, has prevented me for the 2 or 3 last years from 

closing up rny imperfect biographicnl sketcho As an ill.ustration, 

I will record here my whereabouts the last, week or ten days o I 

have been for that time in close attendance with Dr. Hunter and 

a half dozen other doctors, on my granddaughter, Nellie Hunter. 

On yesterday evening when I returned home and after we 

all dispared of her recovery, this morn:ing I received at 10 

o1clock the following telegram. 11Nellie died at 7:25 this 

morn:ing. Burial tomorrow. come 11 • Signed E. E. Hunter. April 

29th. 

I have returned from the funeral and burial of dear little 

Nellie Hunter. The funeral was preached by Rev. Barney Thon'![)son 

under the shade trees in the large beautiful yard at the residence 

of Dr. Hunter. A very large congregation attended this im ... 

pressive service. I never will forget Rev. :tvr..ro Piles touching 

and eloquent pras-er. Ol what shall I scJy of the elaborate, the 
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tasteful and glorious wey everything was done for the memory of 

sweet little Nellie. 

Elk Park, January 5, 1898 

The newspapers have just given us the result of the ballot-­

ine in the organization of the two houses at Columbus, Ohio. 

Unprecidented excitement ias reigned there since the meet­

ing of the Legislature. 

:Mark Hanno., hacl the Republication nomination for U. s. Senator 

but the organization of the two houses show that he will la.ck 6 

votes on jo:int ballot, but Ha.11.110) is very wealthy and I predict 

that he will buy votes enough by the 12th ins to ( the day of 

election) to elect him for this Government is now run by money. 

The power of money is greater then all other powers that can be 

brought against it. January 17th sure enough Hanna.:was ·elected 

on the 12th inst. by 3 majority. Money did the work---but the 

Democrats are in no position to make faces at the Republicans, 

for when we look back a few years, the history of the two old 

parties show us that in this same good old State of Ohio Mr. 

Payne bought his way into the Senate and after him Mr. Brice 

did the same thing. 

I have within the last few days thought of a few incidents 

that happened in nzy- early life, that as far as I lmow, have 

never been publiohed--and each one was of much interest to me, 

at the time of their occurrence, and also the publico I 

remember during my boyhood, while we lived :in Gades Cove, right 

I I 
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under the highest peaks of the Smoky Mountains, that George 

Snyder boughtup a drove of hoes and drove them to South Carolina. 

He kept two young men with him until he sold out and started 

them home 2 or 3 days before he started. When these young men 

stayed the lcJ,st night before they encountered the bed of the 

Smoky :Mountains, early next morning it coJ1ID1enced snowing. The 

road was rough an.cl not traveled much and they soon lost thrir 

way for a deep snow foll that day and they had no means o:f~) 

finding their wey out of the mounta:iJ.1s. They wandered in the 

cold day and night for 3 days and 2 nights but finally reached 

home late in the evening of the 3rd clay. These young men were 

Reuben Roddy and Ode Bryant. Roody was my second cousin., He 

told me all about thoir hardships dur:ing these days and nights-­

for they had to travel night as well as day to keep from freezi.. ng, 

and over logs and rocks. One night they got into a hollow tree 

and began to feel warm, but when they began to feel sleepy, they 

came out and commenced their tramp again, lmowing if they re­

mained there they would never wake again. A little clog followed 

them and they said they often thought of ldlling it, and eating 

him, as they were nearly starved to death. Rodcly 1 s mother was 

a daughter of Revolutionary Billy Tipton, of Blount County, and 

when Roddy died she married Isaac Hart of Carter County Tennesseeo 

This same Reuben Roddy in after life came to Carter County and 

married here and was a citizen of Elizabethton for several years 

here • 

.Another incident which happened :in nzy- young life was the 
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death of the Humphreys and McKeehens, produced by poisionous 

gas in a cave near Gap Creek in Carter Countyo I think this 

must have happened about the year 1826 0};1827. 

A company of men, the Humphreys, JvicKeehens and Guinns, ran 

a fox into the cave about daylight, 'l'hey built a fire to smoke 

the fox out and went off a short distance to get breakfasto "When 

they came back to the cave, not lmowing the fire had caused the 

poisionous gas to come into the cave, vihen they went in they 

kept falling, one at a time, until 5 of them lost their lives. 

After Alfred Hmnphreys, the hindmost one fell, but outsiders 

ran :in and carried him out, he came to and recovered, on account 

of his falling ·with his face near some iinning water. 

I was w:i:t,h him after this wonderful escape and he told me 

all about it, as did others who lmew all about it. February 20, 

1905 - There are about a half a dozen places :in this county where 

it is said this noxious, dangerous poison may be found in Carter 

County, I think there ought to be more attention given to it 

than has been. 

lmderson OWens nai·row escape from death, 

Still anotli.eJ~ incident which uas notible enour)l to be 

published, but escaped the newspapers, as far as I lmow, occuri~ed 

many years ago at the Bee Cliff on Watauga River in Carter County, 

Tennessee, This huge rock wall is about four or five hlD.1clred feet 

high and nearly perpendicular o About a hundred feet from the top 

honey comb could be seen through a large crevis in the rocks and 

Bees goine :in and coming out. 
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Jessie Ovrnns was then living near the cliff and he devised 

a plan to secure this honey. He procured the assistance of some 

neighbor and tied a strong rope securely around his son, 

Anderson I s, waist and let him down from the top with a bucket 

and large lmife. When lmderson had filled his bucket 1v.i.th 

honey and gave the signtl to be draim up, a large Eagle came 

upon the scene--.for she had young Eagles close by, and a severe 

battle conunenced between Anderson and the Eagle and the only way 

Anderson could keep the Eagle from plucking out his eyes was .. to 

make vigorous use o.f his lmife. In doing so he accidently cut 
Jv' ~-0 

one strand of the' tope. If he had cut the rope entirely in't>Q., 

his fall would have been so far and upon rocks, he would have 

never kn01·m what hurt him, but the rope happened to be strong 

enough to bring him to the top. 

I have heard people say he was so greatly frightened that 

he lost his mind, but I can testi:f'y that that is not true--for 

years after this occurrence I hired Owem; and his son to work 

on nw house at Elizabethton for months and his mind was. alright 

at that timeo This was about the year 1847 and the Owens 

worked on with Jolm Montgomery, the contractor, till he finia1ed 

the building. 

Elk Park, North Carolina, February 15, 1899 

We are just emerging from the coldest and most disagreeable 

spell of weather we have ever had here. T:he thermometer day 

before yosterc1.-:iy morning stood at 18 below zero. The wind blew 
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the light. fleecy snow in everJ· direction for ilicy"s and nights. 

Catoosa Springs in Georgia 

:My recollection of t.he Cherokee Nation in Georgia dates 

back to about the year 1830, when :nzy- father moved to the nation 

soon after the country was purchased by the Government of the 

United States. I was then about 14 years old. We settled at 

Woolf t s old stand, on the Federal Road, about 30 miles south 

east from 11 Ross 1 land:ing11 , now Chattanooga and about same dis-

-
ta.nee from the Indian Agency at Calhoun. 

I have been intimately acquain·ted with that country and its 

SU1°roundinr,s ever since. From 1835 I lived 10 miles nearer to 

Ross I landing at what is now R:inegold. First it was Walker 

County with Lafayette its County Seat. I sold goods. for years 

while the v.Jestern and Atlantic Railroad was being const,ructe:1, 

at a count!"/ stand, which is now R:iJ1ggold--the County Seat of 

Catoosa County. This name was given to the count,y when taken 

off Walker--jn honor of the great 'viatering place by that name, 

located about. 4 miles south east of R:inggold. 

These springs were discovered shortly after the Western and 

Atlantic Railroad was fillished-say about 1845. There were 52 

springs cover:ing 4 or 5 scores of ground, each spring differing 

from all the balance in its chemical elements. These waters 

have been analyzed by the great number of the best of chemists, 

and the famous Catoosa Springs enjoyed a run of popular favor 

as a resort excelline all other places in the south. Lots sold 
;i_/ 

at marvilous prices 2nd a little tmm was hastily built up. A 
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hotel was constructed with many rooms and the porch that ran 

around the building measured one-eighth of a mile, but this 

grandure and magnificance could not be maintained long. I 

have not been there for many years but, I learn it has all gone. 

d01-m. 

Cherokee Springs in Georgia (he lived here awhile) 

The above named springs are located in Catoosa County, one 

mile and a half south east of Ringgold, :in the Gap of White 

1'1ountain or "Dick Taylors Ridge" as called by some. There are 

a dozen or more springs here, of excellent mineral water, 
···"--' 

differing in chemical elements. These springs became celibrated 

as a summer resort a few years after the Catoosa Springs created 

such excitement. 

A wealthy man, by the n.--·:i.me of Pennington, a citizen of New 

Orleans, purchased the lands and erected a number of buildings 

and otherwise improved the property. A great many people re­

garded the water as superior to that of Catoosa Springs and I 

am of the opinion that the competition between the two places 

had much to do in deteriorating the value of both and finally 

destroying them. 

When my health failed so completely in the summer of 1857, 

I rented houses at Cherokee Springs and removed my family from 

Elizabethton, Tem1essee, to these springs, and remained there 

all summer and till the beginning of winter. I thought the 

wate;r helped me and else improved the health of my family. 

[ j 
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The next summer and fall we spent in North Carolina. 

lif mind has been recalled to reflect on associations of 

olden times around Ringgold by letters received from there day 

before yesterday from relatives announcing the death of nzy­

sister, Mrs. Hen!"J, and her daughter, Mrs. Russell. It, neice, 

Mrs. Russell, died on Saturday morning, 11th, at 9:30, and 

Mrs. Henry on Sunday mon1ing at 5 o 1 clock, February 12, 1899. 
~ 

They were both vrldows and lived and died in the same house 

and buried in same graveo 

111:'s,. Henry was about 84 years old and Mrs. Russell about 

60. Again, how sad to be called so soon to record the death 

of nzy- oldest sister, (Emeline Wheeler), the oldest member of 

our family at the age of 88 years. She died in Broylesville, 

Washington County, Tenn., a·t:. the home of James N. Henry, her 

sons-in-law, just a m:mth after her sister and neice died in 

Georgia. At the time my relatives died in Georgia, the weather 
(~~~ 

was the coldest ever lmovm :in that state. ~ ~ _ P. l\,\, ,DJ 

l1rso Grindstafft s Fall 268 

I happened to think while spending a day at Allentown a 

few weeks ago of an incident which happened at Smith Hill, 

situated at the lower end of Doe River Cove. This hill is 
ilJ 

about 150 feet high and the de,yent from the top to the fue 

River is nearly perpendicular. The public road runs over the 

summit occupying all the available space for the road. This 

road is traveled a great deal. 

About 40 years ago Mrs. Grindstaff and Mrs. Campbell were 
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going from fue River Cove to Elizabethton horse back. On the 

upper side oft.he road, 2.t this point, lay a large black rock. 

Mrso Grindstaff1 s horse scared at the rock and commenced 

backing from it., backed off the bluff and all that saved her 

was a white oak bush larGe enough to hold her weight. She 

caught and held to t.he bush and her horse went fully one 

hundred and fifty feet into Doe River. 

Sam Lusk happened to be :in sight on the opposite side of 

the river., and hastened to the horse., and was surprised to 

find that he was neither dead nor hurt badly. He led him back 

and around. to where the ladies were and they remounted and 

went on to Elizabethton and attended to their trading and re­

turned home the same even1ng. 

A few years after t.his., a man by the name of Wheelock., a 

Washineton county man., who ovmed and drove a ver-; fine spirited 

horse., was driving over this hill. He got off at t,he top to 

look at. his wagon. At that moment a keen clap of thunder crone 

and his spirited team started and :in his efforts to check them., 

they jerked h?-m between this large rock and the hub of the 
Ai.. 

wagon and roaste~ him up so he died at midnight that night. I 

was called to see him and found his back broken and· 3 ribs 

broken besides other injuries. 

Nay 7, 1903--I underst:md a good road has been constructed 

around these bad places., which ought to have been done many 

years ago., which would have saved life as well as money. 

The wonderful fall of Ep. Treadway 
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Whiskey, the cause of the following disaster which occurred 

at the close of the War of the Rebellion in Carter County, 

Te:mnessee. 

Ep. Treadway was driving his two horse team alone in the 

night along the mounta:in side, just above the Dugger Bridge 14 

miles above Elizabethton. His -off horse was blindo The road 

makes considerable curve, just at the highest poirrt; on the 

mountain where there is an open place through the timber down 
.. :~ ... 

a gulch fully 50 feet, nearly perpendicular to a depP Semel 

' bar at the Watauga River. 

Treadway, befug considerably under the influence of liquor, 

and consequently careless about driving, when the team crune to 

that dangerous point, the blind horse walked off and down this 

awful gulch went wagon, team and driver. The sand was so deep 

it broke to a e;reat extent the effects of the fallo 

William c. Dugger, who lived about 1/2 mile away on the 

opposite side of the river, was brought to the scene by the 

cries of Treadway and he found him under the tongue of the 

wagon, with his thigh broken and his horse so entangled m 

the harness, that it required some time to extricate them and 

care for the wounded man. He was removed to Duggers and a 

doctor sent for and finally taken home where in due time he 

recovered. 

The treatment of John and Jim Potter, their wives, etco, 270 

August 29, 1899. I must be pen;utted to record here the 

treatment of 4 very bad cases of epidemic Typhoid Fever I 
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treated in 1849--wi th the full accotmt of di.fficul ties I had 

to encounter from the beginning to the end of the treatment. 

I should have detailed these cases with the other Typhoid 

cases, but I wrote so hastily I overlooked t,hcm. 

During the summer of J.849 I attended a good many cases of 

Typhoid fever on Elk in the upper end of Carter County and 

among others I was called to John Potter and James Potter, and 

their wives, at the upper house on Elk :in sight of the North 

Carolina line. 'I'he country was ver·.4,'j sparsely settled at that 

time. There was no other house in sight. I found no human 

being there even to give them a drink of water. The house was 

a small one, with one door and one window. The only furniture 

was 2 beds, a table, a few chairs and a few coold.ng utensils. 

One of the women had a little girl about? years old. It was 

about 3 o'clock P.M. when I reached there. The door fronted 

the west and the sun was beaming down on a puddle of water 

about h feet square right in front of the door, and there was 

a thick scum on the water which was carried into the house on 

the legs of a pet Pig as it ran in and out as rapidly as a 

hungry Pig wouldo 

To nzy- inquiry why they did not have some one there to wait 

on them, they said everyone was afrc1.id to come, fearing they 

catch the fever. John Potter said he and his ·wife had taken 

it first and they got Jim and his wife to come and they took 

down the next day. 

I could do no better for · .. them than make out medicine for 



the ~- and give wha·t; each one ought to have and leave more with 

directions on the table and come 5 miles d01-m the river to 

where I could stay all night and get Josua Perldns to go next 

morning and hire someone who could read to go there and give 

the medicine and wait on them until I returned and to tell 

them that the fever was not contagious. I managed to get 

around rapicD.y and back to these horrible cases and give them 271 

close attention for L1. or 5 weeks ,md saved all, except one 

of the women, when under the extreme unfavorable circlUnstances 

I expected to lose all. 

October 9, 1899--Today is my birthday. · I am 82 years old 

today. Dro Triplett died in Elk Park this morningo I was 

sent for but was not able to obey the call. I have been con­

fined to my room for about a week. 

Elizabethton, Tennessee - May 6, 1901 

After a long delay on account of afflictions of a serious 

nature in nzy- farn5.ly, I resume my pen this evening to chronical, 

a sad affair which had gone out of my memory until recent ym rs. 

Jl·zy- grandfather Tipton, nzy- mother's father., whoso full mune 

was Thomas Tipton., and son of Jolm Tipton, who fought the 

Frankl:i.J1 Battle against Gov. Jolm Sevier, moved from Carter 

County, Tennessee., to Blount County shortly after my father 

died--say about 1820. Grandfather often came back to Carter, 

settling up his business here. On one occasion, he was re­

turning alone and when he reached Pigeon River., he found it 

looked a little flush., but he thought it was not past fording, 
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but it had rained harder up the river than where he was and 

before he reached the other bank he was in swimming water 

and it washed his horse dmm considerably where the bank was 

high. T\-10 men on the short reached him as soon as possible, 

but he was drorn1.ed before they reached him. His horse was 

sw:i.111111:ing around him. He had caught a li:r.:tb of a tree near the 

bank and held the bricJle with the other. They cut the 1:i.Jnb 

and got him in the canoe and onto tho bank in double quick, 

and understood what to do and soon brought him back to life 

and he lived a lone life after that ancl moved from Blount 

County·to Walker County, Georgia, where he died several years 

afterwards. 

E. D. Jobe 1s great disaster 
~ 

Elk Park, North Carolina, August 9, 1901 

Accumulation of troubles, siclmess and ilisasters of various 

kinds have prevented me from finishing this sketch up to the 

present time. I will resume nzy- notes by detailing the mis­

fortune that happened to my son, E. D. Jobe, on the 28th day 

of March,1901. His leg was broken about 2 or 3 inches above 

the ankle. It was not a common fracture, H, was a compound 

fracture and the two bones being so displaced and the en?-s 

not being broken off square, but c1iagonallyo They could not 

be kept in opposition without great difficulty. It had to 1:e 

set 4 t:i.Jnes within 2 months and now over L1. months after and he 

is still. on crutches. I do not believe I ever have seen in 11zy­

long practice anyone suffer more than Dudley suffered from that 
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great injury. He is going about but I do not think his leg is 

out of danger yet. 

Mary Paynes Case 

August 10, 1901. I cannot account for the cause of my 

failure to record such an important operation in its prope:t 

place, as the tumor I amputated from lfary Pay11e rs arm. She 

lived in Paynes Gap in the colmty of Johnson, near the White 

Top Mountajn, whe1•e Virginia, Horth Cm:-olina and Tennessee join. 

She was Dr. James Butler's patient, but he uas umrllling to 

risk the operation himself and., therefore, he wrote for me to 

come and operateo The tuJaor was of tho stootomalous kind and 

vern,; large, located on tho arm covor:Lne every inch of space 

from the shoulder to the urist and encircling the whole arm and 

looked about ha.lf as large as he:t bocly and so heavy she could 

not raise it up and move it about. 

I have no means now of lo~i:?rt:i.ng the time the operation was 

performed but I think it was about fifteen years ago. A very 

large cro11d Has the:te to Hi tnoss tho operation for no operation 

of that magnitude had over been pe:rformed in that mountainouG 

countr-y. There were half dozen doctors there. Hiss Payne about 

35 years old enjoyed good health and enjoyment except the awful 

bm·den of tho tu.moro She seemed calm and mot the ordec1l with 

more fortitude m1d fh·mness than I thought she,·could. When I 

was 1~eacly to commence tho operation, she asked me :i.f I was 

willing to allow a m:inister., who was present,., to_ have prayer 

before commencing the operation. "Certainly, said I. 11 After 
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prayers I immediately began the huee operation. It was 

difficult, o.f course, to remove such a large mass and was 

attended with considerable he1mnorage but nothing serious lBppencd 

during the op0ration. Dr. Butler and Dr. Roy Butler, Dr. Wood 

and others rendered all the assistance necessar'J and the 

operation was a complete success. After pai~taking of a suJnp­

tious dinner the patient ts father, Esq. Payne, paid me:;~L~o.oo 

and we all left for home in better spirits than before the 

operation. The arm healed rapicD.y and she has enjoyed good 

health ever since .. I saw her brother about a year ago and he 

said she was still well and no appearance of disease about the 

arm. 

How the E became aclded to our name 

Aueust lh, 1901., I want to state here the way in which our 

name Job, as it· is printed in the Bible, became changed, and 

has ever since be0n 1r.ci tten JOBE. 

I have heard my father say often that he and his brothers, 

when they grm-1 up to be m0n, commenced writing their names 

jobe--adcling the E for the sake of sound, and everyboczy wrote 

it the S3ll1e way and thus it became changed. I regret it was 

ever changed. 

NY v~a.nclfather, David Jobe, never added the E to his name. 

In all abstracts of titles to land, his name appears written 

_'.Ya;virLJ2l?_11 • There are many of them at Johnson City, for there 

are a creat mnny lots on which the city no1v stands that the 

deeds had to run back to him as he entered the land. 

When we turn to the Book of Job in the Bible, we find. 11he 
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had born unto him seven sons and three daughters 11 • }!y grand­

father, David Job., had three sons and seven daughters and all 

of them had Bible names. The daughters married Gibson, Ensor, 

Humphreys, Carr, Davis and Cooper. Hy father 1 s family consisted 

of nine sonG and s:L"'C daughters and the most of them had Bible 

names. The sons names were David, Abraham, Jo~, Isaac, Jacob, 

Samuel, Tipton, ·washineton and Jefferson. The daughters we:ce 

Eliza, Ema.line, Leonora, Caroline, Eva and Sarah. 

l1y own family consisted of 11 children, l:J- sons and 7 

daughters o Names of sons: Ethelbert DucUey, James Poteet, 

Jolm Wesley, Lorenzo Poteet. Names of daughters: Emma Adelia, 

Julia Adelaide, Sophronia, l1al"'J Jane, Hariet Gibson, Ruth 

Josephine ai.1d Sarah Leonora. 

September 9, 19~... .All ou:c sons are gone. Our preciouG 

and much loved son, Dudley, whom 'we loved so much., died August 

I will make short· work in :rrzy- account of this greatest cala­

mity that ·ever befell this country. Since the war of the 

Revolution., the loss to land 0vmers in the Watauga Valley cannot 

be estimated. 

In sp~aking of it, one can say it is enormous. It never 
\ 

can be repared. Even the public road up the Watauga River iG 

a&ndoned and the cou.rt has condenm:ed the land and laid off a 

. road through the farms 40 feet wide. This the owners of the 

farms have to submit to., besides the loss o:f their bottom 



lands by the flood. Dudley has had to build a fence on each 

side of his new road clear through his farm and give road hO 

feet wide and get only m5.oo daimge. How he can succeed 

in accomplishing it I can1t tell. In his crippled condition 

and labor so demoralized, with such a large farnily, mostly 

small; the only 2 who could be help to him both gone-one in 

business in Virginia and the other one running on railroad 

from :Memphis to Norfolk, Virginia. 

August 1901. I have been postpon:L.'1g m--i"ting my account 27 5 

of the groat flood which came with such tremendous force upon 

us on the 22nd c1.1.y of Nay 1901. I do not pretend to describe 

it for it can 1t be done :ip its entirety. l1'J opinion :j..s that 

if the.present inhabitants and future generations for three 

hundred years were to stop cutting d01-m and hauling off the 

timber and clea1.·:iJ.1g up the timber, wore to go to work and plant 

the land with now trees and pay strict attention to forestry, 

they might three hundred years have a good a country as it was 

before the flood of 1'fu.y 22, 19010 Some citizens now residing 

here sa:y the tide in :March 1857 was equal to this tide. It was 

~· equal to it in any respect. Where it, covered the la..nd, it 

did not damage it one-fiftieth part as this tide, by washing 

the low lands away, was the very best lands in the beaut:Lful 

Watauga Valley, and in many places leaving from 3 to 6 feet 

of sand in place of the f:i.no fertile soil washed away. Then 

take into account t,ho great number of houses washed away with 

all .furniture and everything the people had, ivhich can I t be 



replaced and in a few instances, there were people drowned, 

but fortunately few lost their lives, as the flood crone in 

the day light. If it had happened in the night, thousands 

would have been drowned. I do not lmow how many houses were 

washed away and moved around and damaged so that they can 

never be replaced but qu:tte a number. 

In May 1869 after my time expired for which I had been 

appointed Special Agent in the Post Office Department­

having the scars before my m.ind of the tide in 1867, when I 

returned home from my headquarters at Raleigh, Noc., where 

I had spent 3-1/2 years, I notified the people of Elizabethton 

-_. if something was not done at the upper end of the town to 

protect and showed them that the bed of the river was higher 

than the town and it must be made lowero I proposed to 

superintend the work from May till Christmas ancl charge nothing 

for my services, if the town would furnish me all the horses 276 

and wagons and the hands belonging_to the town, I would sink 

the bed of the river 4 or 5 feet lower by taklng the rock out 

and wrip-wrc}.E, or r:w-~ the bank--making the wall slope 

towards the river at an angle of 45 degrees-then the weight 

of the water would tend to hold the rocks to their place. 

I lmew it would cost a great deal of labor. It will cost 

more than 10 times as much now to make a success of it, as it 

would then, and it has to be done yet or the town will be 

washed away. 

Floods have been common all over the United States. Thet'e 

is no section exempt from them, according to reports in the 



newspapers., but none so disastrous as the section embraced 

along the "Blue Ridge" from southwest Virginia through 

Western N.c • ., on one side., and east Tem10ssee to the. other­

clear on to Georgia. 

I notice most of the newspapers state ·~hat the flood 

occurred on the 21st day of May 1901. 'I'hey are a day too 

early. I lmow I am right in the date of May 22., 19010 I was 

at Dr .. Hunters when Doe River connnenced rising rapidly., shortly 

afternoon., while the rain fell in torrentso The rain was so 

generally pouring down., especially in the mountains--attended 

with cloud bursts and water spouts in and around Roan 

Mountain., that I never had seen the waters rise so rapidly. 

When it would slack a little., I would hoist my umbrella and 

walk out to the coverecl bridge across Doe River where the crowds 

of people had gathered • ./ID immense amount of drift was passing 

and the waves were turbulent. Great trees torn up from the 

banks in the mountains crone clashing dm-m., carry:ing everything 

before them--houses., fencjng., bridges and everyth:ing that 

stood in their way. 

Soon the railroad bridge., the B. & E • ., over the Watauga 

was swept away and soon after went the steel bridge over 

Watauga at the foot of Main Street-then the two splendid 

foot bridges over Doe Rivero All this time., houses., barns., 

trees, roots and al.1--some 50 and some 100 feet 10116 and 

the lumber composing several railroad bridges from above 

passed under. the covered bridge, but it withstood it all ru1d 

just as dark began to close in, the waters began to fan to 
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the great joy of the people. 

Veechdale, Kentucky, September 4, 1901. 

My wife and I have been trying for sometime to make a 

visit to Veechdale, 2 miles from Veechdale, the home of our 

children, John and Sallie Gibson and their little son, 

David, and sons-in-law, Col. N. E. Harris, after spending 

part of the sunimer at Elk Park, N. c., in feeble health, 

having recently returned from New York--where he had gone to 

consult an eminent doctor, and with all was not improving 

satisfactorily; he wished to return to.his home in Hacon, 

Ga., with his fmnilyo 

He proposed to telegraph for his private car to be sent 

to Johnson City and n..11 of us, that was his family, my wife 

and rn.yself get aboard and he would bring us to our destination 

in Kentucky and then go to Macon by way of Chattanooga. After 

this arrangement was made, two more were added to the number-­

Mollie Hunter and Ruth Jobe. We boarded the private car at 

Johnson City Saturday evening, August 31st, and arrived at 

Veechdale, Ky., safe and sound Sunday evening, September lsto, 

and on Monday evening the car started f'or Macon with all 

except A. Jobe and wife. 

Mollie Hunter and Ruth Jobe left the· Colo and his family 

at Chattanooga and returned home to Elizabethton. We have: re­

ceived letters from all since their return and they report 

they had a splendid tripo September 26th. My vn.fe and I are 

at our daughters. Our stay here depends much upon our health, 
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which has been feeble for months past. We would love to stay 

all winter if our heal th would improve. 

I here inscribe the greatest and most horrible calarrdty 

that ever befell our country on the 6th of this month-­

President McKinley was shot by an .Anarchist in Buffalo, New 

York, and died of his wounds on the 14tho 

Louisirille, Kentucky, Januar'J 30th. We moved from the 

fann here November 22nd and have warm comfortable quarters but 

we passed through a cold spell last month and had 2 days now 

of colder and more disagreeable weather, with the heaviest 

sleet I ever sau o Rear Admiral Schley is here and ,;vill leaw 

·.ror Nashville, Tennessee, tomorrow at 3 P. M. 

Louisville, Kentuclw, March 8, 1902. The weather has 

moderated to some extent, but. still continues cloudy. We 

have had very little rain or snow during the whole winter, 

but j_t made up for it, in the heaviest sleets I have ever 

seeno They continued the longest, breakinG down much timber 

in many places, end during the whole time, the cold winds were 

very severe. _We happened to rent a brick house with 

comfortable rooms and we kept good fires or we could not 

have been warm and stood the 1veathero 

I should have mentioned a little circuJ1wtance, which oc­

curred years ago, (in its proper place), but like mariy other 

things, I forgot it. During the years I was spend:ing time 

and moriey in try:i.J1g to strengthen the Probit.ion Party.in North 

Carolina and Tennessee when the National Convent:ton was held 
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at Pittsburgh, Pa., there was so nmch excitement that the party 

split into two parties. I had reason to hope for good news 

from a harrnon..1.ous convention of men who were trying to save 

the country from destruction by the nefarious liquor traffic, 

but when I went, to the Post Office :in Elk Park to get :my :mail, 

I found a crowd of men who had vot,ed to license men to help 

destroy the country. They were waiting and anxious to break 

the news to me, but the spolcesrnan said, 1!Well doctor, how do 

you feel, now that your party has split :into two parties11 ? 

I did not speak for a lit,tle bit, but then I answered thus, 

1!Well, I think I feel about as Peter did when Christ was 

crucified". The crowd. said no r.1ore to me on that occasion. 

1520 Preston Street, Louisville, Kentucky, March 26, 1902. 279 

While thinking over part of nzy- past, life here with my wife 

on a visit to our children, I happened t,o remember an important 

surgical operation I performed :in :Mitchell County., North 

Carolina, after I had quit my practice. It should have a place 

among the other cases of surgery. I have made short sketches 

of it, but like others, it escaped my memory. I was taking 

options on Iron Lcmds for a Chicago Company in tho SUlf\lner of 

J.8870 

I had stopped for dinner at William BuchMans on Ibe River, 

5 · or 6 miles from Cranberry, Md just as I was getting on my 

horse to come on to Elk Park, a man in great haste came.for me 

to go to a little boy., about 6 years old, who had fallen on 

his pocket knife which he had open in his hand. I had to ride 



two or three miles over bad roads, away from the main road. 

On nzy- arrival, I found that the lmife had cut through to the 

hollow, about two inches below the navel and a little to the 

right. The Omentum had protuded through the hole, making a 

lump more than half as large as my fist. 

I had no instruments with me and was at a loss to lmow 

what to do. I tried to use gentle pressure to force the 

Omentum to recide jnto the abdomen, but found I could not 

succeed. The hole was too small and the protuberance so 

great and having been out so long, L·soon found it could not 

be retmned without making the opening larger. (I did this 

with the little lmif e.) The exigency of the case caused me 

to think fast. There was no time to lose. Having no 

instruments, I was compelled to cut the hole laree enough 

to allow me to gradually work the mass back into the body. 

I did this by having the little fellow held, by assistants, 

in the most favorable position--so the tendency would be 

inward instead of outward. I used most judicious and con­

tinued efforts until I succeeded in reducing the large mass 

and made 2 or 3 stitches and acU1esi ve plasters, and his 

life was saved. I had no Chloroform nor anything else to 

give, only directions--as diet and keeping his bowels regular. 

There was great rejoicing when it was over. The father 

asked my bill. I said as you are a poor man, I will be 

satisfied with one dollar. 

1520 Preston Street, Louisville, Kentucky, April 21, 1902. 

i 

280 



The weather is now improving from what it has been from 

the time we came here, 22nd of November, and cont:inuing through 

the w:i..nter and so far dm·ing this month. It has been very 

cold generally but very little rain and scarcely any snow but 

more sleet than I have ever seen. 

We a.re fix:ing to return to Tennessee. Will leave in 

less than a week d.f nothing happens to prevent it. We have 

had a long and pleasmTG visit--6 months here and 2 months at 

the farm, ma.king 8 months in all. We have had good rooms and 

have taken good care of ourselves. We have had warm comfortable 

fires but we feel sad leaving. 

April 22nd. We have appointed the 26th Insto at 8:30 P. 11. 

to leave here. The schedule will take us to Knoxville at 7 :00 

A. Mo, Monday 27th, where we expect to meet Hattie Harris Hho 

will leave Via.con, Ga., a1)out the same time we will leave here. 

We will travel through on sleep:i..nr cars. 

One day last week om.· whole family, (that is) John, Sallie, 

David, l'1a and :nzy-self made a trip on a street car several miles 

out of the city to St. Jacob's Park. We remained there several 

hours, taking in what view we couJ.d of the buildings anc1 view 

of the city of Louisville, but tho vast amount of smoke from 

the city was so oblitera·Gecl, our view could be but little seen. 

The city has spent much money in erect:i..ng,. buildings and making 

fine drives, first in one direction, then the other, to reach 

the SUlTIIlLi.t of the mountains. Among the number of houses and 

the vast seating capacity for the thousands of visitors who 

attend there every summer, I noticed "Boone Cabin". 



I regret the weather has been so inclement nearly all the 

time since we came to Louisville, 4 months ago, that we have been 

housed up nearly all the time, fearing to expose ourselves in our 

old age and feeble health. 

The performance of the 11 Jarnes Boys" at 4th Avenue. 

Nollie Hunter was very an.Y..ious for ma and rrzy-self to attend 

a theatre while in Louisville m1d sent us ~t5 .oo to enable us to 

do so. We were disappointed from time to time but when the James 

Boys came, .the weather being some better and the performance being 

in day time, Sallie persuaded me to go with her to the Avenue • 

Ma was not able to goo .').: .·. 
The performance was good and appiuaded by 

the big crowd repeatedly. 
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It is wonderful what deceptive views can be presented and made 

to appear real and life like. In one act we saw, when the curtain 

went up behind the stage, a farm with stacks of hay and a barn and 

other buildings, and a wagon road winding up the hill to the barn, 

and presently we hear a whistle blow and directly a train come in and 

immediately the· James Boys capture the Expressman and take a box con-

taining his money and chisel a hole in it and put the dynamite in to 

it and with a loud report it is blown up. 

The James Boys get the money and other valuables but half a dozen 

guns are fired and one man killed. 

In another act--They set fire to the building and it looks like 

we would all be burnt up before we could escape, but th~y would subdue 

the flames. 

There is now a big show in Louisville of animals and circus and 

the weather is good but none of ua go to the show. We went over to 

Brook Street only a block away, to see the street parade and hear the 

music. Indeed it was grand. The great number of white dogs and ponies, 

all trained. Then they had elephants, camels, monkeys, etc., etc. 

The music was fineo 

Then yesterday they had another parade--and n1arched along Preston 

Street right before our door. Little David delighted in it. 

April 24th. We are still at Louisville. I could not sleep well 282. 

part of last night. In rrw wakeful hours, I was reflecting over, in a 

general way, the earlier yeaxs of rrw life, from the time the first 

impressions found a lodgement in nzy- mind. Say the tender age of 4 

years. While truth compells me to confess that I did many things that 

I ought not to have done and of which I am ashamed of. -..Still I can 
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rejoice over all the victories I have gained, as 1 struggled along 

life's rugged pathway with ~emptations around me where others fell 

victims. 

I always delighted in social enjoyment with rrry schoolmates and 

kept rrry friends in school and out of school. 

When I reached manhood, I had the sanE disposition and it served 

me well through all rrry business transactions; when I entered· the 

mercantile business in Ga. with rrry brother and also in after life, 

in rrry professional life, which amounted to over 50 years. 

,! never ~ !: fight ~ !!Si.'.: life. Neither with a boy, while I was 

a boy, ~ with !: ~ since ,! arrived to manhoodo Now I am nearly 85 

years old and I reckon it is safe to say, I will never have a fight. 

In regard to the amount of business I transacted, and amount of 

money I have handled, I have to say I have been active and industrious 

and have handled many thousands of dollars, but the 11Fates 11 have often 

been against me and consequently, the misfortunes which I suffered 

kept me from saving the fruits of rrry labor. 

mentioned in this imperfect 11:Memior. 11 

These misfortunes are 

But with all 11the bad luck and mishaps" that befell me, there never 

was a judgement entered against me in any court during the long life 

I was in business for rrryself, nor against A. and D. Jobe, while partners 

in the mercantile business. We met and paid off every debt we owed. 

One hundred cents to the dollar and never asked the smount to be shaved. 

A gread deal of it put us to hardship and trouble to do ito I can now 

call to mind one, that I will relate. 

In 1841. While the "Western and Atlantic railroad" was in course 283 

of construction, our stock of goods needed replenishing. We had been 
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buying goods in Augusta, Ga. and hauling them 275 miles in wagons-­

we had no railroads then. We only wanted about $2,000 worth of goods ------- -
and it was much nearer to Knoxville, so I went to Knoxville and bought 

something over $2,000 worth of goods of Campbell, Wallace and Mcclung. 

Money matters were then in a very precarious condition in Ga. 

The country was full of 11pet banks. 11 And taken at a discount, the 

greatest amount of money in circulation in our country was, Central 

Bank Money, and it was est:iJnated at 25 per cent discount, but went 

freely at that and there was plenty of it. I bought rrry bill of goods 

of Mr. Wallace on a short time to be paid on the day specified in the 

note. I knew I could get the money before it was due and did. I 

started horseback with the money and when within. 14 miles of Knox­

ville, I was taken with severe chill and was compelled to get dovm. 

at a strange house and go innnediately to bed, and I was scarcely able 

to explain to the man of the house what I wanted him to do, As soon 

. as I could make him understand what a fix I was in, he had his son 

get on my fine horse and ride to Knoxville and bring the chief clerk 

of the firm back with him, with rrry note and by the time he came, I 

was able to count out the money to him and the next morning, I was 

able to start home with rrry note in my pocketo 

I was having a very long spell of chills and fever, which was 

prevailing in that country at the time, 

When I called at W~. Shooks, near Athens, as I returned to get 

him to haul rrry goods to Ga., his daughter came to the door. I asked 

if Mr. Shook was at home--she thought I was Timothy Sullins, a minister 

living in the neighborhood. It was hard to convince her that she was 

mistaken. She called her mother to the door and said 11don 1t you think 
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Timothy is trying to make me believe he is a stranger." Her Mother 

was deceived for a minute or so. I often have been taken for Timothy 

Sullins, D. D. of the Methodist Church South. 

11 Landon c. Haynes on East Tennessee." 

Landon c. Haynes, one of the greatest statesmen and orators of 

his day, was born in 1816, 11 on the banks of the beautiful Watauga, 11 

in Carter county, four miles from Elizabethton, Tenn. After his birth, 

his father, David Haynes, removed to a farm on Buffalo Creek in the 

southern portion of the county, in full view of the .Roan, the Black and 

the Smoky Mountains, which he pictures sublimely in his response to 

the toast, 11East Tennessee," proposed by Gen. Forrest. 

He said: 

"Mr. Chairman and Gentlemen--I plead guilty to the soft impeach­

ment, I was born in east Tennessee on the banks of the Watauga, which 

in Indian vernacular means "beautiful river 11 --and beautiful river it 

is • I have stood upon its banks in my childhood and looked doi,m 

through its glossy waters and have seen a heaven below, looked up 

and beheld a heaven above, refle~ting like two mirrors each in the 

other, its moons and planes and its trembling stars. Away from its 

banks of rocks and cliffs; hemlock and laurel, pine and cedar, stretches 
. /. 

a vale back to the distant mountains, as beautiful and esquisite as 

any in Italy or Switzerland. There stands the Great Unake, the Great 

Roan, the Great Black and the Great Smoky mountains, among the loftiest 

in the United States of North AmericaA, on whose swnmits the clouds 

gather of their own accord on the brightest day. There I have seen 

the great spirit of the storm ai'ter noontide go take his evening nap 
I 

in the pavi~lon of darkness and of clouds. I have seen him arise at 
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midnight, as a giant refreshed with slumber and cover the heavens 

with gloom and darkness. I have seen him awake the tempest, let loose 

the red lightenings that run along the mountain tops for a thousand 

miles., swifter than eagles in heaven. Then I have seen them stand up 

and dance like angels of light in the clouds, to the music to that 

grand organ of Nature, in. notes of thunder., whose keys seemed touched 

by the fingers of Divinity, that responded in notes of thunder, which 

resounded through the Universe. Then I have seen the darkness drift 

away beyond the horizon, 'and the moon get up from her saffron bed like 

a queen, put on her robes of light, come forth from her palace in 

the sun and stand tiptoe on the misty mountain top, and while night 

fled from before her glorious face to her bed chamber at the Pole. 

She lifted the green vale and beautiful river where I was born, and 

played in my childhood, with a smile of sunshine. 

Oh! Beautiful land of the mountains, with thy sun painted cliffs, 

how can I ever forget theeo 11 

Landon C. Haynes and I were born within 4 miles of each other., 

and within one year of each other, he in 1816 and I in 1817. 

I write this at. Elk Park, N. C., June 10th, 1902. A. Jobe. 

Macon, Ga., April 24th, 1904. 

After seeing Walter Lambert and Ruth Josephine Jobe married at 

8 A. M. on 19th of April and start imn~diately on a tour to Washington, 

Niagara Falls and other points. At same time., Col. N. E. Harris and 

Hattie, his wife., and Dr. A. Jobe and his wife started directly in 

the other direction--to Macon, Ga. 

The Georgia crowd reached Macon at 2:10 A. M. the 20th. We had 

an easy and pleasant trip. The coach we traveled in to Chattanooga 
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was the easiest and best I ever rode in. It went through to Memphis. 

The one from there to Macon was fairly good, but not up to the first 

one. Col. Harris gave us free.passes for the round trip and then 

voluntarily came back to Elizabethton and attended to every detail 

in carrying us througho We could not have gotten along without him. 

Elk Park July 18, 1902 

I have been trying to give a synopsis of the happenings within 

my own knowledge, during a portion of nzy- stay upon this mµndane fabric. 

In doing so, it becomes necessary for me to give an account of one 

of the most sad and heart rending tragedies that ever befell any 

town or conununi tyo 

Elk Park is an incorporated town with full quota of officerso 

James Ellis was Chief of Police. In perform:ing his duty as an officer, 

it became his duty to arrest Wmo Winters and finally he was compelled 

to put him in the callaboose. 

Mr. Ellis was a very clever, quiet man, and discharged the duties 

\ 
of his office as Policemen an a mild quiet way. But Winter's conduct 

was outragious and notwithstanding this, when he was turned out of 

the callaboose, he boldly and impudently said to different persons, 

that he intended to kill the policeman and in a few days did kill him, 

by shooting him with a shot gun heavily loaded and being only a_ few 

steps from him. 

This terrible circumstance happened at the State Line on the 

Tennessee side. Looking at the case from a calm impartial standpoint-­

from what I can learn from persons I have confidence in, I cannot see, 

how a competent jury, who wants to do justice can.do anyother way 

than to convict Winters of murder in the first degreeo This murder 

:),,CjO 
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occurred 18th of June, 1902. 

After months in jail and then months out of jail under bond, he 

was tried in Circuit Court at Elizabethton and found guilty. He 

appealed by giving a heavy bond, and he was allowed to go home under 

restrictions. He was never like himself any more. He quit eating and 

finally died of remorse. 

Elizabethton, June 15th, 1904. 

I have been trying for several months to finish this short sketch 

of my life; but my health has continued so bad, I could not find a 

day when I felt able to write and even now I am not sure I can write 

but a few lines. 

Elk Park, Septenroer 27th, 1904. 

It has been over four months since I have been able to write and 

a great deal of that time not able to sit up, but I have been improving 
(V 

very noticibly for the last week or 10 days. 

We have been here about 3 months, but I was not able to even 

think of putting the date down when we came. We are now arranging to 

go back to Elizabethton. Out of the eleven we had in our family, all 

are gone except 4 daughters, Mollie Hunter, Hattie Harris, Ruth 

Lambert and Sallie Gibson. They constitute our family now, since 

our two oldest Enrna Miller and Dudley Jobe died. Most of our children 

died young; some of them in infancy and we can stand that better than 

when it comes to giving up the oldest one. Our 4 daughters have been 

with us for some time on a visit--the first time they were all here 

together. 

Elk Park, Sept. 28th, 1904. I have been very remiss in keeping 

dates, as I have written by little spells and these spells a long 

way apart. The weather has been very changeable and unpleasant 
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generally, for the last twelve months, especially since we came up 

here, and we having all been so unwell, one not able to wait on 

another, we have had a hard time. Sallie and little David have gone 

to Roan Mountain to get teeth extracted. They sent through the tovm 

last night, and could find neither a Doctor nor forceps in tovm. 

Ruth started this morning to Popplerville, Mississippi. 1/tfe are 

looldng for Col. Harris here tonight, and he and Hattie ,rill return 

to Ma.con in a few days. And the balance of us, A. Jobe and wife and 

Sallie Gibson and little David will go back to Elizabethton. 

Elk Park, N. c., Oct. 3, 1904. Sallie has concluded to start 

from here to her home in Kentucky, Friday the 7th October, and we 2 

( -, __ , 

old people will leave within a few days for our old home at Elizabeth- 288 

ton, Tenn. Col. Harris and Hattie left for Macon, Ga., day before 

yesterday, Hattie engaged Mr. Calaway and wife, two old people without 

children to occupy part of the house and take care of all, inside and 

out. 

Oct. 8. We are still at Elk Park, N. c. All are gone except 

us two old people. I am an invalid and not able to do any thing, and 

Ma is so lame, from the effects of that sad fall she got years ago. 

She ought to do nothing, but I cannot keep her from helping tear 

down and pa9k up for Hirekru-ids can "t be got to do it the way she wants 

it done. 

Sallie left yesterday morning. She was the last one and Ma 

and I will leave WJ.onday morning, if we are well enough. We received 

a letter from Ruth a few days agoo She reached Mississippi safe and 

well as usual. Her husband met her in Cha-ttanooga and they went 

by Dalton, Ga. on their return to visit relatives. 



Elizabethton, Nov. 15, 1904. We have made arrangements to board 

with Earl and Lula Hunter at $20 per month. 

Our board bill was $20 per month 

and have paid the $20 per month up to the present time, March 25th, 

1905. 

We moved our household furniture from Earls, 1st of may back 

to Ruths and we two old feeble persons prefer living alone here, until 

Ruth returns from Mississippi on her long visit, which vd.11 be pretty 

soono Ma don't hire a regular cook, she is a first rate manager, and 

by having a little help, which she ge·Gs by not letting it cost her 

so much, she gets along pretty well. But we are both too old and 

feeble to remain here alone. I am in my 88th year and my dear wife 

was 79 the 8th of May at 8 o'clock in morning, 1905. 

(The last writtings of our precious Father.) 

; ' 



PROHIBITION. 

Ten days from this writing, if I shall be alive, I will be 84 

years old. For half of that time I have used my best ini'luence to 

encourage my fellmv citizens to put dovm the sale of all intox­

icating drinks, as such, and allow none to be sold only as a medicine 

and medicinal arts. I have spent much time and money in furtherance 

of the cause. We built up a respectable size party in nearly every 

state in the union. We lmew we were in the minority but we were 

increasing our vote from year to year, And we lmew that we repre­

sented the majority of the genuine Sentiment of the Nation. All we 

lacked was to carry a majority vote. 

Finally we had a National Convention at Pittsburgh, Pao 

The party by this time had discussed collateral issues bearing 

on and effecting Prohibition, until the Convention split into two 

factions, and have remained so even since, I was then living at Elk 

Park, N. c. The Democrats and Republicans said to me, on hearing 

the news, 11Hm\l" do you feel now, since your party has divided, one half 

going one way and the balance going the other. 11 

Ivzy: answer was prompt and quick-- 11 I think I feel about as Peter 

did when Christ was crucified. 11 1901 

I write this at Veechdale, Ky. on 15 th Oct. while on a visit to 

my daughter. 

The two wings of the divided Prohibition Party have been to some 

extent, doing just like the Democratic and Republican parties--that is 

fighting each other and some of them have become discouraged and have 

ceased hope for much headway being made in putting a stop to selling 

of liquor, until a better feeling exists among ~l Prohibitionists, 

of every order. 



I am old and very frail, not able to get about and can take no 

part in public affairs any more, and have turned over everything to 

the management of younger men many years agoo 

In my old age, I can have but little communication with the 

people, but fron1 the best information I can obtain, I think very 

little is being done for the betterment and improvement of society in 

any way. 11~ Almighty Dollar" has very nearly absorbed the at ten-

( tion and affection of nearly every body, who has any chance of 

handling it and those who cannot reach it are content to be buffeted 

about by the current of events, without trying to change them. 

Veechdale, Ky. Nov. 14, 1901. The farm has been rented here 

by Frank Spurr, and they have moved in and we will move to Louisville 

next week, if our health and the weather are good enough to permit 

it. 

Nov. 25th. vYe are now in a good comfortable house on Preston 

Street, No. 1520, Louisville, Ky. 

December 7th, not been out over the city, but think it a large 

and beautiful city. 



The Twin Ballots. ------
Along in November, when chill was the weather, 

Two ballots were cast in a box together; 

They nestled up close like brother to brother, 

You couldn't tell one of the votes from the other. 

They were both rum votes, 

And san~~oned the License plan; 

But one was cast by a jolly old brewer, 

And one by a sunday school man. 

The sunday school man--No man could be truer, 

Kept busy all summer, denouncing the brewer; 

But his fervor cooled off, by the change in the weather, 

And late in the autumn, they voted together. 

The Sunday School man had always been noted, 

For fighting Saloons--except when he voted; 

He piled up his prayers, with a holy perfection, 

Then knocked them all down, on the day of Election. 

The foxy old Brewer was cheerful and mellow, 
• 

Said he, 111 actmbre that Sunday School fellow, 

He 1s true to his church, to his party he's truer, 

He talks for the Lord, but he votes for the Brewer. 11 

From the Nashville Pilato 

11To kill quite dead a rattle Snake, 
.And off its scaly skin to take, 
And through its head to drive a stake, 
.And of its flesh mince meat to make, 
And over all the bosom shake, 
And throw this mass into a lake, 
And after all quite wide awake, 
Comes back that very same old Snake • 11 



(Inside back cover) 

IIJohn c. Callioun, My Joe John, when we were first acquaint, 

The wor~hies of the d~y, John supposed you was a saint. 

You stood the Champion of the war, with Madison you know, 

But now you've beat the Hartford crew, John c. Calhoun, My Joe. 

John c. Calhoun, rrry Joe John, I wonder what you mean, 

That at Old Hickory, you do vent your jealousy and spleen. 

To plant the tree of Liberty, our Fathers blood did flow, 

But you and Hayne would grub it up and ley the proud tree low, 

And plant State Saplings in its stead, John C. Calhoun, My Joe. 

John c. Calhoun, My· Joe John, both you and Henry Clay, 

Are like the boy who had the goose, the golden egg did lay. 

You are both great men in the land, but office rose too slmi, 

Your reckless haste has damned you both, John Co Calhoun, My Joe." 

The above is part of a song, among many others that were sung 

around our camp fires at night, by Allen Cambell, a member of our 

Regiment in the Indian War. Campbell could sing a great many songs, 

and could while away the time by amusing the soldiers of gloomy nights. 

The above is only a part of the song, I have forgotten the balance 

of it. I have never met any one who could furnish the last part. 

1520 Preston St,, Louisville, Ky. April 4, 1902. 

Mrs. Sarah A. Gibson, #3 Longrate, 
Lausanne, 
Switzerland. 

(This autobiography of Dro Abraham Jobe has been copied by Miss 
Christine Burleson, Johnson City, Tenn,, who copied pages 1-67; by 
Mrso L, W, Mccown, 512 East Unaka Ave., Johnson City, Tenn., who 
copied pages 67-300. It was finished April 17, 1948. 

The book is the possession of a grand-daughter of Dro A. Jobe, 
lvfrs o Harlow D:ucon(Sophie Hunter D:ucon) of Durham, N. Co 

-



Letter from Dr. A. Jobe, Elk Park, N. Co, to Walter Harris, Macon, Gao 

Elk Park, N. c., April 24th, 1899. 

Dear Walter-

I received your letter nearly a month ago and have thought often 

of answering, but for want of something to write and time to write 

i·t have as often postponed writing. 

We often brag of living in a very healthy country, but of late 

years, we are compelled to say we are never all well at arry time. 

Ma and I are both getting old and feeble. Neither of us able to even 
'• l 

see to our affairs, and at this time their is not a well one in our 

family except the cook and little David Gibson.(Sallie 1s little boy.) 

Sallie has been here more than a year, not able to get back home to 

Ky. She is a little better at times, but the amendment is not per-

manent. 

We have had a very disagreeable winter and spring. It has been 

raining nearly all the time here for 12 months, till 10 days ago, now 

we have a drought. 

We have considerable railroad excitement here just now. One company 

is building a road from Elizabethton to Stoney Creek to bring out large 

quantities of iron ore, and same company surveying another line reachmg 

to Mountain Cityo And a third Co. is building a road from Knoxville 

to Bristol parallel with the Southern hugging the Cumberland moun-

tain • .And a 4th Co. is building from Cranberry to Pineola on the 

Linville River to get out many millions of feet of pine lumber. They 

will be shipping their lumber in a few months. I think our country 

is :in a fearful condition. I was mucn. opposed to interfering with 

Cuba. We ought to have had no war with Spain. I said it would be 

-::2_, C' v' t 0 



but a breakfast spell to whip Spam but the result and effect of the 

war would not be gotten over and fmally settled for 300 years. 

And I see from the papers enough to strengthen my view of the whole 

thing. When Dewey gained his Spanish victory at Manilla, he ought 

to have come right back into American waters and said to NJ.cKinley--

1rwliat must I do next?" 

But I'll say nothing more on this subject, I'm too feeble to even 

think about ito 

I have not had a letter from our friends at Broylesville since 

sister.Emalme died. I have written to them but have no answer yet. 
\, 

We don't corresporig with our friends enough. I had a letter from 

brother John's wife at Gatesville, Texas a few days ago. Brother is 

in very bad health, so much so he could not write. From what she 

writes, I think his mind is failing him. 

I think often about our departed friends m Georgia and what a 

hard time you and Jimmie had in that dreadful weather. I would have 

been glad to have seen them once more before they were called away 

but such things are not under our control, and we have to submit and 

ought to do it cheerfully. 

I hope you are all well and gettmg along well with your business. 

Hope that money is plentier there than here •. There is great stringency 

in the money market here. Money compared with property he_re is worth 

about 200 cents to the dollaro A great many men doing small bus-

iness here are failmg. 

Over--

Hastily and Affectionately, Your Uncle, 
Abeo 

I intended to say somethmg about John Gibson, but forgot it. 



You ;r-emember his inteinperate habit. Well, he quit drinking int:ixely 

a year before he married and _has never drank a drop since. His home 

is in Kyo He has good property there and he is a good business man. 

If Sallie could have good health, they could do well. He travels 

back and forth to see his wife and beautiful and smart little son 

4 years • We are afraid to let them. go so far from us until Sallie 

gets in better health. 

The end. 
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